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Chapter 2

During the Reign of Alexander 1st

At the end of 1804, the Committee in charge of the Organisation of the Jews concluded its work 

by drafting a “Regulation on Jews” (known as the “Regulation of 1804”), the first collection of 

laws in Russia concerning Jews. The Committee explained that its aim was to improve the 

condition of the Jews, to direct them towards a useful activity “by opening this path exclusively 

for their own good… and by discarding anything that might divert them from it, without calling 

for coercive measures.”1 The Regulation established the principle of equal civil rights for Jews 

(Article 42): “All Jews who live in Russia, who have recently settled there, or who have come 

from foreign countries for their commercial affairs, are free and are under the strict protection 

of the laws in the same way other Russian subjects are.” (In the eyes of Professor Gradovsky, 

“We can not but see in this article the desire to assimilate this people to the whole population 

of Russia.”2)

The Regulation gave the Jews greater opportunities than Derzhavin’s original proposals; thus, in 

order to create textile or leather factories, or to move to agricultural economy on virgin lands, it 

proposed that a government subsidy be directly paid. Jews were given the right to acquire land 

without serfs, but with the possibility of hiring Christian workers. Jews who owned factories, 

merchants, and craftsmen had the right to leave the Pale of Settlement “for a time, for business 

purposes,” thus easing the borders of this newly established area. (All that was promised for the 

current of the coming year was the abrogation of double royalties*, but it soon disappeared.) 

All the rights of the Jews were reaffirmed: the inviolability of their property, individual liberty, 

the profession of their religion, their community organisation – in other words, the Kehalim 
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system was left without significant changes (which, in fact, undermined the idea of a fusion of 

the Jewish world within the Russian state): the Kehalim retained their old right to collect 

royalties, which conferred on them a great authority, but without the ability of increasing them; 

Religious punishments and anathemas (Herem) were forbidden, which assured liberty to the 

Hassidim. In accordance with the wishes of the Kehalim, the project of establishing Jewish 

schools of general education was abandoned, but “all Jewish children are allowed to study with 

other children without discrimination in all schools, colleges, and all Russian universities,” and in 

these establishments no child “shall be under any pretext deviated from his religion or forced to 

study what might be contrary or opposed to him.” Jews “who, through their abilities, will attain 

a meritorious level in universities in medicine, surgery, physics, mathematics, and other 

disciplines, will be recognised as such and promoted to university degrees.” It was considered 

essential that the Jews learn the language of their region, change their external appearance and 

adopt family names. In conclusion, the Committee pointed out that in other countries 

“nowhere were used means so liberal, so measured, and so appropriate to the needs of the 

Jews.” J. Hessen agrees that the Regulation of 1804 imposed fewer restrictions on Jews than the 

Prussian Regulations of 1797. Especially since the Jews possessed and retained their individual 

liberty, which a mass of several million Russian peasants subjected to serfdom did not enjoy.3 

“The Regulation of 1804 belongs to the number of acts imbued with the spirit of tolerance.”4

The Messenger of Europe, one of the most read journals of the times wrote: “Alexander knows 

that the vices we attribute to the Jewish nation are the inevitable consequences of oppression 

that has burdened it for many centuries. The goal of the new law is to give the State useful 

citizens, and to Jews a homeland.”5

However, the Regulation did not resolve the most acute problem in accordance with the wishes 

of all Jews, namely the Jewish population, the Kehalim deputies, and the Jewish collaborators of 

the Committee. The Regulation stipulated that: “No one among the Jews… in any village or 

town, can own any form of stewardship of inns or cabarets, under their name nor under the 

name of a third party, nor are they allowed to sell alcohol or live in such places”6 and proposed 

that the entire Jewish population leave the countryside within three years, by the beginning of 

1808. (We recall that such a measure had already been advocated under Paul in 1797, even 

before the Derzhavin project appeared: not that all Jews without exception were to be 

distanced from the villages, but in order that “by its mass, the Jewish population in the villages 

would not exceed the economic possibilities of the peasants as a productive class, it is proposed 

to reduce the number of them in the agglomerations of the districts.”7 This time it was 

proposed to direct the majority of the Jews to agricultural labour in the virgin lands of the Pale 

of Settlement, New Russia, but also the provinces of Astrakhan and the Caucasus, exonerating 
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them for ten years of the royalties they up to then had to pay, “with the right to receive a loan 

from the Treasury for their enterprises” to be reimbursed progressively after ten years of 

franchise; to the most fortunate, it was proposed to acquire land in personal and hereditary 

ownership with the possibility of having them exploited by agricultural workers.”8

In its refusal to allow distillation, the Committee explained: “As long as this profession remains 

accessible to them… which, in the end, exposes them to the recriminations, contempt, and even 

hatred of inhabitants, the general outcry towards them will not cease.”9 Moreover, “Can we 

consider this measure [of removing the Jews from villages] as repressive when they are offered 

so many other means not only to live in ease, but also to enrich themselves in agriculture, 

industry, crafts; and that they are also given the possibility of possessing land in full ownership? 

How could this people be regarded as oppressed by the abolition of a single branch of activity in 

a State in which they are offered a thousand other activities in fertile, uninhabited areas 

suitable for the cultivation of cereals and other agricultural production…?”10

These are compelling arguments. However, Hessen finds that the text of the Committee 

testifies to “a naive look… on the nature of the economic life of a people [consisting in] 

believing that economic phenomena can be changed in a purely mechanical way, by decree.”11 

From the Jewish side, the projected relocation of the Jews from villages and the ban imposed 

on them on making alcohol, the “secular occupation” of the Jews12, was perceived as a terribly 

cruel decision. (And it was in these terms that it was condemned by Jewish historiography fifty 

and even a hundred years later.)

Given the liberal opinions of Alexander I, his benevolence towards the Jews, his perturbed 

character, his weak will (without a doubt forever broken by his accession to the throne at the 

cost of his father’s violent death), it is unlikely that the announced deportation of the Jews 

would have been energetically conducted; even if the reign had followed a peaceful course, it 

would have undoubtedly been spread out over time.

But soon after the adoption of the 1804 Regulations, the threat of war in Europe was outlined, 

followed by the application of measures favouring the Jews by Napoleon, who united a 

Sanhedrin of Jewish deputies in Paris. “The whole Jewish problem then took an unexpected 

turn. Bonaparte organised in Paris a meeting of the Jews whose main aim was to offer the 

Jewish nation various advantages and to create a link between the Jews scattered throughout 

Europe. Thus, in 1806, Alexander I ordered a new committee to be convened to “examine 
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whether special steps should be taken, and postpone the relocation of the Jews.”13

As announced in 1804, the Jews were supposed to abandon the villages by 1808. But practical 

difficulties arose, and as early as 1807 Alexander I received several reports highlighting the 

necessity of postponing the relocation. An imperial decree was then made public, “requiring all 

Jewish societies… to elect deputies and to propose through them the means which they 

consider most suitable for successfully putting into practice the measures contained in the 

Regulation of December 9th, 1804.” The election of these Jewish deputies took place in the 

western provinces, and their views were transmitted to St. Petersburg. “Of course, these 

deputies expressed the opinion that the departure of the Jews residing in the villages had to be 

postponed to a much later time. (One of the reasons given was that, in the villages, the 

innkeepers had free housing, whereas in towns and cities, they would have to pay for them). 

The Minister of Internal Affairs wrote in his report that “the relocation of Jews currently 

residing in villages to land belonging to the State will take several decades, given their 

overwhelming number.”14 Towards the end of 1808, the Emperor gave orders to suspend the 

article prohibiting the Jews from renting and producing alcohol, and to leave the Jews where 

they lived, “until a subsequent ruling.”15 Immediately afterwards (1809) a new committee, said 

“of the Senator Popov”, was instituted for the study of all problems and the examination of the 

petitions formulated by the Jewish deputies. This Committee “considered it indispensable” to 

put an “energetic” end to the relocation of the Jews and to retain the right to the production 

and trade of vodka.16 The Committee worked for three years and presented its report to the 

Emperor in 1812. Alexander I did not endorse this report: he did not wish to undermine the 

importance of the previous decision and had in no way lost his desire to act in favour of the 

peasants: “He was ready to soften the measure of expulsion, but not to renounce it.”17 

Thereupon the Great War broke out with Napoleon, followed by the European war, and 

Alexander’s concerns changed purpose. Since then, displacement out of the villages never was 

initiated as a comprehensive measure in the entire Pale of Settlement, but at most in the form 

of specific decisions in certain places.18

During the war, according to a certain source, the Jews were the only inhabitants not to flee 

before the French army, neither in the forests nor inland; in the neighbourhood of Vilnius, they 

refused to obey Napoleon’s order to join his army, but supplied him forage and provisions 

without a murmur; nevertheless, in certain places it was necessary to resort to requisitions.19 

Another source reports that “the Jewish population suffered greatly from the abuses 

committed by Napoleon’s soldiers,” and that “many synagogues were set on fire,” but goes 

even further by stating that “Russian troops were greatly helped by what was called the “Jewish 

post,” set up by Jewish merchants, which transmitted the information with a celerity unknown 
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at the time (inns serving as ‘relay’)”; they even “used Jews as couriers for the connections 

between the various detachments of the Russian army.” When the Russian army reassumed 

possession of the land, “the Jews welcomed the Russian troops with admiration, bringing bread 

and alcohol to the soldiers.” The future Nicholas I, Grand Duke at that time, noted in his diary: 

“It is astonishing that they [Jews] remained surprisingly faithful to us in 1812 and even helped 

us where they could, at the risk of their lives.”20 At the most critical point of the retreat of the 

French at the passage of Berezina, the local Jews communicated to the Russian command the 

presumed crossing point; this episode is well known. But it was in fact a successful ruse of 

General Laurançay: he was persuaded that the Jews would communicate this information to the 

Russians, and the French, of course, chose another crossing point.21

After 1814, the reunification of central Poland brought together more than 400,000 Jews. The 

Jewish problem was then presented to the Russian government with more acuteness and 

complexity. In 1816, the Government Council of the Kingdom of Poland, which in many areas 

enjoyed a separate state existence, ordered the Jews to be expelled from their villages—they 

could also remain there, but only to work the land, and this without the help of Christian 

workers. But at the request of the Kahal of Warsaw, as soon as it was transmitted to the 

Emperor, Alexander gave orders to leave the Jews in place by allowing them to engage in the 

trade of vodka, on the sole condition that they should not sell it on credit.22

It is true that in the Regulations published by the Senate in 1818, the following provisions are 

again found: “To put an end to the coercive measures of proprietors, which are ruinous for the 

peasants, for non-repayment of their debts to the Jews, which forces them to sell their last 

possessions… Regarding the Jews who run inns, it is necessary to forbid them to lend money at 

interest, to serve vodka on credit, to then deprive the peasants of their livestock or any other 

things that are indispensable to them.”23 Characteristic trait of the entirety of Alexander’s 

reign: no spirit of continuation in the measures taken; the regulations were promulgated but 

there was no effective control to monitor their implementation. Same goes with the statute of 

1817 with regard to the tax on alcohol: in the provinces of Great Russia, distillation was 

prohibited to the Jews; however, as early as 1819, this prohibition was lifted “until Russian 

artisans have sufficiently perfected themselves in this trade.”24

Of course, Polish owners who were too concerned by their profits opposed the eradication of 

Jewish distilleries in the rural areas of the western provinces; and, at that time, the Russian 

Government did not dare act against them. However, in the Chernigov province where their 

establishment was still recent, the successful removal of the distilleries in the hands of owners 
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and Jews was undertaken in 1821, after the governor reported following a bad harvest that “the 

Jews hold in hard bondage the peasants of the Crown and Cossacks.”25 A similar measure was 

taken in 1822 in the province of Poltava; in 1823 it was partially extended to the provinces of 

Mogilev and Vitebsk. But its expansion was halted by the pressing efforts of the Kehalim.

Thus, the struggle led over the twenty-five year reign of Alexander against the production of 

alcohol by the transplantation of the Jews out of villages gave little results.

But distilling was not the only type of production in the Pale of Settlement. Owners leased out 

various assets in different sectors of the economy, here a mill, there fishing, elsewhere bridges, 

sometimes a whole property, and in this way not only peasant serfs were leased (such cases 

multiplied from the end of the eighteenth century onwards26), but also the “serfs” churches, 

that is to say orthodox churches, as several authors point out: N. I. Kostomarov, M. N. Katkov, 

V. V. Choulguine. These churches, being an integral part of an estate, were considered as 

belonging to the Catholic proprietor, and in their capacity as operators, the Jews considered 

themselves entitled to levy money on those who frequented these churches and on those who 

celebrated private offices. For baptism, marriage, or funeral, it was necessary to receive the 

authorisation of “a Jew for a fee”; “the epic songs of Little Russia bursts with bitter complaints 

against the ‘Jewish farmers’ who oppress the inhabitants.”27

The Russian governments had long perceived this danger: the rights of the farmers were likely 

to extend to the peasant himself and directly to his work, and “the Jews should not dispose of 

the personal labour of the peasants, and by means of a lease, although not being Christians, 

become owners of peasant serfs”—which was prohibited on several occasions both by the 

decree of 1784 and by the ordinances of the Senate of 1801 and 1813: “the Jews cannot 

possess villages or peasants, nor dispose of them under any name whatsoever.”28

However, the ingenuity of the Jews and the owners managed to circumvent what was 

forbidden. In 1816, the Senate discovered that “the Jews had found a means of exercising the 

rights of owners under the name of krestentsia, that is to say, after agreement with the owners, 

they harvest the wheat and barley sown by the peasants, these same peasants must first thresh 

and then deliver to the distilleries leased to these same Jews; they must also watch over the 

oxen that are brought to graze in their fields, provide the Jews with workers and wagons… Thus 

the Jews dispose of all these areas… while the landlords, receiving from them substantial rent 

referred to as krestentsia, sell to the Jews all the harvest to come that are sown on their lands: 

7



one can conclude from this that they condemn their peasants to famine.”29

It is not the peasants who are, so to speak, claimed as such, but only the krestentsia, which 

does not prevent the result from being the same.

Despite all the prohibitions, the practice of the krestentsia continued its crooked ways. Its 

extreme intricacy resulted from the fact that many landowners fell into debt with their Jewish 

farmers, receiving money from them on their estate, which enabled the Jews to dispose of the 

estate and the labour of the serfs. But when, in 1816, the Senate decreed that it was 

appropriate “to take the domains back from the Jews,” he charged them to recover on their 

own the sums they had lent. The deputies of the Kehalim immediately sent a humble petition to 

his Majesty, asking him to annul this decree: the general administrator in charge of foreign faith 

affairs, the Prince N.N. Golitsyn, convinced the Emperor that “inflicting punishment on only one 

category of offenders with the exception” of owners and officials. The landlords “could still gain 

if they refuse to return the capital received for the krestentsia and furthermore keep the 

krestentsia for their profit”; if they have abandoned their lands to the Jews in spite of the law, 

they must now return the money to them.30

The future Decembrist P. I. Pestel, at that time an officer in the western provinces, was by no 

means a defender of the autocracy, but an ardent republican; he recorded some of his 

observations on the Jews of this region, which were partially included in the preamble to his 

government programme (“Recommendations for the Provisional Supreme Government”): 

“Awaiting the Messiah, the Jews consider themselves temporary inhabitants of the country in 

which they find themselves, and so they never, on any account, want to take care of agriculture, 

they tend to despise even the craftsmen, and only practice commerce.” “The spiritual leaders of 

the Jews, who are called rabbis, keep the people in an incredible dependence by forbidding 

them, in the name of faith, any reading other than that of the Talmud… A people that does not 

seek to educate itself will always remain a prisoner of prejudice”; “the dependence of the Jews 

in relation to the rabbis goes so far that any order given by the latter is executed piously, 

without a murmur.” “The close ties between the Jews give them the means to raise large sums 

of money… for their common needs, in particular to incite different authorities to concession 

and to all sorts of embezzlements which are useful to them, the Jews.” That they readily accede 

to the condition of possessors, “one can see it ostensibly in the provinces where they have 

elected domicile. All commerce is in their hands, and few peasants are not, by means of debts, 

in their power; this is why they terribly ruin the regions where they reside.” “The previous 

government [that of Catherine] has given them outstanding rights and privileges which 
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accentuate the evil they are doing,” for example the right not to provide recruits, the right not 

to announce deaths, the right to distinct judicial proceedings subject to the decisions of the 

rabbis, and “they also enjoy all the other rights accorded to other Christian ethnic groups”; 

“Thus, it can be clearly seen that the Jews form within the State, a separate State, and enjoy 

more extensive rights than Christians themselves.” “Such a situation cannot be perpetuated 

further, for it has led the Jews to show a hostile attitude towards Christians and has placed 

them in a situation contrary to the public order that must prevail in the State31.”

In the final years of Alexander I’s reign, economic and other type of prohibitions against Jewish 

activities were reinforced. In 1818, a Senate decree now forbade that “never may Christians be 

placed in the service of Jews for debts.” 32 In 1819, another decree called for an end to “the 

works and services that peasants and servants perform on behalf of Jews.”33 Golitsyn, always 

him, told the Council of Ministers “those who dwell in the houses of the Jews not only forget 

and no longer fulfil the obligations of the Christian faith, but adopt Jewish customs and rites.”34 

It was then decided that “Jews should no longer employ Christians for their domestic 

service.”35 It was believed that “this would also benefit the needy Jews who could very well 

replace Christian servants.”36 But this decision was not applied. (This is not surprising: among 

the urban Jewish masses there was poverty and misery, “for the most part, they were wretched 

people who could scarcely feed themselves,”37 but the opposite phenomenon has never been 

observed: the Jews would hardly work in the service of Christians. Undoubtedly some factors 

opposed it, but they also apparently had means of subsistence coming from communities 

between which solidarity reigned.)

However, as early as 1823, Jewish farmers were allowed to hire Christians. In fact, “the strict 

observance of the decision prohibiting” Christians from working on Jewish lands “was too 

difficult to put into practice.”38

During these same years, to respond to the rapid development of the sect of the soubbotniki* 

in the provinces of Voronezh, Samara, Tula, and others, measures were taken for the Pale of 

Settlement to be more severely respected. Thus, “in 1821, Jews accused of ‘heavily exploiting’ 

the peasants and Cossacks were expelled from the rural areas of the Chernigov province and in 

1822 from the villages of Poltava province.”39

In 1824, during his journey in the Ural Mountains, Alexander I noticed that a large number of 

Jews in factories, “by clandestinely buying quantities of precious metals, bribed the inhabitants 
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to the detriment of the Treasury and the manufacturers”, and ordered “that the Jews be no 

longer tolerated in the private or public factories of the mining industry.”40

The Treasury also suffered from smuggling all along the western frontier of Russia, goods and 

commodities being transported and sold in both capitals without passing through customs. The 

governors reported that smuggling was mainly practised by Jews, particularly numerous in the 

border area. In 1816, the order was given to expel all the Jews from a strip sixty kilometres wide 

from the frontier and that it be done in the space of three weeks. The expulsion lasted five 

years, was only partial and, as early as 1821, the new government authorised the Jews to return 

to their former place of residence. In 1825 a more comprehensive but much more moderate 

decision was taken: The only Jews liable to deportation were those not attached to the local 

Kehalim or who did not have property in the border area.41 In other words, it was proposed to 

expel only intruders. Moreover, this measure was not systematically applied.

*

The Regulation of 1804 and its article stipulating the expulsion of the Jews from the villages of 

the western provinces naturally posed a serious problem to the government: where were they 

to be transferred? Towns and villages were densely populated, and this density was 

accentuated by the competition prevailing in small businesses, given the very low development 

of productive labour. However, in southern Ukraine stretched New Russia, vast, fertile, and 

sparsely populated.

Obviously, the interest of the state was to incite the mass of non-productive Jews expelled from 

the villages to go work the land in New Russia. Ten years earlier, Catherine had tried to ensure 

the success of this incentive by striking the Jews with a double royalty, while totally exempting 

those who would accept to be grafted to New Russia. But this double taxation (Jewish historians 

mention it often) was not real, as the Jewish population was not censused, and only the Kahal 

knew the manpower, while concealing the numbers to the authorities in a proportion that 

possibly reached a good half. (As early as 1808, the royalty ceased to be demanded, and the 

exemption granted by Catherine no longer encouraged any Jews to migrate).

This time, and for Jews alone, more than 30,000 hectares of hereditary (but non-private) land 

was allocated in New Russia, with 40 hectares of State land per family (in Russia the average lot 

of the peasants was a few hectares, rarely more than ten), cash loans for the transfer and 
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settlement (purchase of livestock, equipment, etc, which had to be repaid after a period of six 

years, within the following ten years); the prior construction of an izba log house was offered to 

the settlers (in this region, not only the peasants but even some owners lived in mud houses), 

to exempt them of royalties for ten years with maintenance of individual freedom (in these 

times of serfdom) and the protection of the authorities.42 (The 1804 Regulations having 

exempted Jews from military service, the cash compensation was included in the royalty fee.)

The enlightened Jews, few at the time (Notkine, Levinson), supported the governmental 

initiative—“but this result must be achieved through incentives, in no way coercive”—and 

understood very well the need for their people to move on to productive work.

The eighty years of the difficult saga of Jewish agriculture in Russia are described in the 

voluminous and meticulous work of the Jew V. N. Nikitin (as a child, he had been entrusted to 

the cantonists, where he had received his name), who devoted many years to the study of the 

archives of the enormous unpublished official correspondence between St. Petersburg and New 

Russia. An abundant presentation interspersed with documents and statistical tables, with 

tireless repetitions, possible contradictions in the reports made at sometimes very distant times 

by inspectors of divergent opinions, all accompanied by detailed and yet incomplete tables—

none of this has been put in order, and it offers, for our brief exposition, much too dense 

material. Let us try, however, by condensing the citations, to draw a panorama that is 

simultaneously broad and clear.

The government’s objective, Nikitin admits, in addition to the colonisation programme of 

unoccupied lands, was to give the Jews more space than they had, to accustom them to 

productive physical labour, to help guard them from “harmful occupations” by which, “whether 

they liked it or not, many of them made the life of the peasant serfs even more difficult than it 

already was.” “The government… bearing in mind the improvement of their living conditions, 

proposed to them to turn to agriculture…; The government… did not seek to attract Jews by 

promises; on the contrary, it endeavoured that there should be no more than three hundred 

families transferred each year”43; it deferred the transfer so long as the houses were not built 

on the spot, and invited the Jews, meanwhile, to send some of their men as scouts. Initially, the 

idea was not bad, but it had not sufficiently taken into account the mentality of the Jewish 

settlers nor the weak capacities of the Russian administration. The project was doomed in 

advance by the fact that the work of the earth is an art that demands generations to learn: one 

cannot attach successfully to the earth people who do not wish it or who are indifferent to it.

11



The 30,000 hectares allocated to Jews in New Russia remained inalienable for decades. A 

posteriori, the journalist I.G. Orchansky considered that Jewish agriculture could have been a 

success, but only if Jews had been transferred to the nearby Crown lands of Belarus where the 

peasant way of life was under their control, before their eyes.44 Unfortunately, there was 

scarcely any land there (for example, in the province of Grodno there were only 200 hectares, 

marginal and infertile lands “where the entire population suffered from poor harvests.”45 At 

first there were only three dozen families willing to emigrate. The Jews hoped that the 

expulsion measures from the western provinces would be reported; it had been foreseen in 

1804 that its application would extend on three years, but it was slow to begin. The fateful 

deadline of January 1st, 1808 approaching, they began to leave the villages under escort; from 

1806 onwards, there was also a movement in favour of emigration among the Jews, the more 

so as the rumour indicated the advantages which were connected with it. The demands for 

emigration then flooded en masse: “They rushed there… as it were the Promised Land… ; like 

their ancestors who left Chaldea in Canaan, entire groups left surreptitiously, without 

authorisation, and some even without a passport. Some resold the passport they had obtained 

from other departing groups, and then demanded that they be replaced under the pretext that 

they had lost it. The candidates for departure “were day by day more numerous,” and all 

“insistently demanded land, housing and subsistence.”46

The influx exceeded the possibilities of reception of the Support Office of the Jews created in 

the province of Kherson: time was lacking to build houses, dig wells, and the organisation 

suffered from the great distances in this region of the steppes, the lack of craftsmen, doctors, 

and veterinarians. The government was indiscriminate of the money, the good provisions, and 

sympathy towards the migrants, but the Governor Richelieu demanded in 1807 that the 

entrances be limited to 200, 300 families per year, while receiving without limitation those who 

wished to settle on their own account. “In case of a bad harvest, all these people will have to be 

fed for several years in a row.” (The poorest settlers were paid daily allowances.) However, the 

governors of the provinces allowed those over-quota who wished to leave—without knowing 

the exact number of those who were leaving; hence many vicissitudes along the way, due to 

misery, sickness, death.47 Some quite simply disappeared during the trip.

Distances across the steppe (between one hundred and three hundred kilometres between a 

colony and the Office), the inability of the administration to keep an accurate count and 

establish a fair distribution, meant that some of the migrants were more helped than others; 

some complained that they did not receive any compensation or loans. The colony inspectors, 

too few in numbers, did not have time to take a closer look (they received a miserable wage, 
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had no horses, and walked on foot). After a period of two years of stay, some settlers still had 

no farm, no seeds, nor bread. The poorest were allowed to leave wherever they pleased, and 

“those who renounced their condition as farmers recovered their former status as bourgeois.” 

But only a fifth of them returned to their country of origin, and the others wandered (the loans 

granted to those who had been scratched off the list of settlers were to be considered 

definitively lost). Some reappeared for a time in the colonies, others disappeared “without 

looking back or leaving a trace,” the others pounded the pavement in the neighbouring towns 

“by trading, according to their old habit.”48

The many reports of the Office and inspectors provide insight into how the new settlers were 

operating. To train the settlers who did not know where to start or how to finish, the services of 

peasants of the Crown were requested; the first ploughing is done for the most part through 

hired Russians. The habit is taken of “correcting defects by a hired labour.” They sow only a 

negligible portion of the plot allocated to them, and use poor-quality seeds; one has received 

specific seeds but does not plough or sow; another, when sowing, loses a lot of seeds, and same 

goes during harvest. Due to lack of experience, they break tools, or simply resell them. They do 

not know how to keep the livestock. “They kill cattle for food, then complain that they no 

longer have any”; they sell cattle to buy cereals; they do not make provision for dried dung, so 

their izbas, insufficiently heated, become damp; they do not fix their houses, so they fall apart; 

they do not cultivate vegetable gardens; they heat the houses with straw stored to feed the 

cattle. Not knowing how to harvest, neither to mow nor to thresh, the colonists cannot be hired 

in the neighbouring hamlets: no one wants them. They do not maintain the good hygiene of 

their homes, which favours diseases. They “absolutely did not expect to be personally occupied 

with agricultural labour, doubtlessly they thought that the cultivation of the land would be 

assured by other hands; that once in possession of great herds, they would go and sell them at 

the fairs.” The settlers “hope to continue receiving public aid.” They complain “of being reduced 

to a pitiable condition,” and it is really so; of having “worn their clothes up to the rope,” and 

that is the case; but the inspection administration replies: “If they have no more clothes, it is 

out of idleness, for they do not raise sheep, and sow neither linen nor hemp,” and their wives 

“neither spin nor weave.” Of course, an inspector concluded in his report, if the Jews cannot 

handle their operations, it is “by habit of a relaxed life, because of their reluctance to engage in 

agricultural work and their inexperience,” but he thought it fair to add: “agriculture must be 

prepared from earliest youth, and the Jews, having lived indolently until 45 to 50 years, are not 

in a position of transforming themselves into farmers in such a short time.”49 The Treasury was 

obliged to spend two to three times more on the settlers than expected, and extensions kept on 

being demanded. Richelieu maintained that “the complaints come from the lazy Jews, not from 

the good farmers”; However, another report notes that “unluckily for them, since their arrival, 

they have never been comforted by an even remotely substantial harvest.”50
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“In response to the many fragments communicated to St. Petersburg to signal how the Jews 

deliberately renounced all agricultural work,” the ministry responded in the following way: “The 

government has given them public aid in the hope that they will become farmers not only in 

name, but in fact. Many immigrants are at risk, if not incited to work, to remain debtors to the 

state for a long time.”51 The arrival of Jewish settlers in New Russia at the expense of the state, 

uncontrolled and ill-supported by an equipment programme, was suspended in 1810. In 1811 

the Senate gave the Jews the right to lease the production of alcohol in the localities belonging 

to the Crown, but within the limits of the Pale of Settlement. As soon as the news was known in 

New Russia, the will to remain in agriculture was shaken for many settlers: although they were 

forbidden to leave the country, some left without any identity papers to become innkeepers in 

villages dependent on the Crown, as well as in those belonging to landowners. In 1812, it 

appeared that of the 848 families settled there were in fact only 538; 88 were considered to be 

on leave (parties earning their living in Kherson, Nikolayev, Odessa, or even Poland); as for the 

others, they had simply disappeared. This entire programme—“the authoritative installation of 

families on land”—was something unprecedented not only in Russia but in the whole of 

Europe.”52

The Government now considered that “in view of the Jews’ now proven disgust for the work of 

the land, seeing that they do not know how to go about it, given the negligence of the 

inspectors”, it appears that the migration has given rise to major disturbances; therefore “the 

Jews should be judged indulgently.” On the other hand, “how can we guarantee the repayment 

of public loans by those who will be allowed to leave their status as farmers, how to palliate, 

without injuring the Treasury, the inadequacies of those who will remain to cultivate the land, 

how to alleviate the fate of those people who endured so many misfortunes and are living on 

the edge?53 As for the inspectors, they suffered not only from understaffing, a lack of means, 

and various other shortcomings, but also from their negligence, absenteeism, and delays in the 

delivery of grain and funds; they saw with indifference the Jews selling their property; there 

were also abuses: in exchange of payment, they granted permits for long-term absences, 

including for the most reliable workers in a family, which could quickly lead to the ruin of the 

farm.

Even after 1810-1812, the situation of the Jewish colonies showed no sign of improvement: 

“tools lost, broken, or mortgaged by the Jews”; “Oxen, again, slaughtered, stolen, or resold”; 

“Fields sown too late while awaiting warmth”; use of “bad seeds” and in too close proximity to 

houses, always on the one and same plot; no groundwork, “sowing for five consecutive years on 

fields that had only been ploughed once,” without alternating the sowing of wheat and 
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potatoes; insufficient harvest from one year to another, “yet again, without harvesting seeds.” 

(But the bad harvests also benefit the immigrants: they are then entitled to time off.) Livestock 

left uncared for, oxen given for hire or “assigned as carriages… they wore them down, did not 

nourish them, bartered or slaughtered them to feed themselves, only to say later that they had 

died of disease.” The authorities either provided them with others or let them leave in search of 

a livelihood. “They did not care to build safe pens to prevent livestock from being stolen during 

the night; they themselves spent their nights sound asleep; for shepherds, they took children or 

idlers who did not care for the integrity of the herds”; on feast days or on Saturdays, they left 

them out to graze without any supervision (moreover, on Saturday, it is forbidden to catch the 

thieves!). They resented their rare co-religionists, who, with the sweat of their brow, obtained 

remarkable harvests. The latter incurred the Old Testament curse, the Herem, “for if they show 

the authorities that the Jews are capable of working the land, they will eventually force them to 

do so.” “Few were assiduous in working the land… they had the intent, while pretending to 

work, to prove to the authorities, by their continual needs, their overall incapacity.” They 

wanted “first and foremost to return to the trade of alcohol, which was re-authorised to their 

co-religionists.” Livestock, instruments, seeds, were supplied to them several times, and new 

loans for their subsistence were relentlessly granted to them. “Many, after receiving a loan to 

establish themselves, came to the colonies only at the time of the distribution of funds, only to 

leave again… with this money to neighbouring towns and localities, in search for other work”; 

“they resold the plot that had been allocated to them, roamed, lived several months in Russian 

agglomerations at the most intense moments of agricultural labour, and earned their living… by 

deceiving the peasants.” The inspectors’ tables show that half of the families were absent with 

or without authorisation, and that some had disappeared forever. (An example was the 

disorder prevailing in the village of Izrae-levka in the province of Kherson, where “the 

inhabitants, who had come to their own account, considered themselves entitled to practice 

other trades: they were there only to take advantage of the privileges; only 13 of the 32 

families were permanent residents, and again they only sowed to make it seem legitimate, 

while the others worked as tavern-keepers in neighbouring districts.”54

The numerous reports of the inspectors note in particular and on several occasions that “the 

disgust of Jewish women for agriculture… was a major impediment to the success of the 

settlers.” The Jewish women who seemed to have put themselves to work in the fields 

subsequently diverted from it. “At the occasion of marriages, the parents of Jewish women 

agreed with their future sons-in-law for them not to compel their wives to carry out difficult 

agricultural labour, but rather hire workers”; “They agreed to prepare ornaments, fox and hare 

furs, bracelets, head-dresses, and even pearls, for days of celebrations.” These conditions led 

young men to satisfy the whims of their wives “to the point of ruining their farming”; they go so 

far as “to indulge in possessing luxurious effects, silks, objects of silver or gold,” while other 

immigrants do not even have clothing for the wintertime. Excessively early marriages make “the 
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Jews multiply significantly faster than the other inhabitants.” Then, by the exodus of the young, 

the families become too little provided for and are incapable of ensuring the work. The 

overcrowding of several families in houses too scarce generates uncleanliness and favours 

scurvy. (Some women take bourgeois husbands and then leave colonies forever.55)

Judging from the reports of the Control Office, the Jews of the various colonies continually 

complained about the land of the steppes, “so hard it must be ploughed with four pairs of 

oxen.” Complaints included bad harvests, water scarcity, lack of fuel, bad weather, disease 

generation, hail, grasshoppers. They also complained about the inspectors, but unduly, seeing 

that upon examination the complaints were deemed unfounded. Immigrants “complain 

shamelessly of their slightest annoyances,” They “ceaselessly increase their demands”—“when 

it is justified, they are provided for via the Office.” On the other hand, they had little reason to 

complain about limitations to the exercise of their piety or of the number of schools open in the 

agglomerations (in 1829, for eight colonies, there were forty teachers56).

However, as pointed out by Nikitin, in the same steppe, during the same period, in the same 

virgin lands, threatened by the same locusts, cultivations by German colonists, Mennonites, and 

Bulgarians had been established. They also suffered from the same bad harvests, the same 

diseases, but however, most of them always had enough bread and livestock, and they lived in 

beautiful houses with outbuildings, their vegetable gardens were abundant, and their dwellings 

surrounded by greenery. (The difference was obvious, especially when the German settlers, at 

the request of the authorities, came to live in the Jewish settlements to convey their experience 

and set an example: even from a distance, their properties could be distinguished.)

In the Russian colonies the houses were also better than those of the Jews. (However, Russians 

had managed to get into debt with some Jews who were richer than them and paid their debts 

while working in their fields.) The Russian peasants, Nikitin explains, “under the oppression of 

serfdom, were accustomed to everything… and stoically endured all misfortunes.” That is how 

the Jewish settlers who had suffered losses following various indignities were assisted “by the 

vast spaces of the steppe that attracted fugitives serfs from all regions… Chased by sedentary 

settlers, the latter replied by the looting, the theft of cattle, the burning of houses; well 

received, however, they offered their work and know-how. As reflective and practical men, and 

by instinct of self-preservation, the Jewish cultivators preferred receiving these fugitives with 

kindness and eagerness; in return, the latter willingly helped them in ploughing, sowing, and 

harvesting”; Some of them, to hide better, embraced the Jewish religion. “These cases came to 
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light,” in 1820 the government forbade Jews to use Christian labour.57

Meanwhile, in 1817, the ten years during which the Jewish settlers were exempt from royalties 

had passed, and they were now to pay, like the peasants of the Crown. Collective petitions 

emanating not only from the colonists, but also from public officials, demanded that the 

privilege should be extended for a further fifteen years.

A personal friend of Alexander I, Prince Golitsyn, Minister of Education and Religious Affairs, 

also responsible for all problems concerning the Jews, took the decision to exempt them from 

paying royalties for another five years and to postpone the full repayment of loans up to thirty 

years. “It is important to note, on the honour of the authorities of St. Petersburg, that no 

request of the Jews, before and now, has ever been ignored.”58

Among the demands of the Jewish settlers, Nikitin found one which seemed to him to be 

particularly characteristic: “Experience has proven, in as much as agriculture is indispensable to 

humanity, it is considered the most basic of occupations, which demands more physical 

exertion than ingenuity and intelligence; and, all over the world, those affected to this 

occupation are those incapable of more serious professions, such as industrialists and 

merchants; it is the latter category, inasmuch as it demands more talent and education, which 

contributes more than all others the prosperity of nations, and in all periods it has been 

accorded far more esteem and respect than that of agricultors. The slanderous representations 

of the Jews to the government resulted in depriving the Jews of the freedom to exercise their 

favourite trade—that of commerce—and to force them to change their status by becoming 

farmers, the so-called plebs. Between 1807 and 1809, more than 120,000 people were driven 

out of villages [where most lived on the alcohol trade], and were forced to settle in uninhabited 

places.” Hence their claim to: “return to them the status of bourgeois with the right, attested in 

the passport, to be able to leave without hindrances, according to the wishes of each 

individual.”59 These are well-weighed and unambiguous formulas. From 1814 to 1823, the 

farming of Jews did not prosper. The statistical tables show that each registered individual 

cultivated less than two-thirds of a hectare. As “they tried to cut off the harshest work” (in the 

eyes of the inspectors), they found compensation in commerce and other miscellaneous 

trades.60

Half a century later, the Jewish journalist I.G. Orchansky proposed the following interpretation: 

“What could be more natural for the Jews transplanted here to devote themselves to 
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agriculture to have seen a vast field of virgin economic activity, and to have precipitated 

themselves there with their customary and favourite occupations, which promised in the towns 

a harvest more abundant than that which they could expect as farmers. Why, then, demand of 

them that they should necessarily occupy themselves with agricultural labour, which 

undoubtedly, would not turn out well for them,” considering “the bubbling activity that attracts 

the Jews in the cities in formation.”61

The Russian authorities at that time saw things differently: in time, the Jews “could become 

useful cultivators,” if they resumed “their status as bourgeois, they would only increase the 

number of parasites in the cities.”62 On record: 300,000 rubles spent on nine Jewish 

settlements, a colossal sum considering the value of the currency at the time.

In 1822 the additional five years of royalty exemption had elapsed, but the condition of the 

Jewish farms still required new franchises and new subsidies: “the state of extreme poverty of 

the settlers” was noted, linked “to their inveterate laziness, disease, mortality, crop failures, 

and ignorance of agricultural work.”63

Nevertheless, the young Jewish generation was gradually gaining experience in agriculture. 

Recognising that good regular harvests were not in the realm of the impossible, the settlers 

invited their compatriots from Belarus and Lithuania to join them, all the more since there had 

been bad harvests there; the Jewish families flocked en masse, with or without authorisation, as 

in 1824, they feared the threat of general expulsion in the western part of the country; In 1821, 

as we have already mentioned, measures had been taken to put an end to the Jewish distilleries 

in the province of Chernigov, followed by two or three other regions. The governors of the 

western provinces let all the volunteers go without much inquiry as to how much land was left 

in New Russia for the Jews.

From there, it was announced that the possibilities of reception did not exceed 200 families per 

year, but 1,800 families had already started the journey (some strayed in nature, others settled 

along the way). From then on, the colonists were refused all state aid (but with ten years 

exemption of royalties); however, the Kehalim were interested in getting the poorest to leave in 

order to have less royalties to pay, and to a certain extent, they provided those who left with 

funds from the community. (They encouraged the departure of the elderly, the sick, and large 

families with few able-bodied adults useful to agriculture; and when the authorities demanded 

a written agreement from the leavers, they were provided with a list of signatures devoid of any 
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meaning.64 Of the 453 families who arrived in the neighbourhood of Ekaterinoslav in 1823, only 

two were able to settle at their own expense. What had pushed them there was the mad hope 

of receiving public aid, which might have dispensed the newcomers from work. In 1822, 1,016 

families flocked to New Russia from Belarus: the colonies were rapidly filled with immigrants to 

whom provisional hospitality was offered; confinement and uncleanliness engendered 

diseases.65

Also, in 1825, Alexander I prohibited the relocation of the Jews. In 1824 and 1825, following 

further bad harvests, the Jews were supported by loans (but, in order not to give them too 

much hope, their origin was concealed: they supposedly came from the personal decision of an 

inspector, or as a reward for some work). Passports were again issued so that the Jews could 

settle in towns. As for paying royalties, even for those settled there for eighteen years, it was no 

longer discussed.66

*

At the same time, in 1823, “a decree of His Majesty orders… that in the provinces of Byelorussia 

the Jews shall cease all their distillery activities in 1824, abandon farmhouses and relay 

stations” and settle permanently “in the towns and agglomerations.” The transfer was 

implemented. By January 1824, some 20,000 people had already been displaced. The Emperor 

demanded to see to it that the Jews were “provided with activities and subsistence” during this 

displacement, “so that, without home base, they would not suffer, under these conditions, of 

more pressing needs such as that of food.”67 The creation of a committee composed of four 

ministers (the fourth “ministerial cabinet” created for Jewish affairs) produced no tangible 

results either in terms of funding, nor in administrative capacities, nor in the social structure of 

the Jewish community, which was impossible to rebuild from the outside.

In this, as before in many other domains, the emperor Alexander I appears to us to be weak-

willed in his impulses, inconstant and inconsistent with his resolves (as we can see him passive 

in the face of strengthening secret societies which were preparing to overthrow the throne). 

But in no case should his decisions be attributed to a lack of respect for the Jews. On the 

contrary, he was listening to their needs and, even during the war of 1812-14, he had kept at 

Headquarters the Jewish delegates Zindel Sonnenberg and Leisen Dillon who “defended the 

interests of the Jews.” (Dillon, it is true, was soon to be judged for having appropriated 250,000 

rubles of public money and for having extorted funds from landowners.) Sonnenberg, on the 

other hand, remained for a long time one of Alexander’s close friends. On the orders of the 
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Tsar, (1814) a permanent Jewish deputation functioned for a number of years in St. Petersburg, 

for which the Jews had themselves raised funds, “for there were plans for major secret 

expenditures within government departments.” These deputies demanded that “throughout 

Russia, the Jews should have the right to engage in the trade, farming, and distillation of 

spirits”, that they be granted “privileges in matters of taxation,” that “the backlogs be handed 

over,” that “the number of Jews admitted to be members of the magistrate no longer be 

limited.” The Emperor benevolently listened to them, made promises, but no concrete 

measures were taken.68

In 1817 the English Missionary Society sent the lawyer Louis Weil, an equal rights activist for the 

Jews, to Russia for the specific purpose of acquainting himself with the situation of the Jews of 

Russia: he had an interview with Alexander I to whom he handed a note. “Deeply convinced 

that the Jews represented a sovereign nation, Weil affirmed that all Christian peoples, since 

they had received salvation of the Jews, were to render to them the highest homage and to 

show them their gratitude by benefits.” In this last period of his life, marked by mystical 

dispositions, Alexander had to be sensitive to such arguments. Both he and his government 

were afraid of “touching with an imprudent hand the religious rules” of the Jews. Alexander had 

great respect for the venerable people of the Old Covenant and was sympathetic to their 

present situation. Hence his utopian quest to make this people access the New Testament. To 

this end, in 1817, with the help of the Emperor, the Society of Christians of Israel was created, 

meaning Jews who converted to Christianity (not necessarily orthodoxy), and because of this 

enjoyed considerable privileges: they had the right, everywhere in Russia, “to trade and to carry 

on various trades without belonging to guilds or workshops,” and they were “freed, they and 

their descendants, forever, of any civil and military service.” Nevertheless, this society 

experienced no influx of converted Jews and soon ceased to exist.69

The good dispositions of Alexander I in regards to the Jews made him express his conviction to 

put an end to the accusations of ritual murders which arose against them. (These accusations 

were unknown in Russia until the division of Poland, from where they came. In Poland they 

appeared in the sixteenth century, transmitted from Europe where they were born in England in 

1144 before resurfacing in the twelfth-thirteenth century in Spain, France, Germany, and Great 

Britain. Popes and Monarchs fought off these accusations without them disappearing in the 

fourteenth nor fifteenth century. The first trial in Russia took place in Senno, near Vitebsk, in 

1816, was not only stopped “by Her Majesty’s decision”, but incited the Minister of Religious 

Affairs, Golitsyn, to send the authorities of all provinces the following injunction: henceforth, 

not to accuse the Jews “of having put to death Christian children, solely supported by prejudices 

and without proof.”70 In 1822-1823 another affair of this kind broke out in Velije, also in the 
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province of Vitebsk. However, the court decreed in 1824: “The Jews accused in many uncertain 

Christian testimonies of having killed this boy, supposedly to collect his blood, must be 

exonerated of all suspicion.”71

Nevertheless, in the twenty-five years of his reign, Alexander I did not sufficiently study the 

question to conceive and put into practice a methodical solution satisfactory to all, regarding 

the Jewish problem as it was in Russia at the time.

How to act, what to do with this separated people who has not yet grafted onto Russia, and 

which continues to grow in number, is also the question to which the Decembrist Pestel who 

opposed the Emperor, sought an answer for the Russia of the future, which he proposed to 

direct. In The Truth of Russia he proposed two solutions. Either make the Jews merge for good 

in the Christian population of Russia: “Above all, it is necessary to deflect the effect, harmful to 

Christians, of the close link that unites the Jews amongst themselves or which is directed 

against Christians, which completely isolates the Jews from all other citizens… Convene the 

most knowledgeable rabbis and Jewish personalities, listen to their proposals and then take 

action… If Russia does not expel the Jews, all the more they shouldn’t adopt unfriendly attitudes 

towards Christians.” The second solution “would consist in helping the Jews create a separate 

state in one of the regions of Asia Minor. To this end, it is necessary to establish a gathering 

point for the Jewish people and to send several armies to support it” (we are not very far from 

the future Zionist idea). The Russian and Polish Jews together will form a people of more than 

two million souls. “Such a mass of men in search of a country will have no difficulty in 

overcoming obstacles such as the opposition of the Turks. Crossing Turkey from Europe, they 

will pass into Asiatic Turkey and occupy there enough place and land to create a specifically 

Jewish state. However, Pestel acknowledges that “such an enormous undertaking requires 

special circumstances and an entrepreneurial spirit of genius.”72

Nikita Muravyov, another Decembrist, stipulated in his proposed Constitution that “Jews can 

enjoy civil rights in the places where they live, but that the freedom to settle in other places will 

depend on the particular decisions of the People’s Supreme Assembly.”73

Nevertheless, the instances proper to the Jewish population, the Kehalim, opposed with all their 

might the interference of state power and all external influence. On this subject, opinions differ. 

From the religious point of view, as many Jewish writers explain, living in the diaspora is a 

historical punishment that weighs on Israel for its former sins. Scattering must be assumed to 
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merit God’s forgiveness and the return to Palestine. For this it is necessary to live without failing 

according to the Law and not to mingle with the surrounding peoples: that is the ordeal. But for 

a liberal Jewish historian of the early twentieth century, “the dominant class, incapable of any 

creative work, deaf to the influences of its time, devoted all its energies to preserving from the 

attacks of time, both external and internal, a petrified national and religious life.” The Kahal 

drastically stifled the protests of the weakest. “The cultural and educational reform of 1804 

confined itself to illusorily blurring the distinctive and foreign character of the Jews, without 

having recourse to coercion,” or even “taking mercy on prejudices”; “these decisions sowed a 

great disturbance within the Kahal… in that they harboured a threat to the power it exercised 

over the population”; in the Regulation, the most sensitive point for the Kahal “was the 

prohibition of delivering the unruly to the Herem,” or, even more severe, the observation that 

“to keep the population in servile submission to a social order, as it had been for centuries, it 

was forbidden to change garb.”74 But it can not be denied that the Kehalim also had reasonable 

regulative requirements for the life of the Jews, such as the Khasaki rule allowing or forbidding 

the members of the community from taking on a particular type of farming or occupation, 

which put an end to excessive competition between Jews.75 “Thou shalt not move the bounds 

of thy neighbour” (Deuteronomy, XIX, 14).

In 1808, an unidentified Jew transmitted an anonymous note (fearing reprisals from the Kahal) 

to the Minister of Internal Affairs, entitled “Some remarks concerning the management of the 

life of the Jews.” He wrote: “Many do not regard as sacred the innumerable rites and rules… 

which divert attention from all that is useful, enslave the people to prejudices, take by their 

multiplication an enormous amount of time, and deprive the Jews of ‘the advantage of being 

good citizens’.” He noted that “the rabbis, pursuing only their interest, have enclosed life in an 

intertwining of rules”, have concentrated in their hands all the police, legal, and spiritual 

authority; “more precisely, the study of the Talmud and the observance of rites as a unique 

means of distinguishing oneself and acquiring affluence have become ‘the first dream and 

aspiration of the Jews’”; And although the governmental Regulation “limits the prerogatives of 

the rabbis and Kelahim, “the spirit of the people remained the same.” The author of this note 

considered “the rabbis and the Kahal as the main culprits of the ignorance and misery of the 

people.”76

Another Jewish public man, Guiller Markevich, a native of Prussia, wrote that the members of 

the Vilnius Kahal, with the help of the local administration, exerted a severe repression against 

all those who denounced their illegal acts; now deprived of the right to the Herem, they kept 

their accusers for long years in prison, and if one of them succeeded in getting a message from 

his cell to the higher authorities, “they sent him without any other form of trials to the next 
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world.” When this kind of crime was revealed, “the Kahal spent large sums to stifle the 

affair.”77 Other Jewish historians give examples of assassinations directly commissioned by the 

Jewish Kahal.

In their opposition to governmental measures, the Kehalim relied essentially on the religious 

sense of their action; thus “the union of the Kahal and the rabbis, desirous of maintaining their 

power over the masses, made the government believe that every act of a Jew was subject to 

such and such a religious prescription; the role of religion was thereby increased. As a result, 

the people of the administration saw in the Jews not members of different social groups, but a 

single entity closely knit together; the vices and infractions of the Jews were explained not by 

individual motives, but by ‘the alleged land amorality of the Jewish religion’.”78

“The union of Kehalim and rabbis did not want to see or hear anything. It extended its leaden 

cover over the masses. The power of the Kahal only increased while the rights of the elders and 

rabbis were limited by the Regulation of 1804. “This loss is offset by the fact that the Kahal 

acquired—it is true, only in a certain measure—the role of a representative administration 

which it had enjoyed in Poland. The Kahal owed this strengthening of its authority to the 

institution of deputies.” This deputation of the Jewish communities established in the western 

provinces, in charge of debating at leisure with the government the problems of Jewish life, was 

elected in 1807 and sat intermittently for eighteen years. These deputies endeavoured, above 

all, to restore to the rabbis the right to the Herem; They declared that to deprive the rabbis of 

the right to chastise the disobedient is contrary to the religious respect which the Jews are 

obliged by law to have for the rabbis.” These deputies succeeded in persuading the members of 

the Committee (of Senator Popov, 1809) that the authority of the rabbis was a support for the 

Russian governmental power. “The members of the Committee did not resist in front of the 

threat that the Jews would escape the authority of the rabbis to delve into depravity”; the 

Committee was “prepared to maintain in its integrity all this archaic structure to avoid the 

terrible consequences evoked by the deputies… Its members did not seek to know who the 

deputies considered to be ‘violators of the spiritual law’; they did not suspect that they were 

those who aspired to education”; the deputies “exerted all their efforts to strengthen the 

authority of the Kahal and to dry at the source the movement towards culture.”79 They 

succeeded in deferring the limitations previously taken to the wearing of traditional Jewish 

garb, which dated back to the Middle Ages and so blatantly separated the Jews from the 

surrounding world. Even in Riga, “the law that ordered the Jews to wear another garment was 

not applied anywhere”, and it was reported by the Emperor himself—while awaiting new 

legislation80…
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All requests of the deputies were not satisfied, far from it. They needed money and “to get it, 

the deputies frightened their communities by ominously announcing the intentions of the 

government and by amplifying the rumours of the capital.” In 1820, Markevitch accused the 

deputies “of intentionally spreading false news… to force the population to pay to the Kahal the 

sums demanded.”81

In 1825, the institution of the Jewish deputies was suppressed.

One of the sources of tension between the authorities and Kehalim resided in the fact that the 

latter, the only ones authorised to levy the capitation on the Jewish population, “hid the ‘souls’ 

during the censuses” and concealed a large quantity of them. “The government thought that it 

knew the exact numbers of the Jewish population in order to demand the corresponding 

amount of the capitation,” but it was very difficult to establish it.82 For example, in Berdichev, 

“the unrecorded Jewish population… regularly accounted for nearly half the actual number of 

Jewish inhabitants.”83 (According to the official data that the Government had succeeded in 

establishing for 1818, the Jews were 677,000, an already important number, for example, by 

comparison with the data of 1812, the number of male individuals had suddenly doubled…—but 

it was still an undervalued figure, for there were about 40,000 Jews from the kingdom of Poland 

to add.) Even with reduced figures of the Kehalim, there were unrecovered taxes every year; 

and not only were they not recuperated but they augmented from year to year. Alexander I 

personally told the Jewish representatives of his discontent at seeing so many concealments 

and arrears (not to mention the smuggling industry). In 1817 the remission of all fines and 

surcharges, penalties, and arrears was decreed, and a pardon was granted to all those who had 

been punished for not correctly recording ‘souls’, but on the condition that the Kehalim provide 

honest data from then on.”84 But “no improvement ensued. In 1820, the Minister of Finance 

announced that all measures aimed at improving the economic situation of the Jews were 

unsuccessful… Many Jews were wandering without identity papers; a new census reported a 

number of souls two to three times greater (if not more) than those previously provided by 

Jewish societies.”85

However, the Jewish population was constantly increasing. Most researchers see one of the 

main reasons for this growth as being the custom of early marriages prevalent at that time 

among the Jews: as early as 13 years old for boys, and from 12 years old onwards for girls. In 

the anonymous note of 1808 quoted above, the unknown Jewish author writes that this custom 
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of early unions “is at the root of innumerable evils” and prevents the Jews from getting rid “of 

inveterate customs and activities that draw upon them the general public’s indignation, and 

harms them as well as others.” Tradition among the Jews is that “those who are not married at 

a young age are held in contempt and even the most destitute draw on their last resources to 

marry their children as soon as possible, even though these newlyweds incur the vicissitudes of 

a miserable existence. Early marriages were introduced by the rabbis who took advantage of 

them. And one will be better able to contract a profitable marriage by devoting himself to the 

study of the Talmud and the strict observance of the rites. Those who married early were 

indeed only occupied with studying the Talmud, and when finally came the time to lead an 

autonomous existence, these fathers, ill-prepared for labour, ignorant of the working life, turn 

to the manufacture of alcohol and petty trading.” The same goes for crafts: “By marrying, the 

fifteen-year-old apprentice no longer learns his trade, but becomes his own boss and only ruins 

the work.”86 In the mid-1920s, “in the provinces of Grodno and Vilnius, there was a rumour 

that it would be forbidden to enter into marriage before reaching the age of majority”, which is 

why “there was a hasty conclusion of marriages between children who were little more than 9 

years old.”87

These early marriages debilitated the life of the Jews. How could such a swarming, such a 

densification of the population, such competition in similar occupations, lead to any thing else 

than misery? The policy of the Kehalim contributed to “the worsening of the material 

conditions of the Jews.”88

Menashe Ilier, a distinguished Talmudist but also a supporter of the rationalism of the age of 

Enlightenment, published in 1807 a book, which he sent to the rabbis (it was quickly withdrawn 

from circulation by the rabbinate, and his second book was to be destined to a massive book 

burning). He addressed “the dark aspects of Jewish life.” He stated: “Misery is inhumanly great, 

but can it be otherwise when the Jews have more mouths to feed than hands to work? It is 

important to make the masses understand that it is necessary to earn a living by the sweat of 

their brow… Young people, who have no income, contract marriage by counting on the mercy 

of God and on the purse of their father, and when this support is lacking, laden with family, they 

throw themselves on the first occupation come, even if it is dishonest. In droves they devote 

themselves to commerce, but as the latter cannot feed them all, they are obliged to resort to 

deceit. This is why it is desirable that the Jews turn to agriculture. An army of idlers, under the 

appearance of ‘educated people’, live by charity and at the expense of the community. No one 

cures the people: the rich only think of enriching themselves, the rabbis think only of the 

disputes between Hassidim and Minagdes (Jewish Orthodox), and the only concern of the 

Jewish activists is to short-circuit ‘the misfortune presented in the form of governmental 
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decrees, even if they contribute to the good of the people’.”89

Thus “the great majority of the Jews in Russia lived on small trade, crafts, and small industries, 

or served as intermediaries”; “they have inundated the cities of factories and retail shops.”90 

How could the economic life of the Jewish people be healthy under these conditions?

However, a much later Jewish author of the mid-twentieth century was able to write, recalling 

this time: “It is true that the Jewish mass lived cheaply and poorly. But the Jewish community as 

a whole was not miserable.”91

There is no lack of interest in the rather unexpected testimonies of the life of the Jews in the 

western provinces, seen by the participants in the Napoleonic expedition of 1812 who passed 

through this region. On the outskirts of Dochitsa, the Jews “are rich and wealthy, they trade 

intensively with Russian Poland and even go to the Leipzig fair.” At Gloubokie, “the Jews had the 

right to distil alcohol and make vodka and mead,” they “established or owned cabarets, inns, 

and relays located on highways.” The Jews of Mogilev are well-off, undertake large-scale trading 

(although “a terrible misery reigns around that area”). “Almost all the Jews in those places had a 

license to sell spirits. Financial transactions were largely developed there.” Here again is the 

testimony of an impartial observer: “In Kiev, the Jews are no longer counted. The general 

characteristic of Jewish life is ease, although it is not the lot of all.”92

On the level of psychology and everyday life, the Russian Jews have the following ‘specific 

traits’: “a constant concern about… their fate, their identity… how to fight, defend 

themselves…” “cohesion stems from established customs: the existence of an authoritarian and 

powerful social structure charged with preserving… the uniqueness of the way of life”; 

“adaptation to new conditions is to a very large extent collective” and not individual.93

We must do justice to this organic unity of land, which in the first half of the nineteenth century 

“gave the Jewish people of Russia its original aspect. This world was compact, organic, subject 

to vexations, not spared of suffering and deprivation, but it was a world in itself. Man was not 

stifled within it. In this world, one could experience joie de vivre, one could find one’s food… 

one could build one’s life to one’s taste and in one’s own way, both materially and spiritually… 

Central fact: the spiritual dimension of the community was linked to traditional knowledge and 
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the Hebrew language.”94

But in the same book devoted to the Russian Jewish world, another writer notes that “the lack 

of rights, material misery, and social humiliation hardly allowed self-respect to develop among 

the people.”95

*

The picture we have presented of these years is complex, as is almost any problem related to 

the Jewish world. Henceforth, throughout our development, we must not lose sight of this 

complexity, but must constantly bear it in mind, without being disturbed by the apparent 

contradictions between various authors.

“Long ago, before being expelled from Spain, the Jews [of Eastern Europe] marched at the head 

of other nations; today [in the first half of the seventeenth century], their cultural 

impoverishment is total. Deprived of rights, cut off from the surrounding world, they retreated 

into themselves. The Renaissance passed by without concern for them, as did the intellectual 

movement of the eighteenth century in Europe. But this Jewish world was strong in itself. 

Hindered by countless religious commandments and prohibitions, the Jew not only did not 

suffer from them, but rather saw in them the source of infinite joys. In them, the intellect found 

satisfaction in the subtle dialectic of the Talmud, the feeling in the mysticism of the Kabbalah. 

Even the study of the Bible was sidelined, and knowledge of grammar was considered almost a 

crime.”96

The strong attraction of the Jews to the Enlightenment began in Prussia during the second half 

of the eighteenth century and received the name of Haskala (Age of Enlightenment). This 

intellectual awakening translated their desire to initiate themselves in European culture, to 

enhance the prestige of Judaism, which had been humiliated by other peoples. In parallel with 

the critical study of the Jewish past, Haskala militants (the Maskilim; the “enlightened”, 

“educated”) wanted to harmoniously unite Jewish culture with European knowledge.97 At first, 

“they intended to remain faithful to traditional Judaism, but in their tracks they began to 

sacrifice the Jewish tradition and take the side of assimilation by showing increasing contempt… 

for the language of their people”98 (Yiddish, that is). In Prussia this movement lasted the time 

of a generation, but it quickly reached the Slavic provinces of the empire, Bohemia, and Galicia. 

In Galicia, supporters of Haskala, who were even more inclined to assimilation, were already 
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ready to introduce the Enlightenment by force, and even “often enough had recourse to it”99 

with the help of authorities. The border between Galicia and the western provinces of Russia 

was permeable to individuals as well as to influences. With a delay of a century, the movement 

eventually penetrated into Russia.

At the beginning of the nineteenth century in Russia, the government “endeavoured precisely 

to overcome Jewish ‘particularism’ outside of religion and worship”, as a Jewish author 

euphemistically specifies100, confirming that this government did not interfere with the 

religion or religious life of the Jews. We have already seen that the Regulation of 1804 opened 

the doors of primary schools, secondary schools, and universities to all Jewish children, without 

any limitations or reservations. However,—“the aim of all the efforts of the Jewish ruling class 

was to nip in the bud this educational and cultural reform”101; “The Kahal endeavoured to 

extinguish the slightest light of the Enlightenment.”102 To “preserve in its integrity the 

established religious and social order… the rabbinate and Hasidism were endeavouring to 

eradicate the seedlings of secular education.”103

Thus, “the great masses of the Pale of Settlement felt horror and suspicion for Russian 

schooling and did not want to hear about it.”104 In 1817, and again in 1821, in various 

provinces, there were cases where the Kehalim prevented Jewish children from learning the 

Russian language in any school, whichever it was. The Jewish deputies in St. Petersburg 

repeated insistently that “they did not consider it necessary to open Jewish schools” where 

languages other than Hebrew would be taught.105 They recognised only the Heder (elementary 

school of Jewish language) and the Yeshiva (graduate school intended to deepen the knowledge 

of the Talmud); “almost every important community” had its Yeshiva.106

The Jewish body in Russia was thus hindered and could not free itself on its own.

But the first cultural protagonists also emerged from it, unable to move things without the help 

of Russian authorities. In the first place Isaac-Ber Levinson, a scholar who had lived in Galicia, 

where he had been in contact with the militants of Haskala, regarded not only the rabbinate but 

also the Hasidim as responsible for many popular misfortunes. Basing himself on the Talmud 

itself and on rabbinical literature, he demonstrated in his book Instructions to Israel that Jews 

were not forbidden to know foreign languages, especially not the official language of the 

country where they lived, if necessary in private as well as in public life; that knowledge of the 

secular sciences does not pose a threat to national and religious sentiment; finally, that the 
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predominance of commercial occupations is in contradiction with the Torah as with reason, and 

that it is important to develop productive work. But to publish his book, Levinson had to use a 

subsidy from the Ministry of Education; he himself was convinced that cultural reform within 

Judaism could only be achieved with the support of the higher authorities.107

Later, it was Guesanovsky, a teacher in Warsaw, who, in a note to the authorities, without 

relying on the Talmud, but on the contrary, by opposing it, imputed to the Kahal and the 

rabbinate “the spiritual stagnation which had petrified the people”; he stated that solely the 

weakening of their power would make it possible to introduce secular schooling; that it was 

necessary to control the Melamed (primary school teachers) and to admit as teachers only 

those deemed pedagogically and morally suitable; that the Kahal had to be dismissed from the 

financial administration; and that the age of nuptial contracts had to be raised. Long before 

them, in his note to the Minister of Finance, Guiller Markevitch, already quoted, wrote that in 

order to save the Jewish people from spiritual and economic decline, it was necessary to abolish 

the Kehalim, to teach the Jews languages, to organise work for them in factories, but also to 

allow them to freely engage in commerce throughout the country and use the services of 

Christians.

Later, in the 1930s, Litman Feiguine, a Chernigov merchant and a major supplier, took up most 

of these arguments with even greater insistence, and through Benkendorff * his note ended up 

in the hands of Nicolas I (Feiguine benefited from the support of bureaucratic circles). He 

defended the Talmud but reproached the Melamed for being “the lowest of the incompetents”

… who taught a theology “founded on fanaticism”, inculcated in children “the contempt of 

other disciplines as well as the hatred of the Heterodox.” He also considered it essential to 

suppress the Kehalim. (Hessen, the sworn enemy of the Kahal system, affirms that the latter, 

“by its despotism”, aroused among the Jews “an obscure resentment.”)108

Long, very long, was the path that enabled secular education to penetrate into Jewish circles. 

Meanwhile, the only exceptions were in Vilnius, where, under the influence of relations with 

Germany, the Maksilim intellectual group had gained strength, and in Odessa, the new capital 

of New Russia, home to many Jews from Galicia (due to the permeability of frontiers), 

populated by various nationalities and in the throes of intense commercial activity,—hence the 

Kahal did not feel itself powerful there. The intelligentsia, on the contrary, had the feeling of its 

independence and blended culturally (by the way of dressing, by all external aspects) in the 

surrounding population.109 Even though “the majority of the Odessite Jews were opposed to 

the establishment of a general educational establishment”110 principally due to the efforts of 
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the local administration, in the 30s, in Odessa as in Kishinev were created secular schools of the 

private type which were successful.”111

Then, in the course of the nineteenth century, this breakthrough of the Russian Jews towards 

education irresistibly intensified and would have historical consequences for Russia as for all 

mankind during the twentieth century. Thanks to a great effort of will, Russian Judaism 

managed to free itself from the state of threatening stagnation in which it found itself and to 

fully accede to a rich and diversified life. By the middle of the nineteenth century, there was a 

clear discernment of the signs of a revival and development in Russian Judaism, a movement of 

high historical significance, which no one had yet foreseen.

Chapter 3

During the Reign of Nicholas 1

With regard to the Jews, Nicholas I was very resolute. It was during his reign, according to 

sources, that more than half of all legal acts relating to Jews, from Alexis Mikhailovich to the 

death of Alexander II*, were published, and the Emperor personally examined this legislative 

work to direct it.1

Jewish historiography has judged that his policy was exceptionally cruel and gloomy. However, 

the personal interventions of Nicholas I did not necessarily prejudice the Jews, far from it. For 

example, one of the first files he received as an inheritance from Alexander I was the reopening, 

on the eve of his death (while on his way to Taganrog), of the “Velije affair”—the accusation 

against the Jews for having perpetrated a ritual murder on the person of a child. The Jewish 

Encyclopedia writes that “to a large extent, the Jews are indebted to the verdict of acquittal to 

the Emperor who sought to know the truth despite the obstruction on the part of the people he 

trusted.” In another well-known case, linked to accusations against the Jews (the “assassination 

of Mstislavl”), the Emperor willingly turned to the truth: after having, in a moment of anger, 

inflicted sanctions against the local Jewish population, he did not refuse to acknowledge his 

error.2 By signing the verdict of acquittal in the Velije case, Nicolas wrote that “the vagueness 

of the requisitions had not made it possible to take another decision”, adding nevertheless: “I 

do not have the moral certainty that Jews could have committed such a crime, or that they 

could not have done it.” “Repeated examples of this kind of assassination, with the same clues,” 

but always without sufficient evidence, suggest to him that there might be a fanatical sect 
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among the Jews, but “unfortunately, even among us Christians, there also exists sects just as 

terrifying and incomprehensible.”3 “Nicholas I and his close collaborators continued to believe 

that certain Jewish groups practised ritual murders.”4 For several years, the Emperor was under 

the severe grip of a calumny that smelled of blood… therefore his prejudice that Jewish 

religious doctrine was supposed to present a danger to the Christian population was 

reinforced.”5

This danger was understood by Nicolas in the fact that the Jews could convert Christians to 

Judaism. Since the eighteenth century, the high profile conversion to the Judaism of Voznitsyn, 

a captain of the Imperial army, had been kept in mind. “In Russia, from the second half of the 

seventeenth century onwards, groups of ‘Judaisers’ multiplied. In 1823, the Minister of Internal 

Affairs announced in a report “the wide-spread of the heresy of ‘Judaisers’ in Russia, and 

estimated the number of its followers at 20,000 people.” Persecutions began, after which 

“many members of the sect pretended to return to the bosom of the Orthodox Church while 

continuing to observe in secret the rites of their sect.”6

“A consequence of all this was that the legislation on the Jews took, at the time of Nicholas I… a 

religious spin.”7 The decisions and actions of Nicholas I with regard to the Jews were affected, 

such as his insistence on prohibiting them from having recourse to Christian servants, especially 

Christian nurses, for “work among the Jews undermines and weakens the Christian faith in 

women.” In fact, notwithstanding repeated prohibitions, this provision “never was fully 

applied… and Christians continued to serve” amongst the Jews.8

The first measure against the Jews, which Nicolas considered from the very beginning of his 

reign, was to put them on an equal footing with the Russian population with regard to the 

subjugation to compulsory service to the State, and in particular, requiring them to participate 

physically in conscription, which they had not been subjected to since their attachment to 

Russia. The bourgeois Jews did not supply recruits, but acquitted 500 rubles per head.9 This 

measure was not dictated solely by governmental considerations to standardise the obligations 

of the population (the Jewish communities were in any case very slow to pay the royalties, and 

moreover, Russia received many Jews from Galicia where they were already required to 

perform military service); nor by the fact that the obligation to provide recruits “would reduce 

the number of Jews not engaged in productive work”—rather, the idea was that the Jewish 

recruit, isolated from his closed environment, would be better placed to join the lifestyle of the 

nation as a whole, and perhaps even orthodoxy.10 Taken into account, these considerations 

considerably tightened the conditions of the conscription applied to the Jews, leading to a 
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gradual increase in the number of recruits and the lowering of the age of the conscripts.

It cannot be said that Nicolas succeeded in enforcing the decree on the military service of the 

Jews without encountering resistance. On the contrary, all instances of execution proceeded 

slowly. The Council of Ministers discussed at length whether it was ethically defensible to take 

such a measure “in order to limit Jewish overcrowding”; as stated by Minister of Finance Georg 

von Cancrin, “all recognise that it is inappropriate to collect humans rather than money.” The 

Kehalim did not spare their efforts to remove this threat from the Jews or to postpone it. When, 

exasperated by such slow progress, Nicholas ordered a final report to be presented to him in 

the shortest delays, “this order, it seems, only incited the Kehalim to intensify their action 

behind the scenes to delay the advancement of the matter. And they apparently succeeded in 

winning over to their cause one of the high officials,” whereby “the report never reached its 

destination”! At the very top of the Imperial apparatus, “this mysterious episode,” concludes J. 

Hessen, “could not have occurred without the participation of the Kahal.” A subsequent 

retrieval of the report was also unfulfilled, and Nicolas, without waiting any longer, introduced 

the conscription for the Jews by decree in 182711 (then, in 1836, equality in obtaining medals 

for the Jewish soldiers who had distinguished themselves12).

Totally exempted from recruitment were “the merchants of all guilds, inhabitants of the 

agricultural colonies, workshop leaders, mechanics in factories, rabbis and all Jews having a 

secondary or higher education.”13 Hence the desire of many Jewish bourgeois to try to make it 

into the class of merchants, bourgeois society railing to see its members required to be drafted 

for military service, “undermining the forces of the community, be it under the effect of 

taxation or recruitment.” The merchants, on the other hand, sought to reduce their visible 

“exposure” to leave the payment of taxes to the bourgeois. Relations between Jewish 

merchants and bourgeois were strained, for “at that time, the Jewish merchants, who had 

become more numerous and wealthier, had established strong relations in governmental 

spheres.” The Kahal of Grodno appealed to Saint Petersburg to demand that the Jewish 

population be divided into four “classes”—merchants, bourgeois, artisans, and cultivators—and 

that each should not have to answer for the others14. (In this idea proposed in the early 30s by 

the Kehalim themselves, one can see the first step towards the future “categorisation” carried 

out by Nicolas in 1840, which was so badly received by the Jews.)

The Kehalim were also charged with the task of recruiting among the Jewish mass, of which the 

government had neither recorded numbers nor profiles. The Kahal “put all the weight of this 

levy on the backs of the poor”, for “it seemed preferable for the most deprived to leave the 
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community, whereas a reduction in the number of its wealthy members could lead to general 

ruin.” The Kehalim asked the provincial authorities (but they were denied) the right to disregard 

the turnover “in order to be able to deliver to recruitment the ‘tramps’, those who did not pay 

taxes, the insufferable troublemakers”, so that “the owners… who assume all the obligations of 

society should not have to provide recruits belonging to their families”; and in this way the 

Kehalim were given the opportunity to act against certain members of the community.15

However, with the introduction of military service among the Jews, the men who were subject 

to it began to shirk and the full count was never reached. The cash taxation on Jewish 

communities had been considerably diminished, but it was noticed that this did by no means 

prevent it from continuing to be refunded only very partially. Thus, in 1829, Nicholas I granted 

Grodno’s request that in certain provinces Jewish recruits should be levied in addition to the 

tariff imposed in order to cover tax arrears. “In 1830 a Senate decree stipulated that the appeal 

of an additional recruit reduced the sums owed by the Kahal of 1,000 rubles in the case of an 

adult, 500 rubles in the case of a minor.”16 It is true that following the untimely zeal of the 

governors this measure was soon reported, while “Jewish communities themselves asked the 

government to enlist recruits to cover their arrears.” In government circles “this proposal was 

welcomed coldly, for it was easy to foresee that it would open new possibilities of abuse for the 

Kehalim.”17 However, as we can see, the idea matured on one side as well as on the other. 

Evoking these increased stringencies in the recruitment of Jews by comparison with the rest of 

the population, Hessen writes that this was a “glaring anomaly” in Russian law, for in general, in 

Russia, “the legislation applicable to the Jews did not tend to impose more obligations than that 

of other citizens.”18

Nicholas I’s keen intelligence, inclined to draw clearly legible perspectives (legend has it that the 

Saint Petersburg ‒ Moscow railway was, as a result, mapped out with a ruler!), in his tenacious 

determination to transform the particularist Jews into ordinary Russian subjects, and, if 

possible, into Orthodox Christians, went from the idea of military recruitment to that of Jewish 

cantonists. The cantonists (the name goes back to 1805) was an institution sheltering the 

children of the soldiers (lightening in favour of the fathers the burden of a service which lasted… 

twenty-five years!); it was supposed to extend the “sections for military orphans” created under 

Peter the Great, a kind of school for the government which provided the students with technical 

knowledge useful for their subsequent service in the army (which, in the eyes of civil servants, 

now seems quite appropriate for young Jewish children, or even highly desirable to keep them 

from a young age and for long years cut off from their environment. In preparation to the 

cantonist institution, an 1827 decree granted “Jewish communities the right to recruit a minor 

instead of an adult”, from the age of 12 (that is, before the age of nuptiality among the Jews). 
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The New Jewish Encyclopedia believes that this measure was “a very hard blow.” But this 

faculty in no way meant the obligation to call a soldier at the age of 1219, it had nothing to do 

with “the introduction of compulsory conscription for Jewish children,”20 as wrote erroneously 

the Encyclopedia, and as it ended up being accredited in the literature devoted to the Jews of 

Russia, then in the collective memory. The Kehalim even found this a profitable substitution and 

used it by recruiting “the orphans, the children of widows (sometimes bypassing the law 

protecting only children)”, often “for the benefit of the progeny of a rich man.”21 Then, from 

the age of 18, the cantonists performed the usual military service, so long at the time—but let 

us not forget that it was not limited to barracks life; the soldiers married, lived with their 

families, learned to practice other trades; they received the right to establish themselves in the 

interior provinces of the empire, where they completed their service. But, unquestionably, the 

Jewish soldiers who remained faithful to the Jewish religion and its ritual suffered from being 

unable to observe the Sabbath or contravene the rules on food.

Minors placed with cantonists, separated from their family environment, naturally found it 

difficult to resist the pressure of their educators (who were encouraged by rewards to 

successfully convert their pupils) during lessons of Russian, arithmetic, but above all, of 

catechism; they were also rewarded for their conversion, moreover, it was facilitated by their 

resentment towards a community that had given them up to recruitment. But, conversely, the 

tenacity of the Jewish character, the faithfulness to the religion inculcated at an early age, made 

many of them hold their grounds. Needless to say, these methods of conversion to Christianity 

were not Christian and did not achieve their purpose. On the other hand, the accounts of 

conversions obtained by cruelty, or by death threats against the cantonists, supposedly 

collective drownings in the rivers for those who refused baptism (such stories received public 

attention in the decades that followed), fall within the domain of pure fiction. As the Jewish 

Encyclopedia published before the Revolution the “popular legend” of the few hundred 

cantonists allegedly killed by drowning was born from the information published in a German 

newspaper, according to which “eight hundred cantonists were taken away one fine day to be 

baptised in the water of a river, two of them perished by drowning…”22

The statistical data from the Military Inspection Archives to the General Staff23 for the years 

1847‒1854, when the recruitment of Jewish cantonists was particularly high, showed that they 

represented on average only 2.4% of the many cantonists in Russia, in other words, that their 

proportion did not exceed that of the Jewish population in the country, even taking into 

account the undervalued data provided by the Kehalim during the censuses.
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Doubtlessly the baptised had an interest in exculpating themselves from their compatriots in 

exaggerating the degree of coercion they had to undergo in their conversion to Christianity, 

especially since as part of this conversion they enjoyed certain advantages in the 

accomplishment of their service. Moreover, “many converted cantonists remained secretly 

faithful to their original religion, and some of them later returned to Judaism.”24

*

In the last years of the reign of Alexander I, after a new wave of famine in Belarus (1822), a new 

senator had been sent on mission: he had come back with the same conclusions as Derzhavin a 

quarter of a century before. The “Jewish Committee” established in 1823, composed of four 

ministers, had proposed to study “on what grounds it would be expedient and profitable to 

organise the participation of the Jews in the State” and to “put down in writing all that could 

contribute to the improvement of the civil situation of this people.” They soon realised that the 

problem thus posed was beyond their strength, and in 1825 this “Jewish Committee” at the 

ministerial level had been replaced by a “Directors Committee” (the fifth), composed of the 

directors of their ministries, who devoted themselves to studying the problem for another eight 

years.25

In his eagerness, Nicholas preceded the work of this committee with his decisions. Thus, as we 

have seen, he introduced conscription for the Jews. This is how he set a deadline of three years 

to expel the Jews from all the villages of the western provinces and put an end to their activity 

of alcohol manufacturing, but, as under his predecessors, this measure experienced slowdowns, 

stoppages, and was ultimately reported. Subsequently, he prohibited Jews from holding taverns 

and diners, from living in such places, and ensuring the retail sale of alcohol in person, but this 

measure was not applied either.26

Another attempt was made to deny the Jews one of their favourite jobs: the maintenance of 

post houses (with their inns and taverns), but again in vain because, apart from the Jews, there 

was not enough candidates to occupy them.27

In 1827, a leasing system of the distilling activities was introduced throughout the empire, but 

there was a considerable fall in the prices obtained at the auctions when the Jews were 

discarded and “it happened that there was no other candidate to take these operations,” so 

that they had to be allowed to the Jews, whether in the towns or in the countryside, even 
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beyond the area of residence. The government was, in fact, relieving the Jews of the 

responsibility of organising the collection of taxes on liquor and thus receiving a regular 

return.28 “Long before the merchants of the first guild were allowed to reside in any part of the 

empire, all farmers enjoyed the freedom to move and resided in capitals and other cities 

outside the Pale of Settlement… From the midst of the farmers came prominent Jewish public 

men” like Litman Feiguine, already mentioned, and Evsel Günzburg (“he had held an alcohol 

manufacturing tenancy in a besieged Sevastopol”); “In 1859 he founded in Saint Petersburg a 

banking establishment… one of the most important in Russia”; later, “he participated in the 

placement of Russian Treasury bonds in Europe”; he was the founder of the dynasty of the 

Günzburg barons29). Beginning in 1848, all “Jewish merchants of the first guild were allowed to 

lease drinking places even where Jews had no right to reside permanently.”30

The Jews also received a more extensive right with respect to the distillation of alcohol. As we 

remember, in 1819, they were allowed to distil it in the provinces of Great Russia “until Russian 

artisans acquire sufficient competence.” In 1826 Nicolas decided to repatriate them to the Pale 

of Settlement, but in 1827 he conceded to several specific requests to keep distillers in place, 

for example in the state factories in Irkutsk.31

Vladimir Solvoyov quotes the following thoughts from Mr. Katkov: “In the western provinces it 

is the Jew who deals with alcohol, but is the situation better in the other provinces of Russia? … 

The Jewish innkeepers who get the people drunk, ruin the peasants and cause their doom, are 

they present throughout Russia? What is happening elsewhere in Russia, where Jews are not 

admitted and where the flow of liquor is held by an Orthodox bartender or a kulak?”32 Let us 

listen to Leskov, the great connoisseur of Russian popular life: “In the provinces of Greater 

Russia where Jews do not reside, the number of those accused of drunkenness, or crimes 

committed under the influence, are regularly and significantly higher than within the Pale of 

Settlement. The same applies to the number of deaths due to alcoholism… And this is not a new 

phenomenon: it has been so since ancient times.”33

However, it is true, statistics tell us that in the western and southern provinces of the empire 

there was one drinking place per 297 inhabitants, whereas in the eastern provinces there was 

only one for 585. The newspaper The Voice, which was not without influence at the time, was 

able to say that the trade of alcohol of the Jews was “the wound of this area”—namely the 

western region—“and an intractable wound” at that. In his theoretical considerations, I.G. 

Orchansky tries to show that the stronger the density in drinking places, the less alcoholism 

there was (we must understand that, according to him, the peasant will succumb less to 
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temptation if the flow of drinks is found under his nose and solicits him 24 hours a day—

remember Derzhavin: the bartenders trade night and day; but will the peasant be tempted by a 

distant cabaret, when he will have to cross several muddy fields to reach it? No, we know only 

too well that alcoholism is sustained not only by demand, but also by the supply of vodka. 

Orchansky nevertheless pursues his demonstration: when the Jew is interposed between the 

distiller and the drunken peasant, he acts objectively in favour of the peasant because he sells 

vodka at a lower price, but it is true that he does so by pawning the effects of the peasant. 

Certainly, he writes, some believe nevertheless that Jewish tenants have “a poor influence on 

the condition of the peasants”, but it is because, “in the trade of bartending, as in all the other 

occupations, they differ by their know-how, skill and dynamism.”34 It is true that elsewhere, in 

another essay of the same collection, he recognises the existence of “fraudulent transactions 

with the peasants”; “it is right to point out that the Jewish trade is grossly deceitful and that the 

Jewish dealer, tavern-keeper and usurer exploit a miserable population, especially in the 

countryside”; “faced with an owner, the peasant holds on firmly to his prices, but he is 

amazingly supple and confident when dealing with a Jew, especially if the latter holds a bottle of 

vodka in reserve… the peasant is often brought to sell his wheat dirt cheap to the Jew.”35 

Nevertheless, to this crude, glaring, arresting truth, Orchansky seeks attenuating circumstances. 

But this evil that eats away the will of the peasants, how to justify it?…

*

Due to his insistent energy, Nicholas I, throughout his reign, did not only face failures in his 

efforts to transform Jewish life in its different aspects.

This was the case with Jewish agriculture.

The “Regulation on the obligations of recruitment and military service of the Jews”, dated 1827, 

stipulated that Jewish farmers “transferred…” on private plots were released, as well as their 

children, from the obligation to provide recruits for a period of fifty years (exemption incurring 

from the moment they actually began to “engage in agricultural work”). As soon as this 

regulation was made public, more Jews returned to the colonies than those who had absented 

themselves on their own initiative, that had been signalled absent.36

In 1829 a more elaborate and detailed regulation concerning Jewish cultivators was published: 

it envisaged their access to the bourgeois class provided that all their debts were paid; 
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authorisation to absent themselves for up to three months to seek a livelihood during periods 

when the land did not require their physical work; sanctions against those who absent 

themselves without authorisation, and rewards for distinguished agricultural leaders. V. Nikitin 

admits: “To compare the severe constraints imposed on Jewish farmers, ‘but with rights and 

privileges exclusively granted to the Jews’, with those of the other taxable classes, it must be 

observed that the government treated the Jews with great benevolence.”37

And, from 1829 to 1833, “the Jews labour the land with zeal, fate rewards them with good 

harvests, they are satisfied with the authorities, and vice versa, and general prosperity is tainted 

only by fortuitous incidents, without great importance.” After the war with Turkey—1829—“the 

arrears of taxes are entirely handed over to the Jewish residents as to all the settlers… for 

‘having suffered from the passage of years’.” But according to the report of the supervisory 

committee, “the bad harvest of 1833 made it impossible to retain [the Jews] in the colonies, it 

allowed many who had neither the desire nor the courage to devote themselves to the 

agricultural work of sowing nothing, or almost nothing, of getting rid of the cattle, going away 

from here and there, of demanding subsidies and not paying royalties.” In 1834, more than 

once, they saw “the sale of the grain which they had received, and the slaughter of the cattle”, 

which was also done by those who were not driven to do so by necessity; The Jews received 

bad harvests more often than other peasants, for, with the exception of insufficient seedlings, 

they worked the land haphazardly, at the wrong time, which was due to the “the habit, 

transmitted from generation to generation, of practising easy trades, of mismanaging, and 

neglecting the surveillance of livestock.”38

One might have thought that three decades of unfortunate experiences in the implementation 

of Jewish agriculture (compared to universal experience) would suffice for the government to 

renounce these vain and expensive attempts. But no! Did the reiterative reports not reach 

Nicholas I? Or were they embellished by the ministers? Or did the inexhaustible energy and 

irrefragable hope of the sovereign impel him to renew these incessant attempts?

In any case, Jewish agriculture, in the new Jewish Regulation dated 1835 and approved by the 

Emperor (the result of the work of the “Directors Committee”), is not at all excluded, but on the 

contrary, enhanced: “to organise the lives of the Jews according to rules which would enable 

them to earn a decent living by practising agriculture and industry, gradually dispensing 

instruction to their youth, which would prevent them from engaging in idleness or unlawful 

occupations.” If the Jewish community were previously required to pay 400 rubles per 

household, now “every Jew was allowed to become a farmer at any time, all tax arrears were 
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immediately handed over to him, and to his community”; They were given the right to receive 

land from the state in usufruct without time limit (but within the Pale of Settlement), to acquire 

plots of land, to sell them, to rent them. Those who became farmers were exempt from 

taxation for twenty-five years, property tax for ten years, recruitment for fifty years. In reverse, 

no Jew “could be forced to become a farmer”. “The industries and trades practised in the 

context of village life were also allowed to them.”39 (One hundred and fifty years have passed. 

Forgetful of the past, an eminent and most enlightened Jewish physicist formulates his vision of 

Jewish life in those days: “A Pale of Settlement coupled with the prohibition (!) of practicing 

agriculture.”40 “The historian and thinker M. Guerchenson uses a more general formulation: 

“Agriculture is forbidden to the Jew by the spirit of his people because, by attaching to the land, 

man takes root more easily in a given place.”41)

The influential Minister of Finance, Cancrin, proposed to place the deserted lands of Siberia at 

the disposal of Jewish agriculture; Nicolas gave his approval to this project at the end of the 

same year 1835. It was proposed to attribute to Jewish settlers “up to 15 hectares of good land 

per male individual”, with tools and workhorses billed to the Treasury, and paid transportation 

costs, including food. It seems that poor Jews, laden with large families, were tempted to 

undertake this journey to Siberia. But this time the Kehalim were divided in their calculations: 

these poor Jews were indeed necessary to satisfy the needs of recruitment (instead of wealthy 

families); it was concealed from them that the arrears were all handed over to them and they 

were required to carry them out beforehand. But the government changed its mind, fearing the 

difficulties of a transfer so far away, and that the Jews, on the spot, lacking examples of know-

how and love of work, and would resume their “sterile trade, which rested essentially on 

dishonest operations that have already done so much harm in the western provinces of the 

empire”, their “innkeeper occupations of ruining inhabitants by satisfying their inclination for 

drinking,” and so on. In 1837, therefore, the transfer to Siberia was stopped without the 

reasons being publicised.42 In the same year, the Inspectorate estimated that in New Russia 

“the plots of land reserved for Jewish settlers contained a black potting soil of the highest 

quality, that they were ‘perfectly suited to the cultivation of cereals, that the steppes were 

excellent for the production of hay and livestock farming’.” (local authorities, however, disputed 

this assessment).43

Also in the same year of 1837, a Ministry of Public Goods was established, headed by Count P. 

Kiselyov, who was entrusted with the transition measure intended to prepare the abolition of 

serfdom, the task of “protecting the free cultivators” (the peasants of the Crown)—there were 

seven and a half million of them registered—including the Jewish farmers—but they were only 

3,000 to 5,000 families, or “a drop of water in the sea, relative to the number of peasants of the 
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Crown.” Nevertheless, as soon as it was created, this ministry received numerous petitions and 

recriminations of all kinds coming from Jews. “Six months later it became clear that it would be 

necessary to give the Jews so much attention that the main tasks of the ministry would 

suffer.”44 In 1840, however, Kiselyov was also appointed president of a newly created 

committee (the sixth one45) “to determine the measures to be taken to reorganise the lives of 

the Jews in Russia”, meaning he also was to tackle the Jewish problem.

In 1839, Kiselyov had a law passed by the State Council authorising the Jews on the waiting lists 

for recruitment to become cultivators (provided that they were doing so with their whole 

family), which signified that they would benefit from the major advantage of being dispensed 

with military service. In 1844, “a still more detailed settlement concerning Jewish farmers” gave 

them—even in the Pale of Settlement—the right to employ for three years Christians who were 

supposed to teach them how to properly manage a farm. In 1840, “many Jews came to New 

Russia supposedly at their own expense (they produced on the spot ‘attestations’ that they had 

the means to do so), in fact, they had nothing and made it known from their very first days that 

their resources were exhausted”; “there were up to 1,800 families of which several hundred 

possessed neither papers nor any proof whatsoever of where they came from and how they 

found themselves in New Russia”; and “they never ceased to come running, begging not to be 

left to rot in their misery.” Kiselyov ordered to receive them by levying the spendings to the 

“settlers in general, without distinction of ethnic group.” In other words, he assisted them well 

beyond the amounts provided for. In 1847, “additional ordinances” were enacted to make it 

easier for Jews to become farmers.46

Through his ministry, Kiselyov had the ambition to establish model colonies and then “to 

eventually settle this people on a large scale”: for this purpose, he set up one after the other 

colonies in the province of Ekaterinoslav, on fertile soils, well irrigated by rivers and streams, 

with excellent pastures and hay fields, hoping very much that the new settlers would benefit 

from the remarkable experience already gained by the German settlers, (but as it was difficult 

to find volunteers among them to settle in the midst of the Jewish settlements, it was decided 

to employ them as wage earners). New credits were constantly granted to these future model 

colonies; all arrears were remitted to them. In the second year of their settlement, Jewish 

families were required to have at least one vegetable garden and one seeded hectare, and to 

ensure a slow increase in the area sown over the years. Insofar as they had no experience in the 

selection of livestock, this task was entrusted to the curators. Kiselyov sought to facilitate the 

travelling conditions of families (accompanied by a small number of day labourers) and to find 

ways to provide specialised agricultural training to a certain contingent of settlers. But in some 

families there was still very little to worry about agronomy: in extreme cold, people did not 
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even go out to feed the beasts—so they had to equip them with long hooded coats!47

In the meantime, the flow of Jews migrating to agriculture did not dry up, especially since the 

western provinces suffered from bad harvests. Families that did not include the necessary 

number of able-bodied men were often dispatched, “the Kehalim sent by force the destitute 

and invalid, retaining the rich and healthy to have the possibility of better responding to 

collections, to pay royalties and thereby maintain their institutions.” “In order to prevent the 

influx of a large number of needy destitutes,” the ministry had to demand that the governors of 

the western provinces have strict control over the departures—but, on site, departures of 

contingents were hastened without even waiting to know whether lodging was ready; 

moreover, the credits allocated to the starters were retained, which sometimes compromised a 

whole year of agricultural work. In the province of Ekaterinoslav, there was not even time to 

distribute the land to the volunteers: 250 families left on their own to settle in Odessa.48

However, the reports of various inspectors from different places blended as one: “By submitting 

to this end, [the Jews] could make good, or even excellent, farmers, but they take advantage of 

the first occasion to abandon the plough, to sacrifice their farms, and to return to horse-trading 

and their favourite occupations.” “For the Jew, the number one job is the industry, even the 

most humble, of total insignificance, but on condition that it provides the greatest profit 

margin… Their fundamentally industrious mindset found no satisfaction in the peaceful life of 

the cultivator”, “did not create in them the slightest desire to devote themselves to agriculture; 

what attracted them there was first and foremost the abundance of land, the scarcity of the 

Jewish population, the proximity of borders, trade and lucrative industry, not to mention the 

franchises which exempted them from royalties and conscription.” They thought they would 

only be compelled to organise their houses; as to lands, they hoped to “lease them at an 

appreciable rate, in order to occupy themselves, as in the past, with commerce and industry.” 

(This is what they declared naively to the inspectors.) And “it was with total disgust that they 

tackled the work of the earth.” Moreover, “religious rules… did not favour the Jewish 

cultivators”, they forced them to long periods of inactivity, as, for example, during the spring 

plantings, the long Passover holiday; In September, that of the Tabernacles lasted fourteen days 

“at the time when intensive agricultural work, such as soil preparation and sowing, is needed, 

although, according to the opinion of Jews who deserve all trust, Scripture requires strict 

observance during the first and last two days of the celebrations.” On the other hand, the 

spiritual leaders of Jewish settlements (there were sometimes as many as two prayer houses, 

one for the Orthodox—or Mitnagdes—, another for the Hasidim) entertained the idea that as a 

chosen people they were not destined for the hard work of the farmer, which is the bitter lot of 

the goyim.” “They rose late, devoted an entire hour to prayer, and went away to work when the 
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sun was already high in the sky”—to which was added the Sabbath, resting from Friday night 

until Sunday morning.49

From a Jewish point of view, I. Orchansky actually arrives at conclusions similar to those of the 

inspectors: “Leasing a farm and employing wage-earners… encounters more sympathy among 

the Jews than the passage, in all regards difficult, to agricultural labour… We note a growing 

tendency for Jews engaged in rural activity to exercise it first and foremost by leasing land and 

using it through the assistance of wage-earners. In New Russia, the failures of Jewish agriculture 

stem from “their lack of accustomed to physical labour and the profits they derive from urban 

trades in southern Russia.” But also to emphasise the fact that in a given colony the Jews “had 

built a synagogue with their own hands,” and that in others maintained vegetable gardens “with 

their own hands.”50

Nevertheless, the numerous reports of the inspectors agreed that in the 40s and in these 

“model” colonies, as in the past, “the standard of living of the settlers, their activities and their 

enterprises were well behind those of the peasants of the Crown or landowners.” In the 

province of Kherson, in 1845, among the Jewish settlers, “The farms are in a very unsatisfactory 

state, most of these settlers are very poor: they dread the work of the land, and few cultivate it 

properly; also, even in years of good harvest, they obtain only low yields”; “In the plots, the soil 

is hardly stirred,” women and children hardly work the land and “a lot of 30 hectares is barely 

enough for their daily subsistence.” “The example of the German settlers is followed only by a 

very small number of Jewish residents; most of them ‘show a clear aversion’ to agriculture and 

they ‘comply with the demands of the authorities only to receive a passport that allows them to 

go…’ They leave a lot of land in fallow, work the land only in certain places, according to the 

goodwill of each one… they treat the cattle with too much negligence… harass the horses until 

they die, nourish them little, especially on the days of the Sabbath”; they milk delicate cows of 

the German race at any hour of the day, so that they no longer give milk. “Jews were provided 

free fruit trees, ‘but they did not plant orchards.’ Houses had been built in advance for them—

some were ‘elegant, very dry and warm, solid’; in other places, they had been poorly 

constructed and expensive, but even where they had been built reliably, with good quality 

materials… the negligence of the Jews, their inability to keep their lodgings in good condition… 

had led them to such a state of degradation that they could no longer be inhabited without 

urgent repairs”; they were invaded by humidity which led to their decay and favoured diseases; 

many houses were abandoned, others were occupied by several families at the same time 

‘without there being any kinship between them, and, in view of the impetuous character of 

these people and their propensity to quarrels’, such cohabitation gave rise to endless 

complaints.”51
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Responsibility for unpreparedness for this large migration is evident to both parties: poor 

coordination and delays in the administration’s actions; here and there, the development of the 

houses, poorly guarded, left much to be desired, giving rise to many abuses and waste. (This led 

to the transfer of several officials and trials for some of them.) But in the Jewish villages, the 

elders also reluctantly controlled the careless ones whose farm and equipment deteriorated; 

hence the appointment of supervisors chosen among retired non-commissioned officers whom 

the Jews got drunk and coaxed with bribes. Hence also the impossibility of levying royalties on 

the settlers, either on account of indigence—“in every community there were only about ten 

farmers who were barely capable of paying for themselves”— or because of the “natural 

inclination of the Jews to evade their payment”; over the years, arrears only increased and they 

were given again and again without requiring any reimbursement. For each day of absence 

without authorisation, the settler paid only 1 kopeck, which hardly weighed on him, and he 

easily compensated for it with the gains he made in the city. (By way of comparison: in the 

villages the Melamed received from 3,000 to 10,000 rubles per year, and in parallel to the 

Melamed there had been an attempt to introduce into the colonies, in addition to the use of 

the Jewish language, a general education based on Russian and arithmetic, but “simple people” 

had little “confidence in the educational institutions founded by the government.”52)

“It became more and more indisputable that the ‘model colonies’ so ardently desired by 

Kiselyov were just a dream”; but, while curbing (1849) the sending of new families, he did not 

lose hope and affirmed again in 1852 in one of his resolutions: “The more arduous an affair, the 

more one must be firm and not to be discouraged by the first lack of successes.” Until then, the 

curator was not the true leader of the colony, “he sometimes has to put up with the mockery 

and insolence of the settlers who understood very well that he had no power over them”; he 

was entitled only to advise them. More than once, due to the exasperation provoked by 

failures, projects had been proposed which would have consisted in giving the settlers 

compulsory lessons in such a way that they would have to put them into practice within a 

period of two or three days, with a verification of results; to deprive them of the free disposal 

of their land; to radically eliminate leave of absence; and even to introduce punishments: up to 

thirty lashes the first time, double in case of recidivism, then prison, and, depending on the 

seriousness of the offense, enlistment in the army. (Nikitin asserts that this project of 

instruction, as soon as it was known, “exerted such terror upon the Jewish cultivators, that they 

redoubled their efforts, and hastened to procure cattle, to furnish themselves with agricultural 

tools… and showed an astonishing zeal in the work of the fields and the care taken to their 

house.” But Kiselyov gave his approval to a watered-down project (1853): “The lessons must 

correspond perfectly to the capacities and experience of those for whom they are intended”, 

the instructor responsible for organising agricultural work can deviate from it only in the sense 
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of a reduction in tasks, and for the first offense, no punishment, for the second and third, ten to 

twenty lashes, no more. (Enlistment in the army was never applied, “no one… has ever been 

made a soldier for his failings at work,” and in 1860, the act was definitively repealed.53)

Let us not forget that we were still in the age of serfdom. But half a century after the 

conscientious attempts of the government to entice the Jews to provide productive labour on 

virgin lands, the outlines of the villages of Arakcheyev* began to appear.

It is astonishing that the imperial power did not understand, at this stage, the sterility of the 

measures taken, the desperate character of this whole enterprise of returning to the land.

Furthermore, the process was not over…

*

After the introduction of compulsory military service, alarming rumours spread among the 

Jewish population, announcing a new and terrible legislation prepared especially by the “Jewish 

Committee”. But in 1835, a General Regulation concerning the Jews was finally promulgated 

(intended to replace that of 1804), and, as the Jewish Encyclopædia discreetly notes, “it 

imposed no new limitations on the Jews.”54 If we want to know more: this new regulation 

“preserved for Jews the right to acquire all kinds of immovable property excluding inhabited 

areas, to conduct all kinds of commerce on an equal footing with other subjects, but only within 

the Pale of Settlement.”55 These Regulations of 1835 confirmed the protection of all the rights 

recognised to the Jewish faith, introduced distinctions for the rabbis, conferring on them the 

rights granted to the merchants of the first guild; established a reasonable age to marry (18 and 

16 years old); adopted measures to ensure that the Jewish attire did not differ too much and 

did not cut off the Jews from the surrounding population; oriented the Jews towards means of 

earning their livelihood through productive labour (which prohibited only the sale of spirits on 

credit or secured on domestic effects), authorised all kinds of industrial activities (including the 

renting of distilleries). To have Christians in their service was forbidden only for regular 

employment but authorised “for short-term work” (without the time limits being specified) and 

“for work in factories and factories”, as well as “as an aide in the work of the fields, gardens and 

vegetable gardens”56 which sounded like a mockery of the very idea of “Jewish agriculture”. 

The Regulations of 1835 called upon Jewish youth to educate itself; it did not restrict Jewish 

enrolment to secondary schools or university.57 Jews who had received the rank of doctor in 
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any discipline, once recognised (not without formalities) of their distinguished qualities, were 

entitled to enter in the service of the State. (Jewish doctors already enjoyed this right.) With 

regard to local government, the Regulation abrogated the previous limitations: from now on, 

Jews could hold office in local councils, magistrates and municipalities “under the same 

conditions as if members of other faiths had been elected to office.” (It is true that some local 

authorities, particularly in Lithuania, objected to this provision: in certain circumstances, the 

mayor has to lead his citizens to church—how could a Jew do it? Also, can a Jew sit among the 

judges when the oath is sworn on the cross? In the face of these strong reservations, a decree 

in 1836 stipulated that in the western provinces the Jews could occupy in the magistracy and 

the municipalities only one third of the positions.58) Finally, with regard to the thorny economic 

problem inherent in cross-border smuggling, which was so detrimental to the interests of the 

State, the Regulation permitted the Jews already residing there to remain there, but prohibited 

any new installations.59

For a State that still maintained millions of its subjects in serfdom, all that has just been 

mentioned might not appear as a system of cruel constraints.

During the examination of the Regulation before the Council of State, the discussions concerned 

the possibility of allowing the Jews free access to the internal provinces of Great Russia, and the 

opinions expressed on this subject were as numerous as they were varied. Some argued that 

“to admit the Jews to settle in the central provinces, they had to be able to justify certain moral 

qualities and a sufficient level of education”; others replied that “Jews can be of great use 

because of their commercial and industrial activity, and that competition cannot be prevented 

by prohibiting anybody from residing and practising commerce”; “it is necessary to raise the 

problem… plainly put: can the Jews be tolerated in this country? If one considers that they 

cannot be so, then all must be cast out,” rather than “leave this category in the midst of the 

nation in a situation likely to engender in them continuous discontent and grumbles.” And “if it 

is necessary to tolerate their presence in this country, then it is important to free them from 

any limitations placed on their rights.”60

Moreover, the “archaic Polish privileges (abandoned by the Russian State since the reign of 

Catherine) which granted urban communities the power to introduce restrictions on the right of 

residence for the Jews” reappeared with further acuteness in Vilnius first, then in Kiev. In 

Vilnius, the Jews were forbidden to settle in certain parts of the city. In Kiev, the local 

merchants were indignant that “the Jews, to the great displeasure of every one, engage in 

commerce and business between the walls of the monasteries of Pechersk*… that they take 

45



over all commercial establishments in Pechersk” and exclude “trade Christians”; they urged the 

Governor-General to obtain a ban (1827) “on the Jews to live permanently in Kiev… Only a few 

categories of individuals would be able to go there for a determined period of time.” “As always 

in such circumstances, the Government was obliged to postpone on several occasions the 

deadline set for their expulsion.” The discussions went back to the “Directorial Committee”, 

divided the Council of State into two equal camps, but under the terms of the Regulation of 

1835 Nicolas confirmed the expulsion of the Jews from Kiev. However, shortly after, “certain 

categories of Jews were again allowed to reside temporarily in Kiev.” (But why were Jews so 

lucky in commercial competition? Often, they sold at lower prices than Christians, contenting 

themselves with a “lesser profit” than the Christians demanded; but in some cases, their 

merchandise was deemed to have come from smuggling, and the governor of Kiev, who had 

taken the defense of the Jews, remarked that “if the Christians were willing to take the trouble, 

they could oust the Jews without these coercive measures.”61) Thus, “in Belarus, the Jews had 

the right to reside only in the towns; In Little Russia, they could live everywhere, with the 

exception of Kiev and certain villages; In New Russia, in all inhabited places with the exception 

of Nikolayev and Sevastopol,”62 military ports from which the Jews had been banned for 

reasons related with the security of the State.

“The 1835 Regulations allowed merchants and [Jewish] manufacturers to participate in the 

main fairs of the interior provinces in order to temporarily trade there, and granted them the 

right to sell certain goods outside the Pale of Settlement.”63 In the same way, artisans were not 

entirely deprived of access to the central provinces, even if only temporarily. According to the 

Regulation of 1827, “the authorities of the provinces outside the Pale of Settlement had the 

right to authorise the Jews to remain there for six months.”64 Hessen points out that the 1835 

Regulations “and subsequent laws extended somewhat for the Jews the possibility of 

temporarily living outside the Pale of Settlement”, especially since the local authorities turned a 

blind eye “when the Jews bypassed the prohibitions.”65 Leskov confirms in a note he wrote at 

the request of the governmental committee: “In the 40s”, the Jews “appeared in the villages of 

Great Russia belonging to the great landowners in order to offer their services… Throughout the 

year, they rendered timely visits ‘to the lords of their acquaintance’” in the neighbouring 

provinces of Great Russia, and everywhere they traded and tackled work. “Not only were the 

Jews not driven out, they were retained.” “Usually, people welcomed and gave refuge to Jewish 

artisans…; everywhere the local authorities treated them with kindness, for, as for the other 

inhabitants, the Jews provided important advantages.”66 “With the help of interested 

Christians, the Jews violated the limiting decrees. And the authorities were in their turn incited 

to derogate from the laws… In the provinces of Central Russia, it was decided to fix fines to be 

imposed on the owners who let the Jews settle in their home.”67
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This is how, led by conservative (more specifically religious) considerations of not wanting 

fusion between Christians and Jews, the authorities of the Russian state, faced with the 

economic push that attracted Jews beyond the Pale of Settlement, were unable either to make 

a clear decision or to clearly apply it in practice. As for the dynamic and enterprising character 

of the Jews, it suffered from too much territorial concentration and too strong internal 

competition; it was natural for them to overflow as widely as possible. As I. Orchansky 

observed: “The more the Jews are scattered among the Christian population, the higher is their 

standard of living.”68

But it would be hard to deny that, even in its official perimeter, the Pale of Settlement for Jews 

in Russia was very large: in addition to what had been inherited from the dense Jewish grouping 

in Poland, the provinces of Vilnius, Grodno, Kaunas, Vitebsk, Minsk, Mogilev, Volhynia, Podolsk 

and Kiev (in addition to Poland and Courland) were added the vast and fertile provinces of 

Poltava, Ikaterinoslav, Chernigov, Tauride, Kherson and Bessarabia, all together larger than any 

state, or even group of European states. (A short time later, from 1804 to the mid-30s, the rich 

provinces of Astrakhan and the Caucasus were added, but the Jews hardly settled there; again 

in 1824, in Astrakhan, “no Jew was registered as taxable.”69 This made fifteen provinces within 

the Pale of Settlement, compared with thirty-one for “Deep Russia”. And few were more 

populous than the provinces of central Russia. As for the Jews’ share of the population, it did 

not exceed that of the Moslems in the provinces of the Urals or the Volga. Thus the density of 

Jews in the Pale of Settlement did not result from their number, but rather from the uniformity 

of their occupations. It was only in the immensity of Russia that such an area might seem 

cramped.

It is objected that the extent of this area was illusory: it excluded all zones outside cities and 

other agglomerations. But these spaces were agricultural areas or intended for agriculture, and 

it was understood that this domain, accessible to the Jews, did not attract them; their whole 

problem was rather how to use these spaces for alcohol trade. Which was a deviation.

And if the large Jewish mass had not moved from narrow Poland to vast Russia, the very 

concept of the Pale of Settlement would never have been born. In narrow Poland, the Jews 

would have lived densely piled up, with greater poverty, growing rapidly without carrying out 

any productive work, 80% of the population practising petty trade and the dealing of 

intermediaries.
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In any case, nowhere in Russian cities were implemented obligatory ghettos for the Jews, as 

was still known here and there in Europe. (If not the suburb of Glebovo, in Moscow, for those 

who went there as visitors.)

Let us remember once more that this Pale of Settlement coexisted for three quarters of a 

century with the serfdom of the majority of the Russian rural population, and so, by 

comparison, the weight of these limitations to the freedom of coming and going was somewhat 

lifted. In the Russian Empire, many peoples lived by millions in high density areas within their 

respective regions. Within the borders of a multinational state, peoples often lived compactly 

more or less as separate entities. So it was with the example of the Karaites and the Jews “of 

the mountains”, the latter having the freedom to choose their place of residence but which 

they hardly used. No comparison is possible with the territorial limits, the “reserves” imposed 

on the native populations of conquered countries by colonisers (Anglo-Saxons or Spanish) who 

came from elsewhere.

It is precisely the absence of a national territory among the Jews, given the dynamism they 

displayed in their movements, their highly practical sense, their zeal in the economic sphere, 

which promised to become imminently an important factor influencing the life of the country as 

a whole. We can say that it is on the one hand, the Jewish Diaspora’s need to access all the 

existing functions, and on the other, the fear of an overflow of their activity which fuelled the 

limiting measures taken by the Russian government.

Yes, as a whole, the Jews of Russia turned away from agriculture. In crafts, they were preferably 

tailors, shoemakers, watchmakers, jewellers. However, despite the constraints imposed by the 

Pale, their productive activity was not limited to these small trades.

The Jewish Encyclopædia published before the Revolution writes that for the Jews, before the 

development of heavy industry, “what was most important was the trade of money; 

irrespective of whether the Jew intervened as a pawnbroker or money changer, as a farmer of 

public or private income, as tenant or tenant—he was primarily involved in financial 

transactions.” For even in the period of rural economy in Russia, “the demand for money was 

already felt in ever-increasing proportions.”70 Thence, the transfer of Jewish capital into this 

industry for them to participate in it. Already, under Alexander I, energetic arrangements had 
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been made to encourage the participation of Jews in industry, especially in drapery. “It 

subsequently played an important part in the accumulation of capital in the hands of the Jews,” 

and then “they did not fail to use this capital successively in factories and plants, mining, 

transportation and banking. Thus began the formation of a lower and upper Jewish 

bourgeoisie.71 The Regulations of 1835 “also provided privileges for Jewish manufacturers.”72

By the 40s of the nineteenth century, the sugar industry had grown considerably in the south-

western provinces. First, The Jewish capitalists began by granting subsidies to the refineries 

belonging to the landowners, then by assuming their administration, followed by becoming 

owners, and finally building their own factories. In Ukraine and New Russia, powerful “sugar 

kings”, among others Lazare and Lev Brodski. “Most of these Jewish sugar producers had begun 

in the distillery of alcohol… or as tenants of cabarets.” This situation also took place in flour-

milling.73

At the time, no contemporary understood or bothered to foresee what power was being 

accumulated there, material first, then spiritual. Of course, Nicholas I was the first not to see, 

nor understand. He had too high an opinion of the omnipotence of the imperial power and of 

the efficiency of military-type administrative methods.

But he obstinately desired success in the education of the Jews so that the Jews could 

overcome their extraneousness in relation to the rest of the population, situation in which he 

saw a major danger. As early as 1831, he pointed out to the “Directors Committee” that 

“among the measures likely to improve the situation of the Jews, special attention should be 

given to raising them via education… by the creation of factories, the prohibition of precocious 

marriages, a better organisation of the Kehalim…, a change in clothing customs.”74 And in 

1840, when the “Committee in charge of identifying measures for a radical transformation of 

the life of Jews in Russia” was founded, one of the first aims envisaged by this committee was 

“to promote the moral development of the new generation by the creation of Jewish schools in 

a spirit contrary to the Talmudic teaching currently in force.”75

All the progressive Jews of that time also wanted general education (they were only divided on 

whether to totally exclude the Talmud from the program or to study it in the upper grades, 

“with the illumination of a scientific approach, thus relieved from undesirable additions”76). A 

newly established general education school in Riga was headed by a young graduate of the 

University of Munich, Max Lilienthal, who aspired to invest himself in the “spread of education 
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among Russian Jews.” In 1840, he was cordially received in Saint Petersburg by the ministers of 

the interior and education, and wrote to the “Committee for the Transformation of the Life of 

the Jews” proposing the project of a consistory and theology seminary with the aim of training 

rabbis and teachers “according to pure ethical foundations”, as opposed to “calcified 

talmudists”; However, “before acquiring the essential principles of faith, it would not be 

permissible to study profane matters.” Thus the ministerial project was modified: the number 

of hours devoted to the teaching of Jewish matters was increased.77 Lilienthal also sought to 

persuade the government to take preventive measures against the Hasidim, but without 

success: government power “wanted a front unifying the various Jewish social milieux who 

waged war.”78 Lilienthal, who had developed his school in Riga “with amazing success”, was 

invited by the Ministry to visit the provinces of the Pale of Settlement in order to contribute to 

the work of education, through public meetings and conferences with Jewish personalities. His 

journey, at least externally, was a great success; as a general rule, he met with little open 

hostility and seemed to have succeeded in convincing the influential circles of the Jewish world. 

“The enemies… of the reform… had to express their approval outwardly.” But the hidden 

opposition was, of course, very important. And when school reform was finally applied, 

Lilienthal renounced his mission. In 1844, he left unexpectedly for the United States, never to 

return. “His departure from Russia—perhaps a way of escape—remains shrouded in 

mystery.”79

Thus, under Nicholas I, not only did the authorities not oppose the assimilation of the Jews, but 

rather they called for it; however, the Jewish masses who remained under the influence of the 

Kahal, feared constraining measures in the religious sphere, and so did not lend themselves to 

it.

Nevertheless, school reform did begin in 1844, despite the extreme resistance of the leaders of 

the Kehalim. (And although “in creating these Jewish schools there was no attempt to reduce 

the number of Jews in general schools, on the contrary, it was pointed out that they should, as 

before, be open to the Jews.”80) Two kinds of Jewish public schools were created (“modelled 

on Jewish elementary schools in Austria”81): two years, corresponding to Russian parish 

schools, and four years, corresponding to district schools. Only Jewish disciplines were taught 

by Jewish (and Hebrew) teachers; the others were given by Russian teachers. (As Lev Deitch, a 

frenzied revolutionary, admits, “The crowned monster ordered them [Jewish children] to learn 

Russian.”82) For many years, these schools were led by Christians, and were only led by Jews 

much later.
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“Faithful to traditional Judaism, having learned or overshadowed the secret objective of Uvarov 

[Minister of Education], the majority of the Jewish population saw in these government 

measures of education a means of persecution like the others.”83 (Said Uvarov, who, for his 

part, sought to bring the Jews closer to the Christian population by eradicating “prejudices 

inspired by the precepts of the Talmud”, wanted to exclude the latter entirely from the 

education system, considering it as an anti-Christian compendium84). Continuing for many 

years to distrust the Russian authorities, the Jewish population turned away from these schools 

and fuelling a real phobia of them: “Just as the population sought to escape conscription, it 

distrusted these schools, fearing to leave their children in these homes of “free-thinking”. Well-

off Jewish families often sent to public schools not their own offspring, but those of the poor.85 

Thus was entrusted to a public school P. B. Axelrod*; He then went on to college, and then 

obtained broad political notoriety as Plekhanov and Deitch’s companion in the struggle within 

the Liberation of Labour86). If in 1855 only the duly registered Heder had 70,000 Jewish 

children, the public schools of both types received only 3,200.87

This fear of public education was perpetuated for a long time in Jewish circles. In this way, 

Deitch remembers the 60s, not the middle of nowhere, but in Kiev: “I remember the time when 

my countrymen considered it a sin to learn Russian” and only tolerated its use “in relations with 

the goyim.”88 A. G. Sliozberg remembers that, until the 70s, entering college was regarded as a 

betrayal of the essence of Jewishness, the college uniform being a sign of apostasy. “Between 

Jews and Christians there was an abyss which only a few Jews could cross, and only in the great 

cities where Jewish public opinion did not paralyse the will of all.”89 Young people attached to 

Jewish traditions did not aspire to study in Russian universities, although the final diploma, 

according to the Recruitment Law of 1827, dispensed one of military service for life. However, 

Hessen points out that among Russian Jews belonging to “the most affluent circles”, “the 

spontaneous desire to integrate… the public schools was growing.”90

He adds that in Jewish public schools “not only the Christian superintendents but the majority 

of Jewish teachers who taught the Jewish disciplines in the German language were far from the 

required level.” Thus, “in parallel with the establishment of these public schools, it was decided 

to organise a graduate school intended for the training of teachers, to form better educated 

rabbis capable of acting progressively on the Jewish masses. Rabbinic schools of this type were 

founded in Vilnius and Zhytomir (1847).” “Despite their shortcomings, these schools were of 

some use,” according to the testimony of the liberal J. Hessen, “the rising generation was 

familiarising itself with the Russian language and its grammar.”91 The revolutionary Mr. Krol 

was of the same opinion, but he also condemned the government unreservedly: “The laws of 

Nicholas I instituting primary public schools and rabbinic schools were reactionary and hostile to 
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the Jews; schools, willingly or unwillingly, allowed a small number of Jewish children to learn 

secular education. As for the “enlightened” intellectuals (the Maskilim) and those who now 

despised the “superstitions of the masses”, they “had no place to go”, according to Krol, and 

remained strangers amongst their own. “Nevertheless, this evolution played an enormous role 

in the spiritual awakening of Russian Jews during the second half of the nineteenth century,” 

even if the Maskilim, who wanted to enlighten the Jewish masses, met with “the fierce 

opposition of fanatical Jewish believers who saw in profane science an alienation of the 

devil.”92

In 1850 a kind of superstructure was created: an institute of “Jewish scholars”, as well as a 

consulting inspectorate among the heads of academies.

Those who came from the newly created rabbinical schools occupied in 1857 the functions of 

“public rabbis”; Elected unwillingly by their community, their designation was subject to the 

approval of the authorities of their province. But their responsibility remained purely 

administrative: the Jewish communities regarded them as ignoramuses in the Hebrew sciences, 

and the traditional rabbis were maintained as genuine “spiritual rabbis.”93 (Numerous 

graduates of rabbinic schools, “found no positions, neither as rabbis nor teachers”, pursued 

their studies at university94, then became doctors or lawyers.)

Nicholas I did not release his pressure to regulate the internal life of the Jewish community. The 

Kahal, who already possessed an immense power over the community, grew even stronger 

from the moment conscription was introduced: it was given the right to “give for recruitment at 

any moment every Jew who did not pay his royalties, who had no fixed abode or committed 

intolerable misdemeanors in Jewish society,” and it used this right for the benefit of the rich. 

“All this nourished the indignation of the masses towards the rulers of the Kehalim and became 

one of the causes of the irremediable decline of the Kahal.” Thus, in 1844, the Kehalim “were 

dissolved everywhere, and their functions were transmitted to municipalities and town 

halls”95; In other words, urban Jewish communities found themselves subject to the uniform 

legislation of the state. But this reform was not completed either: the collection of the arduous 

and evanescent arrears and the lifting of the recruits were again entrusted to the Jewish 

community, whose “recruiters” and tax collectors were substituted for the ancients of the 

Kehalim. As for the registry of births, and thus the counting of the population, they remained in 

the hands of the rabbis.
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The government of Nicolas also took a position on the inextricable problem of the internal tax 

collection of Jewish communities, first of all on the so-called “casket” (indirect tax on the 

consumption of kosher meat). A provision of 1844 specified that part of the proceeds should be 

used to cover public arrears in the community, to finance the organisation of Jewish schools 

and to distribute subsidies to Jews who devoted themselves to agriculture.96 But there was 

also an unexpected imbroglio: although the Jews “were subject to the capitation on the same 

basis as the Christian bourgeois”, that is, to a direct tax, “the Jewish population, thanks to the 

amount of the “casket”, were, it is to say, in a privileged position to pay the royalty”; in fact, 

from then on “Jews, including the wealthiest, covered by personal payments only an 

insignificant part of the taxes owed to the tax authorities, turning the balance into arrears,” and 

these never ceased to accumulate: by the mid-50s, they exceeded 8 million rubles. There 

followed a new imperial decree dictated by exasperation: “for every 2,000 rubles” of new 

arrears, “an adult had to be provided as recruit.”97

In 1844 a new and energetic attempt was made—again aborted—to expel the Jews from the 

villages.

Hessen pictorially writes that “in Russian laws designed to normalise the lives of Jews, one 

hears as a cry of despair: in spite of all its authority, the government fails to extirpate the 

existence of the Jews from the depths of Russian life.”98

No, the leaders of Russia had not yet realised the full weight and even the “unassimilability” of 

the immense Jewish legacy received as a gift under the successive divisions of Poland: what to 

do with this intrinsically resistant and rapidly expanding group in the Russian national body? 

They could not find reliable rulings and were all the more incapable of foreseeing the future. 

The energetic measures of Nicholas I surged one after the other, but the situation was 

apparently only getting more complicated.

A similar failure, which was escalating, followed Nicholas I in his struggle against the Jewish 

contrabands at the frontiers. In 1843 he categorically ordered the expulsion of all Jews from a 

buffer zone of fifty kilometres deep adjacent to Austria and Prussia, in spite of the fact that “at 

some frontier customs the merchants who traded were practically all Jews.”99 The measure 

was immediately corrected by numerous exemptions: first, a two-year period was allowed for 

the sale of the goods, and then the duration was extended, and material assistance was offered 

to the expellees for their new settlement; furthermore, they were exempted for five years from 
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all royalties. For several years the transfer was not even initiated, and soon “the government of 

Nicholas I stopped insisting on the expulsion of the Jews from this border strip of fifty 

kilometres, which allowed some of them to stay where they lived.”100

It was on this occasion that Nicolas received a new warning of which he did not measure the 

extent and the consequences for the whole of Russia: this formidable but very partially 

enforced measure, intended to expel the Jews from the frontier zone, motivated by a 

contraband which had assumed an extension dangerous to the State, had aroused in Europe 

such indignation that it may be asked whether it was not this measure that drastically confused 

European public opinion with Russia. It may be said that this particular decree of 1843 must 

date from the very beginning of the era when the Western Jewish world, in the defense of its 

co-religionists in Russia, began to exert a decisive influence, which, from then on, would never 

fall again.

One of the manifestations of this new attention was the arrival in Russia in 1846 of Sir Moses 

Montefiore, the bearer of a letter of recommendation from Queen Victoria instructing him to 

obtain the “improvement of the fate of the Jewish population” of Russia. He went to several 

cities of high Jewish density; then, from England, sent a long letter to the emperor 

recommending the emancipation of the Jews from all limiting legislation, to grant them “equal 

rights with all other subjects” (with the exception, of course, of the serfs), “in the short term: to 

abolish all constraints in the exercise of the right to settle and to circulate between the 

boundaries of the Pale of Settlement”, to allow merchants and craftsmen to visit the provinces, 

“to allow Christians to be employed in the service of the Jews…, to restore the Kahal…”101

But, on the contrary, Nicolas did not relinquish his determination to bring order to the lives of 

the Jews of Russia. He resembled Peter the Great in his resolution to structure by decree the 

whole State and the whole of society according to his plan, and to reduce the complexity of 

society to simple, easily understood categories, as Peter had formerly “trimmed” all that 

disturbed the clear configuration of the taxable classes.

This time it was a question of differentiating the Jewish population from the towns—the 

bourgeois. This project began in 1840; when the intention was to go beyond the national and 

religious singularity of the Jews (the opinions of Levinson, Feiguine, and Gueseanovsky were 

then examined), they endeavoured to “study the root of their obstinate isolation” in relation to 

“the absence of any productive work in them”, their “harmful practice of small trades, 
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accompanied by all sorts of frauds and tricks.” Regarding the “idleness” of many Jews, the 

government circles blamed it on “inveterate habits”; they considered that “the Jewish mass 

might have been able to find livelihoods, but traditionally refused to exercise certain types of 

employment.”102

Count Kiselyov proposed to the Emperor the following measure: without affecting the Jewish 

merchants, perfectly well-settled, to worry about the so-called bourgeois Jews, more precisely 

to divide them into two categories: to count in the first those who benefit from goods and a 

solid sedentary lifestyle, and include in the second those who are devoid of these factors and 

set a period of five years for them to be made craftsmen in workshops, or farmers. (One 

regarded as an artisan the one who enrolled forever in a workshop: as a sedentary bourgeois, 

one who had enrolled in a workshop for a certain time.103) As for those who did not fulfil these 

conditions at the end of the period of five years and remained confined to their former state, 

they would be considered “useless” and subjected to military service and a period of work of a 

particular type: they would be enrolled in the army (those 20 years old and onwards) in number 

three times higher than the standard required, not for the usual twenty-five years of military 

service, but for only ten. And, meanwhile, “they would be used in the army or the navy by 

instilling in them, above all, different trades and then, with their consent, they would make 

craftsmen or farmers”. In other words, they would be forcibly given vocational education. But 

the government did not have the funds to do so and was considering using the “casket” tax, as 

Jewish society could only be interested in this effort to rehabilitate its members through 

labour.104

In 1840, Nicholas I gave his approval to the project. (The phrase “unnecessary Jews” was 

replaced by “not performing productive work.”) All measures to transform the lives of the Jews 

were reduced to a single decree providing for the following steps: 1) “regularisation of the 

collection of the ‘casket’ and suppression of the Kahal”; 2) creation of general education schools 

for Jews; 3) institution of “parochial rabbis”; 4) “establishment of the Jews on land belonging to 

the State” for agricultural purposes; 5) categorisation; 6) prohibition to wear the long garment. 

Kiselyov thought of introducing social categorisation in a fairly distant future; Nicholas placed it 

before agriculture, which, for a quarter of a century, had not ceased to be a failure.105

However, the categorisation provided for a period of five years for the choice of occupations, 

and the measure itself was not announced until 1846, meaning it could not turn into a reality 

until January 1852. (In 1843 the Governor-General of New Russia, Count Vorontsov, rose up 

against this measure: he wrote that the occupations “of this numerous class of merchants and 
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intermediaries were ‘vilified’ and that [80%] of the Jewish population was counted as ‘useless’ 

elements,” which meant that 80% of the Jews were mainly engaged in trade, and Vorontsov 

hoped that, given the vast economic potential of New Russia, “any form of constraint could be 

limited”, he did not think it necessary to expel the Jews from the villages, but thought that it 

was enough to intensify their education. He warned that the categorisation would probably 

arouse indignation in Europe.106)

Scalded by the way Europe had reacted to the attempt to expel the Jews from the border area, 

the Russian government drew up a detailed statement on the new measure in 1846: in Poland, 

Jews had neither citizenship nor the right to own immovable property, and was therefore 

restricted to petty trading and the sale of alcohol; incorporated in Russia, they saw the limits of 

their residence extended, they received civil rights, access to the class of merchants in the 

cities, the right to own real estate, to enter the category of farmers, the right to education, 

including access to universities and academies.107

It must be admitted that the Jews did receive all these rights from the first decades of their 

presence in the famous “prison of the peoples”. Nevertheless, a century later, in a collection 

written by Jewish authors, one finds the following assessment: “When the annexation to Russia 

of the Polish provinces with their Jewish population, promises were made concerning Rights, 

and attempts to realise them [italics are mine, A. S.; said promises were kept, and the attempts 

were not without success]. But at the same time, mass expulsions outside villages had begun 

(indeed, they had been outlined, but were never effective), double taxation was implemented 

[which was not levied in a systematic way, and eventually abandoned] and to the institution of 

the Pale of Settlement was undertaken”108 [we have seen that the borders of this area were 

originally a geographical heritage]. If one thinks that this way of exposing history is objective, 

then one will never reach the truth.

Unfortunately, however, the government communiqué of 1846 pointed out that the Jews did 

not take advantage of many of these measures: “Constantly defying integration with the civil 

society in which they live, most kept their old way of life, taking advantage of the work of 

others, which, on all sides, legitimately entails the complaints of the inhabitants.” “For the 

purpose [of raising the standard of living of the Jews], it is important to free them from their 

dependence on the elders of the community, the heirs of the former leaders of the Kahal, to 

spread education and practical knowledge in the Jewish population, to create Jewish schools of 

general education, to provide means for their passage to agriculture, to blur the differences of 

clothing which are unfair to many Jews. As for the government, “it esteems itself entitled to 
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hope that the Jews will abandon all their reprehensible ways of living and turn to a truly 

productive and useful work.” Only those who refuse to do so will be subject to “incentivised 

measures for parasitic members affecting society and harming it.”109

In his reply to this text, Montefiore condemned the categorisation by insisting that all the 

misfortune came from the limitations imposed on the free circulation of the Jews and their 

trade. Nicolas retorted that if the passage of the Jews to productive work was successful, time, 

“of itself, would gradually mitigate these limitations.”110 He was counting on the possibility of 

re-education through work… Being held in check here and there, and elsewhere in his efforts to 

transform the way of life of the Jews, he had the ambition to break the Jews’ tendency to close 

in on themselves and to solve the problem of their integration with the surrounding population 

through labour, and the problem of labour by drastically reinforced conscription. The reduction 

of the length of military service for the Jews (from 25 to ten years) and the intention of 

providing them with vocational training was scarcely clear; what was perceived concretely was 

the levying of recruits, now proportionately three times more numerous than among Christians: 

“Ten recruits per year per thousand male inhabitants, and for Christians seven recruits per 

thousand once every two years.”111

Faced with this increase in recruitment, more people sought to escape. Those who were 

designated for conscription went into hiding. In retaliation, at the end of 1850, a decree 

stipulated that all recruits not delivered on time should be compensated by three additional 

recruits in addition to the defaulter! Now Jewish communities were interested in capturing the 

fugitives or replacing them with innocent people. (In 1853 a decree was issued enabling Jewish 

communities and private individuals to present as a recruit any person taken without papers.) 

The Jewish communities were seen to have paid “takers” or “snatchers” who captured their 

“catch”112; they received from the community a receipt attesting that the community had used 

their services when handing over those who did not respond to the call, or who carried expired 

passports—even if they were from another province—or teenagers without a family.

But that was not enough to compensate for the missing recruits. In 1852 two new decrees were 

added: the first provided for each recruit provided in excess of the quota imposed, to relieve 

the community of 300 rubles of arrears113; the second “prohibited the concealment of Jews 

who evaded military service and demanded severe punishment for those who had fled 

conscription, imposed fines on the communities that had hidden them, and, instead of the 

missing recruits, to enlist their relatives or the community leaders responsible for the delivery 

of the recruits within the prescribed time limits. Seeking by all means to escape recruitment, 
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many Jews fled abroad or went to other provinces.”114

From then on, the recruitment gave rise to a real bacchanale: the “snatchers” became more 

and more fierce; on the contrary, men in good health and capable of working scurried off, went 

into hiding, and the backlogs of the communities grew. The sedentary and productive part 

uttered protests and demands: if recruitment began to strike to an equal extent the “useful 

elements” and those which do not exercise productive work, then the vagabonds will always 

find means of hiding and all the weight of the recruitment would fall on the “useful”, which 

would spread among them disorder and the ruin.”115

The administrative overflows made the absurdity of the situation clear because of the 

difficulties that ensued; questions were raised, for example, about the different types of 

activity: are they “useful” or not? This fired up the Saint Petersburg ministries.116 The Council 

of State demanded that the social categorisation be delayed so long as the regulations of the 

workshops were not elaborated. The Emperor, however, did not want to wait. In 1851, the 

“Provisional Rules for the Categorisation of Jews”, and “Special Rules for Jewish Workshops” 

were published. The Jewish population was deeply concerned, but according to the testimony 

of the Governor General of the South-West, it no longer believed that this categorisation would 

enter into force.”117

And, in fact, “… it did not take place; the Jewish population was not divided into categories.”118 

In 1855, Nicholas I died suddenly, and categorisation was abandoned forever.

Throughout the years 1850‒1855, the sovereign had, on the whole, displayed a limitless sense 

of pride and self-confidence, accumulating gross blunders which stupidly led us into the 

Crimean war against a coalition of States, before suddenly dying while the conflict was raging.

The sudden death of the Emperor saved the Jews from a difficult situation, just as they were to 

be saved a century later by the death of Stalin.

Thus ended the first six decades of massive presence of Jews in Russia. It must be 

acknowledged that neither their level nor their lack of clarity prepared the Russian authorities 

58



at that time to face such an ingrained, gnarled and complex problem. But to put on these 

Russian leaders the stamp “persecutors of the Jews” amounts to distorting their intentions and 

compounding their abilities.

Chapter 6

In the Russian Revolutionary Movement

In the Russia of the 60‒70s of the nineteenth century, when reforms moved rapidly, there were 

no economic or social motives for a far-reaching revolutionary movement. Yet it was indeed 

under Alexander II, from the beginning of his reforming work, that this movement was born, as 

the prematurely-ripened fruit of ideology: in 1861 there were student demonstrations in Saint 

Petersburg; in 1862, violent fires of criminal origin in Saint Petersburg as well, and the 

sanguinary proclamation of Young Russia* (Molodaia Rossiia); in 1866, Karakozov’s** gunshot, 

the prodromes of the terrorist era, half a century in advance.

And it was also under Alexander II, when the restrictions on the rights of the Jews were so 

relaxed, that Jewish names appeared among the revolutionaries. Neither in the circles of 

Stankyevich***, Herzen**** and Ogariov***** nor in that of Petrachevsky, there had been 

only one Jew. (We do not speak here of Poland.) But at the student demonstrations of 1861 

Mikhoels, Outine* and Guen will participate. And we shall find Outine in the circle of 

Nechayev**.

The participation of the Jews in the Russian revolutionary movement must get our attention; 

indeed, radical revolutionary action became a more and more widespread form of activity 

among Jewish youth. The Jewish revolutionary movement is a qualitatively important 

component of the Russian revolutionary movement in general. As for the ratio of Jewish and 

Russian revolutionaries over the years, it surprises us. Of course, if in the following pages we 

speak mainly of Jews, this in no way implies that there was not a large number of influential 

revolutionaries among the Russians: our focus is warranted by the subject of our study.

In fact, until the early 70s, only a very small number of Jews had joined the revolutionary 

movement, and in secondary roles at that. (In part, no doubt, because there were still very few 

Jews among the students.) One learns, for example, that Leon Deutsch at the age of ten was 
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outraged about Karakozov’s gunshot because he felt “patriotic”. Similarly, few Jews adhered to 

the Russian nihilism of the 60s that, nevertheless, by their rationalism, they assimilated easily. 

“Nihilism has played an even more beneficial role in Jewish student youth than in Christian 

youth.”1

However, as early as the early 70s, the circle of young Jews of the rabbinical school in Vilnius 

began to play an important role. (Among them, V. Yokhelson, whom we mention later, and the 

well-known terrorist A. Zundelevich—both brilliant pupils, destined to be excellent rabbis, A. 

Liebermann, future editor of La Pravda of Vienna, and Anna Einstein, Maxim Romm, 

Finkelstein.) This circle was influential because it was in close contact with the “smugglers”*** 

and permitted clandestine literature, as well as illegal immigrants themselves, to cross the 

border.2

It was in 1868, after high school, that Mark Natanson entered the Academy of Medicine and 

Surgery (which would become the Academy of Military Medicine). He will be an organiser and a 

leading figure in the revolutionary movement. Soon, with the young student Olga Schleisner, his 

future wife (whom Tikhomirov calls “the second Sophia Perovskaya”, although at the time she 

was rather the first **), he laid the foundations of a system of so-called “pedagogical” circles, 

that is to say of propaganda (“preparatory, cultural and revolutionary work with intellectual 

youth”3) in several large cities. (These circles were wrongly dubbed “Tchaikovskyists”, named 

after one of their less influential members, N.V. Tchaikovsky.) Natanson distinguished himself 

very quickly and resolutely from the circle of Nechayev (and he did not hesitate, subsequently, 

to present his views to the examining magistrate). In 1872 he went to Zurich with Pierre Lavrov, 

the principal representative of the “current of pacific propaganda”*, which rejected the 

rebellion; Natanson wanted to establish a permanent revolutionary organ there. In the same 

year he was sent to Shenkursk in close exile and, through the intercession of his father-in-law, 

the father of Olga Schleiser, he was transferred to Voronezh, then Finland, and finally released 

to Saint Petersburg. He found there nothing but discouragement, dilapidation, inertia. He 

endeavoured to visit the disunited groups, to connect them, to weld them, and thus founded 

the first Land and Freedom organisation and spending hundreds of thousands of Rubles.

Among the principal organisers of Russian populism, Natanson is the most eminent 

revolutionary. It was in his wake that the famous Leon Deutsch appeared; As for the ironclad 

populist Alexander Mikhailov, he was a disciple of “Mark the Wise”. Natanson knew many 

revolutionaries personally. Neither an orator nor a writer, he was a born organiser, endowed 

with an astonishing quality: he did not regard opinions and ideology, he did not enter into any 
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theoretical discussions with anyone, he was in accord with all tendencies (with the exception of 

the extremist positions of Tkachev, Lenin’s predecessor), placed each and everyone where they 

could be useful. In those years when Bakunin supporters and Lavrov supporters were 

irreconcilable, Natanson proposed to put an end to “discussions about the music of the future” 

and to focus instead on the real needs of the cause. It was he who, in the summer of 1876, 

organised the sensational escape of Piotr Kropotkin * on the “Barbarian”, that half-blood who 

would often be spoken of. In December of the same year, he conceived and set up the first 

public meeting in front of the Cathedral of Our Lady of Kazan, at the end of the Mass, on the 

day of Saint Nicholas: all the revolutionaries gathered there and for the first time, the red flag of 

Land and Liberty was displayed. Natanson was arrested in 1877, sentenced to three years’ 

detention, then relegated to Yakutia and dismissed from revolutionary action until 1890.4

There were a number of Jews in the circle of “Tchaikovskyists” in Saint Petersburg as well as in 

its branches in Moscow, Kiev, Odessa. (In Kiev, notably, P.B. Axelrod, whom we have already 

mentioned, the future Danish publisher and diplomat Grigori Gurevitch, future teachers Semion 

Lourie and Leiser Lœwenthal, his brother Nahman Lœwenthal, and the two Kaminer sisters.) As 

for the first Nihilist circle of Leon Deutsch in Kiev, it was “constituted exclusively of young 

Jewish students”5. After the demonstration in front of the Cathedral of Our Lady of Kazan, 

three Jews were tried, but not Natanson himself. At the trial of the “fifty”* which took place in 

the summer of 1877 in Moscow, several Jews were charged for spreading propaganda among 

factory workers. At the trial of the “one hundred and ninety-three**”, there were thirteen Jews 

accused. Among the early populists, we can also cite Lossif Aptekman and Alexander Khotinsky, 

who were highly influential.6

Natanson’s idea was that revolutionaries should involve the people (peasants) and be for them 

like lay spiritual guides. This “march to the people”, which has become so famous since then, 

began in 1873 in the “dolgushinian” circle (Dolgushin, Dmokhovsky, Gamov, etc.) where no Jews 

were counted. Later, the Jews also “went to the people.” (The opposite also happened: in 

Odessa, P. Axelrod tried to attract Jeliabov*** in a secret revolutionary organisation, but he 

refused: at the time, he was still a Kulturtrasser.) In the mid-70s, there were only about twenty 

of these “populists”, all or almost all Lavrov and not Bakunin. (Only the most extreme were 

listening to calls for the insurrection of Bakunin, such as Deutsch, who, with the help of 

Stefanovitch, had raised the “Tchiguirine revolt****” by having pushed the peasants into 

thinking that the tsar, surrounded by the enemy, had the people saying: turn back all these 

authorities, seize the land, and establish a regime of freedom!)
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It is interesting to note that almost no Jewish revolutionary launched into the revolution 

because of poverty, but most of them came from wealthy families. (In the three volumes of the 

Russian Jewish Encyclopædia there is no shortage of examples.) Only Paul Axelrod came from a 

very poor family, and, as we have already said, he had been sent by the Kahal to an institution 

solely to supplement the established quota. (From there, very naturally, he entered the 

gymnasium of Mogilev, then the high school of Nejine.) Came from wealthy merchant 

environments: Natanson, Deutsch, Aptekman (whose family had many Talmudists, doctors of 

the law—including all his uncles. Khotinsky, Gurevitch, Semion Lourie (whose family, even in 

this milieu, was considered “aristocratic”, “little Simon was also destined to be a rabbi”, but 

under the influence of the Enlightenment, his father, Gerts Lourie, had entrusted his son to 

college to become a professor); the first Italian Marxist, Anne Rosenstein (surrounded from 

childhood by governesses speaking several languages), the tragic figures of Moses Rabinovitch 

and Betty Kaminskaya, Felicie Cheftel, Joseph Guetsov, member of the Black Repartition, among 

many others. And then again Khrystyna (Khasia) Grinberg, “of a wealthy traditionalist merchant 

family”, who in 1880 joined the Will of the People: her dwelling housed clandestine meetings, 

she was an accomplice in the attacks on Alexander II, and even became in 1882 the owner of a 

clandestine dynamite factory—then was condemned to deportation.7 Neither did Fanny 

Moreinis come from a poor family; she also “participated in the preparations of attacks against 

the Emperor Alexander II”, and spent two years in the prison of Kara.8 Some came from families 

of rabbis, such as the future doctor of philosophy Lioubov Axelrod or Ida Axelrod. There were 

also families of the petty bourgeoisie, but wealthy enough to put their children through college, 

such as Aizik Aronchik (after college, he entered the School of Engineers of Saint Petersburg, 

which he soon abandoned to embark in revolutionary activities), Alexander Bibergal, Vladimir 

Bogoraz, Lazarus Goldenberg, the Lœwenthal brothers. Often, mention is made in the 

biographies of the aforementioned, of the Academy of Military Medicine, notably in those of 

Natanson, Bibergal, Isaac Pavlovsky (future counterrevolutionary*), M. Rabinovitch, A. 

Khotinsky, Solomon Chudnovsky, Solomon Aronson (who happened to be involved in these 

circles), among others.9

Therefore it was not material need that drove them, but the strength of their convictions.

It is not without interest to note that in these Jewish families the adhesion of young people to 

the revolution has rarely—or not at all—provoked a break between “fathers and sons”, 

between parents and their children. “The ‘fathers’ did not go after the ‘sons’ very much, as was 

then the case in Christian families. (Although Gesya Gelfman had to leave her family, a 

traditional Old Alliance family, in secret.) The “fathers” were often very far from opposing their 

children. Thus Guerz Lourie, as well as Isaac Kaminer, a doctor from Kiev: the whole family 
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participated in the revolutionary movement of the 70s, and himself, as a “sympathiser…, 

rendered great service” to the revolutionaries; three of them became the husbands of his 

daughters. (In the 1990s, he joined the Zionist movement and became the friend of Achad-

Haam.10**)

Neither can we attribute anti-Russian motivations to these early Jewish revolutionaries, as 

some do in Russia today. In no way!

It all began with the same “nihilism” of the 60s. “Having initiated itself to Russian education and 

to ‘goy’ culture”, having been imbued with Russian literature, “Jewish youth was quick to join 

the most progressive movement of the time”, nihilism, and with an ease all the greater as it 

broke with the prescriptions of the past. Even “the most fanatical of the students of a yeshiva, 

immersed in the study of the Talmud,” after “two or three minutes of conversation with a 

nihilist”, broke with the “patriarchal mode of thought”. “He [the Jew, even pious] had only 

barely grazed the surface of ‘goy’ culture, he had only carried out a breach in his vision of the 

traditional world, but already he was able to go far, very far, to the extremes.” These young 

men were suddenly gripped by the great universal ideals, dreaming of seeing all men become 

brothers and all enjoying the same prosperity. The task was sublime: to liberate mankind from 

misery and slavery!11

And there played the role of Russian literature. Pavel Axelrod, in high school, had as his teachers 

Turgenev, Bielinsky, Dobrolyubov (and later Lassalle* who would make him turn to the 

revolution). Aptekman was fond of Chernyshevsky, Dobrolyubov, Pissarev (and also Bukle). 

Lazare Goldenberg, too, had read and re-read Dobrolyubov, Chernyshevsky, Pissarev, 

Nekrasov—and Rudin**, who died on the barricades, was his hero. Solomon Tchudnovsky, a 

great admirer of Pissarev, wept when he died. The nihilism of Semion Lourie was born of 

Russian literature, he had fed on it. This was the case for a very large number—the list would be 

too long.

But today, a century later, there are few who remember the atmosphere of those years. No 

serious political action was taking place in the “street of the Jews”, as it was then called, while, 

in the “Street of the Russians”, populism was rising. It was quite simple: it was enough to “sink, 

and merge into the movement of Russian liberation”12! Now this fusion was more easily 

facilitated, accelerated by Russian literature and the writings of radical publicists.
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By turning to the Russian world, these young people turned away from the Jewish world. “Many 

of them conceived hostility and disdain to the Judaism of their fathers, just like towards a 

parasitic anomaly.”13 In the 70s “there were small groups of radical Jewish youths who, in the 

name of the ideals of populism, moved more and more away from their people…, began to 

assimilate vigorously and to appropriate the Russian national spirit.”14 Until the mid-70s, the 

socialist Jews did not consider it necessary to do political work with their fellow men, because, 

they thought, the Jews have never possessed land and thus cannot assimilate socialist ideas. 

The Jews never had peasants of their own. “None of the Jewish revolutionaries of the 70s could 

conceive of the idea of acting for one’s own nation alone.” It was clear that one only acted in 

the dominant language and only for the Russian peasants. “For us… there were no Jewish 

workers. We looked at them with the eyes of russifiers: the Jew must assimilate completely 

with the native population”; even artisans were regarded as potential exploiters, since they had 

apprentices and employees. In fact, Russian workers and craftsmen were not accorded any 

importance as an autonomous class: they existed only as future socialists who would facilitate 

work in the peasant world.15

Assimilation once accepted, these young people, by their situation, naturally tended towards 

radicalism, having lost on this new soil the solid conservative roots of their former environment.

“We were preparing to go to the people and, of course, to the Russian people. We deny the 

Jewish religion, like any other religion; we considered our jargon an artificial language, and 

Hebrew a dead language… We were sincere assimilators and we saw in the Russian education 

and culture salvation for the Jews… Why then did we seek to act among the Russian people, not 

the Jewish people? It comes from the fact that we had become strangers to the spiritual culture 

of the Jews of Russia and that we rejected their thinkers who belonged to a traditionalist 

bourgeoisie… from the ranks of which we had left ourselves… We thought that, when the 

Russian people would be freed from the despotism and yoke of the ruling classes, the economic 

and political freedom of all the peoples of Russia, including the Jewish people, would arise. And 

it must be admitted that Russian literature has also somewhat inculcated the idea that the 

Jewish people were not a people but a parasitic class.”16

Also came into play the feeling of debt owed to the people of Great Russia, as well as “the faith 

of the populist rebels in the imminence of a popular insurrection.”17 In the 70s, “the Jewish 

intellectual youth… ‘went to the people’ in the hope of launching, with its feeble hands, the 
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peasant revolution in Russia.”18 As Aptekman writes, Natanson, “like the hero of the Mtsyri of 

Lermontov,

    Knew the hold of only one thought,

    lived only one, but burning passion.

This thought was the happiness of the people; this passion, the struggle for liberation.”19 

Aptekman himself, as depicted by Deutsch, was “emaciated, of small stature, pale complexion,” 

“with very pronounced national features”; having become a village nurse, he announced 

socialism to the peasants through the Gospel.20

It was a little under the influence of their predecessors, the members of the Dolgouchin circle, 

whom inscribed on the branches of the crucifix: “In the name of Christ, Liberty, Equality, 

Fraternity,” and almost all preached the Gospel, that the first Jewish populists turned to 

Christianity, which they used as a support point and as an instrument. Aptekman writes about 

himself: “I have converted to Christianity by a movement from the heart and love for Christ.”21 

(Not to be confused with the motives of Tan Bogoraz, who in the 80s had converted to 

Christianity “to escape the vexations of his Jewish origin.”22 Nor with the feint of Deutsch who 

went to preach the molokanes* by presenting himself as a ‘good orthodox’.”) But, adds 

Aptekman, “in order to give oneself to the people, there is no need to repent”: with regard to 

the Russian people, “I had no trace of repentance. Moreover, where could it have come from? 

Is it not rather for me, the descendant of an oppressed nation, to demand the settlement of this 

dealing, instead of paying the repayment of some, I am not sure which, fantastic loan? Nor have 

I observed this feeling of repentance among my comrades of the nobility who were walking 

with me on the same path.”23

Let us note in this connection that the idea of a rapprochement between the desired socialism 

and historical Christianity was not unconnected with many Russian revolutionaries at the time, 

and as justification for their action, and as a convenient tactical procedure. V. V. Flerovsky** 

wrote: “I always had in mind the comparison between this youth who was preparing for action 

and the first Christians.” And, immediately after, the next step: “By constantly turning this idea 

into my head, I have come to the conviction that we will reach our goal only by one means—by 

creating a new religion… It is necessary to teach the people to devote all their forces to oneself 

exclusively… I wanted to create the religion of brotherhood”— and the young disciples of 
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Flerovsky tried to “lead the experiment by wondering how a religion that would have neither 

God nor saints would be received by the people.”

His disciple Gamov, from the circle of Dolgouchine, wrote even more crudely: “We must invent 

a religion that would be against the tsar and the government… We must write a catechism and 

prayers in this spirit.”24

The revolutionary action of the Jews in Russia is also explained in another way. We find it 

exposed and then refuted by A. Srebrennikov: “There is a view that if, through the reforms of 

the years 1860‒1863, the ‘Pale of Settlement’ had been abolished, our whole history would 

have unfolded otherwise… If Alexander II had abolished the ‘Pale of Settlement’, there would 

have been neither the Bund* nor Trotskyism!” Then he mentioned the internationalist and 

socialist ideas that flowed from the West, and wrote: “If the suppression of the Pale of 

Settlement had been of capital importance to them, all their struggle would have stretched 

towards it. Now they were occupied with everything else: they dreamed of overthrowing 

tsarism!”25

And, one after the other, driven by the same passion, they abandoned their studies (notably the 

Academy of Military Medicine) to “go to the people”. Every diploma was marked with the seal 

of infamy as a means of exploitation of the people. They renounced any career, and some broke 

with their families. For them, “every day not put to good use [constitutes] an irreparable loss, 

criminal for the realisation of the well-being and happiness of the disinherited masses.”26

But in order to “go to the people”, it was necessary to “make oneself simple”, both internally, 

for oneself, and practically, “to inspire confidence to the masses of the people, one had to 

infiltrate it under the guise of a workman or a moujik.”27 However, writes Deutsch, how can 

you go to the people, be heard and be believed, when you are betrayed by your language, your 

appearance and your manners? And still, to seduce the listeners, you must throw jokes and 

good words in popular language! And we must also be skilful in the work of the fields, so painful 

to townspeople. For this reason, Khotinsky worked on the farm with his brother, and worked 

there as a ploughman. The Lœwenthal brothers learned shoemaking and carpentry. Betty 

Kamenskaya entered as a worker in a spinning mill to a very hard position. Many became 

caregivers. (Deutsch writes that, on the whole, other activities were better suited to these 

revolutionary Jews: work within factions, conspiracy, communications, typography, border-
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crossing.)28

The “march to the people” began with short visits, stays of a few months—a “fluid” march. At 

first, they relied only on the work of agitation. It was imagined that it would suffice to convince 

the peasants to open their eyes to the regime in power and the exploitation of the masses, and 

to promise that the land and the instruments of production would become the property of all.

In fact, this whole “march to the people” of the populists ended in failure. And not only because 

of some inadvertent gunshot directed against the Tsar (Solovyov, 1879), which obliged them all 

to flee the country and to hide very far from the cities. But above all because the peasants, 

perfectly deaf to their preaching, were even sometimes ready to hand them over to the 

authorities. The populists, the Russians (hardly more fortunate) like the Jews, lost “the faith… in 

a spontaneous revolutionary will and in the socialist instincts of the peasantry”, and 

“transformed into impenitent pessimists.”29

Clandestine action, however, worked better. Three residents of Minsk, Lossif Guetsov, Saul 

Levkov, and Saul Grinfest, succeeded in setting up a clandestine press in their city that would 

serve the country as a whole. It survived until 1881. It was there that was printed in gold letters 

the leaflet on “the execution of Alexander II”. It printed the newspaper The Black Repartition*, 

and then the proclamations of The Will of the People. Deutsche referred to them as “peaceful 

propagandists”. Apparently, the term “peaceful” embraced everything that was not bombing—

smuggling, illegal border-crossing, and even the call to avoid paying taxes (appeal to the 

peasants of Lazare Goldenberg).

Many of these Jewish revolutionaries were heavily condemned (heavily, even by the measures 

of our time). Some benefited from a reduction of their punishment—like Semion Lourie, thanks 

to his father who obtained for him a less severe regime in prison. There was also public opinion, 

which leaned towards indulgence. Aptekman tells us that in 1881—after the assassination of 

Alexander II—“they lived relatively freely in the prison of Krasnoyarsk” where “the director of 

the prison, a real wild beast, was suddenly tamed and gave us all kinds of permissions to 

contact the deportees and our friends.” Then “we were received in transit prisons not as 

detainees, but as noble captives”; “the prison director came in, accompanied by soldiers 

carrying trays with tea, biscuits, jam for everyone, and, as a bonus, a small glass of vodka. Was it 

not idyllic? We were touched.”30
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The biographies of these early populists reveal a certain exaltation, a certain lack of mental 

equilibrium. Leo Deutsch testifies: Leon Zlatopolsky, a terrorist, “was not a mentally balanced 

person”. Aptekman himself, in his cell, after his arrest, “was not far from madness, as his nerves 

were shaken.” Betty Kamenskaya, “… from the second month of detention… lost her mind”; she 

was transferred to the hospital, then her father, a merchant, took her back on bail. Having read 

in the indictment that she would not be brought before the court, she wanted to tell the 

prosecutor that she was in good health and could appear, but soon after, she swallowed poison 

and died.31 Moses Rabinovitch, in his cell, “had hallucinations… his nerves were exhausted”; he 

resolved to feign repentance, to name those whom the instruction was surely already 

acquainted with, in order to be liberated. He drew up a declaration promising to say everything 

he knew and even, upon his release from prison, to seek and transmit information. The result 

was that he confessed everything without being released and that he was sent to the province 

of Irkutsk where he went mad and died “barely over the age of 20.” Examples of this kind are 

not lacking. Leiser Tsukerman, immigrated to New York, and put an end to his life. Nahman 

Lœwenthal, after having immigrated to Berlin, “was sent into the dizzying downward spiral of a 

nervous breakdown,” to which was added an unhappy love; “he swallowed sulphuric acid and 

threw himself into the river”—at the age of about 19.32 These young individuals had thrown 

themselves away by overestimating their strength and the resistance of their nerves.

And even Grigori Goldenberg, who, in cold blood, had defeated the governor of Kharkov and 

asked his comrades, as a supreme honor, to kill by his own hand the Tsar (but his comrades, 

fearing popular anger, had apparently dismissed him as a Jew; apparently, this argument often 

prompted populists to designate most often Russians, to perpetrate attacks): after being 

arrested while carrying a charge of dynamite, he was seized by unbearable anguish in his cell of 

the Troubetskoy bastion, his spirit was broken, he made a full confession that affected the 

whole movement, petitioned that Aaron Zundelevich come share his cell (who showed more 

indulgence than others towards his actions). When it was refused, he committed suicide.33

Others, who were not directly involved, suffered, such as Moses Edelstein, who was by no 

means an ideologist, who had “slipped”, for a price, clandestine literature; he suffered much in 

prison, prayed to Yahweh for himself and his family: he repented during the judgment: “I did 

not imagine that there could be such bad books.” Or S. Aronson who, after the trial of the “one 

hundred and ninety-three”, disappeared completely from the revolutionary scene.34
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Another point is worthy of noting; it was the facility with which many of them left that Russia 

which they had long ago intended to save. In fact, in the 70s emigration was regarded as 

desertion in revolutionary circles: even if the police seek you, go underground, but do not run 

away!35—Tan Bogoraz left to live twenty years in New York.—Lazar Goldenberg-Getroitman 

also “left to New York in 1885, where he gave classes on the history of the revolutionary 

movement in Russia”; he returned to Russia in 1906, after the amnesty, to leave again rather 

quickly to Britain, where he remained until his death.”36—In London, one of the Vayner 

brothers became the owner of a furniture workshop and Mr. Aronson and Mr. Romm became 

Clinical Doctors in New York.—After a few years in Switzerland, I. Guetsov went to live in 

America, having radically broken with the Socialist movement.—Leiser Lœwenthal, emigrated 

to Switzerland, completed his medical studies in Geneva, became the assistant of a great 

physiologist before obtaining a chair of histology in Lausanne.—Semion Lourie also finished his 

studies in a faculty of medicine in Italy, but died shortly after.—Liubov Axelrod (“the 

Orthodox”*) remained for a long time in immigration, where he received the degree of Doctor 

of Philosophy from the University of Berlin (later he inculcated dialectical materialism to 

students of Soviet graduate schools.) A. Khotinsky also entered the Faculty of Medicine of Bern 

(but died the following year from a galloping consumption). Grigory Gurayev made a fine career 

in Denmark; he returned to Russia as the country’s ambassador in Kiev, where he stayed until 

1918.37

All this also shows how many talented men there were among these revolutionaries. Men such 

as these, endowed with such lively intelligence, when they found themselves in Siberia, far from 

wasting or losing their reason, they opened their eyes to the tribes which surrounded them, 

studied their languages and their customs, and wrote ethnographic studies about them: Leon 

Sternberg on the Ghiliaks,** Tan-Bogoraz on the Tchouktches,*** Vladimir Yokhelson on the 

Yukaghirs,**** and Naoum Guekker on the physical type of the lakuts.38***** Some studies on 

the Buryats****** are due to Moses Krohl.

Some of these Jewish revolutionaries willingly joined the socialist movement in the West. Thus 

V. Yokhelson and A. Zundelevich, during the Reichstag elections in Germany, campaigned on the 

side of the Social Democrats. Zundelevich was even arrested for having used fraudulent 

methods. Anne Rosenstein, in France, was convicted for organising a street demonstration in 

defiance of the regulations governing traffic on the street; Turgenev intervened for her and she 

was expelled to Italy where she was twice condemned for anarchist agitation (she later married 

F. Turati,******* converted him to socialism and became herself the first Marxist of Italy). 

Abram Valt-Lessine, a native of Minsk, published articles for seventeen years in New York in the 

socialist organ of America Vorwarts and exerted a great influence on the formation of the 
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American labour movement.39 (That road was going to be taken by many others of our 

Socialists…)

It sometimes happened that revolutionary emigrants were disappointed by the revolution. Thus 

Moses Veller, having distanced himself from the movement, succeeded, thanks to Turgenev’s 

intervention with Loris-Melikov, to return to Russia. More extravagant was the journey of Isaac 

Pavlovsky: living in Paris, as “illustrious revolutionary”, he had connections with Turgenev, who 

made him know Emile Zola and Alphonse Daudet; he wrote a novel about the Russian nihilists 

that Turgenev published in the Vestnik Evropy* (The Messenger of Europe), and then he 

became the correspondent in Paris of Novoye Vremia** “the New Times” under the 

pseudonym of I. Iakovlev—and even, as Deutsch writes, he portrayed himself as “anti-Semite”, 

sent a petition in high places, was pardoned and returned to Russia.40

That said, the majority of the Jewish revolutionaries blended in, just like the Russians, and their 

track was lost. “With the exception of two or three prominent figures… all my other 

compatriots were minor players,” writes Deutsch.41 A Soviet collection, published the day after 

the revolution under the title of “Historical and Revolutionary Collection”,42 quotes many 

names of humble soldiers unknown to the revolution. We find there dozens, even hundreds of 

Jewish names. Who remembers them now? However, all have taken action, all have brought 

their contribution, all have shaken more or less strongly the edifice of the State.

Let us add: this very first contingent of Jewish revolutionaries did not fully join the ranks of the 

Russian revolution, all did not deny their Judaism. A. Liebermann, a great connoisseur of the 

Talmud, a little older than his populist fellow students, proposed in 1875 to carry out a specific 

campaign in favour of socialism among the Jewish population. With the help of G. Gurevich, he 

published a socialist magazine in Yiddish called Emes (Pravda = Truth) in Vienna in 1877. Shortly 

before, in the 70s, A. Zundelevich “undertook a publication in the Hebrew language”, also 

entitled Truth. (L. Shapiro hypothesises that this publication was “the distant ancestor of 

Trotsky’s The Pravda.43 The tradition of this appellation was durable.) Some, like Valt-Lessine, 

insisted on the convergence of internationalism with Judaic nationalism. “In his improvised 

conferences and sermons, the prophet Isaiah and Karl Marx figured as authorities of equal 

importance.”44 In Geneva was founded the Jewish Free Typography,45 intended to print 

leaflets addressed to the Jewish working-class population.

Specifically Jewish circles were formed in some cities. A “Statute for the Organisation of a 
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Social-Revolutionary Union of the Jews of Russia”, formulated at the beginning of 1876, showed 

the need for propaganda in the Hebrew language and even to organise between Jews of the 

western region “a network of social-revolutionary sections, federated with each other and with 

other sections of the same type found abroad”. “The Socialists of the whole world formed a 

single brotherhood,” and this organisation was to be called the Jewish Section of the Russian 

Social-Revolutionary Party.46

Hessen comments: the action of this Union among the Jewish masses “has not met with 

sufficient sympathies”, and that is why these Jewish socialists, in their majority, “lent a hand to 

the common cause”, that is to say, to the Russian cause.47 In fact, circles were created in 

Vilnius, Grodno, Minsk, Dvinsk, Odessa, but also, for example, in Elts, Saratov, Rostov-on-Don.

In the very detailed founding act of this “Social-Revolutionary Union of all Jews in Russia”, one 

can read surprising ideas, statements such as: “Nothing ordinary has the right to exist if it has 

no rational justification”48 (!)

By the end of the 70s, the Russian revolutionary movement was already sliding towards 

terrorism. The appeal to the revolt of Bakunin had definitely prevailed over the concern for 

instruction of the masses of Lavrov. Beginning in 1879, the idea of populist presence among the 

peasants had no effect—the idea that dominated in The Will of the People—gained the upper 

hand over the rejection of terror by The Black Repartition. Terror, nothing but terror!!—much 

more: a systematic terror! (That the people did not have a voice in the matter, that the ranks of 

the intelligentsia were so sparse, did not disturb them.) Terrorist acts—including against the 

Tsar in person!—thus succeeded one another.

According to Leo Deutsch’s assessment, only ten to twelve Jews took part in this growing terror, 

beginning with Aron Gobst (executed), Solomon Wittenberg (prepared an attack on Alexander II 

in 1878, executed in 1879), Aizik Aronchik (was involved in the explosion of the imperial train, 

condemned to a penal colony for life) and Gregory Goldenberg, already named. Like 

Goldenberg, A. Zundelevich—brilliant organiser of terror, but who was not given the time to 

participate in the assassination of the Tsar—was arrested very early. There was also another 

quite active terrorist: Mlodetsky. As for Rosa Grossman, Krystyna Grinberg and the brothers Leo 

and Saveli Zlatopolsky, they played a secondary role. (In fact, Saveli, as of March 1st, 1881*, was 

a member of the Executive Committee); As for Gesya Gelfman, she was part of the basic group 
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of the “actors of March 1st.”49

Then it was the 80s that saw the decline and dissolution of populism. Government power took 

over; belonging to a revolutionary organisation cost a firm eight to ten years of imprisonment. 

But if the revolutionary movement was caught by inertia, its members continued to exist. One 

can quote here Sofia Ginzburg: she did not engage in revolutionary action until 1877; she tried 

to restore the Will of the People, which had been decimated by arrests; she prepared, just after 

the Ulyanov group**, an attack on Alexander III.50 So-and-so was forgotten in deportation, 

another was coming back from it, a third was only leaving for it—but they continued the battle.

Thusly was a famous deflagration described by the memorialists: the rebellion in the prison of 

Yakutsk in 1889. An important contingent of political prisoners had been told that they were 

going to be transferred to Verkhoyansk and, from there, even further, to Srednie-Kolymsk, 

which they wanted to avoid at all costs. The majority of the group were Jewish inmates. In 

addition, they were informed that the amount of baggage allowed was reduced: instead of five 

poods*** of books, clothes, linen, five poods also of bread and flour, two poods of meat, plus 

oil, sugar and tea (the whole, of course, loaded on horses or reindeer), a reduction of five poods 

in all. The deportees decided to resist. In fact, it had already been six months that they had 

been walking freely in the city of Yakutsk, and some had obtained weapons from the 

inhabitants. “While you’re at it, might as well perish like this, and may the people discover all 

the abomination of the Russian government—perishing so that the spirit of combat is revived 

among the living!” When they were picked up to be taken to the police station, they first 

opened fire on the officers, and the soldiers answered with a salvo. Condemned to death, 

together with N. Zotov, were those who fired the first shots at the vice-governor: L. Kogan-

Bernstein and A. Gausman. Condemned to forced labour in perpetuity were: the memorialist 

himself, O. Minor, the celebrated M. Gotz*, and also “A. Gurevitch and M. Orlov, Mr. Bramson, 

Mr. Braguinsky, Mr. Fundaminsky, Mr. Ufland, S. Ratine, O. Estrovitch, Sofia Gurevitch, Vera 

Gotz, Pauline Perly, A. Bolotina, N. Kogan-Bernstein.” The Jewish Encyclopædia informs us that 

for this mutiny twenty-six Jews and six Russians were tried.51

That same year, 1889, Mark Natanson returned from exile and undertook to forge, in place of 

the old dismantled populist organisations, a new organisation called The Right of the People 

(Narodnoie Pravo). Natanson had already witnessed the emergence of Marxism in Russia, 

imported from Europe, and its competition with populism. He made every effort to save the 

revolutionary movement from decadence and to maintain ties with the Liberals (‘the best 

liberals are also semi-socialists”). Not more than before did he look at nuances of convictions: 
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what mattered to him was that all should unite to overthrow the autocracy, and when Russia 

was democratic, then it would be figured out. But the organisation he set up this time proved to 

be amorphous, apathetic and ephemeral. Besides, respecting the rules of the conspiracy was no 

longer necessary. As Isaac Gurvitch very eloquently pointed out, “because of the absence of 

conspiracy, a mass of people fall into the clutches of the police, but the revolutionaries are now 

so numerous that these losses do not count—trees are knocked down, and chips go flying!”52

The fracture that had occurred in the Jewish consciousness after 1881‒1882 could not but be 

reflected somewhat in the consciousness of Jewish revolutionaries in Russia. These young men 

had begun by drifting away from Judaism, and many had returned to it. They had “left the 

‘street of the Jews’ and then returned to their people”: “Our entire historical destiny is linked to 

the Jewish ghetto, it is from it that our national essence is forged.”53 Until the pogroms of 

1881‒1882, “absolutely none of us revolutionaries thought for a moment” that we should 

publicly explain the participation of the Jews in the revolutionary movement. But then came the 

pogroms, which caused “among… the majority of our countrymen an explosion of indignation.” 

And now “it was not only the cultivated Jews, but some Jewish revolutionaries who had no 

affinity with their nation, who suddenly felt obliged to devote their strength and talents to their 

unjustly persecuted brothers.”54 “The pogroms have awakened sleeping feelings, they have 

made young people more susceptible to the sufferings of their people, and the people more 

receptive to revolutionary ideas. Let this serve as a basis for an autonomous action of the 

Jewish mass”: “We are obstinately pursuing our goal: the destruction of the current political 

regime.”55

But behold, the unexpected support to the anti-Jewish pogroms brought by the leaflets of The 

Will of the People! Leo Deutsch expresses his perplexity in a letter to Axelrod, who also 

wonders: “The Jewish question is now, in practice, really insoluble for a revolutionary. What 

would one do, for example, in Balta, where the Jews are being attacked? To defend them is 

tantamount to “arousing hatred against the revolutionaries who not only killed the Tsar, but 

also support the Jews”… Reconciliation propaganda is now extremely difficult for the party.”56

This perplexity, P. L. Lavrov himself, the venerated chief, expresses it in his turn: “I recognise 

that the Jewish question is extremely complex, and for the party, which intends to draw itself 

closer to the people and raise it against the government, it is difficult in the highest degree… 

because of the passionate state in which the people find themselves and the need to have it on 

our side.”57 He was not the only one of the Russian revolutionaries to reason this way.
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In the 80s, a current reappeared among the socialists, advocating directing attention and 

propaganda to specifically Jewish circles, and preferably the ones of workers. But, as proletariat, 

there were not many people among the Jews—some carpenters, binders, shoemakers. The 

easiest was certainly to act among the most educated printers. Isaac Gurvitch recounts: with 

Moses Khourguine, Leon Rogaller, Joseph Reznik, “in Minsk we had set ourselves the task of 

creating a nucleus of educated workers.” But if we take, for example, Belostok or Grodno, “we 

found no working class”: the recruitment was too weak.

The creation of these circles was not done openly; it was necessary to conspire either to 

organise the meeting outside the city, or to hold it in a private apartment in the city, but then 

systematically beginning with lessons of Russian grammar or natural sciences… and then only by 

recruiting volunteers to preach socialism to them. As I. Martar explains: it was these preliminary 

lessons that attracted people to the revolutionary circles. “Skilled and wise,” capable of 

becoming their own masters, “those who had attended our meetings had received instruction 

there, and especially mastery of Russian, for language is a precious weapon in the competitive 

struggle of petty commerce and industry”; After that, our “lucky guys”, freed from the role of 

hired labourers and swearing to their great gods that they themselves would never employ 

hired labour, had to have recourse to it, due to the requirements of the market.”58 Or, once 

formed in these circles, “the worker abandoned his trade and went away to take examinations 

‘externally’.”59

The local Jewish bourgeoisie disliked the participation of young people in the revolutionary 

circles, for it had understood—faster and better than the police—where all of this would 

lead.60

Here and there, however, things advanced; with the aid of socialist pamphlets and 

proclamations provided by the printing press in London, the young revolutionaries themselves 

drafted “social-democrat formulations on all programmatic questions”. Thus, for ten years, a 

slow propaganda led little by little to the creation of the Bund.

But, “even more than police persecution, it was the emerging immigration to America that 

hampered our work. In fact, we trained socialist workers for America.” The concise recollections 

of Isaac Gurvitch on the first Jewish workers’ circles are enamelled by obiter dicta such as: 
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Schwartz, a student who participated in revolutionary agitation, “subsequently immigrated to 

America; he lives in New York”.—as well, at a meeting in Joseph Reznik’s apartment: “There 

were two workers present, a carpenter and a joiner: both are now in America.” And, two pages 

later, we learn that Reznik himself, after his return from exile, “went to live in America.” 

Conversely, a young man named Guirchfeld, who came from America to do revolutionary work, 

“is currently a doctor in Minneapolis” and was a Socialist candidate for the post of governor.—

“One of the most active members of the first Abramovich circle, a certain Jacob Zvirine…, after 

serving his twelve months in the Kresty prison… immigrated to America and now lives in New 

York.”—“Shmulevich (“Kivel”)… in 1889… was forced to flee from Russia; he lived until 1896 in 

Switzerland where he was an active member of the social democratic organisations”, then “he 

moved to America… and lives in Chicago”. Finally, the narrator himself: “In 1890 I myself left 

Russia,” although a few years earlier “we were considering things differently. To lead a socialist 

propaganda among the workers is the obligation of every honest educated man: it is our way of 

paying our “historical debt” to the people. And since I have the obligation to make propaganda, 

it follows very obviously that I have the right to demand that I be given the opportunity to fulfil 

this obligation.” Arriving in New York in 1890, Gurvich found there a “Russian workers’ 

association of self-development,” consisting almost exclusively of artisans from Minsk, and in 

order to celebrate the Russian New Year they organised in New York “The Ball of the Socialists 

of Minsk.”61 In New York, “the local socialist movement… predominantly was Jewish.”62

As we can see, from that time the ocean did not constitute a major obstacle to the cohesion 

and the pursuit of the revolutionary action carried out by the Jews. This living link would have 

oh so striking effects in Russia.

Yet all Jewish young people had not abandoned the Russian revolutionary tradition, far from it; 

many even stood there in the 80s and 90s. As D. Schub shows, the pogroms and the restrictive 

measures of Alexander III only excited them even more strongly for combat.

Then it became necessary to explain as well as possible to the little Russian people why so many 

Jews participated in the revolutionary movement. Addressing uneducated people, the popular 

pamphlets gradually forged a whole phraseology that had its effects until 1917—including 1917. 

It is a booklet of this kind that allows us to reconstruct their arguments.

Hard is the fate of the Russian, the subject of the Tsar; the government holds him in his iron fist. 

But “still more bitter is the lot of the indigent Jew”: “the government makes fun of him, 

75



pressures him to death. His existence is only a life of famine, a long agony”, and “his brothers of 

misery and toil, the peasants and the Russian workers…, as long as they are in ignorance, treat 

him as a foreigner.” There followed, one after the other, didactic questions: “Are Jewish 

capitalists enemies of the working people of Russia?” The enemies are all capitalists without 

distinction, and it is of little importance to the working people to be plundered by such and 

such: one should not concentrate their anger on those who are Jews.—“The Jew has no land… 

he has no means to prosper. If the Jews do not devote themselves to the labour of the land, it is 

because “the Russian government has not allowed them to reside in the countryside”; but in 

their colonies they are “excellent cultivators.” The fields are superbly enhanced… by the work of 

their arms. They do not use any outside labour, and do not practice any extra trade… they like 

the hard work of the land.”—“Are destitute Jews harming the economic interests of Russian 

workers? If the Jews do business, “it is out of necessity, not out of taste; all other ways are 

closed to them, and one has to live”; “they would cease with joy to trade if they were allowed 

to leave their cage.” And if there are thieves among them, we must accuse the Tsarist 

government. “The Jewish workers began the struggle for the improvement of their condition at 

the time when the Russian working people were subjected. The Jewish workers “before all the 

others have lost patience”; “And even now tens of thousands of Jews are members of Russian 

Socialist parties. They spread the hatred of the capitalist system and the tsarist government 

through the country”; they have rendered “a proud service to the Russian working people”, and 

that is why Russian capitalists hate them. The government, through the police, assisted in the 

preparation of the pogroms; it sent the police and the army to lend a helping hand to the 

looters”; “Fortunately, very few workers and peasants were among them.”—“Yes, the Jewish 

masses hate this irresponsible tsarist government”, because “it was the will of the government 

that the skull of Jewish children be smashed against walls… that Jewish women, elderly and 

children alike, be raped in the streets. And yet, “He lies boldly, the one who treats the Jews as 

enemies of the Russian people… And besides, how could they hate Russia? Could they have 

another country?”63

There are amazing resurgences in the revolutionary tradition. In 1876, A. Biebergal had been 

convicted for taking part in the demonstration on the square in front of Our Lady of Kazan. And 

it was there that his eldest daughter, a student of graduate studies of Saint Petersburg, was 

apprehended on the same spot in Kazan on the anniversary of this demonstration, twenty-five 

years later, in 1901. (In 1908, Member of a group S.-R.*, she was condemned to the penal 

colonies for the attack on the Grand Duke Vladimir Alexandrovich.**)

In fact, over the years, Russian revolutionaries increasingly needed the input of the Jews; they 

understood more and more what advantage they derived from them—of their dual struggle: 
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against the vexations on the plane of nationality, and against those of an economic order—as a 

detonator for the revolution.

In 1883, in Geneva, appears what can be considered as the head of the emerging social 

democracy: the “Liberation of Labour” group. Its founders were, along with Plekhanov and Vera 

Zasulich, L. Deutsch and P. Axelrod.64 (When Ignatov died in 1885, he was replaced by 

Ingerman.)

In Russia comes to life a current that supports them. Constituted of former members of the 

dismantled Black Repartition (they considerably exceeded those of the Will of the People), they 

will be called “liberationists” (osvobojdentsy). Among them are a number of young Jews, among 

whom we can name the two best known: Israel Guelfand (the future and famous Parvus) and 

Raphael Soloveitchik. In 1889 Soloveitchik, who had travelled through Russia to set up 

revolutionary action in several cities, was arrested and tried with other members of the 

Liberation of Labour group, which included several Jewish names.65 Others who belonged to 

this social revolutionary trend were David Goldendach, the future, well-known Bolshevik 

“Riazanov” (who had fled Odessa in 1889 and had taken refuge abroad to escape military 

service66).

Nevertheless, what remained of the Will of the People after its collapse was a fairly large group. 

Among them were Dembo, Rudevitch, Mandelstam, Boris Reinchtein, Ludwig Nagel, Bek, Sofia 

Chentsis, Filippeo, Leventis, Cheftel, Barnekhovsky, etc.67

Thus a certain amount of energy had been preserved to fuel the rivalries between small 

groups—The Will of the People, The Black Repartition, Liberation of Labour—and theoretical 

debates. The three volumes of the “Historical and Revolutionary Collection” published in the 

(Soviet) 20s, which we use here, offer us, in an interminable and tedious logorrhea, an account 

of the cut and thrust, allegedly much more important and sublime than all the questions of 

universal thought and history. The detail of these debates constitute a deadly material on the 

spiritual fabric of the Russian revolutionaries of the years 80‒90, and it still awaits its historian.

But from the thirties of the Soviet era onwards, it was no longer possible to enumerate with 

pride and detail all those who had had their share in the revolution; a sort of taboo settled in 
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historical and political publications, the role and name of the Jews in the Russian revolutionary 

movement ceased to be evoked—and even now, this kind of evocation creates uneasiness. 

Now, nothing is more immoral and dangerous than to silence anything when History is being 

written: it only creates a distortion of opposite meaning.

If, as can be read in the Jewish Encyclopædia, “to account for the genuine importance of the 

Jewish component in the Russian liberation movement, to express it in precise figures, does not 

seem possible,”68 one can nevertheless, based on various sources, give an approximate picture.

Hessen informs us that “of the 376 defendants, accused of crimes against the State in the first 

half of 1879, there were only 4% Jews,” and “out of the 1,054 persons tried before the Senate 

during the year 1880…, there were 6.5% of Jews.”69 Similar estimates are found among other 

authors.

However, from decade to decade, the number of Jews participating in the revolutionary 

movement increases, their role becomes more influential, more recognised. In the early years 

of Soviet rule, when it was still a matter of pride, a prominent communist, Lourie-Larine, said: 

“In tsarist prisons and in exile, Jews usually constituted nearly a quarter of all prisoners and 

exiles.”70 Marxist historian M. N. Pokrovsky, basing himself on the workforce of the various 

congresses, concludes that “the Jews represent between a quarter and a third of the 

organisations of all the revolutionary parties.”71 (The modern Jewish Encyclopædia has some 

reservations about this estimate).

In 1903, in a meeting with Herzl, Witte endeavoured to show that, while representing only 5% 

of the population of Russia, i.e. 6 million out of 136 million, the Jews had in their midst no less 

than 50% of revolutionaries.72

General N. Sukhotin, commander-in-chief of the Siberian region, compiled statistics on January 

1st, 1905 of political prisoners under surveillance for all of Siberia and by nationality. This 

resulted in 1,898 Russians (42%), 1,678 Jews (37%), 624 Poles (14%), 167 Caucasians, 85 Baltic 

and 94 of other nationalities. (Only the exiles are counted there, prisons and penal colony 

convicts are not taken into account, and the figures are only valid for the year 1904, but this, 

however, gives a certain overview.) There is, moreover, an interesting precision in connection 
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with those who “went into hiding”: 17% of Russians, 64% of Jews, 19% of other nationalities.73

Here is the testimony of V. Choulguine: in 1889, the news relating to the student 

demonstrations of Saint Petersburg reached Kiev. “The long corridors of the university were 

teeming with a crowd of young people in effervescence. I was struck by the predominance of 

the Jews. Were they more or less numerous than the Russians, I could not say, but they 

‘predominated’ incontestably, for it was they who were in charge of this tumultuous melee in 

jackets. Some time later, the professors and the non-striking students began to be chased out of 

lecture halls. Then this ‘pure and holy youth’ took false photographs of the Cossacks beating the 

students; these photographs were said to have been taken ‘on the fly’ when they were made 

from drawings: “Not all Jewish students are left-wingers, some were on our side, but those ones 

suffered a lot afterwards, they were harassed by society.” Choulguine adds: “The role of the 

Jews in the revolutionary effervescence within universities was notorious and unrelated to their 

number across the country.”74

Milyukov described all this as “legends about the revolutionary spirit of the Jews… They 

[government officials] need legends, just like the primitive man needs rhymed prose.”75 

Conversely, G. P. Fedotov wrote: “The Jewish nation, morally liberated from the 80s onwards, 

like the Russian intelligentsia under Peter the Great, is in the highest degree uprooted, 

internationalist and active… It immediately assumed the leading role in the Russian revolution… 

It marked the moral profile of the Russian revolutionary with its incisive and sombre 

character.”76 From the 80s onwards, the Russian and Jewish elites merged not only in a 

common revolutionary action, but also in all spiritual fads, and especially in the passion for non-

rootedness.

In the eyes of a contemporary, simple witness to the facts (Zinaida Altanskaya, who 

corresponded from the town of Orel with Fyodor Kryukov*), this Jewish youth of the beginning 

of the century appeared as follows: “… with them, there is the art and the love of fighting. And 

what projects!—vast, bold! They have something of their own, a halo of suffering, something 

precious. We envy them, we are vexed” (that the Russian youth is not the same).

M. Agursky states the following hypothesis: “Participation in the revolutionary movement was, 

so to speak, a form of assimilation [more] ‘suitable’ than the common assimilation through 

baptism”; and it appears all the more worthy because it also meant a sort of revolt against 

one’s own Jewish bourgeoisie77—and against one’s own religion, which counted for nothing for 
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the revolutionaries.

However, this “proper” assimilation was neither complete nor even real: many of these young 

men, in their haste, tore themselves from their own soil without really taking root in Russian 

soil, and remained outside these two nations and two cultures, to be nothing more than this 

material of which internationalism is so fond of.

But as the equal rights of the Jews remained one of the major demands of the Russian 

revolutionary movement, these young people, by embarking in the revolution, kept in their 

hearts and minds, the idea they were still serving the interests of their people. This was the 

thesis that Parvus had adopted as a course of action during his entire life, which he had 

formulated, defended and inculcated to the young people: the liberation of the Jews from 

Russia can only be done by overthrowing the Tsarist regime.

This thesis found significant support for a particular layer of Jewish society—middle-aged 

people, well-off, set, incredibly estranged from the spirit of adventure, but who, since the end 

of the nineteenth century, fed a permanent irritation against the Russian mode of government. 

It was in this ideological field that their children grew up before they even received the sap of 

Judaism to subsist from. An influential member of the Bund, Mr. Raies, points out that at the 

turn of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries “the Jewish bourgeoisie did not hide the hopes 

and expectations it placed in the progress of the revolutionary movement… it, which it once 

rejected, now had the bourgeoisie’s favours.”78

G. Gershuni explained to his judges: “It is your persecutions that have driven us to the 

revolution.” In fact, the explanation is to be found both in Jewish history and in Russian 

history—at their intersection.

Let us listen to G. A. Landau, a renowned Jewish publicist. He wrote after 1917: “There were 

many Jewish families, both small and middle-class, in which the parents, bourgeois themselves, 

saw with their benevolent eyes, sometimes proud, always quiet, their offspring being marked 

by the seal in fashion of one of the social-revolutionary ideologies in vogue.” They also, in fact, 

“leaned vaguely in favour of this ideology which protested against the persecutors, but without 

asking what was the nature of this protest or what were these persecutions.” And it was thus 
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that “little by little, the hegemony of socialism took root in Jewish society…”—the negation of 

civil society and of the State, contempt for bourgeois culture, and of the inheritance of past 

centuries, an inheritance from which the Jews had less difficulty to tear themselves away from 

since they already had, by Europeanising themselves, renounced their own inheritance.” The 

revolutionary ideas “in the Jewish milieu… were… doubly destructive,” and for Russia and for 

themselves. But they penetrated the Jewish milieu much more deeply than the Russian 

milieu.”79

A jeweller from Kiev, Marchak (who even created some pieces to decorate the churches of the 

city), testifies that “while I was frequenting the bourgeoisie, I was contaminated [by the 

revolutionary spirit].”80 Moreover, this is what we see with the young Bogrov*: that energy, 

that passion which grows in him during his youth spent in the bosom of a very rich family. His 

father, a wealthy liberal, gave full liberty to his young terrorist son.—And the Gotz brothers, 

also terrorists, had for grandfathers two Muscovites rich as Croesus, Gotz on the one hand, and 

on the other, Vyssotsky, a multi-millionaire tea maker, and these, far from retaining their 

grandchildren, paid to the S.-R. hundreds of thousands of rubles.

“Many Jews have come to swell the ranks of the Socialists,” continues Landau.81 In one of his 

speeches in the Duma (1909), A. I. Guchkov quotes the testimony of a young S.-R.: among other 

causes of her disenchantment, “she said that the revolutionary movement was entirely 

monopolised by the Jews and that they saw in the triumph of the revolution their own 

triumph.”82

The enthusiasm for the revolution has seized Jewish society from the bottom to the top, says I. 

O. Levin: “It is not only the lower strata of the Jewish population of Russia that have devoted 

themselves to the revolutionary passion,” but this movement “could not fail to catch a large 

part of the intellectuals and semi-intellectuals of the Jewish people” (semi-intellectuals who, in 

the 20s, constituted the active executives of the Soviet regime). “They were even more 

numerous among the liberal professions, from dentists to university teachers—those who could 

settle outside the Pale of Settlement. Having lost the cultural heritage of traditional Judaism, 

these people were nonetheless foreign to Russian culture and any other national culture. This 

spiritual vacuum, hidden under a superficially assimilated European culture, made the Jews, 

already inclined to materialism, by their trades as tradesmen or craftsmen, very receptive to 

materialistic political theories… The rationalist mode of thought peculiar to the Jews… 

predisposes them to adhere to doctrines such as that of revolutionary Marxism.”83
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The co-author of this collection, V. S. Mandel, remarks: “Russian Marxism in its purest state, 

copied from the original German, was never a Russian national movement, and Jews in Russia, 

who were animated by a revolutionary spirit, for which nothing could be easier than 

assimilating a doctrine exhibited in books in German, were naturally led to take an important 

part in the work of transplanting this foreign fruit on Russian soil.”84 F. A. Stepun expressed it 

thus: “The Jewish youth boldly discussed, quoting Marx in support, the question of the form in 

which the Russian moujik should possess the land. The Marxist movement began in Russia with 

the Jewish youth inside the Pale of Settlement.”

Developing this idea, V. S. Mandel recalls “The Protocols of the Elders of Zion”…, this stupid and 

hateful falsity.” Well, “these Jews see in the delusions of the ‘Protocols’ the malicious intention 

of the anti-Semites to eradicate Judaism,” but they themselves are “ready, in varying degrees, 

to organise the world on new principles, and believe that the revolution marks a step forward 

towards the establishment of the heavenly Kingdom on earth, and attribute to the Jewish 

people, for its greatest glory, the role of leader of the popular movements for freedom, equality 

and justice—a leader who, of course, does not hesitate to break down the existing political and 

social regime.” And he gives as an example a quotation from the book of Fritz Kahn, The 

Hebrews as a Race and People of Culture: “Moses, one thousand two hundred and fifty years 

before Jesus Christ, proclaimed the rights of man… Christ paid with his life the preaching of 

Communist manifestos in a capitalist state”, then “in 1848, the star of Bethlehem rose for the 

second time… and it rose again above the roofs of Judea: Marx.”85

Thus, “of this common veneration for the revolution emerge and distinguish certain currents of 

opinion in Jewish society—all desperately unrealistic, childishly pretentious, thereby irresistibly 

aspiring to a troubled era, and not in Russia alone, but encompassing the entire century.”86

With what casualness and what gravity at the same time, with what beautiful promises Marxism 

penetrates into the consciousness of cultivated Russia! Finally, the revolution has found its 

scientific foundation with its cortège of infallible deductions and inevitable predictions!

Among the young Marxists, there is Julius Tsederbaum; Martov, the future great leader of the 

Mensheviks, who, together with his best friend Lenin, will first found the “Union for the 

Struggle for the Liberation of the Working Class” (of all Russia)—only he will not enjoy the same 
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protection as Lenin, exiled in the merciful country of Minousine: he will have to serve his three 

years in the tough region of Tourukhan. It was he, too, who, together with Lenin, designed the 

Iskra* and set up a whole network for its dissemination.

But even before collaborating with Lenin to found the All-Russian Social-Democratic Party, 

Martov, then exiled to Vilnius, had set up the ideological and organisational foundations of a 

“Jewish Joint Labour Union for Lithuania, Poland and Russia”. Martov’s idea was that, from now 

on, propaganda within the masses should be favoured as work within the circles, and, for this, 

make it “more specifically Jewish”, and, in particular, translate it into Yiddish. In his lecture, 

Martov described the principles of the new Union: “We expected everything from the 

movement of the Russian working class and considered ourselves as an appendix of the pan-

Russian workers’ movement… we had forgotten to maintain the link with the Jewish mass who 

does not know Russian. But at the same time, “without suspecting it, we hoisted the Jewish 

movement to a height unmatched by the Russians.” Now is the time to free the Jewish 

movement “from the mental oppression to which the [Jewish] bourgeoisie has subjected it,” 

which is “the lowest and lowest bourgeoisie in the world”, “to create a specifically Jewish 

workers’ organisation, which will serve as guide and instructor for the Jewish proletariat.” In the 

“national character of the movement,” Martov saw a victory over the bourgeoisie, and with this 

“we are perfectly safe… from nationalism.”87 In the following year, Plekhanov, at the Congress 

of the International Socialist, described the Jewish Social-Democratic movement as “the 

vanguard of the working-class army in Russia.”88 It was the latter which became the Bund 

(Vilnius, 1897), six months before the creation of the Social-Democratic Party of Russia. The 

next stage is the First Congress of the Russian Social-Democratic Party, which takes place in 

Minsk (where the Central Committee of the Bund was located) in 1898. The Jewish 

Encyclopædia tells us that “out of eight delegates, five were Jewish: the envoys of a Kiev 

newspaper, The Workers’ Gazette, B. Eidelman, N. Vigdorchik, and those of the Bund: A. 

Kremer, A. Mutnik, S. Katz [were also present Radchenko, Petruyvitch and Vannovsky] . Within 

the Central Committee of the party (of three members) which was constituted at this Congress 

entered A. Kremer and B. Eidelman.”89 Thus was born the Social-Democratic Labour Party of 

Russia, in a close relationship with the Bund. (Let us add: even before the creation of Iskra, it 

was to Lenin that the direction of the newspaper of the Bund had been proposed.90)

The fact that the Bund was created in Vilnius is not surprising: Vilnius was “the Lithuanian 

Jerusalem”, a city inhabited by a whole cultivated Jewish elite, and through which transited, in 

provenance of the West, all the illegal literature heading to Saint Petersburg and Moscow.91
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But the Bund, despite its internationalist ideology, “became a factor of national unity of Jewish 

life,” even though “its leaders were guarding against nationalism as if it were the plague” (like 

the Russian Social-Democrats who succeeded in watching out for it until the end). While 

subsidies flowed from abroad, consented by the wealthy Jewish milieus, the Bund advocated 

the principle that there is not a single Jewish people, and rejected the idea of a “universal 

Jewish nation,”92 claiming on the contrary, that there are exist two antagonistic classes within 

the Jewish people (the Bund feared that nationalistic dispositions might “obscure the class 

consciousness of the proletariat”).

However, there was hardly any Jewish proletariat in the strict sense of the term: the Jews 

seldom entered factories, as F. Kohn explains, “they considered it disgraceful not to be their 

own master”, albeit very modestly—as an artisan or even an apprentice, when one can nurture 

the hope of opening one’s own workshop. “To be hired in a factory was to lose all illusions as to 

the possibility of becoming one day one’s own master, and that is why working in a factory was 

a humiliation, a disgrace.”93 (Another obstacle was the reluctance of employers to hire workers 

whose day of rest was Saturday and not Sunday.) As a result, the Bund declared “Jewish 

proletariat” both the artisans, and small traders, and clerks (was not every employed worker a 

proletarian, according to Marx?), and even commercial intermediaries. To all these individuals 

the revolutionary spirit could be inculcated, and they had be joined to the struggle against the 

autocracy. The Bund even declared that the Jews “are the best proletariat in the world.”94 (The 

Bund never renounced the idea of “strengthening its work among Christian workers.”)

Not suspected of sympathy for socialism, G. B. Sliosberg writes in this regard that the enormous 

propaganda deployed by the Bund and some of its interventions “have done harm, and in 

particular an immediate damage to Jewish trade and their start-up industries.” The Bund was 

turning against the employing instructors the very young apprentices, kids of 14‒15 years old; 

its members broke the tiles of “more or less opulent Jewish houses.” In addition, “on Yom-

Kippur, young people from the Bund went into the great synagogue [in Vilnius], interrupted the 

prayer and started an incredible party, with beer flowing abundantly…”95

But, in spite of its class fanaticism, the Bund was increasingly based on a universal current 

equally characteristic of bourgeois liberalism: “It was increasingly understood in the cultivated 

world that the national idea plays an essential role in the awakening of self-consciousness in 

every man, which obliged the theoreticians of the proletarian circles themselves to raise more 

broadly the national question”; thus, in the Bund, “assimilationist tendencies were gradually 

supplanted by national tendencies.”96—This, Jabotinsky confirms: “As it grows, the Bund 

84



replaces a national ideology with cosmopolitanism.”97 Abram Amsterdam, “one of the first 

important leaders of the Bund”, who died prematurely, “tried to reconcile the Marxist doctrine 

with the ideas of nationalism.”98—In 1901, at a congress of the Bund, one of the future leaders 

of the year Seventeen, Mark Lieber (M. I. Goldman), who was then a young man of 20, 

declared: “so far we have been cosmopolitan believers. We must become national. Do not be 

afraid of the word. National does not mean nationalist.” (May we understand it, even if it is 

ninety years late!) And, although this congress had endorsed a resolution against “the 

exaltation of the national sentiment which leads to chauvinism”, he also pronounced himself for 

the national autonomy of the Jews “regardless of the territory inhabited by them.”99

This slogan of national autonomy, the Bund developed it for a few years, both in its propaganda 

and its campaign of political banquets of 1904… although nobody knew exactly what could 

mean autonomy without territory. Thus, every Jewish person was given the right to use only his 

own language in his dealings with the local administration and the organs of the State… but 

how? (For should not this right also be granted to the nationals of other nations?)

It should also be noted that, in spite of its socialist tendencies, the Bund, “in its social-

democratic programme”, pronounced itself “against the demand for the restoration of Poland… 

and against constituent assemblies for the marches of Russia.”100 Nationalism, yes—but for 

oneself alone?

Thus, the Bund admitted only Jews in its midst. And once this orientation was taken, and 

although it was radically anticlerical, it did not accept the Jews who had denied their religion. 

The parallel Russian Social-Democratic organisations, the Bund, call them “Christian”—and, 

moreover, how could they be represented differently? But what a cruel offence for Lenin101 to 

be so catalogued among the “Christians”!

The Bund thus embodies the attempt to defend Jewish interests, in particular against Russian 

interests. Here too, Sliosberg acknowledges: “The Bund’s action has resulted in a sense of 

dignity and awareness of the rights of Jewish workers.”102

Subsequently, the Bund’s relations with the Russian Social-Democratic Party were not easy. As 

with the Polish Socialist Party, which at the time of the birth of the Bund had an “extremely 
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suspicious” attitude towards it and declared that “the isolationism of the Bund places it in an 

adversarial position in relation to us.”103 Given its increasingly nationalistic tendencies, the 

Bund could only have conflicting relations with the other branches of Russian Social-Democracy.

Lenin thus describes the discussion he and Martov had with Plekhanov in Geneva in September 

1900: “G. V.* shows a phenomenal intolerance by declaring that [i.e. the Bund] is in no way a 

social-democratic organisation, but that it is simply an exploiting organisation that takes 

advantage of the Russians; he says that our aim is to drive this Bund out of the Party, that the 

Jews are all without exception chauvinists and nationalists, that the Russian party must be 

Russian and not turn itself in “bound hand and foot” to the tribe of Gad**… G. V. has stuck to 

his positions without wanting to reconsider them, saying that we simply lack knowledge of the 

Jewish world and experience in dealing with it.”104 (From what ear Martov, the first initiator of 

the Bund, must have heard this diatribe?!)

In 1898 the Bund, despite its greater seniority, agreed to join the Russian Social-Democratic 

Party, but as a whole, with full autonomy over Jewish affairs. It therefore agreed to be a 

member of the Russian party, but on condition that it did not interfere in its affairs. Such was 

the agreement between them. However, at the beginning of 1902, the Bund considered that 

autonomy, so easily obtained at the 1st Congress of the Social Democratic Party, was no longer 

enough for it and that it now wanted to join the party on a federal basis, benefiting of full 

independence, even in programme matters. Regarding this it published a pamphlet against the 

Iskra.105 The central argument, Lenin explains, was that the Jewish proletariat “is a part of the 

Jewish people, which occupies a special place among the nations.”106

At this stage, Lenin sees red and feels obliged to clash with the Bund himself. He no longer calls 

only “to maintain pressure [against autocracy] by avoiding a fragmentation of the party into 

several independent formations,”107 but he embarks on a passionate argument to prove 

(following, admittedly, Kautsky) that Jews are by no means a nation: they have neither common 

language nor territory (a flatly materialistic judgement: the Jews are one of the most authentic 

nations, the most united found on earth. United, it is in spirit. In his superficial and vulgar 

internationalism, Lenin could not understand the depth or historical roots of the Jewish 

question.) “The idea of a separate Jewish people is politically reactionary,”108 it justifies Jewish 

particularism. (And all the more “reactionary” were Zionists to him!) Lenin saw a solution for 

the Jews only in their total assimilation—which amounts to saying, in fact, to cease outright 

being Jewish.
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In the summer of 1903, at the 2nd Congress of the Social-Democratic Party of Russia in Brussels, 

out of 43 delegates, there were only five of the Bund (however, “many Jews participated”). And 

Martov, “supported by twelve Jews” (among them Trotsky, Deutsch, Martynov, Liadov, to name 

but a few), spoke on behalf of the party against the “federal” principle demanded by the Bund. 

The members of the Bund then left the Congress (which permitted Lenin’s proposed statutes in 

paragraph 1 to prevail), and then also left the party.109 (After the split of the Social Democratic 

Party into Bolsheviks and Mensheviks, “the leaders of the Mensheviks were A. Axelrod, A. 

Deutsch, L. Martov, M. Lieber, L. Trotsky,”110 as well as F. Dan, R. Abramovich—Plekhanov 

remaining on the sidelines.)

On the “Street of the Jews,” as it was then called, the Bund quickly became a powerful and 

active organisation. “Until the eve of the events of 1905, the Bund was the most powerful 

social-democratic organisation in Russia, with a well-established apparatus, good discipline, 

united members, flexibility and great experience in conspiring.” Nowhere else is there a 

discipline like in the Bund. The “bastion” of the Bund was the North-West region.111

However, formidable competition arose with the “Independent Jewish Workers’ Party” which 

was created in 1901 under the influence and the exhortations of Zubatov*: it persuaded the 

Jewish workers and all who would listen that it was not the social democratic ideology they 

needed but struggle against the bourgeoisie defending their economic interests to them—the 

government was interested in their success, they could act legally, their authority would a 

benevolent referee. The head of this movement was the daughter of a miller, the intrepid Maria 

Vilbouchevitch. “The supporters of Zubatov… enjoyed great success in Minsk with the (Jewish) 

workers”; they were passionately opposed to the members of the Bund and obtained much by 

organising economic strikes. They also acted, not without success, in Odessa (Khuna Shayevich). 

But just as, throughout the country, the frightened government (and Plehve**) foiled Zubatov’s 

project , likewise with the “independents”: Shayevich was arrested in 1903, sentenced to a 

fairly short sentence—but then came the news of the Kishinev pogrom, and the “independents” 

had their hands tied112

Meanwhile, “the Bund was receiving help from foreign groups” from Switzerland first and then 

from Paris, London, the United States where “action groups… had reached sizeable 

proportions.” Organised “clubs, Rotarian action groups, associations of aid to the work of the 

Bund in Russia. This aid was mainly financial.”113
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From 1901, the Bund renounced “economic terror” (lashing out on employers, monitoring 

factories), because it “obscured the social-democratic consciousness of the workers”, and they 

pretended equally of condemning political terror.”114 This did not prevent Guirsh Lekkert, a 

cobbler who was a member of the Bund, from shooting at the governor of Vilnius—and to be 

hanged for it. The young Mendel Deutsch, still a minor, also fired shots whose significance 

marked “the apogee of the movement of the Jewish masses.”115 And already the Bund was 

wondering if it should not go back to terror. In 1902, the Berdichev Conference endorsed a 

resolution on “organised revenge”. But a debate broke out in the Bund, and the following year 

the Congress formally annulled this decision of the Conference.116 According to Lenin, the 

Bund, in 1903, went through “terrorist temptations, which it then got over.”117

Terror, which had already manifested itself more than once in Russia, enjoyed a general 

indulgence, an indulgence which was in the air of the time, and which, with the increasingly 

widespread custom of holding, “just in case,” a firearm (and it was easy to obtain one via 

smuggling) could not fail to arouse, in the minds of the youth of the Pale of Settlement, the idea 

of forming their own combat regiments.

But the Bund had active and dangerous competitors. Is it a historical coincidence, or the time 

had simply come for the Jewish national consciousness to be reborn, in any case, it is in 1897, 

the year of the creation of the Bund, just a month prior, the First Universal Congress of Zionism 

took place. And it was in the early 1900s that young Jews pioneered a new path, “a public 

service path… at the crossroads between Iskra and Bne Moshe” (“the sons of Moses”), some 

turning right, the others heading left.”118 “In the programmes of all our groupings which 

appeared between 1904 and 1906, the national theme held its proper place.”119 We have seen 

that the Socialist Bund had not cut it off, and it now only had to condemn Zionism all the more 

firmly in order to excite national sentiment to the detriment of class consciousness.

It is true that “the numbers of the Zionist circles among the youth gave way to the number of 

young people adhering to the revolutionary socialist parties.”120 (Although there were 

counter-examples: thus the publisher of the Jewish Socialist La Pravda of Geneva, G. Gurevitch, 

had re-converted to devote himself entirely to the issue of the Jews’ settlement in Palestine.) 

The ditch dug between Zionism and the Bund was gradually filled by such and such a new party, 

then another, then a third—Poalei-Tsion, Zeirei-Tsion, the “Zionist-Socialists”, the serpovtsy 

(seimovtsy)—, each combining in its own way Zionism and socialism.
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It is understandable that between parties so close to one other a fierce struggle developed, and 

this did not facilitate the task of the Bund. Nor did the emigration of the Jews from Russia into 

Israel, which gained momentum in those years: why emigrate? What sense does this have when 

the Jewish proletariat must fight for socialism side by side with the working class of all 

countries…, which would automatically solve the Jewish question everywhere?

The Jews have often been criticised in the course of history for the fact that many of them were 

usurers, bankers, merchants. Yes, the Jews formed a significant detachment, creator of the 

world of capital—and mainly in its financial forms. This, the great political economist Werner 

Sombart described it with a vigorous and convincing pen. In the first years of the Revolution this 

circumstance was, on the contrary, attributed to the Jews, as an inevitable formation on the 

road to socialism. And in one of his indictments, in 1919, Krylenko found it necessary to 

emphasise that “the Jewish people, since the Middle Ages, has taken out of their ranks the 

holders of a new influence, that of capital… they precipitated… the dissolution of economic 

forms of another age.”121 Yes, of course, the capitalist system in the economic and commercial 

field, the democratic system in the political field are largely indebted to the constructive 

contribution of the Jews, and these systems in turn are the most favourable to the 

development of Jewish life and culture.

But—and this is an unfathomable historical enigma—these systems were not the only ones that 

the Jews favoured.

As V. S. Mandel reminds us, if we refer to the Bible, we discover that “the very idea of a 

monarchy was invented by no other people but the Hebrews, and they transmitted it to the 

Christian world. The monarch is not chosen by the people, he is the chosen by God. Hence the 

rite which the Christian peoples have inherited from the coronation and anointing of the 

kings.”122 (One might rectify by recalling that the Pharaohs long ago were also anointed, and 

also bearers of the divine will.) For his part, the former Russian revolutionary A. Valt-Lessine 

remembers: “The Jews did not accord great importance to the revolutionary movement. They 

put all their hopes in the petitions addressed to Saint Petersburg, or even in the bribes paid to 

the officials of the ministries—but not at all in the revolution.”123 This kind of approach to the 

influential spheres received, on the part of the impatient Jewish youth, the sobriquet, known 

since the Middle Ages and now infamous, of chtadlan. Someone like G. B. Sliosberg, who 

worked for many years in the Senate and the Ministry of the Interior, and who patiently had to 
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solve Jewish problems of a private nature, thought that this avenue was the safest, with the 

richest future for the Jews, and he was ulcerated to note the impatience of these young people.

Yes, it was perfectly unreasonable, on the part of the Jews, to join the revolutionary movement, 

which had ruined the course of normal life in Russia and, consequently, that of the Jews of 

Russia. Yet, in the destruction of the monarchy and in the destruction of the bourgeois order—

as, some time before, in the reinforcement of it—the Jews found themselves in the vanguard. 

Such is the innate mobility of the Jewish character, its extreme sensitivity to social trends and 

the advancement of the future.

It will not be the first time in the history of mankind that the most natural impulses of men will 

suddenly lead to monstrosities most contrary to their nature.

Chapter 7

The Birth of Zionism

How did the Jewish conscience evolve in Russia during the second half of the nineteenth 

century? Towards 1910, Vladimir Jabotinsky describes this evolution in his somewhat 

passionate manner: at first, the mass of Jews opposed the Enlightenment, “the fanatic prejudice 

of an overvalued specificity.” But time did its work, and “as much Jews, historically, fled 

humanist culture, as much they aspire to it now… and this thirst for knowledge is so widespread 

that it perhaps makes us, Jews of Russia, the first nation in the world.” However, “running 

towards the goal, we passed it. Our goal was to form a Jew who, by staying Jewish, could live a 

life that would be that of the universal man”, and “now we have totally forgotten that we must 

remain Jewish”, “we stopped attaching a price to our Jewish essence, and it began to weigh on 

us.” We must “extirpate this mentality from self-contempt and revive the mentality of self-

respect… We complain that we are despised, but we are not far from despising ourselves.”1

This description reflects the general trend towards assimilation, but not all aspects of the 

picture. As we have already seen (chapter 4), in the late sixties of the nineteenth century, the 

publicist and man of letters Smolenskin had spoken out vigorously against the tendency to 
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assimilate Jewish intellectuals, as he had observed it in Odessa or as it had spread in Germany. 

And he at once declared war on both “bigots and false devotees who want to drive out all 

knowledge of the house of Israel.” No! One must not be ashamed of their origins, one must 

cherish their national language and dignity; however, national culture can only be preserved 

through language, the ancient Hebrew. This is all the more important because “Judaism 

deprived of territory” is a particular phenomenon, “a spiritual nation”.2 The Jews are indeed a 

nation, not a religious congregation. Smolenskin advanced the doctrine of “progressive Jewish 

nationalism.”3

Throughout the 70s, Smolenskin’s voice remained practically unheard of. At the end of this 

period, however, the liberation of the Slavs from the Balkans contributed to the national 

awakening of the Jews of Russia themselves. But the pogroms of 1881‒1882 caused the ideals 

of Haskala to collapse; “The conviction that civilisation was going to put an end to the 

persecutions of another age against the Jews and that these, thanks to the Enlightenment, 

would be able to approach the European peoples, this conviction was considerably shaken.”4 

(The experience of the pogroms in the south of Ukraine is thus extrapolated to all the Jews of 

Europe?) Among the Jews of Russia “there appeared the type of the ‘repentant intellectual’, of 

those who aspired to return to traditional Judaism.”5

It was then that Lev Pinsker, a well-known doctor and publicist, already sixty years of age, gave 

the Jews of Russia and Germany a vigorous appeal to self-emancipation.* Pinsker wrote that 

faith in emancipation had collapsed, that it was now necessary to stifle every ounce of hope in 

brotherhood among peoples. Today, “the Jews do not constitute a living nation; they are 

strangers everywhere; they endure oppression and contempt on the part of the peoples who 

surround them.” The Jewish people is “the spectre of a dead wandering among the living”. “One 

must be blind not to see that the Jews are the ‘chosen people’ of universal hatred. The Jews 

cannot “assimilate to any nation and consequently cannot be tolerated by any nation.” “By 

wanting to mingle with other peoples, they have frivolously sacrificed their own nationality,” 

but “nowhere have they obtained that the others recognise them as native-born inhabitants 

equal to them.” The destiny of the Jewish people cannot depend on the benevolence of other 

peoples. The practical conclusion thus lies in the creation of “a people on its own territory”. 

What is needed, therefore, is to find an appropriate territory, “no matter where, in what part of 

the world,”6 and that the Jews come to populate it.

Moreover, the creation in 1860 of the Alliance [Israelite Universal] was nothing but the first sign 
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of Jewish refusal of a single option—assimilation.

There already existed among the Jews of Russia a movement of Palestinophilia, the aspiration 

to return to Palestine. (Conforming, in essence, to traditional religious salutation: “Next year in 

Jerusalem.”) This movement gained momentum after 1881‒1882. “Stretching out its efforts to 

colonise Palestine… so that within a century the Jews can finally leave the inhospitable land of 

Europe”… The slogans that the Enlightenment had previously broadcasted, inciting to fight 

“traditionalism, Hasidism and religious prejudices, gave way to a call for reconciliation and the 

union of all layers of Jewish society for the realisation of the ideals” of Palestine, “for the return 

to the Judaism of our fathers.” “In many cities of Russia, circles were formed, called circles of 

the ‘Lovers of Zion’—Khovevei-Tsion.7*

And it was thus that an idea joined another to rectify it. Going to settle elsewhere, yes, but not 

anywhere: in Palestine.

But what had happened in Palestine? “The first crusade resulted in the virtual disappearance of 

the few Hebrews who remained in Palestine.” Nevertheless, “a tiny Jewish religious community 

had succeeded in surviving and the collapse of the Crusader State, and the conquest of the 

country by the Mamelukes, and the invasion by the Mongol hordes.” Over the following 

centuries, the Jewish population was somewhat replenished by a modest migratory flow of 

“believers from different countries”. At the end of the eighteenth century a certain number of 

Hasidim emigrated from Russia. “In the middle of the nineteenth century, there were twelve 

thousand Jews in Palestine,” whereas at the end of the eleventh century there were twenty-five 

thousand. “These Jewish towns in the land of Israel constituted what was called the Yishuv. All 

their inhabitants (men) were only studying Judaism, and nothing else. They lived on Haluka—

subsidies sent by Jewish communities in Europe. These funds were distributed by the rabbis, 

hence the absolute authority of the rabbis. The leaders of the Yishuv “rejected any attempt to 

create in the country even an embryo of productive work of Jewish origin.” They were studying 

exclusively the Talmud, nothing else, and on a fairly elementary level. “The great Jewish 

historian G. Gretz, who visited Palestine in 1872,” found that “only a minority studied for real, 

the others preferred to stroll the streets, remained idle, engaged in gossip and slander.” He 

believed that “this system favours obscurantism, poverty and degeneration of the Jewish 

population of Palestine”—and for this he himself “had to undergo Herem**.”8

In 1882, in Kharkov, Palestinophile students founded the Biluim circle. They proposed to “create 
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in Palestine a model agricultural colony”, to set “the tone to the general colonisation of 

Palestine by the Jews”; they undertook to found circles in several cities of Russia. (Later they 

created a first settlement in Palestine, but were confronted to the hostility and opposition of 

the traditional Yishuv: the rabbis demanded that, according to ancient custom, the cultivation 

of the earth be suspended one year out of seven.9)

Pinsker supported the advocates of the return to Palestine: in 1887 he summoned the first 

Congress of Palestinophiles in Katovice, then in Druskeniki, and the second in 1887. 

Propagandists began to cover the Pale of Settlement, speaking in synagogues and public 

meetings. (Deutsch testifies that after 1882 P. Axelrod himself contributed to 

palestinophilia…10)

Of course, Smolenskin is one of the passionate apostles of the return to Palestine: bubbling and 

lively, he connects with Anglo-Jewish political actors, but he comes up against the opposition of 

the Alliance, who does not want to promote the colonisation of Palestine, but rather to direct 

the migratory wave towards America. He then describes the tactics of the Alliance as “betrayal 

of the cause of the people.” His premature death cut his efforts short.11

We note, however, that this movement towards Palestine was rather weakly received by the 

Jews of Russia; it was even thwarted. “The idea of a political revival of the Jewish people 

brought a small handful of intellectuals behind it at the time, and it soon came up against fierce 

adversaries.”12 The conservative circles, the rabbinate and the Tzadikim* saw in this current 

towards Palestine an attack on the divine will, “an attack on faith in the Messiah who alone 

must bring the Jews back to Palestine. As for the progressive assimilationists, they saw in this 

current a reactionary desire to isolate the Jews from the rest of enlightened humanity.”13

The Jews of Europe did not support the movement either.

Meanwhile, on site, the success of the return was revealed to be “too mitigated”: “many 

colonists discovered their incompetence in the work of the land”; “the ideal of rebirth of the 

ancient country was crumbling into petty acts of pure benevolence”; “The colonies survived 

only because of the subsidies sent by Baron Rothschild.” And in the early 1990s, “colonisation 

went through… a serious crisis due to an anarchic system of land purchase” and a decision by 
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Turkey (the owner of Palestine) to ban the Jews of Russia from disembarking in Palestinian 

ports.14

It was at this time that the publicist, thinker and organiser Asher Ginzberg became known, 

under the eloquent pseudonym of Ahad Haam (“One of His People”). He strongly criticised 

practical palestinophilia as it had been constituted; what he advocated was, “before striving for 

a renaissance on a territory”, to worry about “a ‘rebirth of hearts’, an intellectual and moral 

improvement of the people”: “to install at the centre of Jewish life, a living and spiritual 

aspiration, a desire for national cohesion, revival and free development in a national spirit, but 

on the basis of all men.”15 This will later be called “spiritual Zionism” (but not “religious”, and 

this is important).

That same year, 1889, in order to unite among them those who were dear to the idea of a 

rebirth of national feeling, Ahad Haam founded a league—or, as it is called—an order: Bne-

Moshe* (“The sons of Moses”), whose status “resembled strongly those of the Masonic lodges; 

the applicant made the solemn promise of strictly executing all the demands of order; the new 

members were initiated by a master, the “big brother”; the neophyte undertook to serve 

without reserve the ideal of national rebirth, even if there was little hope that this ideal would 

be realised any time soon.”16 It was stipulated in the manifesto of order that “national 

consciousness takes precedence over religious consciousness, personal interests are subject to 

national interests,” and it was recommended that a feeling of unreserved love for Judaism, 

placed above all other objectives of the movement. Thus was prepared “the ground for the 

reception of political Zionism” of Herzl17… of which Ahad Haam absolutely did not want.

He made several trips to Palestine: in 1891, 1893, and 1900. Regarding colonisation, he 

denounced an anarchic character and an insufficient rootedness in tradition.18 He “severely 

criticised the dictatorial conduct of Baron Rothschild’s emissaries.”19

This is how Zionism was born in Europe, a decade behind Russia. The first leader of Zionism, 

Theodor Herzl, had been, until the age of thirty-six (he only lived to forty-four), a writer, a 

playwright, a journalist. He had never been interested in Jewish history or, a fortiori, in the 

Hebrew language, and, characteristically, as a good Austrian liberal, he considered the 

aspirations of the various “ethnic minorities” of the Austro-Hungarian Empire to self-

determination and national existence to be reactionary, and found it normal to stifle them.20 

As Stefan Zweig writes, Herzl cherished the dream of seeing the Jews of Vienna enter the 
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cathedral in order to be baptised and seeing the Jewish question resolved once and for all by 

the fusion of Judaism and Christianity. But anti-Jewish sentiments developed in Austria-Hungary 

in parallel with the rise of Pan-Germanism, while in Paris, where Herzl resided at the time, the 

Dreyfus affair broke out. Herzl had the opportunity to witness the “public degradation of 

Captain Dreyfus”; convinced of his innocence, he was deeply shaken and changed his course. “If 

separation is inevitable,” he said, “well, let it be radical! … If we suffer from being without a 

country, let us build ourselves a homeland!”21 Herzl then had a revelation: it was necessary to 

create a Jewish state! “As if struck by lightning, Herzl was enlightened by this new idea: anti-

Semitism is not a fortuitous phenomenon subject to particular conditions, it is a permanent evil, 

it is the eternal companion of the eternal errant,” and “‘the only possible solution to the Jewish 

question’, is a sovereign Jewish state.”22 (To conceive such a project after nearly two thousand 

years of diaspora, what imaginative power one needed, what exceptional audacity!) However, 

according to S. Zweig, Herzl’s pamphlet entitled A Jewish State received from the Viennese 

bourgeoisie a welcome “perplexed and irritated… What’s gotten into this writer, so intelligent, 

so cultivated and spiritual? Our language is German and not Hebrew, our homeland—beautiful 

Austria”, Herzl, “does he not give our worst enemies arguments against us: he wants to isolate 

us?” Consequently, “Vienna… abandoned him and laughed at him. But the answer came to him 

from elsewhere; it burst forth like a thunderbolt, so sudden, charged with such a weight of 

passion and such ecstasy that he was almost frightened to have awakened, around the world, a 

movement with his dozens of pages, a movement so powerful and through which he found 

himself overwhelmed. His answer did not come to him, it is true, from the Jews of the West… 

but from the formidable masses of the East. Herzl, with his pamphlet, had inflamed this nucleus 

of Judaism, which was smouldering under the ashes of the stranger.”23

Henceforth, Herzl gives himself body and soul to his new idea. He “breaks off with those closest 

to him, he only frequents the Jewish people… He who, even recently, despised politics, now 

founds a political movement; he introduces to it a spirit and a party discipline, forms the 

framework of a future army and transforms the [Zionist] congresses into a true parliament of 

the Jewish people.” At the first Congress of Basel in 1897 he produced a very strong impression 

“on the Jews who were meeting for the first time in a parliamentary role,” and “during his very 

first speech, he was unanimously and enthusiastically proclaimed… leader and chief of the 

Zionist movement.” He shows “a consummate art to find the formulas of conciliation”, and, 

conversely, “the one who criticises his objective… or merely blames certain measures taken by 

him…, that one is the enemy not only of Zionism, but of the entire Jewish people.”24

The energetic writer Max Nordau (Suedfeld) supported him by expressing the idea that 

emancipation is fallacious, since it has introduced seeds of discord into the Jewish world: the 
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emancipated Jew believes that he really has found a homeland, when “all that is living and vital 

in Judaism, which represents the Jewish ideal, the courage and the ability to advance, all this is 

none other than Zionism.”25

At this 1st Congress, the delegates of Russian Zionism “constituted one third of the 

participants… 66 out of 197.” In the eyes of some, their presence could be regarded as a gesture 

of opposition to the Russian government. To Zionism had adhered all of the Russian Khovevei-

Tsion, “thus contributing to the establishment of global Zionism.”26 Thus “Zionism drew its 

strength from the communities of oppressed Jews in the East, having found only limited 

support among the Jews of Western Europe.”27 But it also followed that the Russian Zionists 

represented for Herzl a most serious opposition. Ahad Haam waged a fierce struggle against 

Herzl’s political Zionism (alongside the majority of the palestinophiles), strongly criticising the 

pragmatism of Herzl and Nordau, and denouncing what he called “their indifference to the 

spiritual values of Judaic culture and tradition.”28 He found chimeric the hope of political 

Zionism to found an autonomous Jewish state in the near future; he regarded all this movement 

as extremely detrimental to the cause of the spiritual rebirth of the nation… “They do not care 

about the salvation of Judaism in perdition because they care nothing about spiritual and 

cultural heritage; they aspire not to the rebirth of the ancient nation, but to the creation of a 

new people from the dispersed particles of ancient matter.”29 (If he uses and even emphasises 

the word “Judaism,” it is almost evident that it is not in the sense of the Judaic religion, but in 

the sense of the spiritual system inherited from ancestors. The Jewish Encyclopædia tells us 

about Ahad Haam that in the 70s, “he was more and more imbued with rationalism and 

deviated from religion.”30 If the only vocation for Palestine is to “become the spiritual centre 

that could unite, by national and spiritual ties, the dispersed nations,”31 a centre which “would 

pour out its ‘light’ on the Jews of the whole world”, would create “a new spiritual bond 

between the scattered members of the people”, it would be less a “State of the Jews” than “an 

elite spiritual community.”32

Discussions agitated the Zionists. Ahad Haam strongly criticised Herzl whom Nordau supported 

by accusing Ahad Haam of “covert Zionist”. World Zionist congresses were held every year; in 

1902 took place the one of the Russian Zionists in Minsk, and the discussions resumed. This is 

where Ahad Haam read his famous exposition: A spiritual rebirth.33

Zionism no longer met with amenity from the outside. Herzl expected this: as soon as the 

program of the Zionists would take a concrete form and as soon as the real departure to 

Palestine began, anti-Semitism everywhere would end. But long before this result was reached, 
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“stronger than others, the voice of those who… feared that the taking of a public position in the 

nationalist sense of an assimilated Jew would give antisemites the opportunity to say that every 

assimilated Jew hides under his mask an authentic Jew… incapable of blending into the local 

population.”34 And as soon as an independent state was created, the Jews went everywhere to 

be suspected and accused of civic disloyalty, ideological isolationism—which their enemies had 

always suspected and accused them of.

In reply, at the Second Zionist Congress (1898), Nordau declared: “We reject with disdain the 

name of ‘party’; the Zionists are not a party, they are the Jewish people themselves… Those 

who, on the contrary, are at ease in servitude and contempt, they keep themselves carefully 

apart, unless they fight us fiercely.”35

As one English historian observes: Yes, “Zionism has done a great service to the Jews by 

restoring them a sense of dignity,” and yet “it leaves unresolved the question of their attitude 

towards the countries in which they live.”36

In Austria, a compatriot of Herzl, Otto Weininger, argued with him: “Zionism and Judaism are 

incompatible with the fact that Zionism intends to force the Jews to take upon themselves the 

responsibility of a state of their own, which contradicts the very essence of every Jew.”37 And 

he predicted the failure of Zionism.

In Russia in 1899, I. M. Biekerman argued strongly against Zionism, as an idea deemed “quacky, 

inspired by anti-Semitism, of reactionary inspiration and harmful by nature”; it is necessary “to 

reject the illusions of the Zionists and, without in any way renouncing the spiritual particularism 

of the Jews, struggle hand in hand with the cultural and progressive forces of Russia in the name 

of the regeneration of the common fatherland.”38

At the beginning of the century, the poet N. Minsky had issued this criticism: Zionism marks the 

loss of the notion of universal man, it lowers the cosmopolitan dimensions, the universal 

vocation of Judaism to the level of an ordinary nationalism. “The Zionists, speaking tirelessly of 

nationalism, turn away from the genuinely national face of Judaism and in fact seek only to be 

like everyone else, not worse than others.”39
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It is interesting to compare these sentences with the remark made before the revolution by the 

orthodox thinker S. Bulgakov: “The biggest difficulty for Zionism is that it is not able to recover 

the lost faith of the fathers, and it is obliged to rely on a principle that is either national, cultural 

or ethnic, a principle on which no genuine great nation can rely exclusively.”40

But the first Russian Zionists—now, “it is from Russia that most of the founders of the State of 

Israel and the pioneers of the State of Israel came out,”41 and it was in Russian that “were 

written the best pages of Zionist journalism”42—were filled with an irrepressible enthusiasm 

for the idea of returning to their people the lost homeland, the ancient land of the Bible and 

their ancestors, to create a State of unparalleled quality and to have men of exceptional quality 

grow there.

And this impulse, this call addressed to all to turn to physical work, the work of the earth!—

Does not this appeal echo the exhortations of a Tolstoy, the doctrine of asceticism?43

All streams lead to the sea.

*

But, in the final analysis, how can a Zionist behave towards the country in which he resides for 

the time being?

For the Russian Zionists who devoted all their strength to the Palestinian dream, it was 

necessary to exclude themselves from the affairs that agitated Russia as such. Their statutes 

stipulated: “Do not engage in politics, neither internal nor external.” They could only weakly, 

without conviction, take part in the struggle for equal rights in Russia. As for participating in the 

national liberation movement?—but that would be pulling the chestnuts out of the fire for the 

others!44

Such tactics drew Jabotinsky’s fiery reproaches: “Even passing travellers have an interest in the 
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inn being clean and tidy.”45

And then, in what language should the Zionists display their propaganda? They did not know 

Hebrew, and, anyway, who would have understood it? Consequently: either in Russian or in 

Yiddish. And this brought closer once more the radicals of Russia46 and the Jewish 

revolutionaries.

Evidently, the Jewish revolutionary youth jousted with the Zionists: no and no! The solution of 

the Jewish question does not lie in the departure out of Russia, it is in the political fight for 

equal rights here! Instead of going to settle far beyond the seas, we must make use of the 

possibility of affirming ourselves here in this country. And their arguments could not avoid 

shaking more than one by their clarity.

In the Bolshevik circles, the Zionists were denounced as “reactionary”; they were treated as 

“the party of the darkest, most desperate pessimism.”47

Inevitably, intermediate currents were to emerge. Thus the Zionist party of the left Poalei-Tsion 

(“Workers of Zion”). It was in Russia that it was founded in 1899; it combined “socialist ideology 

with political Zionism.” It was an attempt to find a median line between those concerned 

exclusively with class problems and those concerned only with national problems. “Profound 

disagreements existed within Poalei-Tsion on the question of participation in revolutionary 

action in Russia.”48 (And the revolutionaries themselves were divided, some leaning towards 

the Social-Democrats, others towards the Social Revolutionaries.)

“Other Tseirei-Tsion groups, ideologically close to non-Marxist socialist Zionism, began to form 

from 1905 onwards.”49 In 1904, a split within Poalei-Tsion gave birth to a new party, the 

“Socialist Zionists”, breaking with the ideal of Palestine: the extension of Yiddish as a spoken 

language to all Jewish masses, that is quite sufficient, and we scorn the idea of national 

autonomy! Zionism begins to take on a bourgeois and reactionary tint. What is needed is to 

create from it a socialist movement, to awaken revolutionary political instincts in the Jewish 

masses. The party “strongly supported” the “social and economic content” of Zionism, but 

denied the need to “revive the land of Judea, culture, Hebrew traditions.” Granted, Jewish 

emigration is too chaotic, it must be oriented towards a specific territory, but “there is no 
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essential link between Zionism and Palestine.” The Hebrew state must be based on socialist and 

non-capitalist foundations. Such an emigration is a long-term historical process; the bulk of the 

Jewish masses will remain well into the future in their current places of residence. “The party 

has approved the participation of the Jews in the political struggle in Russia”50—that is to say, 

in the struggle for their rights in this country. As for Judaism and faith, they despised them.

All this mishmash had to generate a “socialist Jewish” group called “Renaissance”, which 

“believed that the national factor is progressive by nature”, and in 1906 the members of this 

group who had broken with the Zionists Socialist Party constituted the Soviet Socialist Workers’ 

Party, the SERP. (They were called serpoviys or seymovtsy, for they demanded the election of a 

Jewish national Sejm—Seim—intended to be the “supreme organ of Jewish national self-

government.”51) For them, Russian and Hebrew were, in their capacity of languages of use, 

equal. And by advocating “autonomism” within the Russian state, the SERP, socialist, was 

distinguished from the Bund, also socialist.52

In spite of the disagreements that divided the Zionists among themselves, a general shift of 

Zionism towards socialism took place in Russia, which attracted the attention of the Russian 

government. Until then, it had not interfered with Zionist propaganda, but in 1903 Interior 

Minister Plehve addressed the governors of the provinces and to the mayors of the big cities a 

bulletin stating that the Zionists had relegated to the background the idea of leaving Palestine 

and had concentrated on the organisation of Jewish life in their places of residence, that such 

direction could not be tolerated and that consequently any public propaganda in favour of 

Zionism would now be prohibited, as well as meetings, conferences, etc.53

Made aware of this, Herzl (who had already solicited an audience with Nicholas II in 1899) went 

immediately to Saint Petersburg to ask to be received by Plehve. (It was just after the Kichinev 

pogrom, which occurred in the spring, of which Plehve had been strongly accused—and which 

had therefore attracted him the blame and invectives of the Russian Zionists…)

Plehve made Herzl understand (according to the latter’s notes) that the Jewish question for 

Russia is grave, if not vital, and “we endeavour to solve it correctly… the Russian State wishes to 

have a homogeneous population”, and it demands a patriotic attitude from all… “We want to 

assimilate [the Jews], but assimilation… is slow… I am not the enemy of the Jews. I know them 

well, I spent my youth in Warsaw and, as a child, I always played with Jewish children. I would 

very much like to do something for them. I do not want to deny that the situation of the Jews of 
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Russia is not a happy one. If I were a Jew, I, too, would probably be an opponent of the 

government.” “The formation of a Jewish State [accommodating] several million immigrants 

would be extremely desirable for us. That does not mean, however, that we want to lose all our 

Jewish citizens. Educated and wealthy people, we would gladly keep them. The destitute 

without education, we would gladly let them go. We had nothing against Zionism as long as it 

preached emigration, but now “we note great changes”54 in its goals. The Russian government 

sees with a kindly eye the immigration of Zionists to Palestine, and if the Zionists return to their 

initial plans, they are ready to support them in the face of the Ottoman Empire. But it cannot 

tolerate the propagation of Zionism, which advocates a separatism of national inspiration within 

Russia itself55: this would entail the formation of a group of citizens to whom patriotism, which 

is the very foundation of the State, would be foreign. (According to N. D. Lyubimov, who was 

then director of the minister’s cabinet, Plehve told him that Herzl, during the interview, had 

recognised that Western bankers were helping the revolutionary parties of Russia. Sliosberg, 

however, thinks this is unlikely.56)

Plehve made his report to the Emperor, the report was approved, and Herzl received a letter of 

confirmation in the same vein.

He felt that his visit to Plehve had been a success.

Neither of them suspected that they had only eleven months left to live…

Turkey had no intention of making any concessions to the Zionists, and the British Government, 

in that same year of 1905, proposed that not Palestine, but Uganda, be colonised.

In August 1903, at the Sixth Congress of the Zionists in Basel, Herzl was the spokesperson for 

this variant “which, of course, is not Zion”, but which could be accepted on a provisional basis, 

in order for a Jewish state to be created as quickly as possible.57

This project provoked stormy debates. It seems that it met with some support, in the Yishuv, for 

new immigrants, discouraged by the harsh living conditions in Palestine. The Russian Zionists—

who claimed to have more than all the need to quickly find a refuge—fiercely opposed the 
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project. Headed by M. M. Oussychkine (founder of the Biluim group and, later, the right-hand 

man of Ahad Haam in the Bne-Moshe League), they recalled that Zionism was inseparable from 

Zion and that nothing could replace it!58

Congress nevertheless constituted a commission to travel to Uganda to study the land.59 The 

Seventh Congress, in 1905, heard its report, and the Ugandan variant was rejected.60 

Overcome by all these obstacles, Herzl succumbed to a heart attack before he knew the final 

decision.61

But this new dilemma provoked a new rupture in Zionism: they split the so-called 

“territorialists”, led by Israel Zangwill, to which joined the English delegates. They established 

their International Council; the latter held its meetings, receiving subsidies from Jacob Schiffe 

and Baron Rothschild. They had given up demanding “Palestine and nothing else”. Yes, it was 

necessary to carry out a mass colonisation by the Jews, but wherever it was. Year after year, in 

their research, they reviewed a dozen countries. They almost selected Angola, but “Portugal is 

too weak, it will not be able to defend the Jews”, and therefore “the Jews risk becoming the 

victims of the neighbouring tribes.”62

They were even ready to accept territory within Russia even if they could create an 

autonomous entity with an independent administration.

This argument: a strong country must be able to defend immigrants on the premises of their 

new residence, reinforced those who insisted on the need to quickly establish an independent 

state capable of hosting mass immigration. This was suggested—and would suggest later—Max 

Nordau when he said that he was not afraid of the “economic unpreparedness of the country 

[that is, of Palestine] for the reception of newcomers.”63 However, for this, it was necessary to 

be get the better of Turkey, and also find a solution to the Arab problem. The adherents of this 

program understood that, in order to implement it, it was necessary to have recourse to the 

assistance of powerful allies. Now this assistance, no country, for the moment, proposed it.

To arrive at the creation of the State of Israel, we must go through two more world wars.
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Chapter 8

At the Turn of the 20th Century

It appears that after six years of reflection and hesitation, the Tsar Alexander III irrevocably 

chose, as of 1887, to contain the Jews of Russia by restrictions of a civil and political nature, and 

he held this position until his death.

The reasons were probably, on the one hand, the evident part played by the Jews in the 

revolutionary movement, on the other, the no less evident fact that many Jewish youths 

shunned military service: “only three quarters of those who should have been enrolled served 

in the army.”1 One noticed “the ever-increasing number of Jews who did not respond to the 

appeal”, as well as the increasing amount of unpaid fines related to these absences: only 3 

million rubles out of 30 million were returned annually to the funds of the State. (In fact, the 

government still had no accurate statistics on the Jewish population, its birth rate, its mortality 

rate before the age of 21. Let us remind that in 1876 [see Chapter 4], because of this 

absenteeism, there had been a restriction of the “favour accorded to certain persons by virtue 

of their family situation”—which meant that the only sons of Jewish families were now 

subjected, like the others, to general conscription, and as a result the proportion of Jewish 

conscripts had become greater than that of non-Jews. This situation was not corrected until the 

early 1900s under Nicolas II.2)

As far as public education was concerned, the tsar’s wish, which he had formulated in 1885, was 

that the number of Jews admitted to institutions outside the Pale of Settlement was in the 

same ratio as the number of Jews in the total population. But the authorities pursued two aims 

simultaneously: not only to slow down the growing flow of Jews towards education, but also to 

fight against the revolution, to make the school, as it was called, “not a pool of revolutionaries, 

but a breeding ground for science.”3 In the chancelleries, they were preparing a more radical 

measure which consisted of prohibiting access to education to elements likely to serve the 

revolution—a measure contrary to the spirit of Lomonosov* and profoundly vicious, prejudicial 

to the State itself: it was to deny the children of disadvantaged strata of the general population 

(the “sons of cooks”) admission to colleges. The formulation, falsely reasonable, falsely decent, 

was: “Leave the school principals free to accept only children who are in the care of persons 

who can guarantee them good supervision at home and provide them with all that is necessary 

for the pursuit of their studies”—furthermore, in higher education establishments, it was 
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planned to increase the right of access to classes.4

This measure provoked a strong outrage in liberal circles, but less violent and less lasting than 

the one that was instigated in 1887 by a new measure: the reduction of the number of Jews 

admitted to high schools and universities. It was originally planned to publish these two 

provisions within the framework of the same law. But the Council of Ministers opposed it, 

arguing that “the publication of a general decision accompanied by restrictions for the Jews 

could be misinterpreted.” In June 1887, therefore, only a part was promulgated, the one that 

concerned non-Jews: “Measures aiming to regulate the contingent of pupils in secondary and 

higher education”—measures directed in fact against the common people… As for the 

reduction of the quota of the Jews, it was entrusted to the Minister of Education, Delianov, who 

implemented it in July 1887 by a bulletin addressed to the rectors of school boards. He fixed for 

the secondary and higher schools the numerus clausus of the Jews at 10% for the Pale of 

Settlement, 5% outside it, and 3% in the two capitals.

“Following the example of the Ministry of Public Instruction”, other organisations began to 

introduce “quotas of admission into their institutions, and some were closed down to the 

Jews.” (Such as the Higher School of Electricity, the Saint Petersburg School of Communication, 

and, most strikingly, the Academy of Military Medicine which temporarily prohibited, but “for 

many years”, its access to Jews.5)

This numerus clausus law, which had not been established during the ninety-three years of 

massive presence of Jews in Russia and which was to continue for twenty-nine years (practically 

until 1916) struck the Jewish society of Russia all the more painfully because in the years 

1870‒1880 there had been a “remarkable impulse of the Jews to enter schools and colleges”, a 

phenomenon which Sliosberg in particular explains is “not due to the realisation of the masses 

of the necessity of education… but rather due to the fact that, for a Jew without capital, figuring 

out how to deploy one’s forces in the economic field was very difficult, and due to the fact that 

conscription became compulsory for all, but that there were dispensations for the students.” 

Thus, if only well-to-do Jewish youth had studied before, a “Jewish student proletariat” was 

now being created; if among the Russians, now as in the past, it was the favoured social classes 

that received higher education, among the Jews, in addition to the wealthy, young people from 

the underprivileged classes began to study.6

We would like to add that in those years there had been a turning-point in the whole world and 
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in all fields of culture, towards a no longer elitist but generalised education—and the Jews, 

particularly intuitive and receptive, had been the first to feel it, at least instinctively. But how 

can we find a way to satisfy, without causing friction, without clashes, the constant and 

increasing aspiration of the Jews to education? In view of the fact that the indigenous 

population, in its mass, remained fairly asleep and backward, how to avoid prejudice to the 

development of either side?

Of course, the objective of the Russian government was the struggle against the revolution, for 

among the student youth many Jews had been noticed by their activism and their total 

rejection of the regime in place. However, when we know the enormous influence exerted by 

Pobedonostsev* during the reign of Alexander III, it must be admitted that the aim was also to 

defend the Russian nation against the imbalance that was to occur in the field of education. This 

is what testifies the Baron Morits von Hirsch, a big Jewish banker who visited Russia and to 

whom Pobedonostsev expressed his point of view: the policy of the government is inspired not 

by the idea that the Jews are a “threat”, but by the fact that, rich in their multi-millennial 

culture, they are more spiritually and intellectually powerful than the still ignorant and 

unpolished Russian people—that is why measures had to be taken to balance the “low capacity 

of the local population to resist.” (And Pobedonostsev asked Hirsch, known for his philanthropy, 

to promote the education of the Russian people in order to realise the equal rights of the Jews 

of Russia. According to Sliosberg, Baron Hirsch allocated one million rubles to private schools.7)

Like any historical phenomenon, this measure can be viewed from various angles, particularly 

from the two different angles that follow.

For a young Jewish student, the most elementary fairness seemed flouted: he had shown 

capacities, application, he had to be admitted… But he was not! Obviously, for these gifted and 

dynamic young people, to encounter such a barrier was more than mortifying; the brutality of 

such a measure made them indignant. Those who had hitherto been confined to the trades of 

commerce and handicrafts were now prevented from accessing ardently desired studies that 

would lead to a better life.

Conversely, the “native population” did not see in these quotas a breach of the principle of 

equality, on the contrary, even. The institutions in question were financed by the public 

treasury, and therefore by the whole population, and if the Jews were more numerous, it 

meant that it was at the expense of all; and it was known that, later on, educated people would 
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enjoy a privileged position in society. And the other ethnic groups, did they also have to have a 

proportional representation within the “educated layer”? Unlike all the other peoples of the 

empire, the Jews now aspired almost exclusively to education, and in some places this could 

mean that the Jewish contingent in schools exceeded 50%. The numerus clausus was 

unquestionably instituted to protect the interests of Russians and ethnic minorities, certainly 

not to bully the Jews. (In the 20s of the twentieth century, a similar approach was sought in the 

United States to limit the Jewish contingent in universities, and immigration quotas were also 

established—but we shall come back to this. Moreover, the matter of quotas, put today in 

terms of “no less than”*, has become a burning issue in America.)

In practice, there have been many exceptions to the application of the numerus clausus in 

Russia. The first to avoid it were girls’ high schools: “In most high schools for young girls, the 

quotas were not current, nor in several public higher education establishments: the 

conservatories of Saint Petersburg and Moscow, the School of Painting, Sculpture and 

Architecture of Moscow, the Kiev School of Commerce, etc.”8 A fortiori quotas were not 

applied in any private establishment; and these were numerous and of high quality.9 (For 

example, at the Kirpitchnikova High School, one of the best high schools in Moscow, a quarter 

of the students were Jewish.10 They were numerous at the famous Polivanovskaya high school 

in Moscow, and the Androyeva girls’ school in Rostov, where my mother was a pupil, there 

were in her class more than half of Jewish girls.) Business schools (under the Ministry of 

Finance), to which Jewish children were eager to register, were initially opened to them without 

any restrictions, and those which took place after 1895 were relatively light (for example: in 

commercial schools in the Pale of Settlement, financed out of private funds, the number of Jews 

admitted depended on the amount of money allocated by Jewish merchants for the 

maintenance of these schools, and in many of them the percentage of Jewish students was 50% 

or more).

If the official standard was strictly observed at the time of admission to the secondary classes, it 

was often largely overstepped in the larger classes. Sliosberg explains this notably by the fact 

that the Jewish children who entered high school pursued it to the end, whereas the non-Jews 

often gave up their studies before completion. This is why, in large classes, there were often 

much more than 10% Jewish pupils.11 He confirmed that they were numerous, for example, at 

the Poltava high school. Out of 80 boys, eight were Jewish.12 In the boys ‘schools of Mariupol, 

at the time when there was already a local Duma, about 14 to 15% of the pupils were Jewish, 

and in girls’ high schools, the proportion was even higher.13 In Odessa, where Jews constituted 

one-third of the population,14 they were in 1894, 14% in the prestigious Richelieu high school, 

more than 10% in the gymnasium No. 2, 37% in gymnasium No. 3; in girls’ high schools the 
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proportion was of 40%; in business schools, 72%, and in university, 19%.15

To the extent that financial means permitted it, no obstacle prevented this thirst for education. 

“In a number of secondary schools in the central Russian provinces there were few Jewish 

pupils at that time, and parents took the opportunity to send their children there… The 

wealthiest parents had their children home schooled: they prepared for examinations to enter 

the next grade and thus reached this way the senior year.”16 In the period between 1887 and 

1909, Jewish children were free to pass the school-leaving examinations, and “they graduated 

as equals those who had followed the curriculum.”17 The majority of “external” pupils were 

Jewish. A family like that of Jacob Marchak (a jeweller with no great fortune, the father of the 

poet*), whose five children had a higher education, was not uncommon before the revolution.

Moreover, “private establishments were opened everywhere, whether mixed for the Jews and 

Christians, or for the Jews only… Some of these establishments enjoyed the same rights as 

public establishments; the others were authorised to issue certificates entitling them to enrol in 

higher educational establishments.”18 “A network of private Jewish settlements was 

established, which formed the basis of a national-type education,”19 “The Jews were also 

oriented towards higher education establishments abroad: a large part of them, on their return 

to Russia, passed examinations before the State Commissions.”20 Sliosberg himself observed 

that in the 80s, at the University of Heidelberg that “the majority of Russian listeners were 

Jews” and that some, among them, did not have their bachelor’s degree.21

One can rightly wonder whether the restrictions, dictated by fear in front of the revolutionary 

moods of the students, did not contribute to feeding said moods. If these were not aggravated 

by indignation at the numerus clausus, and by contacts maintained abroad with political 

emigrants.

What happened in Russian universities after the publication of the bulletin? There was no sharp 

fall, but the number of Jews decreased almost every year, from 13.8% in 1893 to 7% in 1902. 

The proportion of Jews studying at the universities of Saint Petersburg and Moscow remained 

no less than the imposed 3% norm throughout the period of validity of the said standard.22

Minister Delianov acceded more than once to the requests submitted to him, and authorised 
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admission to university beyond the numerus clausus.23 This was how “hundreds of students” 

were admitted. (Delianov’s flexibility will succeed later the rigidity of Minister Bogolepov—and 

it is not excluded that this may have contributed to making him the target of terrorists*.24) 

Sliosberg gives this overview: the percentage in the superior courts of medicine for women 

outweighed that of the Academy of Military Medicine and that of the university, and “all the 

Jewish girls of the empire poured in.” Several hundred Jews were enrolled at the School of 

Psycho-neuropathology in Saint Petersburg, where they could enter without a baccalaureate, 

and so they were thousands over the years. It was called the School of Neuropathology, but it 

also housed a faculty of law. The Imperial Conservatory of Saint Petersburg was “filled with 

Jewish students of both sexes.” In 1911, a private mining school opened in Ekaterinoslav.25

Admission to specialised schools, such as that of health officers, was done with great freedom. 

J. Teitel says that at the Saratov school of nurses (of high quality, very well equipped) Jews from 

the Pale of Settlement were admitted without any limitation—and without prior authorisation 

issued by the police for the displacement. Those who were admitted thus received full rights. 

This practice was confirmed by the governor of Saratov at that time, Stolypin. Thus the 

proportion of Jewish students could rise to 70%. In the other technical colleges of Saratov, Jews 

from the Pale of Settlement were admitted without any norm, and many of them continued 

their studies in higher education… From the Pale of Settlement also came “a mass of external 

pupils that did not find their place in university, and for whom the Jewish community of the city 

struggled to find work.”26

To all this it should be added that the number of establishments where the teaching was 

delivered in Hebrew was not limited. In the last quarter of the nineteenth century there were 

25,000 primary schools (Heder) with 363,000 pupils in the Pale of Settlement (64% of all Jewish 

children).27 It is true that in 1883 the old “Jewish establishments of the State” were closed due 

to having no use: no one went there any more. (But note: the opening of these institutions was 

once interpreted by the Jewish publicists as an act and a ruse of the “adverse reaction”, and 

today their closure was also the “act of adverse reaction”!)

In summary: the admission quotas did not hinder the Jews’ aspiration to education. Nor did 

they contribute to raising the educational level of the non-Jewish peoples of the empire; they 

only aroused bitterness and rage among the Jewish youth. But this, in spite of the prohibitions, 

was going to constitute an intelligentsia of vanguard. It was the immigrants from Russia who 

formed the nucleus of the first intellectual elite of the future State of Israel. (How many times 

do we read in the Russian Jewish Encyclopædia the notices “son of small craftsman”, “son of 
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small trader”, “son of merchant”, and, further on, “completed university”?)

The university diploma initially conferred the right to reside throughout the empire and to serve 

in the administration (later, access to education in academies, universities and public schools 

was once again limited). Graduates of the Faculty of Medicine—doctors and pharmacists—were 

allowed to “reside anywhere, whether they practised their profession or not,” and like all those 

who had completed a higher degree, they could even “devote themselves to commerce or 

other trades”, “be members of the merchant corps without having previously spent five years in 

the first guild in the Pale of Settlement” as was required of other merchants. “The Jews holding 

the title of Doctor of Medicine” could practice their profession in any district of the empire, hire 

a medical secretary and two aides among their co-religionists by bringing them from the Pale of 

Settlement. The right to reside in any place, as well as the right to trade, was attributed to all 

those who practised paramedical professions without having completed a higher education—

dentists, nurses, midwives. As from 1903, a requirement was added: that these persons should 

mandatorily practise their field of specialisation.28

*

Restrictions also affected the bar, the independent body of lawyers set up in 1864. This 

profession paved the way for a successful career, both financially and personally, and to convey 

one’s ideas: advocacy by lawyers in court were not subject to any censorship, they were 

published in the press, so that the speakers enjoyed greater freedom of expression than the 

newspapers themselves. They exploited it widely for social criticism and for the “edification” of 

society. The class of solicitors had transformed themselves in a quarter of a century into a 

powerful force of opposition: one should remember the triumphal acquittal of Vera Zasulich in 

1878.* (The moral laxity of the lawyers’ argumentation at the time strongly worried 

Dostoevsky: he explained it in his writings.**) Within this influential brotherhood, the Jews 

quickly occupied a preponderant place, revealing themselves to be the most gifted of all. When, 

in 1889, the Council of the Sworn Attorneys of Saint Petersburg published “for the first time in 

its report the data concerning the number of Jews in this trade,” the great Saint Petersburg 

lawyer A. J. Passover “renounced the title of member of the Council and was no longer a 

candidate for election.”29

In the same year 1889, the Minister of Justice, Manasseine, presented a report to Tsar 

Alexander III; it was stated that “the bar is invaded by the Jews, who supplant the Russians; they 

apply their own methods and violate the code of ethics to which sworn-in attorneys must 
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obey.” (The document does not provide any clarification.30) In November 1889, on the orders 

of the tsar, a provision was made, supposedly provisionally (and consequently able to escape 

the legal procedure), requiring that “the admission to the numbers of those avowed and 

delegated authorities of non-Christian confession… will be henceforth, and until promulgation 

of a special law on the subject, possible only with the authorisation of the Minister of 

Justice.”31 But as apparently neither the Moslems nor the Buddhists availed themselves in large 

numbers of the title of lawyer, this provision proved to be de facto directed against the Jews.

From that year onwards, and for another fifteen years, practically no unbaptised Jew received 

this authorisation from the minister, not even such brilliant personalities—and future great 

advocates—as M. M. Winaver*** or O. O. Gruzenberg: they remained confined for a decade 

and a half in the role of “law clerks”. (Winaver even pleaded more than once in the Senate, and 

was very much listened to.) The “clerks” in fact pleaded with the same freedom and success as 

the attorneys themselves: here, there were no restrictions.32

In 1894, the new Minister of Justice, N. V. Muraviev, wanted to give this temporary prohibition 

the value of permanent law. His argument was as follows: “The real danger is not the presence 

in the body of lawyers of a certain number of people of Jewish faith who have rejected to a 

large extent the notions contrary to the Christian norms which pertain to their nation, but it is 

in the fact that the number of such persons becomes so great that they are likely to acquire a 

preponderant importance and to exert an adverse influence on the general level of morality 

and on the activities of that corporation.”33 In the bill, it was advocated that the proportion of 

non-Christian solicitors be limited in each jurisdiction to 10%. The tsar’s government rejected 

this project—but, as Mr. Krohl said, “this idea… did not meet the condemnation it deserved in 

the Russian public opinion”, and within the Society of Jurists of Saint Petersburg, “only a few 

people protested vigorously…; the rest, the vast majority, were clearly in favour of the draft at 

the time of its discussion.”34 This gives an unexpected insight into the state of mind of the 

capital’s intelligentsia in the mid-90s. (In the Saint Petersburg jurisdiction, 13.5% of the 

attorneys were Jews, while in Moscow, less than 5%.35)

The prohibition for the clerks of solicitors to become themselves avowed was felt all the more 

painfully because it followed limitations in the scientific careers and the service of the State.36 

It would not be lifted before 1904.

In the 80s, a limitation on the number of Jewish jurors was introduced in the provinces of the 
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Pale of Settlement, so that they did not have a majority within the juries.

It was also from the 80s that the hiring of Jews in the judicial administration ceased. There 

were, however, exceptions to this: thus J. Teitel, who had been appointed shortly after his 

university studies, remained there twenty-five years. He finished his career ennobled with the 

civil rank of general. (It must be added that, later, Cheglovitov* forced him to retire “of his own 

free will.”) In the exercise of his duties, he often had, he, the Israelite, to administer oaths to 

Orthodox witnesses, and he never met any objection from the clergy. J. M. Halpern, also an 

official in the judicial administration, had acceded to the high-ranking position of Deputy 

Director of the Ministry of Justice and to the rank of Secret Advisor.37 Halpern sat on the 

Pahlen Commission in the capacity of expert. (Before that, the first prosecutor of the Senate 

had been G. I. Trahtenberg, and his deputy G. B. Sliosberg had initiated himself to defend the 

rights of the Jews.) He was also first prosecutor of the Senate S. J. Outine—but he was baptised 

and consequently, was not taken into account.

The religious criterion has never been a false pretence for the tsarist government, but has 

always been a real motive. It was because of this that the old believers**, ethnically Russian, 

were ferociously persecuted for two and a half centuries, as well as, later, the Dukhobors*** 

and the Molokanes****, also Russians.

The baptised Jews were numerous in the service of the Russian State; we will not discuss it in 

this book. Let us quote under Nicholas I, the Count K. Nesselrod, who had a long career at the 

head of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; Ludwig Chtiglits, who received the barony in Russia38; 

Maximilian Heine, brother of the poet and military doctor, who ended his career with the rank 

of state councillor; Governor General Bezak, General of the suite of His Majesty Adelbert, the 

Colonel of the Horse Guard Meves, the Hirs diplomats, one of whom was Minister under 

Alexander III. Later, there was the Secretary of State Perets (grandson of the tax-collector 

Abram Perets39), Generals Kaufman-Turkestansky and Khrulyov; The squire Salomon, director 

of the Alexandrovsky high school; Senators Gredinger, Posen; in the Police Department, 

Gurovich, Vissarionov, among many others.

Was the conversion to Christianity, especially to Lutheranism, in the eyes of some considered as 

easy? Are all the tracks open to you at once? Sliosberg observed at one point an “almost 

massive denial” on the part of young people.40 But, of course, seen from the Jewish side, this 

appeared to be a grave betrayal, “a bonus to the abjuration of his faith… When we think of the 
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number of Jews who resist the temptation to be baptised, one gains a great respect for this 

unhappy people.”41

Formerly, it was with candour: we divided people into two categories, “ours” and “others,” 

according to the criterion of faith alone. This state of mind, the Russian State, still reflected it in 

its dispositions. But, at the dawn of the twentieth century, could it not have thought a little and 

wondered whether such a procedure was morally permissible and practically effective? Could 

we continue to offer the Jews material welfare at the cost of denying their faith?

And then what advantage could be derived from Christianity? Many of these conversions were 

for pure convenience. (Some justified themselves by luring themselves: “I can thus be much 

more useful to my people.”42)

For those who had obtained equal rights in the service of the State, “there no longer existed 

any restriction of any kind whatsoever which prevented them from gaining access to hereditary 

nobility” and to receive the highest rewards. “The Jews were commonly enrolled without 

difficulty in genealogical records.”43 And even, as we see from the census of 1897, 196 

members of the hereditary nobility counted Hebrew as their mother tongue (amongst the 

nobility in their personal capacities and the civil servants, they were 3,371 in the same case44). 

There even was, among the Brodsky, a family of modest artisans, Marshals of the nobility of the 

province of Ekaterinoslav.

But from the 70s of the nineteenth century onwards, Jews who sought positions in the 

administration of the State began to encounter obstacles (and this became worse from 1896 

onwards); it must be said that few were those who aspired to this kind of routine and poorly 

paid activity. Moreover, from the 90s, the obstacles also affected the elective functions.

In 1890 a new Zemstvo Ordinance was issued, according to which the Jews were excluded from 

the self-management of the Zemstvo—in other words, outside the urban areas of the provinces 

and districts. It was planned to “not allow [the Jews] to participate in the electoral meetings and 

assemblies of the Zemstvos”45 (these did not yet exist in the western provinces). The 

motivation was that “Jews, who usually pursue their particular interests, do not meet the 

demand for a real, living and social connection with local life.”46 At the same time, to work in 
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the Zemstvo as an independent contractor, to the title of what was called the “outsider 

element” (element that would introduce into the Zemstvo, several years in advance, the 

explosive charge of radicalism), was not forbidden to Jews—and there they were many.

The restrictions in the Zemstvos did not affect the Jews of the central Russian provinces 

because the great majority of them resided in the cities and were more interested in urban 

administration. But in 1892 there appeared this time a new provision for cities: the Jews lost 

the right to elect and to be elected delegates to the Dumas and to the municipal offices, as well 

as to hold any office of responsibility, or conduct there economic and administrative services. 

This represented a more than sensible limitation. As delegates, Jews were admitted only in 

cities of the Pale of Settlement, but here too, subject to a restriction: no more than one-tenth 

of the number of the municipal duma, and again “on assignment” for the local administration 

that selected Jewish candidates—an annoying procedure, to say the least. (Particularly for 

bourgeois family men, as Sliosberg rightly points out: what a humiliation for them in relation to 

their children… how, after that, can they remain loyal to such a government?47) “There has 

been no harder time in the history of Russian Jews in Russia. They were expelled from all 

positions they had conquered.”48 In another passage, the same author speaks without 

ambiguity of the bribes received by the officials of the Ministry of the Interior to act in favour of 

the Jews.49 (That was to soften somewhat the rigour of the times.)

Yes, the Jews of Russia were undoubtedly bullied, victims of inequality in civil rights. But this is 

what reminds us of the eminent Cadet V. A. Maklakov, who found himself in the emigration 

after the revolution: “The ‘inequality in rights’ of the Jews naturally lost its acuteness in a state 

where the enormous mass of the population (82%), that on which the prosperity of the country 

depended, the peasantry—dull, mute, submissive—was also excluded from common law, the 

same for all”50—and it stayed in the same situation after the abolition of serfdom; for it also, 

military service was inescapable, secondary and higher education inaccessible, and it did not 

obtain that self-administration, that rural Zemstvo which it much need. Another emigrant, D. O. 

Linsky, a Jew, even bitterly concluded that, in comparison with the levelling up of the soviets, 

when the entire population of Russia was deprived of all rights, “the inequality in the rights of 

the Jewish population before the revolution appears like an inaccessible ideal.”51

We have gotten used of saying: the persecution of the Jews in Russia. But the word is not fair. It 

was not a persecution, strictly speaking. It was a whole series of restrictions, of bullying. Vexing, 

admittedly, painful, even scandalous.
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*

However, the Pale of Settlement, over the years, was becoming more and more permeable.

According to the census of 1897, 315,000 Jews were already residing outside its boundaries, 

that is to say, in sixteen years, a nine-fold increase (and this represented 9% of the total Jewish 

population of Russia apart from the kingdom of Poland.52 Let us compare: there were 115,000 

Jews in France, and 200,000 in Great Britain53). Let us consider also that the census gave 

undervalued figures, in view of the fact that in many cities of Russia many craftsmen, many 

servants serving “authorised” Jews did not have an official existence, being shielded from 

registration.

Neither the top of the finance nor the educated elite were subject to the restrictions of the 

“Pale”, and both were established freely in the central provinces and in the capitals. It is well 

known that 14% of the Jewish population practised “liberal professions”54—not necessarily the 

intellectual type. One thing, however, is certain: in pre-revolutionary Russia, the Jews “occupied 

a prominent place in these intellectual occupations. The famous Pale of Settlement itself did not 

in any way prevent a large fraction of the Jews from penetrating more and more into the 

provinces of central Russia.”55

The so-called “artisanal” trades where the Jews were the most numerous were the dentists, the 

tailors, the nurses, the apothecaries, and a few others, trades of great utility everywhere, where 

they were always welcome. “In 1905, in Russia, more than 1,300,000 Jews were engaged in 

artisanal activities,”56 which meant that they could live outside the “Pale”. And it must not be 

forgotten either that “nowhere in the laws it was stipulated, for example, that the craftsman 

who exercises a trade has no right to engage in commerce at the same time”; moreover, “the 

notion of ‘doing business’ is not defined by law”: for example, “deposit-selling” with 

commission, is it trade? Thus, in order to exercise any form of trade (even large-scale trading), 

to engage in the purchase of real estate, in the development of factories, one had to pass as 

“artisan” (or “dentist”!) For example, the “artisan” Neimark possessed a factory of sixty 

workers; typos thus opened their own printing press.57 And there existed yet another way: 

several people regroup, and only one pays the fee of the first guild, the others pretending to be 

his “clerks”. Or even, to be “adopted” in a central province by retired Jewish soldiers (the 

“adopted” father received a pension in return58). In Riga, thousands of Jewish families lived on 

the timber trade until they were expelled due to false attestations.59 At the dawn of the 
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twentieth century, Jewish settlements were found in all Russian cities of some importance.

J. Teitel testified that “the construction of the Samara-Orenburg railway line resulted in the 

influx of a large number of Jews to Samara. The supervisors of this railway were Jews—

Varchavsky, Gorvitch. For a long time they were also the owners. They occupied the control 

stations as well as a large number of subordinate jobs. They brought their families from the Pale 

of Settlement, and thus a very numerous Jewish colony was formed. They also took the export 

of wheat from the rich province of Samara to foreign countries. It should be noted that they 

were the first to export eggs from Russia to Western Europe. All these activities were carried 

out by so-called ‘artisans’.” And Teitel enumerates three successive governors of the province 

of Samara as well as a chief of police (who, previously, in 1863, had been “excluded from the 

University of Saint Petersburg for having participated in student disorders” who “closed their 

eyes to these so-called artisans.” Thus, around 1889, there lived in Samara “more than 300 

Jewish families, without a residence permit”60,—which means that in Samara, in addition to 

the official figures, there were in fact around 2,000 Jews.

Stories come to us from another end of Russia: at Viazma, “the three pharmacists, the six 

dentists, a number of doctors, notaries, many shopkeepers, almost all hairdressers, tailors, 

shoemakers were Jewish. All those who appeared as such were not dentists or tailors, many 

traded and no one prevented them from doing so. Of its 35,000 inhabitants, Viazma also had 

about two thousand Jews.61

In the region of the Army of the Don, where severe restrictions were imposed on Jews in 1880 

and where they were forbidden to reside in Cossack villages and suburbs of the cities, there 

were nevertheless 25,000 keepers of inns and buffets, barbers, watchmakers, tailors. And any 

delivery of a quantity of goods, no matter the size, depended on them.

The system of restrictions on the rights of the Jews, with the whole range of corrections, 

reservations and amendments thereto, had been built up stratum after stratum over the years. 

The provisions aimed at the Jews were scattered in the various collections of laws promulgated 

at different times, badly harmonised among themselves, badly amalgamated with the common 

laws of the empire. The governors complained of it.62 We must try to penetrate the mysteries 

of the innumerable derogations, special cases, exceptions of exceptions, which swarmed the 

legislation on the Jews, to understand what journey of the combatant this represented for the 

ordinary Jew, and what puzzle for the administration. Such complexity could only engender 

115



formalism, with its succession of cruelties; thus, when a head of a family domiciled in a central 

Russian province lost his right of residence (after his death or as a result of a change of 

profession), his whole family lost it with him. Families were thus expelled after the death of the 

head of the family (with the exception of single persons over 70 years of age).

However, complexity did not always play in disfavour of the Jews; it sometimes played to their 

advantage. Authors write that “it was the police commissioners and their deputies who were 

responsible for settling the endless wavering in the application of the restrictive measures,” 

which resulted in the use of bribes and to the circumvention of the law63—always favourable 

to the Jews. There were also perfectly workable legal channels. “The contradictory nature of the 

innumerable laws and provisions on Jews offers the Senate a broad spectrum of interpretations 

of legislation… In the 90s, most of the provisions appealed by the Jews were annulled” by the 

Senate.64 The highest dignitaries often closed their eyes to non-compliance with anti-Jewish 

restrictions—as G. Sliosberg testified, for example: “Ultimately, Jewish affairs depended on the 

head of the police department, Pyotr Nikolayevich Dumovo… The latter was always open to the 

complainants’ arguments and I must say, to be honest, that if the application of any restrictive 

regulation were contrary to human charity, [Dournovo] would look into the matter and resolve 

it favourably.”65

“Rather than the new laws, it was the provisions tending to a harder application of the old laws 

which were felt most painfully by the broad sections of the Jewish population.”66 The process, 

discreet but irreversible, by which the Jews gradually penetrated into the provinces of central 

Russia was sometimes stopped by the administration, and some duly orchestrated episodes 

went down in history.

This was the case in Moscow after the retirement of the all-powerful and almost irremovable 

Governor General V. A. Dolgorukov, who had regarded with great kindness the arrival of the 

Jews in the city and their economic activity. (The key to this attitude obviously resides in the 

person of the great banker Lazar Solomonovich Poliakov, “with whom Prince Dolgorukov had 

friendly ties and who, evil tongues affirmed, had opened to him in his bank an unlimited line of 

credit. That the prince had need of money, there was no doubt about it,” for he had yielded all 

his fortune to his son-in-law, while he himself “loved to live it up, and also had great spendings.” 

Consequently, L. Poliakov “was covered year after year with honours and distinctions.” Thanks 

to this, the Jews of Moscow felt a firm ground beneath their feet: “Every Jew could receive the 

right of residence in the capital” without actually putting himself “at the service of one of his 
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coreligionists, a merchant of the first Guild.”67)

G. Sliosberg informs us that “Dolgorukov was accused of yielding too much to the influence of 

Poliakov.” And he explains: Poliakov was the owner of the Moscow mortgage lending, so 

neither in the province of Moscow nor in any neighbouring province could any other mortgage 

bank operate (i.e. granting advances on property mortgage-funds). Now, “there was no 

nobleman possessing land that did not hypothecate his possessions.” (Such was the defeat of 

the Russian nobility at the end of the nineteenth century: and, after that, of what use could it 

still be for Russia?…) These noblemen found themselves “in a certain dependence on banks”; to 

obtain large loans, all sought the favours of Lazar Poliakov.68

Under the magistracy of Dolgorukov, around the 90s, “there were many recruitments of Jews in 

the body of merchants of the first guild. This was explained by the reluctance of Muscovite 

merchants of Christian denomination to pay the high entrance fees of this first guild. Before the 

arrival of the Jews, the Muscovite industry worked only for the eastern part of the country, for 

Siberia, and its goods did not run westward. It was the Jewish merchants and industrialists who 

provided the link between Moscow and the markets of the western part of the country. (Teitel 

confirms that the Jews of Moscow were considered the richest and most influential in Russia.) 

Threatened by the competition, German merchants became indignant and accused Dolgorukov 

of favouritism towards the Jews.69

But the situation changed dramatically in 1891. The new Governor-General of Moscow, the 

Grand Duke Sergey Alexandrovich*, an almighty man due to his position and dependent on no 

one due to his fortune, took the decision to expel all the Jewish craftsmen from Moscow, 

without any preliminary inquiry as to who was truly a craftsman and who pretended to be a 

craftsman. Whole neighbourhoods—Zariadie, Marina Roscha—were emptied of their 

inhabitants. It is estimated that as many as 20,000 Jews were expelled. They were allowed a 

maximum of six months to liquidate their property and organise their departure, and those who 

declared that they did not have the means to ensure their displacement were shipped in prison 

vans. (At the height of the expulsions and to control how they were executed, an American 

government commission—Colonel Weber, Dr. Kamster—went to Russia. The astonishing thing 

is that Sliosberg brought them to Moscow, where they investigated what was happening, how 

measures were applied to stem the “influx of Jews”, where they even visited the Butyrka prison 

incognito, where they were offered a few pairs of handcuffs, where they were given the 

photographs of people who had been sent in the vans… and the Russian police did not notice 

anything! (These were the “Krylov mores”*!) They visited again, for many more weeks, other 
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Russian cities. The report of this commission was published in 1892 in the documents of the 

American Congress… to the greatest shame of Russia and to the liveliest relief of Jewish 

immigration to the United States.70 It is because of this harassment that Jewish financial circles, 

Baron de Rothschild in the lead, refused in 1892 to support Russian borrowing abroad.71 There 

had already been attempts in Europe in 1891 to stop the expulsion of the Jews from Moscow. 

The American-Jewish banker Seligman, for example, went to the Vatican to ask the Pope to 

intercede with Alexander III and exhort him to more moderation.72 In 1891, “a part of the 

expelled Jews settled without permission in the suburbs of Moscow.” But in the fall of 1892, 

following the measures taken, an order was made to “expel from Moscow former soldiers of 

the retired contingent and members of their families not registered in the communities.”73 (It 

should be noted that in 1893 the large Russian commercial and industrial enterprises 

intervened to soften these measures.) Then, from 1899, there was almost no new registration 

of Jews in the first guild of Moscow merchants.74

In 1893 a new aggravation of the fate of the Jews arose: the Senate first noticed the existence 

of a bulletin issued by the Ministry of the Interior, in force since 1880 (the “Charter of Jewish 

Freedom”) which allowed Jews who had already established themselves outside the Pale of 

Settlement, illegally however, to remain where they were. This bulletin was repealed (except in 

Courland and Livonia where it was retained). The number of families who had settled over the 

last twelve years amounted to 70,000! Fortunately, thanks to Dournovo, “life-saving articles 

were enacted which, in the end, prevented the immense catastrophe that threatened.”75

In 1893, “certain categories of Jews” were expelled in turn from Yalta, for the summer 

residence of the Imperial family was not far away, and they were forbidden any new settlement 

there: “The always increasing influx in the number of Jews in the city of Yalta, the appetite for 

real estate, threatens this holiday resort of becoming, purely and simply, a Jewish city.”76 (here 

could have been at play, after all the terrorist attacks in Russia, the security of the Imperial 

family in its residence in Livadia. Alexander III had every reason to believe—he was only one 

year away from his death—that he was cordially hated by the Jews. It is not possible to exclude 

as motive the idea of avenging the persecution of the Jews, as can be deduced by the choice of 

terrorist targets—Sipiagin, Plehve, Grand Duke Serge.) This did not prevent many Jews from 

remaining in the Yalta region—judging from what the inhabitants of Alushta wrote in 1909, 

complaining that the Jews, buyers of vineyards and orchards, “exploit ‘to foster their 

development’ the work of the local population,” taking advantage of the precarious situation of 

said population and granting loans “at exorbitant rates” which ruin the Tatars, inhabitants of 

the site.77
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But there was also another thing in the favour of the tireless struggle against smuggling, the 

right of residence of the Jews in the Western frontier zone was limited. There was in fact no 

further expulsion—with the exception of individuals caught in the act of smuggling. (According 

to memorialists, this smuggling, which consisted in passing the frontier to revolutionaries and 

their printed works, continued until the First World War.) In 1903‒1904, a debate ensued: the 

Senate provides that the Provisional Regulations of 1882 shall not apply to the frontier zone and 

that accordingly Jews residing in that area may “freely settle in the rural areas. The Council of 

the Province of Bessarabia then issued a protest, informing the Senate that ‘the entire Jewish 

population’” in the border area, including those where Jews had illegally settled there, was now 

seeking to gain access to the countryside where there were already ‘more Jews than needed’,” 

and that the border area “now risked becoming for the Jews the ‘Promised Area’.” The protest 

passed before the Council of State, which, taking into account the particular case of rural 

localities, squarely abolished the special regime of the border area, bringing it back to the 

general regime of the Pale of Settlement.78

This softening, however, did not find significant echo in the press or in society. No more than 

the lifting, in 1887, of the prohibition of the Jews to hire Christian servants. Nor did the 1891 

Act introducing into the Penal Code a new article on “responsibility in the event of an open 

attack on part of the population by another”, an article that the circumstances of life in Russia 

had never required, but which had been sorely lacking during the pogroms of 1881. For greater 

caution it was now introduced.

*

And again, let us repeat: the limitations on the rights of the Jews never assumed a racial 

character in Russia. They applied neither to the Karaites*, nor to the Jews of the mountains, nor 

to the Jews of Central Asia, who, scattered and merged with the local population, had always 

freely chosen their type of activity.

The most diverse authors explain to us, each one more than the other, that the root causes of 

the restrictions suffered by Jews in Russia are of an economic nature. The Englishman J. Parks, 

the great defender of these restrictions, nevertheless expresses this reservation: “Before the 

war [of 14‒18], some Jews had concentrated considerable wealth in their hands… This had led 

to fear that abolishing these limitations would allow the Jews to become masters of the 

country.”79 Professor V. Leontovitch, a perfectly consistent liberal, notes: “Until recently, we 
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seemed to be unaware that the restrictive measures imposed on Jews came much more from 

anti-capitalist tendencies than from racial discrimination. The concept of race was of no interest 

to Russia in those years, except for specialists in ethnology… It is the fear of the strengthening 

of the capitalist elements, which could aggravate the exploitation of peasants and of all the 

workers, which was decisive. Many sources prove this.”80 Let us not forget that the Russian 

peasantry had just undergone the shock of a sudden mutation: from the transition of feudal 

relations to market relations, a passage to which it was not at all prepared and which would 

throw it into an economic maelstrom sometimes more pitiless than serfdom itself.

V. Choulguine writes in this regard as follows: “The limitation of the rights of the Jews in Russia 

was underpinned by a ‘humanistic thought’… It was assumed that the Russian people, taken 

globally (or at least some of their social strata) was, in a way, immature, effeminate…, that it 

allowed itself to be easily exploited…, that for this reason it had to be protected by state 

measures against foreign elements stronger than itself. Northern Russia began to look at the 

Jews with the eyes of Southern Russia. The Little-Russians had always seen the Jews, whom 

they knew well in the days of their coexistence with Poland, under the guise of the 

‘pawnbrokers’ who suck the blood of the unfortunate Russian.”81 The restrictions were 

designed by the government to combat the massive economic pressure that put the 

foundations of the state at risk. Parks also detects in this vision of things a part of truth; he 

observes “the disastrous effect which the faculty of exploiting one’s neighbour may have,” and 

“the excessive role of innkeepers and usurers in the rural areas of Eastern Europe”, even if he 

perceives the reasons for such a state of affairs “in the peasant’s nature more than in the Jews 

themselves.” In his opinion, the vodka trade, as the “main activity of the Jews” in Eastern 

Europe, gave rise to hatred, and among the peasants even more than among the others. It was 

he who fed more than one pogrom, leaving a deep and broad scar in the consciousness of the 

Ukrainian and Belarusian peoples, as well as in the memory of the Jewish people.82

We read in many authors that the Jewish innkeepers lived very hard, without a penny, that they 

were almost reduced to begging. But was the alcohol market as narrow as that? Many people 

grew fat with the intemperance of the Russian people—and the landowners of Western Russia, 

and the distillers, and the drinking-house keepers… and the government! The amount of 

revenue can be estimated from the time it was entered as national revenue. After the 

introduction of a state monopoly on spirits in Russia in 1896, with the abolition of all private 

debits and the sale of beverages by excise duty, the Treasury collected 285 million rubles in the 

following year—to report to the 98 millions of the direct tax levied on the population. This 

confirms that not only was the manufacture of spirits “a major source of indirect contributions”, 

but also that the spirits industry’s revenues, which until 1896 only paid “4 kopecks of excise 
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duty per degree of alcohol produced,” were much higher than the direct revenues of the 

empire.83

But what was at that time the Jewish participation in this sector? In 1886, during the works of 

the Pahlen Commission, statistics were published on the subject. According to these figures, 

Jews held 27% (the decimals do not appear here: the numbers have been rounded up 

everywhere) of all distilleries in European Russia, 53% in the Pale of Settlement (notably 83% in 

the province of Podolsk, 76% in that of Grodno, 72% in that of Kherson). They held 41% of 

breweries in European Russia, 71% in the Pale of Settlement (94% in the province of Minsk, 91% 

in the province of Vilnius, 85% in the province of Grodno). The proportion of manufacturing and 

sales points in Jewish commerce is 29% in European Russia, 61% in the Pale of Settlement (95% 

in the province of Grodno, 93% in Mogilev, 91% in the province of Minsk).84

It is understandable that the reform which established the state monopoly on spirits was 

“greeted with horror… by the Jews of the Pale of Settlement.”85

It is incontestable: the establishment of a State monopoly on spirits dealt a very severe blow to 

the economic activity of the Jews of Russia. And until the First World War (it ended at that 

time), this monopoly remained the favourite target of general indignation—whereas it merely 

instituted a rigorous control of the amount of alcohol produced in the country, and its quality. 

Forgetting that it reached the Christian tenants in the same way (see the statistics above), it is 

always presented as an anti-Jewish measure: “The introduction at the end of the 90s of the sale 

of alcohol by the State in the Pale of Settlement has deprived more than 100,000 Jews of their 

livelihood”; “Power meant… forcing the Jews to leave the rural areas,” and since then “this 

trade has lost for the Jews the importance it once had.”86

It was indeed the moment—from the end of the nineteenth century—when Jewish emigration 

from Russia grew remarkably. Is there a link between this emigration and the establishment of 

the state monopoly on the sale of spirits? That is difficult to say, but the figure of 100,000 

quoted above suggests so. The fact is that Jewish emigration (in America) remained low until 

1886‒1887; it experienced a brief surge in 1891‒1892, but it was only after 1897 that it became 

massive and continuous.87
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The “Provisional Regulations” of 1882 had not prevented further infiltration of Jewish spirits 

into the countryside. Just as, in the 70s, they had found a loophole against the prohibition of 

selling elsewhere than home by inventing “street” commerce. It had been devised to 

circumvent the law of May 3rd, 1882 (which also forbade the commerce of vodka by contract 

issued with a Jew), leasing “on the sly”: to set up an inn there, one rented a land by oral and not 

written contract, in order for the taxes to be covered by the owner, and the proceeds from the 

sale of drinks went to the Jew.88 It was through this and other means that the implantation of 

the Jews in the countryside could continue after the categorical prohibition of 1882. As 

Sliosberg writes, it was from 1889 that began the “wave of expulsions” of the Jews outside the 

villages of the Pale of Settlement, which resulted in “a pitiless competition, generating a terrible 

evil: denunciation” (in other words, Jews began to denounce those among them who lived 

illegally). But here are the figures put forward by P. N. Miliukov: if in 1881 there were 580,000 

Jews living in villages, there were 711,000 Jews in 1897, which means that the rate of new 

arrivals and births far outweighed those of evictions and deaths. In 1899, a new Committee for 

Jewish Affairs, the eleventh of the name, with Baron Lexhull von Hildebrandt at its head, was 

set up to revise the Provisional Regulations. This Committee, wrote Miliukov, rejected the 

proposal to expel from the countryside the Jews who illegally established themselves there, and 

softened the law of 1882.89

While “recognising that the peasantry, which is not very developed, has no entrepreneurial 

spirit and no means of development, must be protected from any contact with Jews,” the 

Committee insisted that “the landowners have no need for the tutelage of the government; the 

limitation of the right of the owners to manage their property as they see fit depreciates said 

property and compels the proprietors to employ, in concert with the Jews, all sorts of 

expedients to circumvent the law”; the lifting of prohibitions on Jews will enable landowners to 

derive greater benefit from their assets.90 But the proprietors no longer had the prestige, 

which might have given weight to this argument in the eyes of the administration.

It was in 1903‒1904 that the revision of the Regulations of 1882 was seriously undertaken. 

Reports came from the provinces (notably from Sviatopolk Mirsky, who was Governor-General 

and soon to become the Liberal Minister of the Interior), saying that the Regulations had not 

proved their worth, that it was imperative that the Jews should leave towns and villages where 

their concentration was too high, and that, thanks to the establishment of a State monopoly on 

beverages, the threat of Jewish exploitation of the rural population was removed. These 

proposals were approved by Sipyagin, the minister (who was soon to be shot down by a 

terrorist), and, in 1908, endorsed by Plehve (soon assassinated in his turn). A list of a hundred 

and one villages had been drawn up and published, to which fifty-seven others would soon be 
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added, in which the Jews acquired the right to settle and purchase real estate, and to lease it. 

(In the Jewish Encyclopædia dating before the revolution, we read the names of these localities, 

some of which, already quite important, were to spread rapidly: Yuzovka, Lozovaya, Ienakievo, 

Krivoy Rog, Sinelnikovo, Slavgorod, Kakhovka, Zhmerynka, Chepetovka, Zdolbuniv, Novye 

Senjary, among others.) Outside this list and Jewish agricultural settlements, Jews did not get 

the right to acquire land. However, the Regulations were soon abrogated for certain categories: 

graduates of higher studies, pharmacists, artisans and former retired soldiers. These people 

were given the right to reside in the countryside, to engage in commerce and various other 

trades.91

While the sale of spirits and the various kinds of farming—including that of the land—were the 

main sources of income for Jews, there were others, including notably the ownership of land. 

Among the Jews, “the aspiration to possess the land was expressed by the acquisition of large 

areas capable of harbouring several types of activities rather than by the use of small parcels 

which are to be developed by the owner himself.”92 When the land, which gives life to the 

peasant, reaches a higher price than that of a purely agricultural property, it was not 

uncommon for a Jewish entrepreneur to acquire it.

As we have seen, the direct leasing and purchasing of the land by the Jews was not prohibited 

until 1881, and the purchasers were not deprived of their rights by the new prohibitions. This is 

how, for example, Trotsky’s father, David Bronstein, possessed in the province of Kherson, not 

far from Elizabethgrad, and held in his possession until the revolution an important business (an 

“economy” as it was called in the South). He also owned, later on, the “Nadejda” mine in the 

suburb of Krivoi Rog.93 On the basis of what he had observed in the exploitation of his father—

and, as he heard it, “in all farms it is the same”, Trotsky relates that the seasonal workers, who 

had come by foot from the central provinces to be hired, were very malnourished: never meat 

nor bacon, oil but very little, vegetables and oatmeal, that’s all, and this, during the hard 

summer work, from dawn to twilight, and even, “one summer, an epidemic of hemeralopia* 

was declared among the workers.”94 For my part, I will argue that in an “economy” of the same 

type, in Kuban, with my grandfather Scherbak (himself a member of a family of agricultural 

workers), the day workers were served, during the harvest, meat three times a day.

But a new prohibition fell in 1903: “A provision of the Council of Ministers deprived all Jews of 

the right to acquire immovable property throughout the empire, outside urban areas, that is to 

say in rural areas.”95 This limited to a certain extent the industrial activity of the Jews, but, as 

the Jewish Encyclopædia points out, by no means their agricultural activity; in any case, “to use 
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the right to acquire land, the Jews would undoubtedly have delegated fewer cultivators than 

landlords and tenants. It seems doubtful whether a population as urban as the Jewish 

population was able to supply a large number of farmers.”96

In the early years of the twentieth century, the picture was as follows: “About two million 

hectares which are now owned or leased by Jews in the empire and the Kingdom of Poland… 

only 113,000… are home to Jewish agricultural settlements.”97

Although the Provisional Regulations of 1882 prohibited the Jews from buying or leasing out of 

towns and villages, devious means were also found there, notably for the acquisition of land 

intended for the sugar industry.

Thus the Jews who possessed large areas of land were opposed to the agrarian reform of 

Stolypin, which granted land to the peasants on a personal basis. (They were not the only ones: 

one is astonished at the hostility with which this reform was received by the press of those 

years, and not only by that of the extreme right, but by the perfectly liberal press, not to 

mention the revolutionary press.) The Jewish Encyclopædia argues: “The agrarian reforms that 

planned to cede land exclusively to those who cultivated it would have harmed the interests of 

a part of the Jewish population, that which worked in the large farms of Jewish owners.”98 It 

was not until the Revolution passed that a Jewish author took a look back and, already boiling 

with proletarian indignation, wrote: “The Jewish landowners possessed under the tsarist regime 

more than two million hectares of land (mainly around Ukrainian sugar factories, as well as 

large estates in Crimea and Belarus)”, and, moreover, “they owned more than two million 

hectares of the best land, black earth.” Thus, Baron Ginzburg possessed in the district of 

Dzhankoy 87,000 hectares; the industrialist Brodsky owned tens of thousands of hectares for 

his sugar mills, and others owned similar estates, so that in total the Jewish capitalists combined 

872,000 hectares of arable land.99

After the land ownership came the trade of wheat and cereal products. (Let us remember that 

the export of grain “was chiefly carried out by Jews.”100 “Of the total Jewish population of the 

USSR, not less than 18%, before the revolution (i.e. more than one million people!] were 

engaged in the trade of wheat, bosses and members of their families alike, which caused a real 

animosity of the peasants towards the Jewish population” (because the big buyers did 

everything to lower the price of the wheat in order to resell it for more profit.101) In the 

western provinces and in Ukraine, the Jews bought in bulk other agricultural commodities. 
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(Moreover, how can we not point out that in places like Klintsy, Zlynka, Starodub, Ielenovka, 

Novozybkov, the old believers, workers and industrious, never let trade go by other hands?) 

Biekerman believes that the prohibition of Jewish merchants to operate throughout the 

territory of Russia fostered apathy, immobility, domination by the kulaks. However, “If Russia’s 

trade in wheat has become an integral part of world trade, Russia owes it to the Jews.” As we 

have already seen, “as early as 1878, 60% of wheat exports from the port of Odessa were by 

Jews. They were the first to develop the wheat trade at Nikolayev,” Kherson, Rostov-on-Don, as 

well as in the provinces of Orel, Kursk, and Chernigov. They were “well represented in the 

wheat trade in Saint Petersburg.” And in the North-West region, out of 1,000 traders of cereal 

products there were 930 Jews.”102

However, most of our sources do not shed light on how these Jewish merchants behaved with 

their trading partners. In fact, they were often very hard and practised procedures that today 

we would consider illicit; they could, for example, agree among themselves and refuse to buy 

the crop in order to bring down prices. It is understandable that in the 90s farmers’ 

cooperatives (under the leadership of Count Heiden and Bekhteyev) were set up in the 

southern provinces for the first time in Russia and a step ahead of Europe. Their mission was to 

thwart these massive, monopolistic purchases of peasant wheat.

Let us recall another form of commerce in the hands of the Jews: the “export of wood came 

second after the wheat.”103 From 1813 to 1913, these exports were multiplied by 140! And the 

Communist Larinus fulminated: “The Jewish proprietors possessed… large forested areas, and 

they leased a part of it, even in the provinces where the Jews were not normally allowed to 

reside.”104 The Jewish Encyclopædia confirms it: “The Jews acquired the land, especially in the 

central provinces, chiefly to exploit the forest wealth.”105 However, as they did not have the 

right to install sawmills in some places, the wood left abroad in the raw state, for a dead loss for 

the country. (There existed other prohibitions: access for export of timber in the ports of Riga, 

Revel, Petersburg; the installation of warehouses along the railways).106

Such is the picture. Everything is there. And the tireless dynamism of Jewish commerce, which 

drives entire states. And the prohibitions of a timorous, sclerotic bureaucracy that only hinders 

progress. And the ever-increasing irritation these prohibitions provoke among the Jews. And the 

sale of the Russian forest, exported abroad in its raw state, as a raw material. And the small 

farmer, the small operator, who, caught in a merciless vise, has neither the relationships nor the 

skills to invent other forms of trade. And let us not forget the Ministry of Finance, which pours 

its subsidies on industry and railways and abandons agriculture, whereas the tax burden is 
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carried by the class of the farmers, not the merchants. One wonders: under the conditions of 

the new economic dynamics that came to replenish the Treasury and was largely due to the 

Jews, was there anyone to worry about the harm done to the common people, the shock 

suffered by it, from the break in its way of life, in its very being?

For half a century, Russia has been accused—from the inside as well as from the outside—of 

having enslaved the Jews economically and having forced them to misery. It was necessary that 

the years passed, that this abominable Russia disappear from the surface of the earth, it will be 

necessary to cross the revolutionary turmoil for a Jewish author of the 30s to look at the past, 

over the bloody wall of the Revolution, and acknowledge: “The tsarist government has not 

pursued a policy of total eviction of Jews from economic life. Apart from the well-known 

limitations… in the countryside…, on the whole, the tsarist government tolerated the economic 

activity of the Jews.” The tensions of the national struggle, “the Jews did not feel them in their 

economic activity. The dominant nation did not want to take the side of a particular ethnic 

group, it was only trying to play the role of arbiter or mediator.”107

Besides, it happened that the government was intruding into the economy on national grounds. 

It then took measures which, more often than not, were doomed to failure. Thus, “in 1890, a 

bulletin was diffused under which the Jews lost the right to be directors of corporations that 

intended to purchase or lease lands.”108 But it was the childhood of the art of circumventing 

this law: remaining anonymous. This kind of prohibition in no way impeded the activity of 

Jewish entrepreneurs. “The role of Jews was especially important in foreign trade where their 

hegemony was assured and their geographical location (near borders) and by their contacts 

abroad, and by their commercial intermediaries skills.”109

As regards to the sugar industry, more than a third of the factories were Jewish at the end of 

the century.110 We have seen in previous chapters how the industry had developed under the 

leadership of Israel Brodsky and his sons Lazar and Leon (“at the beginning of the twentieth 

century, they controlled directly or indirectly seventeen sugar mills”111). Galperine Moses, “in 

the early twentieth century had eight factories and three refineries… He also owned 50,000 

hectares of sugar beet cropland.”112

“Hundreds of thousands of Jewish families lived off the sugar industry, acting as intermediaries, 

sellers, and so on.” When competition appeared, as the price of sugar began to fall, a syndicate 

of sugar producers in Kiev called for control of production and sale, in order for prices not to 
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fall.113 The Brodsky Brothers were the founders of the Refiners’ Union in 1903.114

In addition to the grain trade, the wood trade and the sugar industry where they occupied a 

predominant position, other areas must be cited in which the Jews largely contributed to 

development: flour milling, fur trade, spinning mills, confection, the tobacco industry, the 

brewery.115 In 1835 they were also present at the major fairs in Nizhny Novgorod.116 In 

Transbaikalia they launched a livestock trade which took off in the 90s, and the same happened 

in Siberia for the production of coal—Andjero-Soudji hard coal—and the extraction of gold, 

where they played a major role. After 1892, the Ginzburg “devoted themselves almost 

exclusively to the extraction of gold.” The most prosperous enterprise was the Lena Gold 

Mining Company, which “was controlled in fact (from 1896 until its death in 1909) by Baron 

Horace Ginzburg, son of Evzel Ginzburg, founder of the Bank of the same name and president of 

its branch in Saint Petersburg. (The son of Horace, David, also a baron, remained at the head of 

the Jewish community of Saint Petersburg until his death in 1910. His sons Alexander and Alfred 

sat on the board of Lena, the gold mining company. Another son, Vladimir, married the 

daughter of the owner of the Kiev sugar factory, L. I. Brodsky.) Horace Ginzburg was also “the 

founder of… the gold extraction companies from Transbaikalia, Miias, Berezovka, Altai and a 

few others.”117 In 1912, a huge scandal about the Lena mines broke out and caused quite a stir 

throughout the country: the operating conditions were abominable, the workers had been 

misled… Appropriately, the tsarist government was accused of everything and demonised. No 

one, in the raging liberal press mentioned the main shareholders, notably the Ginzburg sons.

At the beginning of the twentieth century, Jews represented 35% of the merchant class in 

Russia.118 Choulguine gives us what he observed in the southwest region: “Where have they 

gone, Russian traders, where is the Russian third estate? … In time, we had a strong Russian 

bourgeoisie… Where have they gone?” “They were ousted by the Jews, lowered into the social 

ladder, to the state of moujiks.”119 The Russians in the southwest region have chosen their 

own fate: it is clear. And at the beginning of the century, the eminent politician V. I. Gourko* 

observed: “The place of the Russian merchant is more and more frequently taken by a Jew.”120

The Jews also gained influence and authority in the booming sector of the cooperative system. 

More than half of the Mutual Credit and Savings and Loan Companies were in the Pale of 

Settlement (86% of their members in 1911 were Jewish).121

We have already spoken of the construction and operation of the Russian railways by the 
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Poliakov brothers, Bliokh and Varshavsky. With the exception of the very first lines (the 

Tsarskoselskaya line and the Nikolaevskaya line), almost all the railways that were later built 

were made by concessionary companies in which the Jews occupied the command posts; “But, 

as of the 1890s, the state was the first builder.” On the other hand, it is under the leadership of 

David Margoline that was created in 1883 the great shipping company “on the Dnieper and its 

tributaries”, the main shareholders of which were Jews. In 1911, the company owned a fleet of 

78 vessels and accounted for 71% of the traffic on the Dnieper.122 Other companies operating 

on the Western Dvina, the Niemen, joined the Mariinsky Canal and the Volga.

There were also about ten oil companies belonging to Jews from Baku. “The biggest were the oil 

company belonging to the brothers S. and M. Poliak and to Rothschild, and the joint-stock 

company of the Caspian-Black Sea, behind which was also found the name of Rothschild.” These 

companies were not allowed to extract oil; they specialised in refining and exporting.123

But it was in finance that the economic activity of the Jews was the most brilliant. “Credit is an 

area where Jews have long felt at home. They have created new ways and have perfected the 

old. They played a leading role in the hands of a few large capitalists and in the organisation of 

commercial investment banks. The Jews brought out of their ranks not only the banking 

aristocracy but also the mass of employees.”124 The bank of Evzel Ginzburg, founded in 1859 in 

Saint Petersburg, grew and strengthened thanks to its links with the Mendelssohn in Berlin, the 

Warburg in Hamburg, the Rothschild in Paris and Vienna. But when the financial crisis of 1892 

broke out, and “because of the government’s refusal to support its bank with loans,” as had 

happened twice before, E. Ginzburg withdrew from business.125 By the 70s, there existed a 

network of banks founded by the three Poliakov brothers, Jacob, Samuel and Lazar. These are 

the Azov-Don Commercial Bank (to be later managed by B. Kaminka), the Mortgage Lending of 

Moscow, the Don Land Bank, the Poliakov Bank, the International Bank and “a few other houses 

which will later form the Unified Bank.”—The Bank of Siberia had A. Soloveitchik at its head, the 

Commercial Bank of Warsaw was directed by I. Bliokh. In several other large establishments, 

Jews occupied important posts (Zak, Outine, Khesine, A. Dobryi, Vavelberg, Landau, Epstein, 

Krongold). “In two large banks only, the Commercial Bank of Moscow and that of the Volga-

Kama, there were no Jews either in the leadership or among the staff.”126 The Poliakov 

brothers all had the rank of secret counsellor and, as we have said, all three were granted 

hereditary nobility.127

*
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Thus, at the dawn of the twentieth century, the Pale of Settlement had already completely 

emptied itself of its substance. It had not prevented the Jews from occupying solid positions in 

the vital sectors of the country’s life, from economy and finance to the intellectual sphere. The 

“Pale” no longer had any practical utility; its economic and political purpose was outdated. It 

had only filled the Jews with anti-government bitterness and resentment; it had thrown oil on 

the fire of social discontent and had struck the Russian government with the seal of infamy in 

the eyes of the West.

But let us be clear: this Russian Empire, with the slowness and sclerosis of its bureaucracy, the 

mentality of its leaders, where and in what way did it fall behind all through the nineteenth 

century and decades before the revolution? It had been unable to settle a dozen major 

problems affecting the life of the country. It had not been able to organise local civil self-

government, install zemstvos in rural districts, carry out agrarian reform, remedy the state of 

pernicious state of humiliation of the Church, or communicate with civil society and make its 

action understood. It had managed neither the boom of mass education nor the development 

of Ukrainian culture. To this list let us add another point where the delay proved catastrophic: 

the revision of the real conditions of the Pale of Settlement, the awareness of their influence on 

all positionings of the State. The Russian authorities have had a hundred years and more to 

solve the problems of the Jewish population, and they have not been able to do so, neither in 

the sense of an open assimilation nor by allowing the Jews to remain in voluntary isolation, that 

which was already theirs a century before.

Meanwhile, during the decades from the 70s to the beginning of the twentieth century, Russian 

Judaism experienced a rapid development, an undeniable blossoming of its elite, which already 

felt cramped, not only within the limits of the Pale of Settlement, but in those of the empire.

When analysing the concrete aspects of the inequality in Jewish rights in Russia, the Pale of 

Settlement and the numerus clausus, we must not lose sight of this general picture. For if 

American Judaism grew in importance, the Jews of Russia at the beginning of the twentieth 

century still constituted nearly half of the Jewish population of the planet.128 This is to be 

remembered as an important fact in the history of Judaism. And it is still Mr. Biekerman who, 

looking behind him over the ditch of the revolution, wrote in 1924: “Tsarist Russia was home to 

more than half the Jewish people. It is natural, consequently, that the Jewish history of the 

generations that are closest to us is mainly the history of the Jews of Russia.” And even though 

in the nineteenth century “the Jews of the West had been richer, more influential, and more 

cultured than we were, the vitality of Judaism was nevertheless in Russia. And this vitality grew 

129



stronger and stronger at the same time as the Russian Empire flourished… It was only when 

provinces populated by Jews were united to Russia that this rebirth began. The Jewish 

population grew rapidly in number, to such an extent that it was able to leave a very numerous 

colony overseas; it had amassed and possessed important capital in its hands; a middle class 

had grown and acquired authority; the standard of living of the lower strata had also grown 

incessantly. By a variety of efforts, the Jews of Russia had been able to overcome the physical 

and moral abjection which they had brought from Poland; European culture and education 

reached Jewish circles… and we went so far in this direction, we have amassed such spiritual 

wealth that we have been able to afford the luxury of having a literature in three languages…” 

All this culture, all this wealth, it is in Russia that the Jews of Eastern Europe have received 

them. Russian Judaism, “by its numbers and by the greenness of the energies it contained, 

proved to be the backbone of all the Jewish people.”129

A more recent author, our contemporary, confirms in 1989 the correctness of this painting 

brushed by his elder, witness of the time. He wrote: “The public life of the Jews of Russia had 

reached, at the turn of the two centuries, a degree of maturity and amplitude which many small 

peoples in Europe might have envied.”130

If there is a reproach that cannot be made to the “prison of the people”, it is to have 

denationalised the people, be it the Jews or others.

Certain Jewish authors, it is true, deplore the fact that in the 80s “the cultivated Jews of the 

capital had hardly been involved in the defence of Jewish interests”, that only Baron Ginzburg 

and a few other wealthy Jews with good relations.131 “The Jews of Petersburg (30,000 to 

40,000 in 1900) lived unconnected with one another, and the Jewish intelligentsia, in its 

majority, remained aloof, indifferent to the needs and interests of the community as a 

whole.”132 Yet it was also the time when “the holy spirit of the Renaissance… hovered over the 

Pale of Settlement and awakened in the younger generations the forces that had been dormant 

for many centuries among the Jewish people… It was a veritable spiritual revolution.” Among 

Jewish girls, “the thirst for instruction showed literarily religious signs.” And already, even in 

Saint Petersburg, “a large number of Jewish students frequented higher education institutions.” 

At the beginning of the twentieth century, “a great part of the Jewish intelligentsia… felt… that 

it was its duty to return to its people.”133

Thanks to this spiritual awakening at the end of the nineteenth century, very diverse and 
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sometimes contradictory trends emerged in Russian Judaism. Some of them will be called upon 

to determine to a large extent the destinies of our land throughout the twentieth century.

At the time, the Jews of Russia envisaged at least six possible orientations, however 

incompatible with each other. Namely:

    the safeguard of their religious identity by isolation, as had been practised for centuries (but 

this path became more and more unpopular);

    assimilation;

    the struggle for national and cultural autonomy, the active presence of Judaism in Russia as a 

distinct element;

    emigration;

    adherence to Zionism;

    adherence to the revolution.

Indeed, the proponents of these different tendencies were often united in the work of 

acculturation of the Jewish masses in three languages—Hebrew, Yiddish and Russian—and in 

welfare works—in the spirit of the theory of “small gestures” in vogue in Russia in the 80s.

Mutual aid was embodied in Jewish associations, some of which, after the revolution, were able 

to continue their action in emigration. This was the case with the Society for the Dissemination 

of Education among the Jews of Russia, which had been founded in 1863. By the mid-90s, this 

Society was already opening its own schools, with, besides an education in Russian, courses in 

Hebrew. It convened Pan-Russian conferences on the theme of Jewish popular education.134

In 1891 began the works of a Commission of Jewish History and Ethnography, which in 1908 

became the Society of Jewish History and Ethnography. It coordinated the study of Jewish 

history through Russia and the collection of archives.135
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In 1880, the “King of the Railways”, Samuel Poliakov, founded the Society of Craft and 

Agricultural Labour among the Jews (SCAL). The latter collected a good deal of money and 

“devoted the bulk of its efforts, at the beginning of its efforts, to the transfer of Jewish artisans 

outside the Pale of Settlement to the central provinces.”136 We have seen that after the initial 

authorisation given (in 1865) to this transfer the craftsmen moved only in small numbers. What 

happened after the pogroms of 1881‒1882? We could think: now, they will certainly leave, they 

have the help the SCAL, plus a subsidy from the government for the displacement, they will not 

remain there, moping around, confined in this damned Pale where one was condemned to a 

wretched death, but no: after more than ten years of efforts on the part of the SCAL, only 170 

artisans moved! The SCAL decided then to help artisans inside the Pale by purchasing tools, 

setting up workshops and then creating professional schools.137

Emigration was taken over by the Society for Colonisation by the Jews (SCJ), whose creation 

followed the opposite course: first abroad, then in Russia. It was founded in London in 1891 by 

Baron Moritz von Hirsch, who for this purpose made a donation of 2,000,000 pounds sterling. 

His idea was the following: to substitute the chaotic emigration of the Jews of Eastern Europe 

with a well-ordered colonisation, oriented towards the countries requiring cultivators, and thus 

to bring back at least part of the Jews to the cultivation of the land, to free them from this 

“anomaly… which arouses the animosity of the European peoples.”138 “To seek for the Jews 

who leave Russia ‘a new homeland and try to divert them from their usual activity, trade, make 

them farmers and thereby contribute to the work of rebirth of the Jewish people’.”139 This 

new homeland, it would be Argentina. (Another objective was to divert the wave of Jewish 

immigration away from the shores of the United States where, owing to the influx of 

immigrants, the wage decline induced by their competition, there rose the spectre of anti-

Semitism.) As it was proposed to populate this land with Jews of Russia, an office of the Society 

for Colonisation opened in Saint Petersburg in 1892. It “set up 450 information offices and 20 

neighbourhood committees. They received the candidates for emigration to help them obtain 

their exit papers from the territory, they negotiated with the maritime messengers, they 

procured travellers with tickets at reduced prices, they published brochures” on countries likely 

to welcome new settlers.140 (Sliosberg denounces in passing the fact that “no person not 

holding a double title as a banker or a millionaire had access to their direction.”141)

Since the end of the nineteenth century, the emigration of Jews from Russia had been growing 

steadily for various reasons, some of which have already been mentioned here. One of the 

most serious of these was the compulsory conscription: if so many young men (it is Denikin who 

writes it) chose to mutilate themselves, was it not better to emigrate? Especially when we know 

that conscription simply did not exist in the United States! (The Jewish authors are silent on this 
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motif, and the Jewish Encyclopædia itself, in the article “The Emigration of the Jews of Russia”, 

does not say a single word of it.142 It is true that this reason does not explain on its own the 

emigration boom in the 90s.) Another reason, also of significance: the Provisional Regulations of 

1882. The third major shock was the expulsion of Jewish craftsmen from Moscow in 1891. And 

also this other, very violent: the establishment of the state monopoly on spirits in Russia in 

1896, which deprived all the tenants of drinking places of their income and reduced the 

revenues of the distillers. (Sliosberg: those who had been expelled from the villages or 

provinces of the interior were volunteers for emigration.) G. Aronson notes that in the 80s an 

average of 15,000 Jews emigrated each year, and that they were up to 30,000 in the 90s.143

The attitude of the Russian authorities in the face of this growing emigration—a genuine boon 

to the State—was benevolent. The Russian Government readily agreed to the establishment of 

the SCJ in Saint Petersburg, and the measures that it adopted to promote emigration; it did not 

interfere in any of its actions, authorising the age group of the conscripts to emigrate with their 

families; it issued free exit visas and granted special rates on trains—on one condition, 

however: once gone, the emigrants were never to return to Russia again.144

To cross the ocean, it was necessary at the time to pass through England, which meant that in 

the English port cities there was provisionally a crowd of Jewish emigrants—some of whom 

remained and settled in Great Britain while others returned there after an attempt to settle in 

the United States. As early as 1890, English public opinion rebelled against the policy of the 

Russian government: “The Jewish question is constantly occupying the columns of the British 

newspapers… In America, too, the question of the situation of Jews in Russia remains day after 

day of actuality.”145 Having assessed the proportions that this migratory flow was likely to 

take, Great Britain soon closed its doors.146

The immigration to Argentina had also stopped in 1894. The Jewish Encyclopædia described this 

as a “brooding crisis… in the Argentine question.”147 Sliosberg spoke of the “disenchantment of 

immigrants in Argentina” (the disgruntled rebelled and sent collective petitions to the 

administration of Baron Hirsch). The Duma debates highlighted a situation similar to the 

experience in New Russia: “Immigration to Argentina provides examples that confirm that in 

many cases people have received land on very advantageous terms, but have abandoned it to 

engage in other trades more in line with their abilities.”148

After this, although its vocation remained in the principle of pushing the Jews to become 
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farming “settlers”, the Society for Colonisation renounced this objective. It set itself the task of 

helping “the excessively disorderly emigration of Jews from Russia”, “it was concerned with 

providing information to the emigrants, defending their interests, being the connection with 

host countries”, and it had to modify its statutes, which had been bequeathed by Baron Hirsch. 

Large sums were allocated “to raise the standard of living of Jews in their places of residence”; 

from 1898 onwards, “action was taken among the population within Russia itself,” and in the 

existing Jewish agricultural colonies the “introduction of more modern tools and methods of 

cultivation”, “the granting of an advantageous credit for the improvement of the soil.” 

However, again, “despite the large sums invested in this sector, agricultural activity remained 

relatively stagnant.”149 Conversely, migratory flows outside Russia continued to increase, “in 

direct connection with the craft crisis and the gradual elimination of small trade and factories”; 

this flow “reached its peak… in 1906”, but was not “able to absorb the annual surplus of the 

population” of the Jews. It should be noted that “the great mass of emigrants was destined for 

the United States”—for example, in 1910, they were 73%.150 “From 1881 to 1914, 78.6% of 

emigrants from Russia landed in the United States.”151 From this period, we can thus see what 

will be the general movement of our century. (Note that at the entrance to the American 

territory no paper certifying craftsmanship was required, and it followed that during the first six 

years of the century 63% of Russian immigrants “engaged in industry”. This meant that those 

who left Russia for America were exclusively artisans? This could offer an explanation to the 

question as to why the artisans did not go to the Central provinces, which were now open to 

them? But it is also necessary to consider that for many immigrants, and especially for those 

who had neither resources nor trade, no other answer was possible than that of recognising 

themselves as part of the “category notoriously well accepted by the Americans.”152)

One is struck by how few of the emigrants are the individuals belonging to the cultivated 

stratum, the one allegedly the most persecuted in Russia. These people did not emigrate. From 

1899 to 1907, they were barely 1% to do so.153 The Jewish intelligentsia did not in any way 

tend to emigrate: it was, in its eyes, a way of escaping the problems and fate of Russia at the 

very moment when opportunities for action were opening up. As late as 1882, the resolution of 

a Congress of Jewish public figures “called for a definite rejection of the idea of organising an 

emigration, for this idea contradicts the dignity of the Russian State.”154 In the last years of the 

nineteenth century, “the new generation wanted to be actively involved in history… and across 

the board, from the outside as well as from the inside, it has gone from defensive to offensive… 

Young Jews now want to write their own history, to affix the seal of their will to their destiny, 

and also, to a just extent, on the destiny of the country in which they live.”155

The religious wing of Russian Judaism also denounced emigration, considering it as a break with 

134



the vivifying roots of East European Judaism.

The secular efforts of the new generation were primarily concerned with a vast program of 

specifically Jewish instruction, culture and literature in Yiddish, the only ones capable of 

creating a link with the mass of the people. (According to the census of 1897, only 3% of 

Russian Jews recognised Russian as their mother tongue, while Hebrew seemed forgotten and 

no one thought it could be reborn.) It was proposed to create a network of libraries specially 

designed for Jews, newspapers in Yiddish (the daily Der Freynd appeared in 1903; and it sold 

like hot cakes in the villages; not belonging to any political party, it nevertheless sought to give 

political training156). It was in the 90s that took shape “the grandiose metamorphosis of the 

amorphous Jewish mass into a nation, the Jewish Renaissance.”157

One after the other, authors writing in Yiddish became very popular: Mendele Mocher-Sefarim, 

Scholom-Aleichem, Itzhak-Leibush Peretz. And the poet Bialik, to follow the movement, 

translated his own poems into Yiddish. In 1908, this trend reached its peak at the Tchernovtsy 

Conference, which proclaimed Yiddish as the “national language of the Jewish people” and 

advocated the translation of all printed texts into Yiddish.158

At the same time, considerable efforts were made for Jewish culture in the Russian language. 

Thus the ten volumes of the Jewish Library, of historical and literary content159; the Petersburg 

magazines born from 1881, Rassvet (“The Dawn”), then Rousski Evrei (“The Russian Jew”). 

(They soon stopped appearing: “these publications did not meet the support of the Jewish 

public itself”160). The magazine Voskhod (“The Break of Day”) opened its pages to all Jewish 

authors, translating all the novelties, offering a place of choice for studies on Jewish history,161 

(May we, Russians, show the same interest in our own history!). For the time being, “the 

dominant role in the public life of Russian Judaism” was held by the “Jewish Petersburg”: 

“towards the middle of the 90s, [it is in Petersburg that] almost all senior management was 

formed, the Jewish intellectual aristocracy”; all the talents are in Petersburg.162 According to 

an approximate calculation, only 67,000 Jews spoke Russian fluently in 1897, but it was the 

cultivated elite. And already “the whole younger generation” in Ukraine in the 90s was raised in 

Russian, and those who went to study in the high schools completely lost contact with Jewish 

education.163

There was not, strictly speaking, a slogan of the type: Assimilation! We must blend into the 

Russian element! Nor an appeal to renounce one’s nationality. Assimilation was a commonplace 
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phenomenon, but it created a link between Russian Judaism and the future of Russia.164 

Moreover, Sliosberg refutes the term assimilation: “Nothing was more opposed to the truth” 

than to say that “assimilated persons considered themselves… Russians under the Mosaic Law.” 

On the contrary, “the appetite for Russian culture did not exclude confessing the traditions of 

Hebrew culture.”165 However, after the disillusionment of the 80s, “certain Jewish 

intellectuals, deeply imbued with the idea of assimilation, felt a break in their conception of 

public life.”166 Soon, “there soon was only one Jewish organisation left, one party defending 

assimilation. However… while it had given up arms as a theory, it remained a very real part of 

the life of the Jews of Russia, at least among those who lived in the big cities.”167 But it was 

decided to “break the link between emancipation… and… assimilation”—in other words: to 

obtain one and not the other, to gain equality but without the loss of Jewishness.168 In the 90s, 

Voskhod‘s primary objective was to fight for the equal rights of Jews in Russia.169

A “Defence Office” for the Jews of Russia had been formed in Saint Petersburg at the beginning 

of the century, the members of which were eminent advocates and men of letters. (Before 

them, Baron Hirsch had been the only one to work as they did: it was to him that all the 

grievances of the Jews went.) Sliosberg speaks to us in detail about its founders.170

During those years, “the Jewish spirit awoke for the struggle”, the Jews were assisted to “a 

strong thrust of their self-consciousness, public and national”—but a conscience now devoid of 

any religious form: “The villages deserted by the most fortunate…, the villages abandoned by 

the young people, gone to join the city…, the galloping urbanisation” undermined the religion 

“in broad sections of the Jewish population from the 90s”, and caused the authority of the 

rabbis to fall. The scholars of the Talmudic schools themselves were seduced by 

secularisation.171 (That being said, the biographical notes of the Jewish Encyclopædia 

concerning the generation that grew up at the turn of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries 

often include the words “received a traditional religious education”.)

On the other hand, as we have pointed out, what developed with unpredictable force and in an 

unexpected form was palestinophilia.

*

The events in Russia could not but be perceived by the Jews of Russia and by the Russians 

involved in public life in the light of what was happening at the same time in Europe: contacts 
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were then free and frequent between educated people and the borders were permeable to 

ideas and events.

European historians point to a “nineteenth-century anti-Semitism… a growing animosity 

towards Jews in Western Europe, where, however, it seemed that we were making great strides 

towards its disappearance.”172 Up to Switzerland where the Jews, in the middle of the century, 

had not been able to obtain freedom of residence in the townships, the freedom to trade or to 

exercise handicrafts. In France, it was the blast of the Dreyfus Affair. In Hungary, “the old landed 

aristocracy… accused the Jews… of having ruined it”; In Austria and in the present-day Czech 

Republic, at the end of the nineteenth century, an “anti-Semitic movement” was spreading, and 

“the petty bourgeoisie… fought the social-democratic proletariat with anti-Jewish slogans.”173 

In 1898, bloody pogroms took place in Galicia. The rise in all countries of the bourgeoisie 

“increased the influence of the Jews, grouped in large numbers in capitals and industrial 

centres… In cities such as Vienna and Budapest…, the press, the theatre, the bar, the medical 

profession, found in their ranks a percentage of Jews much higher than their proportion in the 

population as a whole. Those years mark the beginning of the great fortunes of certain Jewish 

merchants and bankers.”174

But it was in Germany that the anti-Jewish tendencies manifested themselves with the greatest 

insistence. Let us first name Richard Wagner (as early as 1869). In the 70s conservative and 

clerical circles demanded that the rights of German Jews should be restricted and that any new 

Jewish immigration should be banned. From the end of the 70s, the “intellectual circles 

themselves,” whose spokesman was the Prussian historian Heinrich von Treitschke, said: “The 

agitators of today have well perceived the mindset of society which regards the Jews as our 

national misfortune”; “The Jews never succeed in merging with the peoples of Western 

Europe”, and show hatred towards Germanism. Then comes Karl Eugen Duhring, made famous 

for his polemic with Marx and Engels*: “The Jewish question is a simple matter of race, and the 

Jews are a race that is not only foreign but irremediably and ontologically bad.” Then comes the 

philosopher Edward Hartman. In the political sphere, this movement led to the first 

international anti-Jewish congress of 1882 (in Dresden), which adopted the “Manifesto 

addressed to the Christian peoples and governments that are dying of Judaism”, and demanded 

the expulsion of Jews from Germany.—But in the early 90s the anti-Jewish parties had 

regressed and suffered a series of setbacks on the political scene.175

France was also the scene if not of the emergence of an equally aggressive racial theory, at least 

of a broad anti-Jewish political propaganda: the one broadcast by Edouard Drumont in his Libre 
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Parole from 1892. Then came “a real competition between Socialism and anti-Semitism”; “The 

Socialists did not hesitate to embellish their speeches of outputs against the Jews and to lower 

themselves right up to anti-Semitic demagogy… A social anti-Semitic fog enveloped the entirety 

of France.”176 (Very similar to the propaganda of the populists in Russia in the years 

1881‒1882.) And it was then that in 1894 the thunderous Dreyfus Affair broke out. “In 1898, it 

[anti-Semitism] reached its climax throughout Western Europe—in Germany, France, Great 

Britain and the United States.”177

The Russian press of the years 1870‒1890 also issued some anti-Jewish statements, but without 

the strong theoretical colouring they had in Germany, nor the exacerbated social violence in 

Austria-Hungary and France. Let us recall the accounts of Vsevolod Krestovsky (Egyptian 

Darkness, among others) and some crude newspaper articles.

It is appropriate to set apart the newspaper Novoïe Vremia (“The New Times”), which owed its 

success to its engaged positions to the “Slav movement” linked to the Russo-Turkish war for the 

defence of the Balkans. But when “from the theatre of operations were received reports on acts 

of plunder perpetrated by intendants and suppliers, these suppliers “of Jewish origin” appeared 

as the incarnation of all Russian Judaism, and Novoïe Vremia adopted a frankly anti-Semitic 

stance.” Beginning in the 80s, the newspaper did more than “go into the camp of 

reactionaries”, “it went beyond all the limits of hatred and improbity in the Jewish question. 

The warning cry ‘Beware the Jew!’ resounded for the first time in the columns of Novoïe 

Vremia. The paper insisted on the need to take firm measures against the Jews’ ‘stranglehold’ 

over Russian science, literature and art…” It did not miss an opportunity to denounce the fact of 

“withdrawing from military service.”178

These attacks on Jews, both abroad and in Russia, stirred Vladimir Solovyov, and in 1884 he 

vigorously criticised them: “The Judaeans have always behaved to us in the manner of the 

Judaeans, and we, Christians, have not yet learned to behave with Judaism in a Christian way”; 

“With regard to Judaism, the Christian world in its mass has so far shown only an irrational 

jealousy or a feeble indifference.” No, “it is not Christian Europe that is tolerant of Jews, it is the 

Europe of unbelievers.”179

The growing importance of the Jewish question for Russia, Russian society understood it only 

half a century behind its government. It was only after the Crimean War that “the emerging 

Russian public opinion began to conceive the existence of a Jewish problem in Russia.”180 But 
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there needed to elapse a few more decades before it understood the primacy of this question. 

“Providence has brought the greatest part of the Jewish people to our country, and the 

strongest,” wrote Vladimir Solovyov in 1891.181

The year before, with the support of some sympathisers, Solovyov wrote a “Protest” in which it 

was said that “the sole cause of the so-called Jewish question” was the abandonment of all 

righteousness and humanity, “a senseless craze for blind national egoism.” “To stir up racial and 

religious hatred, which is so contrary to the spirit of Christianity…, deeply perverts society and 

can lead to a return to barbarism…” “We must strongly denounce the anti-Semitic movement, 

“even if only through the instinct of national survival.”182

According to the account given to him by M. Doubnov, Solovyov collected more than a hundred 

signatures, including those of Tolstoy and Korolenko*. But the editors of all the newspapers had 

been ordered not to publish this protest. Solovyov wrote a scalding letter to Tsar Alexander III, 

but was told that if he persisted, he would be punished with an administrative measure. He 

gave up.183

Just as in Europe, the multifaceted thrust of Jewish ambitions could not fail to arouse anxiety 

among the actors of Russian public life here, a fierce opposition there, and there again, on the 

contrary, sympathy. And, in some, a political calculation. Like the Will of the People in 1881, 

who understood the profit to be drawn from the Jewish question (at the time, it was in the 

direction of persecution), the radical and liberal circles of the time, namely the left wing of 

society, conceived and made theirs for a long time still the idea that the Jewish question could 

be used as a political map of the struggle against the autocracy: it was necessary to repeat over 

and over that the only way to obtain equality in rights for the Jews was the definitive overthrow 

of the power of the tsars. From the Liberals to the Bolsheviks. Passing by the S.-R., all have 

never ceased to involve the Jews—some with real sympathy—to use them as a convenient 

asset in the anti-monarchical combat. This asset, the revolutionaries never let it go, they 

exploited it without the least scruple until 1917.

However, these various tendencies and debates in the newspapers did not affect the attitude of 

the people towards the Jews in Greater Russia. Many testimonies confirm this.
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Thus J. Teitel, a man who lived for a long time in deep Russia and frequented common people, 

affirms that “any racial or national hostility is foreign to the common people.”184 Or, in 

memoires left by the Viazemsky princes, this episode: there was at Korobovka Hospital, a 

district of Ousmansky, a somewhat inconsiderate Russian physician, Doctor Smirnov; the 

peasants did not like him, and his successor, the devoted Doctor Szafran, immediately benefited 

from the affection and gratitude of all the peasants in the neighbourhood. Another 

confirmation, inspired by the experience of the prisoners of the years 1880‒1890: P. F. 

Iakoubovitch-Melchine writes: “It would be an ungrateful task to seek, even in the scum of our 

people, the least trace of anti-Semitism.”185 And it was indeed because they sensed this that 

the Jews of a small town in Belarus addressed a telegram at the beginning of the twentieth 

century to Madam F. Morozova, the wife of a wealthy merchant, who was in charge of charity: 

“Give us this much. The synagogue burned down. You know we have the same God.” And she 

sent the sum requested.

Deep down, neither the Russian liberal press nor the Jewish press have ever accused the 

Russian people of any land-based anti-Semitism. What both of them repeated relentlessly was 

that anti-Semitism in the popular mass, had been completely fabricated and fuelled by the 

government. The very formula “Autocracy, Orthodoxy, Nationality” was felt in Jewish circles as 

a formula directed against the Jews.

In the middle of the twentieth century, we can read from a Jewish writer: “In tsarist Russia, anti-

Semitism had no deep roots among the people… In the broad masses of the people, there was 

practically no anti-Semitism; moreover, the very question of relations with Judaism did not 

arise… It was only in certain parts of what was called the Pale of Settlement, and mainly in 

Ukraine since the time of Polish domination, that, due to certain circumstances on which there 

is no need to dwell here, a certain tendency towards anti-Semitism manifested itself in the 

peasantry,”186 that is perfectly true. And one could add: Bessarabia. (One can judge of the 

antiquity of these feelings and circumstances by reading Karamzin*: the Cossacks who 

surrounded the False Dmitry**—of the Cossacks of the Don, obviously—treated the Russians of 

Jidy (Jews)187, which means that in the western provinces this word was an insult.)

And what about Russian folklore? The Dahl dictionary encompasses Great Russia, and the 

western provinces, and Ukraine. Editions before the revolution contain a large number of words 

and expressions formed on the root jid- (Judeo-). (Significant detail: in the Soviet edition of 

1955, the entire typography of the page containing these words was revised188, and the whole 

lexical “niche” between jidkii and jigalo has been entirely suppressed.) However, amongst these 
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expressions quoted by Dahl, there are some which are inherited from the Slavonic Church 

where the word jid was by no means pejorative: it was the name of a people. There are also 

some that come from Polish and post-Polish practice within the Pale of Settlement. Still others 

were introduced into the language at the time of the Troubles, in the seventeenth century, at a 

time when, in Greater Russia, there was almost no contact with the Jews. These inheritances 

are also reflected in the dicta that Dahl mentions in their Russian form—but we can guess under 

the latter the southern form. (And, what is certain is that they did not leave the bowels of the 

Ministry of the Interior! …)

And then, let us compare these sayings with others: oh how the people created malicious 

adages against the Orthodox clergy! Not one, almost, is favourable to it!

A witness of Mariupol 189 (and he is not the only one, it is a well-known fact) tells us that 

among them, before the revolution, there was a clear distinction between the two words evrei 

(Hebrew) and jid (Jew). The Evrei was a law-abiding citizen, whose morals, conduct, and 

behaviour towards others did not differ in any way from the surrounding environment. While 

the Jid was the jivoder (the swindler). And it was not uncommon to hear: “I’m not a Jid, I’m an 

honest Evrei, I do not intend to dupe you.” (Such words put into the mouths of Jews, we find 

them in literature, and we have also read them in the pamphlets of the populists.)

This semantic differentiation, we must never lose sight of it when interpreting sayings.

All this is the trace of an old national quarrel on the territory of the West and Southwest.

For neither in Central Russia nor in the North and East, not even during the general shock of 

October 1905, there weren’t any anti-Jewish pogroms (if there was indignation, it was against 

the revolutionary intellectuals in general, against their jubilation and ridicule of the Manifesto 

of October 17th). But this does not prevent, in the eyes of the whole world, the pre-

revolutionary Russia—not the empire, but Russia—to bear forever the seal of infamy, that of 

the pogroms and the Black Hundreds. And it is indelible, encrusted in minds for yet how many 

centuries to come?
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The anti-Jewish pogroms have always and exclusively broken out in South-Western Russia—as it 

was the case in 1881. And the Kichinev pogrom of 1903 was of the same nature.

*

Let us not forget that at the time the population of Bessarabia was largely illiterate, that in 

Kishinev there were 50,000 Jews, 50,000 Moldovans, 8,000 Russians (in fact, mainly Ukrainians, 

but the difference was not noted) and a few thousand others. What were the main forces 

responsible for the pogroms? “The delinquents of the pogroms were mainly Moldovans.”190

The Kishinev pogrom began on April 6, the last day of the Jewish Passover and the first day of 

the Orthodox Passover. (This is not the first time we have observed this tragic link between 

anti-Jewish pogroms and the Passover of Christians: in 1881, 1882, and 1899 in Nikolaev191—

and it fills us with extreme pain and anxiety.)

Let us use the one document that is based on a rigorous investigation carried out right after the 

events. This is the indictment issued by the local court prosecutor, V. N. Goremykine, who “did 

not call a single Jew as an accused, for which he was harshly vilified by the reactionary 

press.”192 (As we shall see, the court first sat in closed session to “not exacerbate the 

passions”, and the indictment was originally published abroad in the emigrated press organ of 

Stuttgart Osvobojdenie [“Release”].193)

The document begins with an account of “the usual clashes between Jews and Christians as 

happened in recent years at Easter” and “the animosity of the local population towards the 

Jews.” It says that “two weeks before the Passover… rumours circulated in the city, announcing 

that there would be, during future holidays, aggressions against the Jews.” A newspaper, the 

Bessarabets (“the Bessarabian”), had played a role of blaster in publishing “day after day, 

throughout the last few weeks, incendiary articles, strongly anti-Jewish, which did not go 

unnoticed among small clerks, pencil-pushers, the entire little people of Bessarabia. Among the 

last provocative articles in the newspaper was the one about the murder of a Christian child in 

the village of Doubossary, allegedly carried out by Jews for ritual purposes” (and another 

rumour ran that a Jew had murdered his Christian servant when she had actually committed 

suicide194).
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And the police of Kishinev, what did it do? “Did not give any particular consideration to the 

rumours,” and despite the fact that “in recent years there has been regular fighting between 

Jews and Christians, the Kishinev police did not take any serious preventive measures,” it only 

reinforced the patrols “for the holidays, in the places where the crowd was going to be the 

densest”, by adding men recruited from the local garrison.195 The chief of police gave no clear 

instruction to his officers.

This is clearly the most unpardonable: repeated brawls every year for the Passover, rumours of 

such a content—and the police fold their arms. One more sign of the state of decline of the 

governmental machinery. For there are two things, one: either we let go of the empire (how 

many wars, how many efforts have been made to unite, for obscure reasons, Moldavia with 

Russia), or we safeguard the good order which must reign over its entire territory.

On the afternoon of April 6, the streets of the city is invaded by “people in celebration”, with 

“many teenagers” wandering among the crowd, as well as angry people. The boys start 

throwing stones at nearby Jewish houses, throwing harder and harder, and when the 

commissioner and his inspectors try to arrest one of them, “they get stones in their turn.” 

Adults then get involved. “The police took no firm measures to stop the disorders” and these 

led to the sacking of two Jewish shops and a few sheds. In the evening, the disorders subsided, 

“no assault had been perpetrated against the Jews that day”; the police had arrested sixty 

people during the day.

However, “on the early morning of April 7, the very agitated Christian population began to 

assemble in various parts of the city and in the suburbs, in small groups which provoked Jews to 

clashes of increasing violence.” In the same way, from the first hour on the New Market, “more 

than a hundred Jews had gathered, armed with stakes and pickets, rifles even here and there, 

who fired a few shots. The Christians had no firearms. The Jews said: ‘Yesterday you did not 

scatter the Russians, today we will defend ourselves.’ And some held bottles of vitriol in their 

hands, which they threw at the Christians they met.” (Pharmacies were traditionally held by 

Jews.) “Rumours spread throughout the city, reporting that the Christians were being assaulted 

by the Jews; they swell from mouth to mouth and exasperate the Christian population”: one 

transforms “were beaten” into “were slaughtered”, one carries that the Jews have sacked the 

cathedral and murdered the priest. And now, “in various parts of the town, small groups of 

fifteen to twenty persons each, chiefly workmen, with teenagers in their lead who throw stones 

into the window-panes, begin to plunder the shops, the premises, the dwellings of the Jews, 

smashing everything inside. These groups are gradually enlarged by the passers-by.” Towards 
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two, three o’clock in the morning, “disturbances spread in a more and more extended radius”; 

“the houses where icons or crosses have been exposed in windows are not affected.” “In the 

sacked premises, everything was totally destroyed, the goods ejected from the shops to be 

trampled or stolen by individuals who escorted the attackers.” They went so far as to “sack the 

houses of prayer of the Jews, and throw down the sacred scrolls [the Torah] in the street.” 

Drinking places, of course, were sacked; “The wine was poured into the street or drunk on the 

spot by the bandits.”

The inertia of the police, owing to the absence of a proper command, caused these crimes to be 

perpetrated with impunity, and this did not fail to encourage and excite the evil-doers. The 

police forces, left to their own devices, far from uniting their efforts, acted according to their 

instinct… “and the subordinate policemen were mostly mute spectators of the pogrom.” 

However, a phone call was made to the local garrison to call for reinforcements, but “whenever 

the soldiers went to a certain point, they could not find anybody there,” and “in the absence of 

new instructions, they remained inactive”; “They were scattered in the city in isolated groups, 

with no clear objective and no coordination with each other”; “They only dispersed the excited 

crowds.” (This garrison was not the most efficient, and, moreover, it was just after Passover: 

many officers and soldiers were on leave.196) “The inertia of the police… engendered new 

rumours, saying that the government would have allowed to attack the Jews, since they are 

enemies of the country”—and the pogrom, unleashed, inebriated, became envenomed. “The 

Jews, fearing for their possessions and for their lives, lost all composure, fear made them go 

mad. Several of them, armed with revolvers, proceeded to counter-attack to defend 

themselves. Ambushed on street corners, behind fences, on balconies, they began to shoot 

looters, but awkwardly, without aiming at their targets, so that it did nothing to help them and 

only aroused in the pogrom troublemakers a terrible explosion of rage. “The crowd of 

plunderers was seized with rage, and where the shooting had resounded, it came at once to 

tear everything apart and be violent towards the Jews who were there. “A shot was particularly 

fatal to the Jews: the man who snatched a young Russian boy, little Ostapov.” “From one, two 

o’clock in the afternoon, the blows of the Jews became more and more violent,” and by five 

o’clock they were accompanied by “a series of murders.” At half-past three in the afternoon, 

Governor Von Raaben, completely overwhelmed, passed an order to the chief of the garrison, 

General Bekman, authorising the “use of arms”. Bekman immediately had the city canvassed, 

and the troops, who had “ventured out” walked in good order from that moment on. “From 

that moment on, the troops were now able to carry out mass arrests,” and energetic measures 

were taken. At nightfall, the pogrom was under control.

The act stipulates the death toll: “There were 42 deaths, including 38 Jews”; “all the bodies 
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bore traces of blows by blunt objects—clubs, shovels, stones—and some, blows of axes”; 

“almost all were wounded in the head, some in the chest also. They had no traces of bullets, no 

evidence of torture or rape either (this was confirmed by doctors’ expert opinions and 

autopsies, as well as by the report of the Medico-Legal Department of the Central 

Administration of Bessarabia); “there were 456 wounded, including 62 among the Christians…; 

eight were wounded by bullets… of the 394 Jewish wounded, only five were seriously injured. 

No trace of abuse… except for a one-eyed man whose healthy eye had been ripped out… three-

quarters of the men assaulted were adults; there were three complaints of rape, two of which 

were prosecuted.” Seven soldiers were wounded, including a soldier who “had his face burned 

with vitriol”; 68 policemen received minor injuries. “There were 1,350 homes ransacked, almost 

a third of the houses in Kishinev: an enormous figure, the equivalent of a bombing… as for the 

arrests, “there were 816 on the morning of April 9”, and in addition to the investigations into 

the murders, 664 persons appeared in court.

In some authors, the figures of the victims among the Jews differ from the official statistics, but 

the gap is not very large. The Book of the Jews of Russia estimates that there were 45 Jews 

killed, 86 seriously wounded, 1,500 houses and shops looted or destroyed.197 Biekerman puts 

forward the figure of 53 dead, but maybe not all Jews.198 The recent Jewish Encyclopædia 

(1988) states: “49 people were killed, 586 wounded, more than 1,500 houses and shops 

looted.”199

This is the official description. But we sense what is hiding behind it. We are told: “Only one 

person, one Jew with one eye” has had the other ripped out. We learn a little more from 

Korolenko in his essay Dom no 13 (“House No. 13”).200 This poor man was called Meer 

Weisman: “To my question, wrote Korolenko—did he know who did this?—, he answered with 

perfect serenity that he did not know, but that ‘a kid’, the son of his neighbours, had boasted 

that he had done it with a lead weight attached to a string.” We see then that perpetrators and 

victims knew each other rather well… Korolenko resumed: “It is true that what I advance, I hold 

of the Jews themselves, but there is no reason not to believe their sayings… Why would they 

have invented these details? …” And, in fact, why would the family of Bentsion Galanter, 

mortally hit on the head, invent that the murderers had planted nails all over his body? Was not 

the family of the Nisenson accountant sufficiently tried, why would it add that he had been 

“rinsed” in a puddle before being massacred? These details are not fiction.

But to those who were far from the events, to the agitators of public opinion, these horrors 

were not enough. What they remembered was not tragedy, misfortune, the dead, but rather: 
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how to exploit them to strike the tsarist power? And they resorted to terrifying exaggerations. 

To overcome reactions of horror, to try to see clearly in the versions built up in the months and 

years following, would it not be minimising the tragedy? And to attract many insults? But to see 

it clearly is a duty, because we took advantage of the pogrom of Kishinev to blacken Russia and 

mark her forever of the seal of infamy. Today, all honest historical work on the subject demands 

a distinction between the horrible truth and the treacherous lies. The conclusion of the 

indictment is the following: the disorders “have reached the magnitude described only because 

of the inertia of the police, deprived of an adequate command… The preliminary investigation 

did not find evidence that the disorders had been premeditated.”201

These clues, no further investigation found them either.

But so be it: the Office for the Defence of the Jews, which we have already mentioned, (was 

attended by such eminent persons as Mr. Winaver, Mr. G. Sliosberg, Mr. Bramson, Mr. 

Koulicher, Mr. A. Braoudo, Mr. S. Pozner, Krohl202), as soon as the news of the pogrom of 

Kishinev reached it, it excluded from the outset all possible causes apart from that of a 

conspiracy fomented from above: “Who gave the order of organising the pogrom, who took the 

direction of the dark forces that perpetrated it?”203 “As soon as we learned of the climate in 

which the killings of Kishinev took place, we did not doubt that this diabolical undertaking had 

been concocted by the Police Department and carried out at his command.” Although, of 

course, “the wretches kept their project secret,” wrote Krohl in the 40s of the 20th century.204 

“But, as convinced as we are that the killings of Kishinev were premeditated in high places, with 

the tacit agreement and perhaps at the initiative of Plehve, we can unmask these high-placed 

assassins and expose them to the light of the world only on one condition: if we have the most 

indisputable proofs against them. That is why we decided to send the famous lawyer Zaroudny 

to Kishinev.”205 “He was the most suitable person for the mission we had entrusted to him,” 

“he undertook to reveal the hidden springs of the Kishinev massacre, after which the police, to 

divert attention, arrested a few dozens thieves and looters.”206 (Recall that in the aftermath of 

the pogrom, 816 people were arrested.) Zaroudny gathered information and brought back 

“material of exceptional importance”. That is to say that “the chief person in charge, the 

organiser of the pogrom, had been the head of local security, K. Lewendal,” a gendarmerie 

officer who had been appointed to Kishinev shortly before the pogrom. It was “at his command 

that the police and the troops openly lent a hand to the assassins and the looters.”207 He 

would have “totally paralysed the action of the governor.”208 (It is known, however, that in 

Russia neither the police nor the troops were under the orders of the Okhrana.)
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This said “exceptionally important” material, which denounced the guilty “with absolute 

certainty,” was never published neither at the time or later. Why? But because, if it had been 

so, how could Lewendal and his accomplices escape punishment and dishonour? This material is 

known only by hearsay: a dealer named Pronine and a notary named Pissarjevsky would have 

been found several times in a certain café and, on Lewendal’s instructions, would have planned 

the pogrom.209 And it was after these meetings that all the police and the troops opted for the 

pogrom. The prosecutor Goremykine examined the charges against Lowendal and declared 

them unfounded.210 (The journalist Kruchevane, whose incendiary articles had really favoured 

the pogrom, was stabbed in Petersburg two months later by Pinhas Dachevsky who wanted to 

kill him.211)

The authorities, during this time, continued the investigation. The director of the police 

department, A. A. Lopoukhine (with his liberal sympathies, he was unsuspected in the eyes of 

the public) was quickly dispatched to Kishinev. Governor Von Raaden was dismissed, along with 

several other senior officials from Bessarabia; a new governor was appointed, Prince S. Urusov 

(soon to be a prominent K. D., and would sign the appeal to the rebellion called “Vyborg’s 

Appeal”). A bulletin from the Minister of the Interior, Plehve, was published in The Messenger 

of the Government of April 29: in it he stated his indignation at the inaction of the authorities of 

Kishinev; he called on all provincial governors, city governors and police chiefs to vigorously halt 

all violence by taking all possible measures.212

The Orthodox Church also expressed itself. The Holy Synod issued a bulletin inviting the clergy 

to take measures to extirpate feelings of hostility towards the Jews. Some of the hierarchs, 

notably Father John of Kronstadt, who were very much listened to and revered by the faithful, 

appealed to the Christian people, expressing their disapproval, their exhortations, their appeals 

for appeasement. “They have substituted for the Christian holiday a sanguinary and satanic 

orgy.”213 And Bishop Antony (Krapovitsky) declared: “The punishment of God will befall the 

wretches who have spilled blood related to that of the God-Man, to His pure Mother, the 

apostles and the prophets… so that you know how much the Divine Spirit cherishes the Jewish 

people, still rejected today, and know what is His wrath against those who would want to 

offend Him.”214 A text on the subject was distributed to the people. (The long exhortations and 

explanations of the Church, however, were not unrelated to an archaic state of mind, frozen for 

centuries and to be surpassed by the formidable evolutions in progress.)

In the first days of May, a month after the events, an information campaign but also one of 

intoxication about the pogrom broke out in the Russian press as well as in the European and 
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American ones. In Petersburg, fanatical articles spoke of assassinations of mothers and infants, 

of rape—sometimes of underage girls, sometimes of women under the eyes of their husbands 

or of their father and mother; there was talk of “torn tongues; a man was ripped open, a 

woman’s head was pierced with nails driven in by the nostrils.”215 Less than a week had 

elapsed when these horrifying details appeared in the papers of the West. Western public 

opinion gave it full credence. The influential Jews in England relied on these fabrications and 

included them word for word in their public protest.216 Should we repeat: “No evidence of 

abuse or rape was observed on the bodies.” Due to a new wave of newspaper articles, forensic 

pathologists were asked to submit supplementary reports. The doctor of the City Health 

Service, named Frenkel (who had examined the bodies in the Jewish cemetery), and another 

named Tchorba (who had received the dead and wounded at the hospital in the Kishinev 

Zemstvo between 5 P.M., the second day after the Passover, and noon, the third day, and then 

at the Jewish hospital), and the doctor Vassiliev (who had carried out an autopsy of thirty-five 

corpses)—all attested the absence of traces of torture or violence on the bodies described in 

the newspapers.217 It was later learned at the trial that doctor Dorochevsky—the one who, it 

was thought, had supplied these frightening reports—had seen nothing of these atrocities, and 

declined any responsibility for the publication of the tabloids.218 As for the prosecutor at the 

Criminal Chamber of Odessa, he had, in reply to a question from Lopoukhine regarding the 

rapes, “secretly conducted his own investigation”: the accounts of the families of the victims 

themselves did not confirm any case of rape; the concrete cases, in the expertise, are positively 

excluded.219 But who paid attention to the examinations and conclusions of doctors? Who 

cares about the prosecutor’s specific research? All these documents may remain, turning 

yellow, in cabinets files!

All that the witnesses had not confirmed, all that Korolenko had not related, the authorities did 

not have the presence of mind to refute it. And all these details spread throughout the world, 

and took the form of a fact in public opinion, which they were to remain throughout the 

twentieth century, and which they will probably still be throughout the whole of the twenty-

first century—cold, frozen, stowed forever in the name of Russia.

However, Russia, for many years now, but with increasing acuteness, knew a mad, deadly 

distortion between “civil society” and the government. It was a struggle to the death: for the 

liberal and radical circles, and even more so for the revolutionaries, any incident (true or false) 

discrediting the government was a blessing, and for them everything was permitted—any 

exaggeration, any distortion, any make-up of facts; the important thing was to humiliate power 

as severely as possible. For the Russian radicals, a pogrom of this gravity was a chance in their 

fight!
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The government resolved to forbid all publication in the newspapers concerning the pogrom, 

but it was a blunder, for the rumours were re-echoed with greater force by the European and 

American press; All the rantings escalated with even more impunity—exactly as if there had 

never been any police report.

And here it was, the great offensive launched against the government of the tsar. The Bureau 

for the Defence of the Jews sent telegrams to all the capitals: organise protest meetings 

everywhere!220 A member of the Bureau wrote: “We have communicated the details of the 

atrocities… in Germany, France, England, the United States… The impression that our 

information caused was shattering; in Paris, Berlin, London and New York, there were protest 

meetings in which the speakers painted a frightening picture of the crimes committed by the 

tsarist government.”221 Here he is, they thought, the Russian bear as it has been since the 

dawn of time! “These atrocities shocked the world. And now, without any restraint, the police 

and the soldiers have by all means assisted the assassins and the plunderers in perpetrating 

their inhuman acts.”222 The “cursed autocracy” has marked itself with an indelible stigma! In 

meetings, they stigmatised the new plan of tsarism, “premeditated by it”. In the synagogues of 

London, they accused… the Holy Synod of having committed this killing due to religious 

inspiration. Some of the hierarchs of the Catholic Church also declared their disapproval. But it 

was by far the European and American press that showed themselves as being the most virulent 

(notably the press tycoon William Hearst): “We accuse the tsarist power of being responsible 

for the massacre of Kishinev. We declare that his guilt in this holocaust is total. It is before his 

door and in front of any other that the victims of this violence are exposed. “May the God of 

Justice descend here below to finish with Russia as He has finished with Sodom and Gomorrah… 

and let him evacuate this pestilential focus from the face of the earth.” “The killing of Kishinev 

surpasses in insolent cruelty all that has ever been recorded in any civilised nation”223… 

(including, one must believe, the extermination of the Jews in medieval Europe?).

Alas, Jews more or less circumspect, more or less stunned, joined in the same assessment of the 

events. And not less than thirty years after the events, the respectable jurist G. Sliosberg retains 

the same details in publications of emigration—(even though he himself never went to Kishinev, 

then or later): the nails planted in the head of the victim (he goes so far as attributing this 

information to the account of Korolenko!), and the rapes, and the presence of “several 

thousand soldiers” (the modest garrison of Kishinev had never seen as many!) who “seemed to 

be there to protect the perpetrators of the pogrom.”224
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But Russia, in the field of communication, was inexperienced, unable to justify itself coherently 

seeing it was still unaware of the methods used for this.

Meanwhile, the so-called “cold premeditation” of the pogrom was not supported by any solid 

proof—none that was commensurate with the raging campaign. And although lawyer Zaroudny 

had already “closed his investigation and… firmly established that the chief organiser and the 

sponsor of the pogrom was none other than the chief of the local Okhrana, Baron 

Lewendal”225—even in this variant, the character of Lewendal did not reach the government 

sufficiently, it was necessary to draw a little more to reach the central power.

But here we are!—six weeks after the pogrom, in order to further stir up general indignation, 

and to dishonour the key figure of power, one “discovered” (no one knows by whom, but very 

appropriately) an “ultra-secret letter” from the Minister of Interior Plehve to the governor of 

Kishinev, Von Raaben (not a bulletin addressed to all the governors of the Pale of Settlement, 

no, but a letter addressed to him alone ten days before the pogrom), in which the minister, in 

rather evasive terms, gave advice: if serious disturbances occur in the province of Bessarabia, 

not to repress them by arms, but to use only persuasion. And now an individual, very timely 

there too, transmitted the text of this letter to an English correspondent in Saint Petersburg, D. 

D. Braham, and the latter hastened to publish it in London in the Times of 18 May 1903.226

A priori: what is the weight of a single publication in a single newspaper, which nothing 

corroborates—neither on the spot nor later? But it weighs as much as you want! Enormously, 

even! And in this case, the publication of the Times was supported by the protest of prominent 

British Jews, with Montefiore at their head (from an internationally-known family).227

Thanks to the climate that reigned throughout the world, this letter was a colossal success: the 

sanguinary intentions against the Jews of the universally abhorred tsarism, which had not yet 

been proved, were suddenly “attested with supporting documents.” Articles and meetings had 

a new upsurge throughout the world. On the third day after the publication, the New York 

Times pointed out that “three days already that the letter was disclosed—and no denial 

occurred”, and the British press has already declared it to be authentic. “What can we say about 

the level of civilisation of a country, of which a minister can give his signature to such 

exactions?”228 The Russian government, in its awkwardness and incomprehension of the 
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gravity of the matter, found nothing better to do than to negligently abandon a laconic denial 

signed by the head of the Police Department, A. Lopoukhine, and only on the ninth day after 

the scandalous publication of the Times,229 but instead of investigating the falsification, he 

simply settled on expelling Braham from the territory.

One can argue with certainty that this was indeed a forgery, for several reasons. Not only 

because Braham never exhibited any proof of the authenticity of the letter. Not only because 

Lopoukhine, the declared enemy of Plehve, had himself denied this text. Not only because 

Prince Urusov, the great Jewish sympathiser who had succeeded Von Raaben and controlled the 

archives of the governorate, found no “letter of Plehve.” Not only because poor Von Raaben, 

dismissed, his life and career broken, never, in his desperate efforts to restore his reputation, 

complained of having received instructions “from above”—which would have immediately 

restored his career and made him the idol of liberal society. The main reason lies in the fact that 

the State archives in Russia had nothing in common with the rigged archives of the Soviet era 

when any document was concocted upon request or others burned in secret. No, in the Russian 

archives everything was preserved, inviolably and forever. Immediately after the February 

Revolution, an extraordinary commission of inquiry of the Provisional Government, and, still 

more zealously, the “Special Commission for the Study of the History of the Pogroms,” with 

investigators as serious as S. Dubnov, Krasny-Admoni, did not find the document in Petersburg 

or Kishinev, nor its record it upon entrance or exit; they found only the translation into English 

of Braham’s English text (as well as papers containing “indications of severe punishment and 

dismissal… sanctioning any illegal action by agents responsible for the Jewish question”).230

After 1917, what was still to be feared? But not a single witness, not a single memorialist, was 

able to tell the story of where this immortal telegram had fallen, or to boast of having acted as 

an intermediary. And Braham himself—neither at the time, nor later—didn’t say a single word 

about it.

But this did not prevent the constitutional-Democratic newspaper Retch (“The Word”) from 

writing with confidence, on 19 March 1917: “The bloodbath of Kishinev, the counter-

revolutionary pogroms of 1905 were organised, as was definitively established, by the Police 

Department.” And, in August 1917, at the Moscow State Conference, the President of the 

Special Commission of Inquiry publicly declared that he would “soon present the police 

department’s documents concerning the organisation of anti-Jewish pogroms”—but neither 

soon nor later, neither the Commission, nor, subsequently, the Bolsheviks exhibited any 

document of this kind. Thus the lie encrusted itself, practically up to now! … (In my November 
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16, one of the characters evokes the pogrom of Kishinev, and in 1986 the German publisher 

adds an explanatory note in this regard stating: “Anti-Jewish Pogrom, carefully prepared, which 

lasted two days. The Minister of the Interior Plehve had conjured the governor of Bessarabia, in 

the event of a pogrom, not to use firearms.”231) In the recent Jewish Encyclopædia (1996) we 

read this statement: “In April 1903, the new Minister of the Interior, Plehve, organised with his 

agents a pogrom in Kishinev.”232 (Paradoxically, we read in the previous tome: “The text of 

Plehve’s telegram published in the Times of London… is held by most scholars as being a 

fake”233).

And here: the false story of the Kishinev pogrom made much more noise than the real, cruel 

and authentic one. Will the point be made one day? Or will it take yet another hundred years?

The incompetence of the tsarist government, the decrepitude of its power, had manifested 

itself on various occasions, in Transcaucasia, for example, during the killing spree between the 

Armenians and Azeris, but the government was declared guilty only in the affair of Kishinev.

“The Jews,” wrote D. Pasmanik, “have never imputed the pogrom to the people, they have 

always accused the power and the administration exclusively… No facts could ever shake this 

opinion, a furthermore perfectly superficial opinion.”234 And Biekerman emphasised that it 

was a matter of public knowledge that pogroms were for the government a form of struggle 

against the revolution. More circumspect minds reasoned thus: if in the recent pogroms no 

technical preparation by the power is attested, “the state of mind which reigns in Saint 

Petersburg is such that any virulent judeophobe will find among the authorities, from the 

minister to the last sergeant of town, a benevolent attitude towards him.” Yet the Kishinev trial, 

which took place in the autumn of 1903, showed exactly the opposite.

For the liberal and radical opposition, this trial was to be transformed into a battle against the 

autocracy. Were sent as “civil parties” eminent lawyers, Jews and Christians—Mr. 

Karabchevsky, O. Gruzenberg, S. Kalmanovitch, A. Zaroudny, N. Sokolov. The “brilliant left-wing 

advocate” P. Pereverzev and a few others joined as defenders of the accused “so that they 

would not be afraid to tell the court… who had prompted them to start the carnage”235—to 

clarify: to say that it was the power that had armed them. The “civil parties” demanded that 

further investigation be carried out and that the “real culprits” should be placed on the stand. 

The authorities did not publish the transcripts so as not to exacerbate the passions in the city of 

Kishinev, nor those already white-hot of world opinion. Things were all the easier: the squad of 
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activists who surrounded the “civil parties” made their own reports and sent them through the 

world, via Romania, for publication. This, however, did not modify the course of the trial. The 

killers’ faces were scrutinized, but the culprits were undoubtedly the authorities—guilty only, it 

is true, of not having intervened in a timely manner. At that point, the group of lawyers split a 

collective statement stating that “if the court refuses to bring to justice and punish the main 

culprits of the pogrom”—that is, not some ordinary Governor Von Raaben (he no longer 

interested anyone), but indeed Minister Plehve himself and the central government of Russia—

“they [the defenders] will have nothing more to do in this trial.” For they “encountered such 

hostility on the part of the court that it gave them no possibility… to defend freely and in 

conscience the interests of their clients, as well as those of justice.”236 This new tactic of the 

lawyers, which constituted a purely political approach, proved to be quite fertile and promising; 

it made a great impression on the whole world. “The action of lawyers has been approved by all 

the best minds in Russia.”237

The trial before the Criminal Division of Odessa was now proceeding in order. The 

prognostications of Western newspapers that “the trial of Kishinev will only be a masquerade, a 

parody of justice,”238 were not confirmed in any way. The accused, in view of their number, 

had to be divided into several groups according to the gravity of the charge. As mentioned 

above, there were no Jews among the accused.239 The chief of the gendarmerie of the 

province had already announced in April that out of 816 people arrested, 250 had been 

dismissed for inconsistency of the charges against them, 446 had immediately been the subject 

of judicial decisions (as evidenced in the Times), and “persons convicted by the court have been 

sentenced to the heaviest penalties”; about 100 were seriously charged, including 36 accused of 

murder and rape (in November, they will be 37). In December, the same chief of the 

gendarmerie announced the results of the trial: deprivation of rights, property, and penal 

colony (seven years or five years), deprivation of rights and disciplinary battalion (one year and 

one and a half years). In all, 25 convictions and 12 acquittals.240 The real culprits of real crimes 

had been condemned, the ones we have described. The condemnations, however, were not 

tender—“the drama of Kishinev ends on a usual contradiction in Russia: in Kishinev, criminals 

seem to be subjected to a rigorous judicial repression,” the American Jewish Yearbook stated, 

astonished.241

In the spring of 1904, the Cassation proceedings in Petersburg were made public.242 And in 

1905 the Kishinev pogrom was once again examined in the Senate; Winaver took the floor to 

prove nothing new.
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In reality, the affair of the Kishinev pogrom had inflicted a hard lesson on the tsarist 

government by revealing to it that a State that tolerates such infamy is a scandalously impotent 

State. But the lesson would have been equally clear without poisonous falsifications or false 

additions. Why did the simple truth about Kichinev’s pogrom seem insufficient? Presumably 

because this truth would have reflected the true nature of the government—a sclerotic 

organisation, guilty of bullying the Jews, but which remained unsteady and incoherent. 

However, with the aid of lies, it was represented as a wise persecutor, infinitely sure of himself, 

and evil. Such an enemy could only deserve annihilation.

The Russian government, which for a long time already had been largely surpassed on the 

international stage, did not understand, either on the spot nor afterwards, what a shocking 

defeat it had just wiped out there. This pogrom soiled a stinking stain on all of Russian history, 

all the ideas that the world had of Russia as a whole; the sinister gleam of fire projected by it 

announced and precipitated the upheavals which were soon to shake the country.

Chapter 9

During the Revolution of 1905

The Kishinev pogrom produced a devastating and indelible effect on the Jewish community in 

Russia. Jabotinsky: Kishinev traces “the boundary between two epochs, two psychologies.” The 

Jews of Russia have not only experienced deep sorrow, but, more profoundly so, “something 

which had almost made one forget the pain—and that was shame.”1 “If the carnage of Kishinev 

played a major role in the realisation of our situation, it was because we then realised that the 

Jews were cowards.”2

We have already mentioned the failure of the police and the awkwardness of the authorities—it 

was therefore natural that the Jews had asked themselves the question: should we continue to 

rely on the protection of public authorities? Why not create our own armed militias and defend 

ourselves weapons in hand? They were incited by a group of prominent public men and 

writers—Doubnov, Ahad Haam, Rovnitsky, Ben-Ami, Bialik: “Brothers… cease weeping and 

begging for mercy. Do not expect any help from your enemies. Only rely on your own arms!”3
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These calls “produced on Jewish youth the effect of an electric shock.”4 And in the overheated 

atmosphere that began to reign after the Kishinev pogrom, “armed groups of self-defence” 

quickly saw the light at various locations in the Pale of Settlement. They were generally 

financed “by the Jewish community”5, and the illegal introduction of weapons from abroad did 

not pose a problem for the Jews. It was not unusual for these weapons to fall into the hands of 

very young people.

Official reports do not indicate the existence of armed groups among the Christian population. 

The government struggled as best it could against the bombs of terrorists. When armed militias 

began to develop, it saw in them—it is only natural—totally illegal demonstrations, the 

premises of the civil war, and it banned them by the means and information it had at its 

disposal. (Also today, the whole world condemns and prohibits “illegal paramilitary 

formations.”)

A highly operational armed group was formed in Gomel under the direction of the local 

committee of the Bund. On March 1st, 1903, the latter had organised “festivities” for the 

anniversary of the “execution of Alexander II.”6 In this city, where Christians and Jews were 

nearly equal in number7, and the socialist Jews were more than determined, the establishment 

of armed groups of self-defence was particularly strong. This was to be noted during the events 

of August 29th and September 1st 1903—the Gomel pogrom.

According to the findings of the official investigation, the responsibility for the Gomel pogrom is 

shared: Christians and Jews mutually attacked each other.

Let us take a closer look at the official documents of the time, in this case the indictment of the 

Gomel affair, based on the police reports drawn up on the spot. (Police reports, which date 

back to the early twentieth century in Russia, have repeatedly proven their accuracy and their 

irreproachable precision—and this up to the hustle and bustle of the days of February 1917, up 

to the moment where the police stations of Petrograd were vested by the insurgents, burnt 

down—since then, this stream of minutely-recorded information was cut off, and remained so 

for us.)
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At the Gomel trial, the indictment states: “The Jewish population… began to procure weapons 

and to organise self-defence circles in the event of trouble directed at the Jews… Some 

residents of Gomel had the opportunity to attend Jewish youth training sessions outside the city 

and which gathered up to a hundred people practising shooting guns.”8

“The generalisation of the possession of weapons, on the one hand, the awareness of one’s 

numerical superiority and cohesion, on the other hand, have emboldened the Jewish 

population to the extent that, among its youth, they spoke not only of self-defence, but of 

indispensable revenge for the Kishinev pogrom.”

Thus hatred expressed in one place is reflected in another, distant—and against the innocent.

“For some time past, the attitude of the Jews of Gomel has become not only contemptuous, 

but frankly provocative; the attacks—both verbal and physical—on peasants and workers have 

become commonplace, and the Jews display their contempt in all sorts of ways even against the 

Russians belonging to higher social strata, for example, by forcing soldiers to change sidewalk.” 

On August 29th, 1903, everything started with a banal incident in a market: an altercation 

between the herring merchant Malitskaya and her client Chalykov; she spat in his face, the 

dispute turned into a brawl, “immediately several Jews rushed upon Chalykov, threw him to the 

ground, and began to strike him with everything they could put their hands on. A dozen 

peasants wanted to defend Chalykov, but the Jews immediately emitted whistles previously 

agreed upon, causing a considerable influx of other Jews… No doubt these whistles were a call 

for help… thus they immediately mobilised the entire Jewish population of the city”; “on foot, 

by car, armed as they could, the Jews flocked to the market everywhere. Very soon, the Street 

of the Market, the market itself and all the adjacent streets were swarming with people; The 

Jews were armed with stones, sticks, hammers, specially-made clubs or even simply iron bars. 

Everywhere shouts were heard: ‘Let’s go, Jews! To the market! It is the pogrom of the 

Russians!’ And all this mass went into small groups to pursue the peasants to strike them”—and 

the latter were numerous, on a market day. “Leaving there their purchases, the peasants—

when they had time—jumped on their chariots and hastened to leave the city… Witnesses say 

that when they caught Russians, the Jews beat them without mercy, they beat old people, 

women and even children. For example, a little girl was pulled out of a chariot and dragged by 

her hair on the roadway.” “A peasant by the name of Silkov had placed himself at some distance 

to enjoy the spectacle while nibbling a piece of bread. At that moment, a Jew who ran behind 

him struck his throat with a mortal knife wound, then disappeared among the crowd.” Other 

episodes are listed. An officer was only saved thanks to the intervention of Rabbi Maiants and 
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the owner of the neighbouring house, Rudzievsky. Upon arriving at the scene, the police were 

welcomed “on the Jews’ side, by a hail of stones and by revolver shots… which started not only 

from the crowd but also from the balconies of neighbouring buildings”; “the violence against 

the Christian population continued almost until the evening, and it was only with the arrival of a 

detachment from the army that the mobs of Jews were dispersed”; “the Jews struck the 

Russians, and especially the peasants, who… were incapable of any resistance, either because of 

their small number compared to that of the Jews or because of their lack of defences… That 

day, all the victims were Russians… many wounded, people beaten to a pulp.”9 The indictment 

concludes with regard to the events of August 29th that they “undeniably had the character of 

an ‘anti-Russian pogrom’.”10

These facts caused “deep indignation among the Christian population”, which reinforced “the 

euphoric mood” of the Jews, their “enthusiasm”…: “We are no longer in Kishinev!” On 

September 1st, after the midday siren, the railway workers were abnormally noisy as they left 

the workshops, shouts and exclamations were heard, and the chief of police ordered to block 

the bridge leading to the city. Then the workers spread to the neighbouring streets and “stones 

flew to the windows of houses inhabited by Jews,” while “in the city were beginning to form 

large gatherings of Jews” who “threw from a distance pieces of wood and stones onto the 

crowd of workers”; “two paving stones thrown by the Jewish crowd” struck a police 

commissioner in the back who fell unconscious. The Russian crowd began to yell: “the kikes 

have killed the commissary!” and undertook to sack Jewish houses and shops. The intervention 

of the troop, which separated the adversaries and deployed itself in the face of both, prevented 

the shedding of blood. On the Jews’ side, stones were thrown, and revolver shots were fired at 

the soldiers “with a shower of insults.” The commander asked Rabbi Maiants and Doctor 

Zalkind to intervene with the Jews, but “their appeals for calm were of no effect and the crowd 

continued its agitation”; it was only possible to draw it back by pointing the bayonets. The main 

success of the army was to prevent “the breakers from reaching the city centre, where were 

found the shops and houses of the wealthy Jews.” Then the pogrom moved to the outskirts of 

the city. The chief of the police still tried to exhort the crowd, but they cried out: “You are with 

the Jews, you have betrayed us! The salvos drawn by the troops upon the Russians as well as on 

the Jews curbed the pogrom, but two hours later it resumed in the suburbs—again shootings on 

the crowd, several dead and wounded, and then the pogrom ceased. However, the indictment 

refers to the presence in the city centre of “groups of Jews who conducted themselves in a very 

provocative manner and opposed the army and the police… As on 29 August, all were armed… 

many brandished revolvers and daggers”, “going as far as firing shots or throwing stones on the 

troops charged to protect their property”; “they attacked the Russians who ventured alone in 

the streets, including the soldiers”: a peasant and a beggar were killed. During that day, three 

middle-class Jews succumbed to “deadly wounds”. Towards the evening the disorders ceased. 

Five Jews and four Christians had been killed. “Nearly 250 commercial or residential premises 
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belonging to Jews had been affected by the pogrom.” On the Jewish side, “the overwhelming 

majority of active participants in the events consisted exclusively of… young people,” but many 

“more mature” people, as well as children, had handed them stones, boards, and logs.”11

No description of these events can be found by any Jewish writer.

“The Gomel pogrom had not taken its organisers off guard. It had been prepared for a long 

time, the formation of self-defence had been put in place soon after the events of Kishinev.”12 

Only a few months after Kishinev, the Jews could no longer despise themselves for the resigned 

attitude with which they were accused of, among others, by the poet Bialik. And, as always 

happens with armed groups of this type, the boundary between defence and attack became 

blurred. The first was fed by the Kishinev pogrom, the second of the revolutionary spirit of the 

organisers.

(Activism of Jewish youth had already manifested itself before. Thus, in 1899, the “Chklov 

affair” was revealed: in this city where there were nine Jews for a Russian, disarmed Russian 

soldiers—they were demobilised—were severely beaten by Jews. After examining this episode, 

the Senate considered it to be a manifestation of ethnic and religious hatred of Jews towards 

Russians under the same article of the Penal Code as that had been applied to the trial of those 

responsible for the Kishinev pogrom.)

This activism must not be accounted for solely by the Bund. “At the head of this process [of 

creating, at a steady pace, organisations of self-defence] are found the Zionists and the parties 

close to Zionism—the Zionist-Socialists and the ‘Poalei Zion’.” Thus, it is how in Gomel, in 1903, 

“the majority of the detachments were organised by the ‘Poalei Zion’ party.”13 (Which 

contradicts Buchbinder, fervent admirer of the Bund—I do not really know whom to believe.)

When the news of Gomel’s pogrom reached Saint Petersburg, the Jewish Defence Office 

dispatched two lawyers—still Zaroudny and N. D. Sokolov—to proceed to a private investigation 

as soon as possible. Zaroudny once again gathered “irrefutable proofs” that the pogrom had 

been organised by the Department of Security,14 but here also, they were not made public. 

(Thirty years later, even Sliosberg, who participated in the trials of Gomel, followed suit in his 

Memoirs in three volumes, asserting, without any shred of evidence—which seems 
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incomprehensible on the part of a lawyer—, mistaking the dates—and those errors that can be 

attributed to age, he found no one to correct them—, that the Gomel pogrom had been 

deliberately organised by the police. He excludes also all offensive action on the part of the self-

defence detachments of the Bund and of the Poalei Zion. (He speaks of it incoherently and 

confusedly, for example: “The young people of the self-defence groups quickly put an end to 

the misbehaviour and drove out the peasants”, “the young Jews gathered promptly and, on 

more than one occasion, they were able to repel the rioters,”15 just like that, without using any 

weapons? …)

The official investigation was proceeding seriously, step by step—and during that time Russia 

was plunging into the Japanese war. And it was not until October 1904 that Gomel’s trial took 

place—in a white-hot political atmosphere.

Forty-four Christians and 36 Jews appeared before the court; Nearly a thousand people were 

called to the witness stand.16 The Defence Office was represented by several lawyers: 

Sliosberg, Kupernik, Mandelstam, Kalmanovich, Ratner, Krohl. From their point of view, it was 

unjust that even a single Jew should be included in the bench of the accused: for the entire 

Jewish community in Russia “it was like a warning against recourse to self-defence.”17 From the 

government’s point of view, this was not “self-defence”. But the lawyers of the Jewish 

defendants did not deal with the details, nor the Jewish property that had really been sacked—

they focused only on one thing: to uncover the “political motives” of the pogrom, for example, 

to point out that Jewish youth, in the midst of the fray, was shouting: “Down with the 

autocracy!” In fact, shortly afterwards, they decided to abandon their clients and leave the 

courtroom collectively in order to send an even stronger message: to repeat the precedent of 

the Kishinev trial.18

This method, as skilful as it was revolutionary, was entirely in the air of the time in December 

1904: these liberal advocates wanted to explode the judicial system itself!

After their departure, “the trial quickly came to an end” insofar as it was now possible to 

examine the facts. Some of the Jews were acquitted, the others were sentenced to penalties 

not exceeding five months; “The condemnations which befell the Christians were equal to those 

of the Jews.”19 In the end, there were about as many convictions on one side as on the 

other.20
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*

By plunging into the Japanese war, by adopting a rigid and insightful stance in the conflict over 

Korea, neither the Emperor Nicholas II nor the high dignitaries around him realised how much, 

on the international plane, Russia was vulnerable to the west and especially to the “traditionally 

friendly” America. Nor did they take into account the rise of Western financiers, who were 

already influencing the policy of the great powers, increasingly dependent on credit. In the 

nineteenth century things did not happen this way yet, and the Russian government, always 

slow to react, did not know how to perceive these changes.

However, after the Kishinev pogrom, Western opinion had become firmly established in an 

attitude of repulsion towards Russia, considered as an old scarecrow, an Asiatic and despotic 

country where obscurantism reigns, where the people are exploited, where the revolutionaries 

are treated without pity, subjected to inhuman sufferings and deprivations, and now they are 

massacring the Jews “by the thousands”, and behind all this there is the hand of the 

government! (As we have seen, the government was unable to rectify this distorted version of 

the facts in time, with energy and efficiency.) So, in the West, people began to consider it 

appropriate, even worthy of consideration, to hope that the revolution would break out in 

Russia as soon as possible: it would be a good thing for the whole world—and for the Jews of 

Russia in particular.

And, above all, the incompetence, the incapacity, the unpreparedness to conduct far-off 

military operations against a country that at that time seemed small and weak, in the context of 

an agitated, openly hostile public opinion, that longed for the defeat of its own country.

The sympathy of the United States for Japan expressed itself abundantly in the American press. 

It “hailed every Japanese victory and did not hide its desire to see Russia undergo a rapid and 

decisive setback.”21 Witte mentions twice in his Memoirs that President Theodore Roosevelt 

was on the side of Japan and supported it.22 And Roosevelt himself: “As soon as this war broke 

out I brought to Germany’s and France’s attention, with the utmost courtesy and discretion, 

that in case of an anti-Japanese agreement” with Russia “I would immediately take the side of 

Japan and would do everything in the future to serve its interests.”23 It may be supposed that 

Roosevelt’s intentions were not unknown to Japan.
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And it was there that the very powerful banker Jakob Schiff appeared—one of the greatest of 

the Jews, he who could realise his ideals thanks to his exceptional position in the economic 

sphere.”24 “From his earliest years Schiff took care of business affairs”; he emigrated from 

Germany to New York and soon became head of the Bank Kuhn, Loeb & Co. In 1912, “he is in 

America the king of rail, owner of twenty-two thousand miles of railroads”; “he also has a 

reputation as an energetic and generous philanthropist; he is particularly sensitive to the needs 

of the Jewish community.”25 Schiff was particularly keen on the fate of the Russian Jews—

hence his hostility towards Russia until 1917. According to the Encyclopædia Judaica (in 

English), “Schiff made a remarkable contribution to the allocation of credits to his own 

government and to that of other countries, particularly pointing out a loan of 200 million dollars 

to Japan during the conflict opposing it to Russia in 1904‒1905. Outraged by the anti-Semitic 

policy of the tsarist regime in Russia, he eagerly supported the Japanese war effort. He 

constantly refused to participate in lending to Russia and used his influence to deter other 

institutions from doing so, while granting financial aid to the self-defence groups of Russian 

Jews.”26 But while it is true that this money allowed the Bund and the Poalei Zion to supply 

themselves with weapons, it is no less likely that they also benefited from other revolutionary 

organisations in Russia (including the S.-R. who, at the time, practised terrorism). There is 

evidence that Schiff, in an interview with an official of the Ministry of Finance of Russia, G. A. 

Vilenkine, who was also one of his distant relatives, “acknowledged that he contributed to the 

financing of the revolutionary movement in Russia” and that “things had gone too far”27 to put 

an end to it.

However, in Russia, Baron G. O. Ginzburg continued to intervene in favour of equal rights for 

the Jews. To this end, in 1903 he visited Witte at the head of a Jewish delegation. The latter 

(who had already dealt with the Jewish question when he was secretary-general of the 

government) replied to them then: that the Jews should be granted equal rights only gradually, 

but “in order for the question to be raised, the Jews must adopt ‘a completely different 

behaviour’,” that is to say, to refrain from interfering in the political life of the country. “It is not 

your business, leave it to those who are Russian by blood and civil status, it is not for you to give 

us lessons, you should rather take care of yourself.” Ginzburg, Sliosberg, and Koulicher agreed 

with this opinion, other participants did not, particularly Winaver, who objected: “The time has 

come to grant equal rights to all the subjects [of the empire]… The Jews must support with all 

their strength those of the Russians who fight for it, and thus against the power in place.”28

From the Japanese war, from the beginning of 1904, the Russian government sought financial 

support from the West, and in order to obtain it, was willing to promise an extension of the 
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rights of the Jews. At Plehve’s request, high personalities came into contact with Baron 

Ginzburg on this subject, and Sliosberg was sent abroad to survey the opinion of the greatest 

Jewish financiers. As a matter of principle, Schiff “declined all bargaining over the number and 

nature of the rights granted to the Jews.” He could “enter into financial relations only with a 

government that recognises to all its citizens the equality of civic and political rights… ‘One can 

only maintain financial relations with civilized countries’.” In Paris, Baron de Rothschild also 

refused: “I am not prepared to mount any financial operation whatsoever, even if the Russian 

government brings improvements to the fate of the Jews.”29

Witte succeeded in obtaining a large loan without the help of Jewish financial circles. 

Meanwhile, in 1903‒1904, the Russian government had undertaken to lift certain provisions 

limiting the rights of the Jews (we have already mentioned them in part). The first step in this 

direction, and the most important, had been, during Plehve’s lifetime, and by way of derogation 

of the 1882 Regulations, the lifting of the prohibition on Jews settling in 101 densely populated 

localities which were not considered cities despite significant industrial and commercial activity, 

particularly in the grain trade.30 Secondly, the decision to promote a group of Jews to the rank 

of avowed attorneys, which had not been done since 1889.31 After the assassination of Plehve 

and the era of “confidence” inaugurated by the short-lived minister of the Interior Sviatopolk-

Mirsky, this process continued. Thus, for Jews with higher education, the lifting of restrictive 

measures taken in 1882 took place, including the right to settle in areas previously prohibited to 

them, such as those of the Army of the Don, of Kuban, of Terek. The ban on residence in the 

border strip of 50 versts was also lifted; they re-established the right (abolished under 

Alexander II after 1874) to reside throughout the whole territory of the empire for “the brass of 

the army of Jewish origin… with exemplary service records.”32 On the occasion of the birth of 

the heir to the throne, in 1904, amnesty was decreed on the fines, which had befallen the Jews 

who had evaded their military obligations.

But all these concessions came too late. In the node of the Japanese war that surrounded 

Russia, they were henceforth not accepted, as we have seen, neither by Western Jewish 

financiers, nor by the majority of Jewish politicians in Russia, nor, with strong reason, by Jewish 

youth. And in response to statements made by Sviatopolk-Mirsky when he took office—

promising relief in both the Pale of Settlement and the choice of an activity—a declaration of 

“more than six thousand people” (The signatures had been collected by the Jewish Democratic 

Group): “We consider all efforts to satisfy and appease the Jewish population by partial 

improvements in their condition as futile. We consider as null and void any policy of gradually 

lifting the prohibitions weighing on us… We are waiting for equal rights… we make of it a matter 

of honour and justice.”33
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It had become easier to weigh on a government entangled in war.

It goes without saying that, in a context in which cultivated Russian society had only contempt 

for power, it was difficult to expect Jewish youth to manifest massively its patriotic enthusiasm. 

According to the data provided by General Kushropkin, then Minister of War, then commander-

in-chief of the eastern front, “in 1904 the number of insubordinates among the Jewish 

conscripts doubled compared with the year 1903; more than 20,000 of them have evaded their 

military obligations without good cause. Out of 1,000 conscripts, more than 300 were missing, 

while among the Russian conscripts this number fell to only 2 per 1,000. As for the Jewish 

reservists, they deserted en masse on the way to the area of military operations.”34

An American statistic suggests indirectly that from the beginning of the Japanese war there was 

a wave of mass emigration of Jews of military service age. During the two years of war, the 

figures for Jewish immigration to the United States increased very sharply for people of working 

age (14‒44 years) and men: the former were 29,000 more than what they were expected, 

(compared to other immigrant categories); the second, 28,000 more (compared to women). 

After the war, the usual proportions were found.35 (The Kievian newspaper reported at the 

time that “from 20,000 to 30,000 Jewish soldiers and reservists… have gone into hiding or fled 

abroad.”36 In the article “Military service in Russia” of the Jewish Encyclopædia, we can see a 

comparative picture of insubordination among Jews and Christians, according to official figures, 

the proportion of the former compared with the latter is 30 to one in 1902 and 34 to one in 

1903. The Jewish Encyclopædia indicates that these figures can also be explained by emigration, 

deaths not taken into account, or miscalculations, but the inexplicable absence in this table of 

statistical data for 1904 and 1905, leaves no possibility of obtaining a precise idea of the extent 

of the insubordination during the war.37

As for the Jewish fighters, the Jewish Encyclopædia says that there were between 20,000 and 

30,000 during the war, not to mention the 3,000 Jews serving as doctors; and it points out that 

even the newspaper Novoïe Vremia, although hostile to the Jews, recognised their courageous 

behaviour in combat.38 These statements are corroborated by the testimony of General 

Denikin “In the Russian army, the Jewish soldiers, resourceful and conscientious, adapted well, 

even in times of peace. But in times of war all differences were self-effacing, and individual 

courage and intelligence were also recognised.”39 A historical fact: the heroism of Iossif 

Troumpeldor who, having lost a hand, asked to remain in the ranks. In fact, he was not the only 
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one to distinguish himself.40

At the end of this war lost by Russia, President Theodore Roosevelt agreed to mediate the talks 

with Japan (Portsmouth, USA). Witte, who led the Russian delegation, evokes “this delegation 

of Jewish big shots who came to see me twice in America to talk to me about the Jewish 

question.” These were Jakob Schiff, the eminent lawyer Louis Marshall and Oscar Strauss, 

among others. The position of Russia had become rather uncomfortable, which imposed a more 

conciliatory tone on the Russian minister than in 1903. Witte’s arguments “raised violent 

objections on the part of Schiff.”41 Fifteen years later, Kraus, one of the members of this 

delegation, who in 1920 became president of the B’nai B’rith Lodge, said: “If the tsar does not 

give his people the freedoms to which it is entitled, the revolution will be able to establish a 

republic that will allow access to these freedoms.”42

During the same weeks, a new danger began to undermine Russian-American relations. On his 

way back to Witte, T. Roosevelt asked him to inform the Emperor that the trade agreement 

which had long bound (1832) his country to Russia would suffer if it applied confessional 

restrictions to American businessmen going to its territory.43 This protest, which, of course, 

was a matter of principle, concerned, in practice, a significant number of Russian Jews who had 

immigrated to the United States and had become American citizens. They returned to Russia—

often to engage in revolutionary activities—henceforth as merchants who were not subject to 

any professional or geographical limitation. This landmine could only explode a few years later.

For several years Stuttgart had published the Osvoboj-denie* magazine, and the great mass of 

cultivated Russians scarcely concealed its sympathies for the illegal organisation Union for 

Liberation. In the autumn of 1904, a “banqueting campaign” was held in all the major cities of 

Russia, where impassioned and premonitory toasts were called for the overthrow of the 

“regime”. Participants from abroad also spoke in public (such as Tan Bogoraz).

“Political unrest had penetrated all layers of the Jewish community.” The latter was engulfed in 

this bubbling, without distinction of classes or parties. Thus “many Jewish public men, even of 

patriotic sensibility, were part of the Union for Liberation.”44 Like all Russian liberals, they 

proved to be “defeatists” during the Japanese war. Like them, they applauded the “executions” 

of the ministers Bogolepov, Sipiagin, Plehve. And this entire “progressive” Russia pushed even 

the Jews in this direction, unable to admit that a Jew could be more on the right than a left-wing 

democrat, but feeling that he should, more naturally yet, be a socialist. A Conservative Jew? 
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Ugh! Even in an academic institution such as the Jewish Historical-Ethnographic Commission, “in 

these tumultuous years there was no time to serenely engage in scientific research…” it was 

necessary “to make History”.45 “The radical and revolutionary movements within the Russian 

Jewish community have always been based on the idea that the problem of equal rights… the 

fundamental historical question of the Jews of Russia, would be solved only when one would 

cut once for all the head of the Medusa and all the serpents that spring from it.”46

During these years in Saint Petersburg, the Jewish Defence Office developed its activities with 

the aim of “fighting anti-Semitic literature and disseminating appropriate information on the 

legal situation of Jews in order to influence mainly the opinion of liberal Russian circles.” 

(Sliosberg points out that these activities were largely subsidised by the international EK0*.47) 

But it was not so much Russian society that it was a question of influencing. The Bureau did not 

open branches in Russia, not even in Moscow, Kiev, or Odessa: on the one hand, Zionist 

propaganda absorbed all the energy of the most cultivated Jews; on the other, “Bund 

propaganda mobilised the greater part of the educated Jewish youth.” (Sliosberg insisting that 

the Bund be condemned, Winaver objected that he should not quarrel with the Bund: “it 

disposes of energy and propaganda power.”48 However, the Bureau soon maintained a strong 

relationship, built on reciprocal information and mutual aid, with the American Jewish 

Committee (chaired by J. Schiff, then Louis Marshall), the English Jewish Committee (Claude 

Montefiore, Lucine Woolf), the Alliance in Paris and the Support Committee of the German Jews 

(Hilfsverein der deutschen Juden: James Simon, Paul Nathan49).

Here is the testimony of M. Krohl: “The heart of our group was the ‘Press Office’[whose mission 

was to disseminate] through the Russian and foreign press serious information about the 

situation of the Jews in Russia.” It was A. I. Braudo who undertook this task. “He accomplished it 

perfectly. Under the conditions of the Russia of that time, this kind of work required a great 

deal of prudence,” was to be carried out “in the greatest secrecy. Even the members of the 

Defence Office did not know by what means or by what channels he had succeeded in 

organising such and such a press campaign… A large number of articles published in the Russian 

or foreign press of the time, often with great repercussions, had been communicated to the 

newspapers or magazines either personally by Braudo, or through his intermediary.”50

“Providing serious information” to launch “this or that press campaign”—it is a bit chilling, 

especially in light of what happened in the 20th century. In today’s language, it is called “skilful 

manipulation of the media.”
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In March 1905 the Defence Bureau convened in Vilnius the Constituent Congress of the “Union 

for the Equal Rights for the Jewish People in Russia,”51 but it quickly proceeded to its self-

dissolution and joined the direction of the Union for the integrality of rights (the expression 

“integrality”, because it was stronger than that of “equal rights”, had been proposed by 

Winaver. Today, we evoke it under a hybrid form such as the “Union for Achieving Integral 

Equality of Rights”52).

It was wanted that this new Union bring together all Jewish parties and groups.53 But the Bund 

denounced this congress as a bourgeois. However, many Zionists could not remain in their 

splendid isolation. The prodromes of the Russian revolution led to a split in their ranks. And 

some of these fractions did not resist the temptation to participate in the great things that 

unfolded before their eyes! But in so doing, they exerted an influence on the strictly civic 

orientation of the congress agenda. The idea was making its way not only to fight for civic rights 

but also, with the same energy, for national rights.54

Sliosberg fought against the influence of the Zionists “who wanted to withdraw the Jews from 

the number of citizens of Russia” and whose demands “were often formulated only for 

demagogic reasons.” For the Jewish community in Russia “has in no way been limited in the 

expression of its national life… Was it appropriate to raise the question of national autonomy of 

the Jews when none of the nationalities living in Russia possessed it, whereas the Russian 

people themselves, in their orthodox part, were far from being free in the expression of their 

religious and national life?” But, “at that time, demagogy assumed a very special significance in 

the Jewish backstreet.”55

Thus, in place of the notion, clear in the eyes of everyone, of “equality of rights”, which 

certainly had not yet happened, but seemed no longer to lag behind political developments, the 

slogan was issued for the integrality of rights of the Jews. What was meant by this was that, in 

addition to equal rights, “national autonomy” was also recognised. “It must be said that those 

who formulated these requirements did not have a very clear idea of their content. The 

creation of Jewish schools was not limited by any law. The study of the Russian language was 

required… insofar as it was not a question of Heders.* But other more civilised countries also 

imposed the use of the State language in relations with the administration as well as in 

school.56 Thus, there was no “national autonomy” for the Jews in the United States. But the 

“obtentionists” (“Union for the obtention…”) demanded “national and cultural self-
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determination” on the territory of Russia, as well as a substantial autonomy for the Jewish 

communities (and, in the same breath: the secularisation of these, to tear them away from the 

religious influence of Judaism—which suited both the Zionists and the Socialists). Later, this was 

called “national-personal autonomy”. (Accompanied by the requirement that the Jewish 

cultural and social institutions be financed by the State but without it interfering in their 

functioning.) And how can we imagine the “self-management” of a nation scattered 

territorially? The Second Congress of the Union, in November 1905, took the decision to 

convene a Jewish National Assembly of Russia.57

All these ideas, including the “national-personal autonomy” of the Jews of Russia, were 

expressed and continued in various forms until 1917. However, the Union for the Integrality of 

Rights proved ephemeral. At the end of 1906, the Jewish People’s Anti-Zionist Group seceded 

(Winaver, Sliosberg, Koulicher, Sternberg) on the grounds that it refused the idea of a Jewish 

National Assembly; shortly afterwards it was the turn of the Jewish People’s Party (S. 

Doubnov—religious and cultural nationalism, notably the right to use the Jewish language in 

public life throughout the country, but with what means, how?); then the Jewish Democratic 

Group (Bramson, Landau), close to the Labour Party.58 The Union for the integrality of rights 

was also accused of having rallied to the KD and, consequently, was “no longer being able to 

represent the Jewish population of Russia”; the Zionists regarded the “secularists” as “partisans 

of assimilation”, and the socialists as bourgeois.59 In short, at the beginning of 1907, the Union 

ceased to exist.60

The Zionists were increasingly drawn into the revolutionary whirlpool, and in November 1906, 

at their All-Russian Congress in Helsinfors, it was declared “indispensable not only to turn to the 

daily needs and demands of the Jews of Russia, but also to engage fully in their political and 

social struggle”61; Jabotinsky insisted that the Zionist program should include the requirement 

of the establishment in Russia of the sovereignty of the people; D. Pasmanik objected that 

“such a demand can only be made by those who are ready to stand on the barricades.”62 At the 

end of its work, the Congress brought its “sanction to the rallying of the Zionists to the 

Liberation Movement”.63 But the latter was just about to lose momentum after the failure of 

Vyborg’s manifesto.*

The author of this program, Jabotinsky, put forward the following arguments: the goal set by 

Zionism can only be reached in several decades, but by fighting for their full rights, Jews will 

understand better what Zionism is.64 However, he said: “We leave the first ranks to the 

representatives of the majority nation. We cannot pretend to play a leading role: we are 
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aligning ourselves.65 In other words: Palestine is one thing; in the meantime, let us fight in 

Russia. Three years earlier, Plehve had told Herzl that he feared precisely this kind of drift of 

Zionism.

Sliosberg is far from minimising the role of the Zionists: “After the Congress of Helsinfors, they 

decided to take control of all public activities of the Jews” by trying to “impose their influence 

at the local level”. (In the first Duma, of the 12 Jewish deputies, five were Zionists.) But he also 

notes that this profusion of parties was “the business of small circles of intellectuals”, not of the 

Jewish masses, and their propaganda “only caused to confuse the issues.”66

True, all this scattering did not contribute to the clarification of the debate: it was no longer 

very clear what the Russian Jews were fighting, for what rights—equal or integral?—or on which 

plan—civic or national?

And, let us not forget: “All these groups composed only of intellectuals… did not understand 

Orthodox Jews, who eventually understood the need to organise to combat the growing anti-

religious influence exerting itself on Jewish youth.” And it was thus that “was born what was 

later to develop in ‘T’Agoudat Israel’.” “This movement was concerned that “Jewish 

revolutionary elements are recruited among the Jewish youth who have moved away from 

religion,” whereas “the majority of the Jews are religious and, while demanding recognition of 

their rights and the lifting of the prohibitions against them, remain loyal subjects of the 

Emperor and are far from any idea of overthrowing the existing regime.”67

When one studies the history of Russian Jews at the beginning of the twentieth century, there 

are few references to Orthodox Jews. Sliosberg once said, raising the ire of the Bund: “With the 

melameds* behind me, I rely on a greater number of Jews than the Bund leaders, for there are 

more melameds among the Jews than the workers.”68 In fact, the secularisation of Jewish 

society in no way affected the existence of traditional communities in the Pale of Settlement. 

For them, all the ancestral questions concerning the organisation of their lives, the religious 

instruction, the rabbinate, remained topical. During the temporary lull of 1909, the reform of 

the traditional Jewish community was discussed with great seriousness at the Kovno Congress. 

“The work of the Congress proved to be very fruitful, and few Jewish assemblies could have 

equalled it by the seriousness and wisdom of the resolutions adopted there.”69
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“Orthodox Judaism has always been in conflict—not always open, but rather latent—with the 

Jewish intelligentsia. It was clear that in condemning the movement for the liberation of the 

Jews it hoped to win the government’s favour.”70 But it was too late: on the eve of the 1905 

revolution, we have seen that the autocratic regime had lost control of the country. As for 

traditional Judaism, it had already lost a whole generation—moreover it was not the first—who 

had gone towards Zionism, secular liberalism, rarely enlightened conservatism, but also, and 

with the heaviest consequences, towards the revolutionary movement.

*

The new generation of revolutionaries had emerged at the turn of the century. Its leaders, 

Grigory Gershuni and Mikhail Gotz, had decided to revive the terrorist methods of The Will of 

the People. “Gershuni took upon himself the heavy responsibility of creating in Russia a new 

revolutionary party called to succeed with dignity to the Will of the People,” and “thanks to his 

talents as organiser as well as to those of other revolutionaries entirely devoted to the cause, 

this party was born at the end of the year 1901.” “At the same time… was also constituted its 

armed faction. Its creator and its inspirer was none other than the very same Gershuni.”71 

Among the S.-R.*, the Jews “immediately played a leading role.” Amongst them were “An-ski 

Rappoport, K. Jitlovsky, Ossip Minor, I. Roubanovitch” and—still him!—Mark Natanson. The 

armed faction included among its members “Abraham Gotz, Dora Brilliant, L. Zilberberg”, not to 

mention the famous Azef. It is among the S.-R. That M. Trilisser was also formed—he who later 

would become famous in the Cheka. “Among the grassroots activists of the S.-R. party, there 

were also quite a few Jews,” even though, adds Schub, “they never represented a tiny 

minority.” According to him, it is even “the most Russian” of the revolutionary parties.72 For 

security reasons, the seat of the party was transferred abroad (for example, the Bund was 

absent), in Geneva, at M. Gotz and O. Minor’s place.

As for Gershuni, this indomitable “tiger”, after succeeding in deceiving Zubatov’s** vigilance, he 

began to criss-cross Russia, like B. Savinkov, fomenting terrorist actions and checking their 

proper execution. It was thus that he was present at the Place Saint-Isaac during the 

assassination of Sipiagin***; he was at Ufa when Governor Bogdanovitch was killed73; and at 

Kharkov when it was Governor Obolensky’s turn; on the Nevsky prospect during the failed 

attack on Pobedonostsev****. The execution was always entrusted to “Christians” such as P. 

Karpovitch, S. Balmachov, E. Sozonov, etc. (The bombs used for the assassination of Plehve, 

Grand Duke Sergey Aleksandrovich, and planned attacks on Grand Duke Vladimir Alexandrovich 

and Interior Ministers Boulygin and Durnovo were made by Maximilian Schweitzer, who in 1905 
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was himself victim of the machine he was making.74) Arrested by chance, Gershuni was 

condemned to death, reprieved by the Emperor without having asked for it; in 1907 he found 

an ingenious means of escaping from the prison of Akatuysk, hiding in a cabbage-barrel, and 

then gained by way of Vladivostok, America and Europe; the Russian government demanded his 

extradition from Italy, but the European liberal opinion was unanimous in refusing it and 

Clemenceau also used his influence: he was also, as we know, a “tiger”. Soon after, Gershuni 

died of a sarcoma in the lung. Among other leading S.-R. terrorists, we must also mention 

Abraham Gotz, who played an active part in the attacks on Dournovo, Akimov, Shuvalov, 

Trepov*, and played a role in the assassination of Mine and Rieman. (But, he had the 

misfortune of living much longer than his elder brother, who died prematurely—and the 

Bolsheviks later gave him a hard time.)

To play with History, precautions were less taken than the previous revolutionary generation. 

Less well known than others, Pinhas (Pyotr) Rutenberg is not less worthy of interest. In 1905 he 

trained groups of fighters in Saint Petersburg and supplied them with weapons. Inspired by 

Gapon**, he was at his side on 9 January 1905; But it was also he who, in 1906, “by order of the 

S.-R. party, organises and supervises his assassination” (later he will author a book entitled 

Gapon’s Assassination75). In 1919, he immigrated to Palestine where he distinguished himself 

in the electrification of the country. There, he shows that he is capable of building; but in his 

early years, in Russia, he certainly does not work as an engineer, he destroys! One loses the 

trace of the “student of Zion”, irresponsible instigator of the mutiny of Sveaborg, who, 

however, escaped the slaughter that ensued.

Apart from the S.-R., each year brought with it new social-democratic fighters, theorists, and 

talkers. Some had short-lived notoriety in narrow circles, such as Alekandra Sokolovskaya, 

whom History retained only because she was Trotsky’s first wife and the mother of his two 

daughters. Others have been unjustly forgotten: Zinovy Litvine-Sedoi, the chief of staff of the 

detachments of the Krasnaya Presnia district during the armed insurrection in Moscow; Zinovy 

Dosser, a member of the “troika” who led this insurrection. Among its leaders, we can cite again 

“Marat”—V. L. Chanzer, Lev Kafenhausen, Lubotsky-Zagorsky (who for nearly a century gave his 

pseudonym*** to the monastery of The Trinity Saint Sergius) and Martin Mandelstam-Liadov, 

member of the executive Commission of the RSDLP**** for the organisation of the armed 

insurrection.76 Others—like F. Dan or O. Nakhamkis—were to play an important role later in 

1917.

Despite Bakunin’s aversion for the Jews, there are many of them among the leaders and 
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theorists of anarchism. But “other Russian anarchists, such as Kropotkin, had no hostility 

towards the Jews and tried to win them over to their cause.”77 Among these leaders are Yakov 

Novomirsky, Alexander Gue, Lev Tcherny, V. Gordine.78 One of them, I. Grossman-Rochin, 

evokes with the greatest respect the figure of Aron Eline, of Bialystok: “a famous terrorist”, but 

not only “a specialist in gory operations” “never does he fall… into ‘systematic activism’.”79 

“The least patient among the mass of Jews… are looking for a faster way to achieve socialism. 

And this recourse, this ‘ambulance’, they find in anarchism.”80 It is the Jews of Kiev and 

Southern Russia who have been most attracted to anarchism, and in the documents relating to 

the Bogrov affair* there is often mention of smaller-scale anarchists, forgotten by history.

We have already observed, but it is worth recalling, that it was not only because of the 

inequalities of which they were the victims that many Jews were rushing into the revolution. 

“The participation of the Jews in the revolutionary movement which had gained the whole of 

Russia is only partly explained by their situation of inequality… The Jews merely shared the 

general feeling of hostility towards the autocracy.81 Should we be surprised? Young people 

from the intelligentsia, both Russian and Jewish, heard in their families, all year long, only 

“crimes perpetrated by the power”, of the “government composed of assassins”, and they 

precipitated the revolutionary action with all the energy of their fury. Bogrov like the others.

In 1905, the Jewish historian S. Doubnov accused all Jewish revolutionaries of “national 

treason.” In his article entitled “Slavery in the Revolution,” he wrote: “This entire numerous 

army of young Jews, who occupy the most prominent positions in the Social Democratic Party 

and who run for positions of command, has formally cut off all ties with the Jewish community… 

You build nothing new, you are only the valets of the revolution, or its commissionaires.”82

But as time passed, the approval of the adults to their revolutionary progeny grew. This 

phenomenon was intensified among the “fathers” of the new generation and was on the whole 

more marked among the Jews than among the Russians. Meier Bomach, member of the Duma, 

declared ten years later (1916): “We do not regret that the Jews participated in the struggle for 

liberation… They were fighting for your freedom.”83 And six months later, in the conflagration 

of the new revolution, in March 1917, the celebrated lawyer O. O. Gruzenberg held these 

passionate but not unfounded remarks before the leaders of the Provisional Government and 

the Soviet of deputies of workers and soldiers: “We generously offered to the revolution a huge 

‘percentage’ of our people—almost all its flower, almost all its youth… And, when in 1905 the 

people rose up, countless Jewish fighters came to swell their ranks, carried by an irresistible 

impulse.”84 Others will say the same thing: “Historical circumstances made the Jewish masses 
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of Russia unable to not participate in the most active way in the revolution.”85 “For the Jews, 

the solution of the Jewish question in Russia was the triumph of progressive ideas in this 

country.”86

The revolutionary effervescence that had seized Russia was undoubtedly stirred up by that 

which reigned among the Jews.

However, youth alone, trained in intellectual or manual labour, could not make the revolution. 

One of the top priorities was to win over to the revolutionary cause, and to lead the industrial 

workers, and especially those of Saint Petersburg, to battle. However, as noted by the director 

of the police department at the time, “at the initial stage of its development, the workers’ 

movement… was foreign to political aspirations.” And even on the eve of January 9th, “during 

an extraordinary meeting which they had organised on December 27th, the workers chased a 

Jew who tried to make political propaganda and distribute leaflets, and three Jewish women 

who sought to propagate political ideas were apprehended.”87

In order to train the workers of Saint Petersburg, Gapon’s pseudo-religious propaganda took 

place.

On 9 January, even before the troops opened fire, it was the young Simon Rechtzammer (the 

son of the director of the Warehouse and Grain Storage Company) who took the lead of the 

only barricade erected that day (On the fourth street of Saint-Basil’s island), with the 

destruction of the telegraph and telephone lines and the attack on the police station. 

Moreover, the workers of this quarter were employed two days later “to copiously beat the 

intellectuals.”88

We know that the Russian revolutionaries who immigrated to Europe welcomed the news of 

the shooting of Petersburg with a mixture of indignation and enthusiasm: it’s about time!! Now 

it’s going to blow!! As for the propagation of this enthusiasm—and of the insurrection—in the 

Pale of Settlement, it was the tireless Bund who harnessed itself, whose hymn (An-ski said of it 

that it was “The Marseillaise of the Jewish Workers”) included the following words:
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    Enough of loving our enemies, we want to hate them!! …

    … it is ready the pyre! We will find enough logs

    For its holy flames to engulf the planet!!89

(Let us note in passing that The International was translated into Russian by Arkadi Kotz as early 

as 1912.90 Several generations were religiously imbued with his words: Stand up! The damned 

of the earth! and of the past let us make a clean slate…)

The Bund immediately issued a proclamation (“about two hundred thousand copies”): “The 

revolution has begun. It burned in the capital, its flames covering the whole country… To arms! 

Storm the armouries and seize all the weapons… Let all the streets become battlefields!”91

According to the Red Chronicle of the Soviet regime’s beginnings, “the events of 9 January in 

Saint Petersburg echoed a great deal in the Jewish workers’ movement: they were followed by 

mass demonstrations of the Jewish proletariat throughout the Pale of Settlement. At their head 

was the Bund. To ensure the massive nature of these demonstrations, detachments of the Bund 

went to workshops, factories, and even to the workers’ homes to call for the cessation of work; 

they employed force to empty the boilers of their steam, to tear off the transmission belts; they 

threatened the owners of companies, here and there shots were fired, at Vitebsk one of them 

received a jet of sulphuric acid. It was not “a spontaneous mass demonstration, but an action 

carefully prepared and organised.” N. Buchbinder regrets, however, that “almost everywhere 

the strikes were followed only by the Jewish workers… In a whole series of towns the Russian 

workers put up a strong resistance to the attempts to stop factories and plants.” There were 

week-long strikes in Vilnius, Minsk, Gomel, Riga, of two weeks in Libava. The police had to 

intervene, naturally, and in several cities the Bund constituted “armed detachments to combat 

police terror.”92 In Krinki (the province of Grodno), the strikers gunned the police, interrupted 

telegraphic communications, and for two days all the power was in the hands of the strike 

committee. “The fact that workers, and among them a majority of Jews, had thus been able to 

hold power from the beginning of 1905, was very significant of what this revolution was, and 

gave rise to many hopes.” It is no less true that the Bund’s important participation in these 

actions “might lead one to believe that discontent was above all the result of the Jews, while 
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the other nationalities were not that revolutionary.”93

The strength of the revolutionaries manifested itself through the actions, carried out in broad 

daylight, of armed detachments of “self-defence” which had been illustrated during the Gomel 

pogrom and which had since then grown considerably stronger. “Self-defence was most often in 

close contact with the armed detachments of political organisations… It can be said that the 

whole Pale of Settlement was covered by a whole network of armed self-defence groups which 

played an important military role—only a professional army could face them.”94—At the height 

of the revolution, they were joined by Zionist groups of various tendencies: “the particularly 

active participation of the Poalei Zion”, as well as “armed detachments of the ZS [Zionist 

Socialists]”, But also from SERP. So that “in the armed operations that occurred during the 

revolution, these socialists belonging to different currents of Zionism found themselves at our 

side,”95 remembers S. Dimanstein, later a prominent Bolshevik leader.

The Bund was to continue its military operations throughout this changing and uncertain year of 

1905. Special mention should be made to the April events in Jitomir. According to the Jewish 

Encyclopædia, it was a pogrom against the Jews, moreover “fomented by the police.”96 As for 

Dimanstein, who boasts of having “actively participated in the 1905 revolution on the territory 

of the so-called Pale of Settlement,” he wrote: “It was not a pogrom, but a fight against the 

troops of the counter-revolution.”97 The Jewish Encyclopædia indicates that up to twenty Jews 

were killed98; the new one: “almost fifty (according to other sources, about thirty-five).”99 

According to the latter, “disorders began after provocateurs had declared that Jews had fired 

shots on the portrait of the tsar outside the city.”100 While The Messenger of the Government 

gives as a fact that, two weeks before the pogrom, “a crowd of nearly three hundred people 

gathered outside the city… to practice shooting with revolvers… by aiming for the portrait of His 

Majesty the Emperor.” After this, several brawls broke out between the Jews and the Christians 

within the city—still according to The Messenger of the Government, the aggressors were 

mostly Jews.101 According to the new Jewish Encyclopædia, on the day of the event, “the 

Jewish detachments of self-defence heroically resisted the rioters.” From a neighbouring village, 

a group of young armed Jews came to their rescue, when, on the way, “they were stopped by 

Ukrainian peasants” at Troyanovo. “They tried to take refuge among the Jewish inhabitants of 

the village, but these did not let them in” and, a characteristic fact, “indicated to the peasants 

where two of them had been hiding”; “ten members of the detachment were killed.”102

At the time, a particularly effective manœuvre had already been devised: “The funerals of the 

victims who fell for the revolution constituted one of the most effective means of propaganda 
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capable of inflating the masses”, which had for consequence that “the fighters were aware that 

their death would be used for the profit of the revolution, that it would arouse a desire for 

vengeance among the thousands of people who were going to attend their funeral,” and that 

on these occasions “it was relatively easier to organise manifestations. The liberal circles 

considered it their duty to ensure that the police did not intervene during a funeral.” Thus “the 

funeral became one of the components of revolutionary propaganda in 1905.”103

In the summer of that year, “the police terror was massive, but there were also many acts of 

revenge on the part of the workers who threw bombs on patrols of soldiers or Cossacks, 

murdered policemen, whether officers or not; these cases were far from being isolated”, 

because it was “a step backwards or forwards for the revolution in the Jewish sector.”104 

Example: the Cossacks killed a Bund militant in Gomel; eight thousand people attend his 

funeral, revolutionary speeches are given—and the revolution advances, always advances! And 

when the time came to protest against the convening of the “Boulyguine”* consultative Duma, 

the campaign “moved from the Stock Exchange in the Jewish quarter to the synagogues… 

where speakers of the Party intervened during the service… under the protection of armed 

detachments that sealed off the exits… During these assemblies, it was frequent that 

resolutions prepared in advance were adopted without discussion”—the unfortunate faithfuls 

come to pray, did they have a choice? Go and talk to these fellows! There is no question of 

“stopping the revolutionary process at this stage…”105

The project of convocation of this consultative Duma, which was not followed up on due to the 

events of 1905, started from the assumption that they did not possess it for the designation of 

municipal self-government bodies, it had been originally planned to not grant the Jews the right 

to vote. But the revolutionary momentum was growing, the Jewish municipal councillors 

appointed by the provincial authorities resigned demonstratively here and there, and the Duma 

Elections Act of August 1905 already provided for the granting of voting rights to the Jews. But 

the revolution continued its course, and public opinion rejected this consultative Duma, which 

was therefore not united.

The tension remained high throughout this unhappy year 1905; the government was overtaken 

by the events. In the fall, strikes, notably in the railways, were being prepared everywhere in 

Russia. And, of course, the Pale of Settlement was not spared. In the region of the Northwest, 

during early October, was seen “a rapid rise… of the revolutionary energy of the masses”, “a 

new campaign of meetings takes place in the synagogues” (always in the same way, with men 

posted at exits to intimidate the faithful), “we prepare ourselves feverishly for the general 
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strike.” In Vilnius, during a meeting authorised by the governor, “some shot the immense 

portrait of the Emperor that was there, and some smashed it with chairs”; An hour later, it was 

on the governor in person that one drew—here it was, the frenzy of 1905! But in Gomel, for 

example, the Social Democrats could not agree with the Bund and “they acted in disorder”; as 

for the social revolutionists, they “joined” the Zionist Socialists; and then “bombs are thrown at 

the Cossacks, who retaliate by shooting and knocking on all those who fall under their hand, 

without distinction of nationality,”106—a very pretty revolutionary outburst! They were 

rubbing their hands!

It is not surprising that “in many places… we could observe well-to-do and religious Jews 

actively fighting the revolution. They worked with the police to track down Jewish 

revolutionaries, to break up demonstrations, strikes, and so on.” Not that it was pleasing to 

them to find themselves on the side of power. But, not having detached themselves from God, 

they refused to witness the destruction of life. Still less did they accept the revolutionary law: 

they venerated their Law. While in Bialystok and other places the young revolutionaries 

assimilated the “Union of the Jews” to the “Black Hundreds” because of its religious 

orientation.107

According to Dimanstein, the situation after the general strike in October could be summarised 

as follows: “The Bund, the ZS and other Jewish workers’ parties called for insurrection,” but 

“there a certain weariness could be perceived.”108 Later, like the Bolsheviks, the Bund 

boycotted early in the 1906109 the elections to the first Duma, still caressing the hopes of a 

revolutionary explosion. This expectation having been disappointed, it resigned itself to bring its 

positions closer to those of the Mensheviks; in 1907, at the fifth Congress of the RSDLP, of the 

305 deputies, 55 were members of the Bund. And it even became a “supporter of extreme 

Yiddishism.”110

It is in this amped atmosphere, very uncertain for the power in place, that Witte persuaded 

Nicholas II to promulgate the Manifesto of 17 October 1905. (More exactly, Witte wanted to 

publish it in the form of a simple government press release, but it is Nicholas II himself who 

insisted that the promulgation of the Manifesto, made in the name of the tsar, should assume a 

solemn character: he thought he would thus touch the hearts of his subjects.) A. D. Obolensky, 

who drew up the initial draft, reported that among the three main points of the Manifesto 

there was a special one devoted to the rights and freedoms of the Jews—but Witte (doubtlessly 

at the pressing request of the Emperor) modified its formulation by addressing in a general way 

the respect for individuals and the liberty of conscience, expression, and assembly.”111 The 
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question of the equal rights of the Jews was therefore no longer mentioned. “It was only in the 

speech published at the same time than the Manifesto… that Witte spoke of the need to 

“equalise all Russian subjects before the law irrespective of their confession and 

nationality.”112

But: we must make concessions only at the right time and in a position of strength—and this 

was no longer the case. Liberal and revolutionary opinion laughed at the Manifesto, seeing it 

only as a capitulation, and rejected it. The Emperor, like Witte, was deeply affected, but also 

certain representatives of the Jewish intelligentsia: “For what the best of the Russians had been 

waiting for decades was finally realised… In fact, the Emperor willingly surrendered the 

autocratic regime and pledged to hand over the legislative power to the representatives of the 

people… One would have thought that this change would fill everyone with joy”—but the news 

was welcomed with the same revolutionary intransigence: the struggle continues!113 In the 

streets, the national flag, the portraits of the Emperor and the coat of arms of the State were 

torn off.

The account of Witte’s interview with the Petersburg press on 18 October, following the 

promulgation of the Manifesto, is rich in information. Witte obviously expected manifestations 

of gratitude and relied on the friendly support of the press to calm the spirits, he even openly 

solicited it. He obtained only scathing replies, first from the director of the Stock Exchange 

News, S. M. Propper, then from Notovitch, Khodski, Arabajine, and Annensky; all demanded 

with one voice: proclaim immediately political amnesty! “This requirement is categorical!” 

General Trepov must be dismissed from his post as governor-general of Saint Petersburg. This is 

the unanimous decision of the press.” The unanimous decision of the press! And to withdraw 

the Cossacks and the army from the capital: “We shall not publish any more newspapers as long 

as the troops are there!” The army is the cause of the disorder… The security of the city must be 

entrusted to the “popular militia”! (That is to say, to the detachments of revolutionaries, which 

meant creating in Petersburg the conditions for a butchery, as it would soon be in Odessa, or, in 

the future, to set up in Petersburg the conditions favourable to the future revolution of 

February.) And Witte implored: “Let me breathe a little!”, “Help me, give me a few weeks!”; he 

even passed among them, shaking hands with each one.114 (For his part, he will remember 

later: Propper’s demands “meant for me that the press had lost its head.”) Despite this, the 

government had intelligence and courage to refuse the establishment of anarchy and nothing 

serious happened in the capital.

(In his Memoirs, Witte relates that Propper “had arrived in Russia from abroad, a penniless Jew 
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with no mastery of the Russian language… He had made his mark in the press and had become 

the head of the Stock Exchange News, running through the antechambers of influential figures… 

When I was Minister of Finance, [Propper] begged for official announcements, various 

advantages, and eventually obtained from me the title of commercial advisor.” However, at this 

meeting, he formulated, not without a certain insolence, “demands, even declarations” like this 

one: “We have no confidence in the government.”115)

In the course of the same month of October, The Kievian published an account of an officer 

returning to Moscow just at that moment, after a year and a half of captivity in Japan, who was 

initially moved to tears by the generosity of the Emperor’s Manifesto, which opened up 

favourable prospects for the country. At the mere sight of this officer in battle dress, the 

welcome which the Muscovite crowd received from him was expressed in these terms: “Spook! 

Suck-up! The tsar’s lackey!” During a large meeting in the Theatre Plaza, “the orator called for 

struggle and destruction”; another speaker began his speech by shouting: “Down with the 

autocracy!” “His accent betrayed his Jewish origins, but the Russian public listened to him, and 

no one found anything to reply to him.” Nods of agreement met the insults uttered against the 

tsar and his family; Cossacks, policemen and soldiers, all without exception—no mercy! And all 

the Muscovite newspapers called for armed struggle.”116

In Petersburg, as is well known, a “Soviet of the Workers’ Deputies” was formed on 13 October, 

headed by the incomparable Parvus and Trotsky, and with the straw man Khroustalëv-Nossarëv 

as a bonus. This Soviet aimed for the complete annihilation of the government.

The events of October had even greater and more tragic consequences in Kiev and Odessa: two 

great pogroms against the Jews, which must now be examined. They were the subject of 

detailed reports of Senate committees of inquiry—these were the most rigorous investigative 

procedures in Imperial Russia, the Senate representing the highest and most authoritative 

judicial institution and of the greatest independence.

*

It is Senator Tourau who drafted the report on the Kiev pogrom.117 He writes that the causes 

of this “are related to the troubles that have won the whole of Russia in recent years”, and he 

supports this assertion by a detailed description of what preceded it and the course of the facts 
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themselves.

Let us remind that after the events of 9 January in Saint Petersburg, after months of social 

unrest, after the infamous defeat against Japan, the imperial government found nothing better 

to do to calm the minds than to proclaim on the 27th of August, the complete administrative 

autonomy of the higher education institutions and the territory on which they were located. 

This measure had no other result than to turn up the revolutionary heat.

It is thus, writes Senator Tourau, that “individuals having nothing to do with the scientific 

activity of these institutions were free to access them,” and they did so “for the purpose of 

political propaganda.” At the University and Polytechnic of Kiev “a series of meetings were 

organised by the students, to which participated an external audience,” and they were called 

“popular meetings”; a more numerous day-to-day public went there: at the end of September, 

up to “several thousand people.” During these meetings, red flags were displayed, “passionate 

speeches were given about the deficiencies of the political regime in place, on the necessity of 

fighting the government”; “funds were raised for the purchase of weapons”, “leaflets were 

distributed and brochures on revolutionary propaganda were sold.” In mid-October, “the 

university as well as the Polytechnic Institute had gradually been transformed into arenas for 

open and unbridled anti-government propaganda. Revolutionary militants who were, until 

recently, prosecuted by the authorities for organising clandestine meetings in private places, 

now felt invulnerable,” they “hatched and discussed plans to bring down the existing political 

system.” But even this did not seem sufficient and the revolutionary action began its expansion: 

by attracting the “pupils of secondary schools”, in other words, high school pupils, and by 

moving the field of revolutionary activity: (A Jewish student takes the floor to denounce the 

Kishinev pogrom, immediately leaflets are spread out in the room and cries are heard: “Down 

with the police! Down with the autocracy!”); in some cases at a meeting of the Society of Art 

and Literature (windows are broken, “we break chairs and staircase ramps to throw them on 

peacekeepers”). And there was no authority to prevent this: the universities, autonomous, now 

had their own law.

The description of these events, supported by the statements of more than five hundred 

witnesses, alternates throughout this report with remarks on the Jews who stand out in the 

background of this revolutionary crowd. “During the years of the Russian revolution of 

1905‒1907, the revolutionary activity of the Jews increased considerably”. No doubt the 

novelty of the thing made it seem obvious. “The Jewish youth,” the report says, “dominated by 

numbers both at the 9 September meeting at the Polytechnic Institute and during the 
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occupation of the premises of the Arts and Literary Society”; and, also, on 23 September in the 

University Hall where “up to 5,000 students and persons outside the university were gathered, 

with more than 500 women among them.” On October 3rd, at the Polytechnic Institute, “nearly 

5,000 people gathered… with a Jewish majority of women.” The preponderant role of the Jews 

is mentioned again and again: at the meetings of 5‒9 October; at the university meeting on 12 

October, in which “participated employees of the railway administration, students, individuals 

of indeterminate professions” as well as “masses of Jews of both sexes”; on 13 October at the 

university where “nearly 10,000 people from diverse backgrounds gathered” and speeches 

were delivered by S-R. and Bund militants. (The Jewish Encyclopædia confirms the fact that 

even beyond Kiev, during demonstrations celebrating new freedoms, “most of the protesters in 

the Pale of Settlement were Jews.” However, it calls “lies” the information according to which, 

in Ekaterinoslav, “they were collecting silver for the Emperor’s coffin in the street,” and in Kiev 

they “lacerated the portraits of the Emperor in the premises of the Municipal Duma.”118 Yet 

this last fact is precisely confirmed by the Tourau report.)

In Kiev, in October, the revolutionary movement was gaining momentum. Alexander Schlichter 

(future Bolshevik leader, specialist in flour requisitions and “Agriculture Commissioner” in 

Ukraine just before the great organised famine) fomented a south-western railway strike, 

paralysing the trains to Poltava, Kursk, Voronezh, and Moscow. Threats were made to force the 

workers of the Kiev mechanical construction factory to go on strike on 12 October. At the 

university, “exceptional collections ‘for armaments’ took place: the participants threw gold 

coins, bank notes, silverware, a lady even offered her earrings.” “Flying detachments” were 

formed with the mission of interrupting by force the work in high schools, the factories, the 

transports, the commerce, and to “prepare the armed resistance to the forces of order.” The 

whole movement “had to take to the streets.” On the 14th of October, the newspapers ceased 

to appear, with the exception of The Kievian, aligned on the right; only the telegrammes 

relating to the liberation movement were allowed to pass. The “flying detachments” prevented 

the trams from rolling, breaking their windows (some passengers were wounded). At the first 

appearance of the agitators everything was closed, everything stopped; the post office closed 

its doors after a bomb threat; streams of students and pupils were converging towards the 

university at the call of Schlichter, as well as “young Jews of various professions”.

It was then that the authorities took the first steps. It was forbidden to meet in the streets and 

in public squares, and the cordoning off by the army of the university and the Polytechnic took 

place in order for only the students to be allowed in, “arrest… of a few individuals for contempt 

of the police and the army”, of some S.-R. and Social Democrats, of the lawyer Ratner, who 

“had actively participated in popular meetings” (Schlichter, him, had taken off). The trams 
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began to circulate again, the shops re-opened their doors, and in Kiev the days of 16 and 17 

October went by peacefully.

It was in this context (which was that of many other places in Russia) that the Emperor, relying 

on the gratitude of the population, launched on 17 October the Manifesto establishing the 

liberties and a parliamentary system of government. The news reached Kiev by telegram on the 

night of the 18th, and in the morning the text of the Manifesto was sold or distributed in the 

streets of the city (as for the newspaper The Kievian, “Jewish student youth rushed to buy it and 

immediately tear it ostensibly into pieces”). The authorities ordered ipso facto the release of 

both those who had been arrested in the last days and those who had previously been “charged 

with assault on the security of the State”, with the exception, however, of those who had used 

explosives. Both the police and the army had deserted the streets, “important rallies” were 

formed, at first calmly. “In the vicinity of the university there was a large crowd of students, 

high school pupils and “a significant number of young Jews of both sexes”. Giving way to their 

demands, the rector “had the portal of the main building opened.” Immediately “the great hall 

was invaded by a part of the crowd which destroyed the portraits of the Emperor, tore up the 

red hangings” to make flags and banners, and some “noisily invited the public to kneel before 

Schlichter by virtue of victim of arbitrariness.” If “those who were near him actually fell on their 

knees,” another part of the public “considered that all that had just taken place was offensive to 

their national sentiments.” Then the crowd went to the Municipal Duma, and at its head 

Schlichter pranced around on a horse, displaying a red band, and at every halt harangued the 

crowd, claiming that “the struggle against the government was not over.” Meanwhile, in the 

Nicholas Park, “the Jews had thrown a rope around the statue of the Emperor [Nicholas I] and 

tried to overthrow it from its pedestal”; “At another place, Jews wearing red bands began to 

insult four soldiers who passed by, spitting on them”; the crowd threw stones on a patrol of 

soldiers, wounded six, and two demonstrators were hit by the firing of a riposte. However, the 

interim mayor was visited by a group of peaceful citizens who “asked for the opening of the 

meeting room of the municipal council” so that the grateful protesters could “express their 

feelings about the Manifesto. Their request was met” and a peaceful rally was held “under the 

presidency of the municipal councillor Scheftel.” But a new wave, many thousands of people 

wearing red badges and ribbons, flocked in; “it was made up of students, people of different 

social classes, age, sex and condition, but the Jews were especially noted for it”; one party burst 

into the meeting room, the others occupied the square in front of the Duma. “In a moment all 

the national flags which had decorated the Duma on the occasion of the Manifesto were torn 

out and replaced by red and black banners. At that moment a new procession approached, 

carrying at arm’s length the lawyer Ratner who had just gotten out of prison; he called the 

crowd to release all the other prisoners; on the balcony of the Duma, Schlichter publicly 

embraced him. For his part, the latter “exhorted the population to go on a general strike… and 

pronounced insulting words addressed to the person of the Sovereign. In the meantime, the 
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crowd had torn the Emperor’s portraits hung in the assembly hall of the Duma, and broken the 

emblems of imperial power which had been placed on the balcony for the festivities.” “There is 

no doubt that these acts were perpetrated by both Russians and Jews”; a “Russian worker” had 

even begun to break the crown, some demanded that it should be put back in its place, “but a 

few moments later it was again thrown to the ground, this time by a Jew who then broke in half 

of the letter ‘N’”; “Another young man, Jewish in appearance,” then attacked the jewels of the 

diadem. All the furniture of the Duma was shattered, the administrative documents torn. 

Schlichter directed the operations: in the corridors, “money was collected for unknown 

purposes”. Excitement in front of the Duma, however, only increased; perched on the roof of 

stationary trams, orators delivered fiery speeches; but it was Ratner and Schlichter who were 

the most successful from the balcony of the Duma. “An apprentice of Jewish nationality began 

shouting from the balcony: ‘Down with the autocracy!’; another Jew, properly dressed: ‘Same 

to the swine!’”; “Another Jew, who had cut the tsar’s head from the picture, reproducing him, 

introduced his own by the orifice thus formed, and began to yell at the balcony: ‘I am the 

tsar!’”; “the building of the Duma passed completely into the hands of revolutionary socialist 

extremists as well as the Jewish youth who had sympathised with them, losing all control of 

itself.”

I dare say that something stupid and evil has revealed itself in this frantic jubilation: the inability 

to remain within certain limits. What, then, prompted these Jews, in the midst of the delirious 

plebs, to trample so brutally what the people still venerated? Aware of the precarious situation 

of their people and their families, on 18 and 19 October they could not, in dozens of cities, 

refrain from embarking in such events with such passion, to the point of becoming its soul and 

sometimes its main actors?

Let us continue reading the Tourau report: “Respect for the national sentiment and the symbols 

venerated by the people was forgotten. As if a part of the population… did not shy away from 

any means of expressing its contempt…”; “the indignities carried out to the portraits of the 

Emperor excited an immense popular emotion. Cries came from the crowd gathered in front of 

the Duma: ‘Who has dethroned the tsar?’, others wept.” “Without being a prophet, one could 

foresee that such offences would not be forgiven to the Jews,” “voices rose to express 

astonishment at the inaction of the authorities; here and there, in the crowd… they began to 

shout: ‘We must break some kikes!’” Near the Duma, the police and an infantry company stood 

idly by. At that moment, a squadron of dragoons appeared briefly, greeted by shots from the 

windows and the balcony of the Duma; they began to bombard the infantry company with 

stones and bottles, to blast it from all sides: the Duma, the Stock Exchange, the crowd of 

demonstrators. Several soldiers were wounded; the captain gave orders to open fire. There 
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were seven dead and one hundred and thirty wounded. The crowd dispersed. But on the 

evening of the 18th of October, “the news of the degradations committed on the Emperor’s 

portraits, the crown, the emblems of the monarchy, the national flag, circled the city, and 

spread into the suburbs. Small groups of passers-by, mostly workers, craftsmen, merchants, 

who commented on the events with animation put the full responsibility for them on the Jews, 

who always stood out clearly from the other demonstrators.” “In the Podol district, the 

workers’ crowd decided to seize all the ‘democrats’… who had fomented the disturbances and 

placed them in a state of arrest ‘pending the orders of His Majesty the Emperor’.” In the 

evening, “a first group of demonstrators gathered in the Alexander Plaza, brandishing the 

portrait of the Emperor and singing the national anthem. The crowd grew rapidly and, as many 

Jews returned from the Krechtchatik with red insignia in the buttonhole, they were taken for 

the perpetrators of the disorders perpetrated in the Duma and became the target of 

aggressions; some were beaten.” This was already the beginning of the pogrom against the 

Jews.

Now, to understand both the unpardonable inaction of the authorities during the sacking of the 

Duma and the destruction of the national emblems, but also their even more unpardonable 

inaction during the pogrom itself, one has to take a look at what was happening within the 

organs of power. At first glance, one might think it was the result of a combination of 

circumstances. But their accumulation has been such in Kiev (as well as in other places) that one 

cannot fail to discern the mismanagement of the imperial administration of the last years, the 

consequences of which were fatal.

As for the governor of Kiev, he was simply absent. Vice-Governor Rafalski had just taken office, 

had not had time to find his bearings, and lacked confidence in the exercise of temporary 

responsibilities. Above him, Governor General Kleigels, who had authority over a vast region, 

had, from the beginning of October, taken steps to be released from his duties—for health 

reasons. (His real motivations remain unknown, and it is not excluded that his decision was 

dictated by the bubbling revolution of September, which he did not know how to control.) In 

any case, he, too, considered himself as temporary, while in October the directives of the 

Ministry of the Interior continued to rain on him—10 October: take the most energetic 

measures “to prevent disorder in the street and to put an end to it by all means in case they 

occur”; 12: “repress street demonstrations, do not hesitate to use armed force”; 13: “do not 

tolerate any rally or gathering in the streets and, if necessary, disperse them by force”. On 14 

October, as we have seen, the unrest in Kiev has crossed a dangerous limit. Kleigels brought 

together his close collaborators, including the Kiev chief of police, Colonel Tsikhotski, and the 

deputy head of security (again, the leader was absent), Kouliabka, a man as agitated as he was 
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ineffective, the very one who, by stupidity, was about to expose Stolypin to the blows of his 

assassin.* From the panicked report of the latter stemmed the possibility not only of 

demonstrations of armed people in the streets of Kiev, but also of an armed insurrection. 

Kleigels, therefore, renounced reliance on the police, put in place the provisions for “recourse 

to the armed forces to assist the civil authorities”—and, on 14 October, handed over “his full 

powers to the military command”, more precisely to the commander—on a temporary basis 

once again (the commander himself is absent, but it must be said that the situation is anything 

but worrying!)—from the Kiev military region, the general Karass. The responsibility for security 

in the city was entrusted to General Drake. (Is it not comical enough: which of the surnames 

that have just been enumerated makes it possible to suppose that the action is taking place in 

Russia?) General Karass “found himself in a particularly difficult situation” insofar as he did not 

know the “data of the situation nor of the staff of the administration and of the police”; “By 

giving him his powers, General Kleigels did not consider it necessary to facilitate the work of his 

successor; he confined himself to respecting forms, and at once ceased to deal with anything.”

It is now time to talk about the chief of police, Tsikhotski. As early as 1902, an administrative 

inspection had revealed that he concealed the practice of extortion of the Jews in exchange for 

the right of residence. It was also discovered that he lived “above his means”, that he had 

bought—as well as for his son-in-law—properties worth 100,000 rubles. It was considered that 

he should be brought to justice when Kleigels was appointed Governor-General; very quickly 

(and, of course, not without having received a large bribe), the latter intervened so that 

Tsikhotski was kept at his post and even obtained a promotion and the title of general. 

Regarding the promotion, it did not work, but there were no penalties either, although General 

Trepov had been working towards this end from Petersburg. Tsikhotski was informed at the 

beginning of October that Kleigels had asked to leave his post at the end of the month—his 

morale fell even lower, he saw himself already condemned. And on the night of the 18th of 

October, at the same time as the Imperial Manifesto, the official confirmation of the retirement 

of Kleigels came from Saint Petersburg. Tsikhotski now had nothing to lose. (Another detail: 

even though the situation was so troubled, Kleigels left his post even before the arrival of his 

successor, who was none other than the pearl of the Imperial administration, General 

Sukhomlinov, the future Minister of Defence who scuttled the preparations for the war against 

Germany; as for the functions of Governor-General, they were temporarily assumed by the 

aforesaid General Karass.) And it was thus that “there was no rapid termination of the 

confusion that had settled within the police after the handing over of power to the army, but 

that it only increased to manifest itself with the greatest acuity during the disorders.”

The fact that Kleigels had “renounced his ‘full powers’… and that these had been handed over 
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for an indefinite period to the military authorities of the city of Kiev is mainly at the origin of the 

uncertain mutual relations which later established themselves between civil authorities and 

military authorities”; “the extent and limits of the powers [of the army] were not known to 

anybody” and this vagueness “lead to a general disorganisation of services.”

This manifested itself from the beginning of the pogrom against the Jews. “Many police officers 

were convinced that the power had been fully handed over to the military command and that 

only the army was competent to act and to repress the disorders”; that is why they “did not feel 

concerned by the disorders which took place in their presence. As for the army, referring to an 

article of the provisions on the use of the armed forces to assist the civil authorities, it was 

awaiting indications from the police, considering with reason that it was not its responsibility to 

fulfil the missions of the latter”: these provisions “stipulated precisely” that the civil authorities 

“present at the scene of the disorders should guide the joint action of the police and the army 

with a view to their repression.” It was also up to the civil authorities to determine when to use 

force. Moreover, “Kleigels had not considered it useful to inform the military command about 

the situation in the city, nor had he told it what he knew about the revolutionary movement in 

Kiev. And this is what made units of the army begin to scour the city aimlessly.”

So, the pogrom against the Jews began in the evening of 18 October. “At its initial stage, the 

pogrom undoubtedly assumed the character of retaliation against the offence to national 

sentiment. The assaults against the Jews passed in the street, the destruction of shops and the 

merchandise they contained were accompanied by words such as: ‘Here it is, your liberty! Here 

it is, your Constitution and your revolution! This, this is for the portraits of the tsar and the 

crown!’” The next morning, 19 October, a large crowd came from the Duma to the Cathedral of 

Saint Sophia, bearing the empty frames of the Tsar’s portraits and the broken emblems of the 

imperial power. It stopped at the university to have the damaged portraits restored; a mass was 

celebrated and “the Metropolitan Flavian exhorted the people not to indulge in excesses and 

return home”. “But while the people who formed the heart of the patriotic demonstration… 

maintained an exemplary order, individuals who joined them along the way allowed themselves 

to be subjected to all kinds of violence against the Jewish passers-by, as well as high school 

pupils or students in uniform.” They were then joined by “the workers, the homeless of the flea 

market, the bums”; “groups of rioters sacked the houses and shops of the Jews, threw into the 

street their goods and merchandise, which were partly destroyed on the spot, partly 

plundered”; “the servants, the guardians of buildings, the little shopkeepers apparently saw 

nothing wrong with taking advantage of the property of others”; “others, on the contrary, 

remained isolated to all interested goals until the last day of the disorders,” “they tore from the 

hands of their companions the objects that they had stolen and, without paying attention to 
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their value, destroyed them on the spot.” The rioters did not touch the shops of the Karaites 

nor the “houses where they were presented portraits of the Emperor.” “But, on the whole, only 

a few hours after it had begun, the pogrom took the form of a pitiless rampage. On the 18th, it 

continued long into the night, then stopped on its own, to resume on the morning of the 19th, 

and to cease only on the evening of the 20th. (There were no fires, except one in the Podol 

district.) On the 19th, “luxury shops belonging to Jews were sacked as far as the city centre on 

the Krechtchatik. The heavy metal curtains and the locks were forced after half an hour of hard 

work”; “Expensive textiles, velvet cloths were thrown into the street and spread out in the mud, 

in the rain, like rags of no value. In front of the shop of the jeweller Markisch, on the 

Krechtchatik, the pavement was littered with precious objects”—and the same for fashion 

shops, the dry goods stores; the pavement was fraught with account books, invoices. In Lipki 

(the chic neighbourhood) “the private mansions of Jews were sacked,—that of Baron Ginzburg, 

of Halperine, of Alexander and Leon Brodksy, of Landau, and many more. All the luxurious 

decoration of these houses was destroyed, the furniture broken and thrown into the street”; 

likewise, “a model secondary school for the Jews, the Brodsky school, was ravaged,” “there was 

nothing left of the marble staircases and the wrought iron ramps.” In all, it was “nearly fifteen 

hundred apartments and commercial premises belonging to Jews were plundered.” Starting 

from the fact that “nearly two-thirds of the city’s trade was in the hands of Jews,” Tourau 

assessed losses—including the richest mansions—to “several million rubles.” It had been 

planned to ransack not only Jewish houses, but also those of prominent liberal personalities. On 

the 19th, Bishop Plato “led a procession through the streets of Podol where the pogrom had 

been particularly violent, urging the people to put an end to the abuses. Imploring the crowd to 

spare the lives and property of the Jews, the bishop knelt several times before it… A broken 

man came out of the crowd and shouted threateningly: ‘You too, you’re for the Jews?’”

We have already seen the carelessness that prevailed among the authorities. “General Drake 

did not take appropriate measures to ensure the proper organisation of security.” The troops 

“should not have been scattered in small detachments,” “there were too many patrols,” and 

“the men often stayed idle.” And here we are: “What struck everyone during the pogrom was 

the obvious inaction, close to complacency, which was shown by both the army and the police. 

The latter was virtually absent, and the troops moved slowly, merely replying to the shots fired 

from certain houses, while on either side of the street the shops and apartments of the Jews 

were sacked with impunity.” A prosecutor asked a patrol of Cossacks to intervene to protect 

stores that were looted nearby; “the Cossacks replied that they would not go, that it was not 

their sector.”

More serious still: a whole series of witnesses had “the impression that the police and the army 
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had been dispatched not to disperse the breakers but to protect them.” Here the soldiers 

declared that they had “been ordered to ensure that there were no clashes and that the 

Russians were not attacked.” Elsewhere they said that if they had “taken an oath to God and to 

the tsar,” it was not to protect “those who had lacerated and jeered at the portraits of the 

tsar.” As for the officers, “they considered themselves powerless to prevent disorders, and felt 

themselves entitled to use force only in cases where the violence was directed against their 

men.” Example: of a house “ran out a Jew covered with blood, pursued by the crowd. An 

infantry company was right there, but it paid no attention to what was going on and quietly 

went up the street.” Elsewhere, “the plunderers were massacring two Jews with table legs; a 

detachment of cavalry stationed ten paces away contemplated placidly the scene.” It is not 

surprising that the man in the street could have understood things like this: “The tsar graciously 

granted us the right to beat the kikes for six days”; and the soldiers: “You see, is all this 

conceivable without the approval of the authorities?” For their part, the police officers, “when 

they were demanded to put an end to the disorders, objected that they could do nothing to the 

extent that the full powers had been transferred to the military command.” But there was also 

a large crowd of thugs that took flight “due to a police commissioner who brandished his 

revolver, assisted by only one peacekeeper”, and “police officer Ostromenski, with three 

patrolmen and some soldiers, succeeded in preventing acts of looting in his neighbourhood 

without even resorting to force.”

The looters did not have firearms, while the young Jews, they, had some. However, unlike what 

happened in Gomel, here the Jews had not organised their self-defence, even though “shots 

were fired from many houses” by members of self-defence groups who included in their ranks 

“both Jews and Russians who had taken their part”; “It is undeniable that in some cases these 

shots were directed against the troops and constituted acts of retaliation for the shots fired on 

the crowd during the demonstrations” of the previous days; “Sometimes Jews fired on the 

patriotic parades organised in response to the revolutionary demonstrations that had taken 

place before.” But these shots “had deplorable consequences. Without producing any effect on 

the rioters, they gave the troops a pretext to apply their instructions to the letter”; “as soon as 

shots came from a house, the troops who were there, without even inquiring whether they 

were directed against them or against the rioters, sent a salvo into its windows, after which the 

crowd” rushed in and ransacked it. “We saw cases where we were firing at a house solely 

because someone had claimed that shots had gone”; “it also happened that the looters climbed 

the stairs of a house and fired shots towards the street to provoke the troops’ retaliation” and 

then engage in plundering.

And things got worse. “Some of the policemen and soldiers did not disdain the goods thrown 
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into the street by the vandals, picked them up and hid them in their pockets or under their 

hoods.” And, although these cases “were exceptional and punctual”, one still saw a police 

officer dismantling the door of a shop himself, and a corporal imitating him. (The false rumours 

of looting by the army began to circulate when General Evert ordered in his area to confiscate 

goods taken by the looters and stolen goods and to transport them to the warehouses of the 

army for subsequent restitution to their owners on presentation of a receipt, thus saving 

property worth several tens of thousands of rubles.)

It is hardly surprising that this scoundrel of Tsikhotski, seeing his career broken, not only did not 

take any action concerning the action of the police (having learned of the beginning of the 

pogrom on the evening of the 18th, he did not communicate by telegram any information to 

the neighbourhood police stations before late in the evening on the 19th), not only did he not 

transmit any information to the generals of military security, but he himself, passing through 

the city, had “considered what was going on with calm and indifference”, contenting himself to 

say to the plunderers: “Move along, gentlemen” (and those few, encouraged one another: “Do 

not be afraid, he’s joking!”); and when, from the balcony of the Duma, they began to shout: 

“Pound the kikes, plunder, break!” And the crowd then carried the chief of police in triumph, 

the latter “addressed greetings in response to the cheering of the demonstrators.” It was not 

until the 20th, after General Karass had sent him a severe warning (as to the Director of the 

Governor-General’s Chancery, he declared that Tsikhovsky would not escape the penal colony), 

that he ordered the police to take all measures to put an end to the pogrom. Senator Tourau 

effectively had to bring him to justice.

Another security official, disgruntled with his career, General Bessonov, “was in the midst of the 

crowd of rioters and was peacefully parleying with them: ‘We have the right to demolish, but it 

is not right to steal.’ The crowd shouted: ‘Hurray!’” At another moment he behaved “as an 

indifferent witness to the plunder. And when one of the breakers shouted: ‘Slam the kikes!’ 

[Bessonov] reacted with an approving laugh.” He reportedly told a doctor that “if he had 

wanted to, he could have put an end to the pogrom in half an hour, but the Jews’ participation 

in the revolutionary movement had been too great, they had to pay the price.” After the 

pogrom, summoned by the military authorities to explain himself, he denied having spoken 

favourably of the pogrom and declared, on the contrary, to have exhorted people to return to 

calm: “Have mercy on us, do not force the troops to use their weapons… to shed Russian blood, 

our own blood!”

Delegations went one after the other to General Karass, some requesting that some of them 
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take troops out of the city, others for the use of force, and others for taking measures to 

protect their property. However, throughout the day of the 19th, the police did nothing and the 

military executed orders badly. On 20 October, Karass ordered “to encircle and apprehend the 

hooligans.” Many arrests were made; once, the army opened fire on the rioters, killing five and 

wounding several others. By the evening of the 20th, the pogrom was definitely over, but late in 

the evening “the rumour that the Jews murdered Russians sowed dismay among the 

population”; retaliation was feared.

During the pogrom, according to police estimates (but a number of victims were taken by the 

crowd), there were a total of 47 deaths, including 12 Jews, and 205 wounded, one-third of them 

Jews.

Tourau concludes his report by explaining that “the root cause of the Kiev pogrom lies in the 

traditional enmity between the population of Little Russia and the Jewish population, motivated 

by differences of opinion. As for its immediate cause, it resides in the outrage of national 

sentiment caused by the revolutionary manifestations to which the Jewish youth had taken an 

active part.” The working class “imputed to the Jews only” the responsibility for the 

“blasphemies uttered against what was most sacred to them. They could not understand, after 

the grace granted by the Emperor, the very existence of the revolutionary movement, and 

explained it by the desire of the Jews to obtain ‘their own liberties’.” “The flip side of the war in 

which Jewish youth had always openly expressed its deepest satisfaction, its refusal to fulfil its 

military obligations, its participation in the revolutionary movement, acts of violence and the 

killings of agents of the State, its insulting attitude towards the armed forces… all this 

incontestably provoked exasperation towards the Jews among the working class,” and “this is 

why in Kiev there have been several cases where many Russians gave open shelter to 

unfortunate Jews who fled from the violence, but categorically refused Jewish youth.”

As for the newspaper The Kievian, it wrote119: “Poor Jews! Where is the fault of these 

thousands of families? … For their misfortune, these poor Jews could not control their brainless 

youngsters … But brainless youngsters, there are also some among us, the Russians, and we 

could not control them either!”

The revolutionary youth scoured the countryside, but it was the peaceful adult Jews who had to 

pay the piper.
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Thus, on both sides, we have dug a bottomless abyss.

*

As for the Odessa pogrom, we have a similar and equally detailed report, that of Senator 

Kozminski.120

In Odessa, where a lively revolutionary sentiment had always existed, the tremors had started 

since January; the blast took place on the 13th of June (independently, therefore, of the arrival 

of the Potemkin battleship in the harbour of Odessa on the 14th). The entire day of the 14th of 

June passed in turmoil, especially among the young, but this time also among the workers, 

whose “numerous crowds began to impose by force the cessation of work in plants and 

factories.” A crowd “of about three hundred people attempted to break into a [tea] parlour… 

Several shots were fired at the head of the local police station, who was preventing the crowd 

from entering, but the latter was dispersed” by a salvo shot by a detachment of policemen. 

“However, the crowd soon re-formed,” and proceeded to the police station; some shots were 

fired from the Doks house: “from the windows and the balcony, several shots were fired at the 

police officers.” Another group “erected a barricade with building materials in the street, and 

then began shooting at a police detachment.” In another street, a crowd of the same kind 

“overturned several tramway wagons with horses”. “A fairly large group of Jews broke into a tin 

factory, threw tobacco in the eyes [of a police officer]…, scattered at the appearance of a police 

detachment while opening fire with revolvers; among them four Jews [their names follow] were 

arrested on the spot”; at a crossroads, “a gathering of Jews was formed, [two of them] fired 

revolver shots at a mounted guard”; “in general, throughout the day of 14 June, almost all the 

streets of the city were the scene of clashes between Jews and the security forces, during which 

they used firearms and projectiles,” wounding several police officers. “A dozen Jews were also 

wounded,” which the crowd took to hide them. As he tried to escape, a certain Tsipkine threw a 

bomb, causing his own death as well as that of police officer Pavlovski.

It was at this time that the Potemkin entered the Odessa harbour! A crowd of nearly five 

thousand people assembled, “many men and women gave speeches calling the people for an 

uprising against the government”; among the students who got aboard the battleship were 

Konstantin Feldman (who urged to support the movement in town by cannonading it, but “the 

majority of the crew opposed it”).
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And the authorities in all this? The governor of Odessa—in other words, the head of the 

police—Neudhart, was already completely distraught on the day of the arrival of the Potemkin; 

he felt (as in Kiev) that “the civil authorities were unable to restore order, and that is why he 

had handed over all subsequent decisions aimed at the cessation of disorder to the military 

command, that is to say, the commander of the Odessa garrison, General Kakhanov. (Did there 

exist a superior authority to that one in Odessa? Yes, of course, and it was Governor General 

Karangozov, who, as the reader will have guessed, was acting on a temporary basis, and felt 

hardly at ease.) General Kakhanov found nothing better than to have the port sealed by the 

army and to enclose the thousands of “unsafe elements” who had gathered there to cut them 

off—not yet contaminated—from the city.

On 15 June, the uprising in Odessa and the Potemkin mutiny collapsed into one movement: the 

inhabitants of the city, “among whom many students and workers” boarded the battleship, 

exhorting “the crew to common actions”. The crowd in the harbour rushed to “plunder the 

goods that were stored there”, beginning with the boxes of wine; then stormed the warehouses 

to which it set fire (more than 8 million rubles of losses). The fire threatened the quarantine 

port where foreign vessels were anchored and import goods were stored. Kakhanov still could 

not resolve to put an end to the disorder by force, fearing that the Potemkin would reply by 

bombarding the city. The situation remained equally explosive on the 15th. The next day the 

Potemkin drew five salvos on the town, three of them blank, and called on the commander of 

the armed forces to board the ship to demand the withdrawal “of the troops from the city and 

the release of all political prisoners.” On the same day, 16 June, at the funeral of the only sailor 

killed, “scarcely had the procession entered the town than it was joined by all kinds of 

individuals who soon formed a crowd of several thousand persons, principally young Jews,” and 

on the grave an orator, “after shouting ‘Down with the autocracy!’, called on his comrades to 

act with more determination, without fear of the police.”

But that very day, and for a long time, the state of siege was proclaimed in the city. The 

Potemkin had to take off to escape the squadron that had come to capture it. And although the 

four days it had been anchored in the port Odessa “and the many contacts which had been 

established between the people and it substantially raised the morale of the revolutionaries” 

and “gave rise to the hope of a possible future support of the armed forces”, despite of that the 

summer was going to end calmly, perhaps even no upset would have occurred in Odessa if, on 

the 27th of August, had been promulgated the incomparable law on the autonomy of higher 

education institutions! Immediately, “a ‘soviet coalition’ was formed by the students,” which, 

“by its determination and audacity, succeeded in bringing under its influence not only the 
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student community but also the teaching force” (professors feared “unpleasant confrontations 

with the students, such as the boycott of classes, the expulsion of such and such professor from 

the amphi, etc.”).

Large gatherings took place at the university, “fund-raising to arm the workers and the 

proletariat, for the military insurrection, for the purchase of weapons with a view to forming 

militias and self-defence groups”, “discussions were held about the course of action to be taken 

at the time of the insurrection.” At these meetings the “faculty of professors” took an active 

part, “sometimes with the rector Zantchevski at its head,” who promised to “make available to 

the students all the means at their disposal to facilitate their participation in the liberation 

movement.”

On 17 September, the first meeting at the university took place “in the presence of an outside 

public so numerous that it had to be split into two groups”; The S.-R. Teper “and two Jewish 

students made speeches calling on the public to lead the struggle to free the country from 

political oppression and a deleterious autocracy.” On 30 September, the state of siege was 

lifted in Odessa and henceforth rushed to these meetings “students of all educational 

establishments, some of whom were not more than fourteen years old”; the Jews “were the 

principal orators, calling for open insurrection and armed struggle.”

On 12 and 13 October, before all other secondary schools, “the pupils of two business schools, 

that of the Emperor Nicholas I and that of Feig, ceased to attend classes, being the most 

sensitive to revolutionary propaganda”; on the 14th, it was decided to halt the work in all the 

other secondary schools, and business schools and the students went to all the high schools of 

the city to force the pupils to go on course strikes. The rumour went around that in front of the 

Berezina high school, three students and three high school students had been wounded with 

swords by police officers. Certainly, “the investigation would establish with certainty that none 

of the young people had been affected and that the pupils had not yet had time to leave the 

school.” But this kind of incident, what a boon to raise the revolutionary pressure! On the same 

day, the courses ceased at the university, forty-eight hours after the start of the school year; 

the striking students burst into the municipal Duma shouting: “Death to Neudhart!” and 

demanding that they stop paying salaries to the police.

After the episode of the Potemkin, Neudhart had regained power in his hands, but until the 

middle of October he did not make any measure against the revolutionary meetings—besides, 
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could he do very much when the autonomy of universities had been established? On the 15th 

he received orders from the Ministry of the Interior to prohibit the entrance of outsiders to the 

university, and on the following day he surrounded the latter by the army, while ordering the 

cartridges to be taken out from the armouries, until then sold over-the-counter. “The closure of 

the university to the outside world provoked great agitation among Jewish students and Jewish 

youth,” an immense crowd set out, closing the shops on its way (the American armoury was 

plundered), overturning streetcars and omnibuses, sawing trees to make barricades, cutting off 

telegraph and telephone wires for the same purpose, dismantling the gates of the parks. 

Neudhart asked Kakhanov to have the town occupied by the troops. Then, “the barricades 

behind which the demonstrators had gathered—mostly Jews, among them women and 

adolescents—, they began to fire on the troops; shots were fired from the roofs of houses, 

balconies, and windows”; the army opened fire in its turn, the demonstrators were scattered 

and the barricades dismantled. “It is impossible to accurately estimate the number of deaths 

and injuries that occurred on that day, as the health team—consisting mainly of Jewish students 

in red-white blouses with a red cross—hurried to take the wounded and the dead to the 

university infirmary”—thus in an autonomous and inaccessible zone—, “at the Jewish hospital 

or at the emergency stations near the barricades, as well as in almost all pharmacies.” (They 

had stopped delivering medicine even before the events.) According to the governor of the city, 

there were nine deaths, nearly 80 wounded, including some policemen. “Among the 

participants in the disorders were apprehended that day 214 people, of whom 197 Jews, a large 

number of women, and 13 children aged 12 to 14 years.”

And all this, still twenty-four hours before the incendiary effect of the Manifesto was felt.

One might think that by exposing the role of the Jews so frequently in revolutionary 

movements, the Senate’s report was biased. But it must be borne in mind that in Odessa the 

Jews represented one-third of the population, and, as we have seen, a very significant 

proportion of the student population; it must also be borne in mind that the Jews had taken an 

active part in the Russian revolutionary movement, especially in the Pale of Settlement. In 

addition, Senator Kouzminski’s report provides evidence of its objectivity in many places.

On 16 October, “when they arrived at the police station, the people arrested were victims of 

assault by the police and soldiers”; however, “neither the governor of the city nor the police 

officials responded in due course… and no investigation was carried out”; it was not until later 

that more than twenty of those who had been in this precinct declared that “those arrested had 

been systematically beaten; first they were pushed down a staircase leading to the basement… 
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many of them fell to the ground and it was then that policemen and soldiers, arranged in a row, 

beat them with the back of their sabres, rubber truncheons, or simply their feet and fists”; the 

women were not spared. (It is true that, on the same evening, municipal councillors and justices 

of the peace went to the scene and gathered complaints from the victims. As for the senator, 

he identified several culprits during his inquiry in November and had them brought to justice.)

“On the 17th of October, the whole town was occupied by the army, patrols were criss-crossing 

the streets, and public order was not troubled all day. However, the Municipal Duma had met 

to discuss emergency measures, including how to replace the state police with an urban militia. 

On the same day, the Bund’s local committee decided to organise a solemn funeral for the 

victims who had fallen the day before on the barricades, but Neudhart, understanding that such 

a demonstration would cause, as always, a new revolutionary explosion, “gave the order to 

remove in secret, of the Jewish hospital” where they were, the five corpses and “to bury them 

before the scheduled date”, which was done on the night of 18. (The next day the organisers 

demanded that the corpses be unearthed and brought back to the hospital. Due to the 

developments of events, the bodies were embalmed there and remained in that state for a long 

time.) And it was at this time that the news of the Imperial Manifesto spread, pushing Odessa 

towards new storms.

Let us quote first of all the testimony of members of a Jewish self-defence detachment: “During 

the pogrom, there was a certain coordination centre that worked quite well… Universities 

played an enormous role in the preparation of the events of October… the soviet coalition of 

the Odessa University included” a Bolshevik, a Menshevik, an S.-R., a representative of the 

Bund, Zionist Socialists, the Armenian communities, Georgian and Polish ones as well. “Student 

detachments were formed even before the pogrom”; during “immense meetings at the 

university”, money was collected to buy weapons, “of course not only to defend ourselves, but 

with a view to a possible insurrection.” “The soviet coalition also raised funds to arm the 

students”; “when the pogrom broke out, there were two hundred revolvers at the university,” 

and “a professor… procured another hundred and fifty others.” A “dictator” was appointed at 

the head of each detachment “without taking into account his political stance”, and “it 

happened that a detachment composed mainly of members of the Bund was commanded by a 

Zionist-Socialist, or vice versa”; “on Wednesday [19 October], a large quantity of weapons were 

distributed in a pro-Zionist synagogue”; “the detachments were made up of Jewish and Russian 

students, Jewish workers, young Jews of all parties, and a very small number of Russian 

workers.”121
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A few years later, Jabotinsky wrote that during the pogroms of the year 1905 “the new Jewish 

soul had already reached its maturity.”122 And in the still rose-tinted atmosphere of the 

February Revolution, a major Russian newspaper gave the following description: “When, during 

the Neudhart pogroms in 1905, the young militiamen of self-defence travelled through Odessa, 

weapons in their fists, they aroused emotion and admiration, we were heavy-hearted, we were 

touched and full of compassion…”123

And this is what one of our contemporaries wrote: “The courage shown by Gomel’s fighters 

inflames tens of thousands of hearts. In Kiev, 1,500 people are engaged in self-defence 

detachments, in Odessa several thousands.”124 But in Odessa, the number of combatants as 

well as their state of mind—and, in response, the brutality of the police forces—gave a much 

different turn to events than they had experienced in Kiev.

Let us go back to the Kuzminski report. After the proclamation of the Manifesto, on the morning 

of the 18th, General Kaoulbars, commanding the military district of Odessa, in order “to give 

the population the possibility of enjoying without restrictions the freedom in all its forms 

granted by the Manifesto,” ordered the troops not to appear in the streets, “so as not to disturb 

the joyous humour of the population.” However, “this joyous mood did not last.” On all sides 

“groups of Jews and students began to flock towards the city centre,” brandishing red flags and 

shouting: “Down with the autocracy!”, while speakers called for revolution. On the façade of 

the Duma, two of the words forming the inscription in metal letters “God save the Tsar” were 

broken; the Council Chamber was invaded, “a large portrait of His Majesty the Emperor was 

torn to shreds,” the national flag which floated on the Duma was replaced by a red flag. The 

headdresses of three ecclesiastics, who were in a cab at a funeral, were stolen; later, the 

funeral procession they conducted was repeatedly stopped, “religious songs interrupted by 

cheers.” “There was a headless scarecrow bearing the inscription ‘Here is the Autocracy’, and a 

dead cat was showed off while collecting money ‘to demolish the tsar’ or ‘for Nicholas’s 

death’.” “The young people, especially the Jews, who were obviously aware of their superiority, 

taught the Russians that their freedom had not been freely granted to them, that it had been 

torn from the government by the Jews… They declared openly to the Russians: ‘Now we are 

going to govern you’,” but also: “We have given you God, we will give you a tsar.” A large crowd 

of Jews waving red flags long pursued two peacekeepers, one of them managed to escape by 

the roofs, while on the other, a man named Goubiy, the crowd “armed with revolvers, axes, 

stakes, and iron bars, found him in an attic, and hurt him so badly that he died during his 

transport to the hospital; the concierge of the building found two of his fingers cut by axe.” 

Later, three police officers were beaten and wounded, and the revolvers of five peacekeepers 

were confiscated. The prisoners were then freed in one, two, and three police stations (where 
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on the 16th there had been beatings, but the detainees had already been released on the 

orders of Neudhart; in one of these precincts, the liberation of the prisoners was negotiated in 

exchange for Goubiy’s corpse; sometimes there was nobody behind bars. As for the rector of 

the university, he actively participated in all this, transmitting to the prosecutor the demands of 

“a crowd of five thousand people”, while “the students went so far as to threaten to hang the 

police officers”. Neudhart solicited the advice of the mayor of the city, Kryjanovsky, and a 

professor at the university, Shtchepkin, but they only demanded that he “disarm the police on 

the spot and make it invisible,” otherwise, added Shchepkin, “the victims of popular revenge 

cannot be saved, and the police will be legitimately disarmed by force.” (Interrogated later by 

the senator, he denied having spoken so violently, but one can doubt his sincerity in view of the 

fact that on the same day he had distributed 150 revolvers to the students and that, during the 

inquiry, he refused to say where he had procured them.) After this interview, Neudhart ordered 

(without even warning the chief of police) to withdraw all the peacekeepers “in such a way that 

from that moment the whole of the city was deprived of any visible police presence”—which 

could have been understood if the measure had been intended to protect the life of the agents, 

but at the same time, the streets had been deserted by the army, which, for the moment, was 

pure stupidity. (But we remember that in Petersburg this was precisely what the press owners 

demanded from Witte, and it had been difficult for him to resist them.)

“After the police left, two types of armed groups appeared: the student militia and the Jewish 

self-defence detachments. The first was set up by the ‘soviet coalition’ which had procured 

arms.” Now, “the municipal militia, made up of armed students and other individuals, placed 

themselves on guard” instead of policemen. This was done with the assent of General Baron 

Kaulbars and the governor of the city, Neudhart, while the police chief, Golovin, offered his 

resignation in protest and was replaced by his deputy, von Hobsberg. A provisional committee 

was set up at the Municipal Duma; in one of his first statements, he expressed his gratitude to 

the students of the university “for their way of ensuring the security of the city with energy, 

intelligence, and devotion”. The committee itself assumed rather vague functions. (During the 

month of November the press took an interest in one of the members of this committee, also a 

member of the Duma of the Empire, O. I. Pergament, and in the second Duma somebody had to 

recall that he proclaimed himself President “of the Republic of the Danube and the Black Sea,” 

or “President of the Republic of South Russia,”125 in the intoxication of those days, this was not 

unlikely.)

And what could happen after the streets had been deserted, during these feverish days, by both 

the army and the police, and that the power had passed into the hands of an inexperienced 

student militia and groups of self-defence? “The militia arrested persons who seemed 
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suspicious to it and sent them to the university for examination”; here a student “walked at the 

head of a group of Jews of about sixty persons who fired revolver shots at random”; “the 

student militia and Jewish self-defence groups themselves perpetrated acts of violence directed 

against the army and peaceful elements of the Russian population, using firearms and killing 

innocent people.”

The confrontation “was inevitable, given the crystallisation of two antagonistic camps among 

the population.” On the evening of the 18th, “a crowd of demonstrators waving red flags, and 

composed predominantly of Jews, tried to impose a stoppage of work at the factory at Guen… 

The workers refused to comply with this demand; after which the same crowd, crossing Russian 

workmen in the street, demanded that they should uncover themselves before the red flags. As 

the latter refused,”—well here it is, the proletariat!—from the crowd “shots were fired; the 

workers, though unarmed, succeeded in dispersing it,” and pursued it until it was joined by 

another crowd of armed Jews, up to a thousand people, who began to fire on the workmen…; 

four of them were killed. This is how “brawls and armed clashes between Russians and Jews 

were unleashed at various points in the city; Russian workers and individuals without any 

definite occupation, also known as hooligans, began to chase the Jews and to beat them up, and 

then move on with the rampage and destruction of houses, apartments and shops belonging to 

Jews.” It was then that a police commissioner called “an infantry company which put an end to 

the clashes.”

On the following day, 19 October, “towards 10, 11 in the morning, there were seen forming in 

the streets… crowds of Russian workers and persons of various professions carrying icons, 

portraits of His Majesty the Emperor, as well as the national flag, and singing religious hymns. 

These patriotic demonstrations composed exclusively of Russians were formed simultaneously 

at several locations in the city, but their starting point was in the port from where set off a first 

manifestation of workmen, especially numerous.” There exists “reasons to assert that the anger 

provoked by the offensive attitude of the Jews over the whole of the previous day, their 

arrogance and their contempt for the national sentiment shared by the Russian population had 

to, in one way or another, lead to a reaction of protest.” Neudhart was not ignorant of the fact 

that a demonstration was being prepared and he authorised it, and it passed under the 

windows of the commander of the military district and the governor of the city, and then 

proceeded to the cathedral. “As it went on, the crowd was swollen by the addition of passers-

by, including a large number of hooligans, tramps, women and adolescents.” (But it is 

appropriate here to draw a parallel between the story of a member of the Poalei Zion: “The 

pogrom of Odessa was not the work of hooligans… During these days the police did not allow 

entrance to the city to the tramps of the port,”; “it was the small artisans and the small 
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merchants who gave free rein to their exasperation, the workers and apprentices of various 

workshops, plants, or factories”, “Russian workers lacking political consciousness”; “I went to 

Odessa only to see a pogrom organised by provocation, but, alas, I did not find it!” And he 

explains it as hatred between nationalities.126)

“Not far from the Cathedral Square…, several shots were fired towards the crowd of protesters, 

one of them killed a little boy who was carrying an icon”; “the infantry company who arrived on 

the spot was also greeted by gunfire.” They fired from the windows of the editorial office of the 

newspaper Yuzhnoye Obozrenie, and “during the entire route of the procession gunshots came 

from windows, balconies, roofs”; “moreover, explosive devices were launched in several places 

on the demonstrators”, “six people were killed” by one of them; in the centre of Odessa, “at the 

corner of Deribassov and Richelieu, three bombs were thrown on a squadron of Cossacks.” 

“There were many deaths and wounded among the demonstrators,” “not without reason the 

Russians blamed the Jews, and it is why shouts merged quickly from the crowd: ‘Beat up the 

kikes!’, ‘Death to the heebs!’,” and “at various points in the city the crowd rushed to the Jewish 

shops to plunder them”; “these isolated acts were rapidly transformed into a generalised 

pogrom: all the shops, houses and apartments of the Jews on the path of the demonstration 

were completely devastated, all their property destroyed, and what had escaped the vandals 

was stolen by the cohorts of hooligans and beggars who had followed the lead of the 

protesters”; “it was not uncommon for scenes of looting to unfold under the eyes of 

demonstrators carrying icons and singing religious hymns.” On the evening of the 19th, “the 

hatred of the antagonist camps reached its peak: each one hit and tortured mercilessly, 

sometimes with exceptional cruelty, and without distinction of sex or age, those who fell into 

their hands.” According to the testimony of a doctor at the university clinic, “hooligans threw 

children from the first or second floor onto the road; one of them grabbed a child by the feet 

and smashed his skull against the wall. For their part, the Jews did not spare the Russians, killing 

those they could at the first opportunity; during the day they did not show themselves in the 

streets, but fired on the passers-by from the doors, from the windows, etc., but in the evening 

they met in numerous groups,” going as far as “besieging police stations.” “The Jews were 

particularly cruel with police officers when they managed to catch them.” (Here is now the 

point of view of the Poalei Zion: “The press spread a legend that self-defence had taken a huge 

crowd of hooligans and locked them up in the university premises. Numbers in the order of 800 

to 900 individuals were cited; it is in fact necessary to divide this number by ten. It was only at 

the beginning of the pogrom that the vandals were brought to the university, after which things 

took a completely different turn.”127 There are also descriptions of the Odessa pogrom in the 

November 1905 issues of the newspaper The Kievian.128)
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And what about the police, in all this? In accordance with Neudhart’s stupid dispositions, “on 19 

October… as on the following days, the police were totally absent from the streets of Odessa”: a 

few patrols, and only occasionally. “The vagueness that reigned in the relations between civil 

authorities and military authorities, which ran counter to the legal provisions,” had the 

consequence that “the police officers did not have a very clear idea of their obligations”; even 

more, “all the police officers, considering that the responsibility for the political upheavals was 

incumbent on the Jews” and that “these were revolutionaries, felt the greatest sympathy for 

the pogrom which was unfolding before their eyes and judged even superfluous to conceal 

themselves.” Worse: “In many cases, police officers themselves incited hooligans to ransack and 

loot Jewish houses, apartments, and shops”; and at the height of it: “in civilian clothes, without 

their insignia”, they themselves “took part in these rampages,” “directed the crowd,” and there 

were even “cases where police officers fired on the ground or in the air to make the military 

believe that these shots came from the windows of houses belonging to Jews.”

And it was the police who did that!

Senator Kouzminski brought to trial forty-two policemen, twenty-three of whom were officers.

And the army—“scattered over the immense territory of the city” and supposed to “act 

autonomously”? “The military also did not pay any attention to the pogroms, since they were 

not aware of their exact obligations and were not given any indication by the police officers”, 

they “did not know against whom or according to what order they should use armed force; on 

the other hand, the soldiers could assume that the pogrom had been organised with the 

approval of the police.” Consequently, “the army took no action against the vandals.” Worse 

still, “there is evidence that soldiers and Cossacks also took part in the looting of shops and 

houses.” “Some witnesses affirmed that soldiers and Cossacks massacred innocent people for 

no reason.”

Again, these are innocent people who have paid for others.

“On 20 and 21 October, far from subsiding, the pogrom gained frightening momentum”; “the 

plunder and destruction of Jewish property, the acts of violence and the killings were openly 

perpetrated, and with complete impunity, day and night.” (Point of view of the Poalei Zion: on 
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the evening of the 20th, “the university was closed by the army” while “inside it, we had 

barricaded ourselves in the event of an assault by the troops. Detachments of self-defence no 

longer went into town.” In the latter, on the other hand, “self-defence had organised itself 

spontaneously”, “powerful detachments of townspeople”, “equipped with weapons of 

opportunity: hatchets, cutlasses, limes”, “defended themselves with determination and anger 

equal to those they were victims of, and succeeded in protecting their perimeter almost 

completely.”129

On the 20th, a group of municipal councillors headed by the new mayor (the former 

Kryjanovsky, who noted his powerlessness in the face of what was happening in the university, 

where even weapons were being gathered, and had resigned on the 18th) went to General 

Kaulbars, “urging him to take all the power in his hands to the extent that the military 

command… alone is capable of saving the city.” The latter explained to them that “before the 

declaration of the state of siege, the military command had no right to interfere in the decisions 

of the civil administration and had no other obligation” than to assist it when it requested it. 

“Not to mention that the firing of the troops and the bombs thrown at them made it extremely 

difficult to restore order.” He finally agreed to intervene.—On the 21st of October he gave 

orders to take the most energetic measures against the buildings from which shots were fired 

and bombs were thrown. On the 22nd: “order to take down on the spot all those who guilty of 

attacks on buildings, businesses or persons.” As early as the 21st, calm began to return to 

different parts of the city; from the 22nd, “the police ensured the surveillance of the streets” 

with the reinforcement of the army; “the streetcars began to circulate again and in the evening, 

one could consider that the order was restored in the city.”

The number of victims was difficult to define and varies from one source to another. The 

Kuzminski report states that “according to information provided by the police, the number of 

people killed amounts to more than 500 persons, including more than 400 Jews; as to the 

number of injuries recorded by the police, it is 289…, of which 237 Jews. According to the data 

collected from the cemetery guardians, 86 funerals were celebrated in the Christian cemetery, 

298 in the Jewish cemetery.” In the hospitals were admitted “608 wounded, including 392 

Jews.” (However, many had to be those who refrained from going to hospitals, fearing that they 

would later be prosecuted.)—The Jewish Encyclopædia reports 400 deaths among the 

Jews.130—According to the Poalei Zion: based on the list published by the rabbinate of Odessa, 

“302 Jews were killed, including 55 members of self-defence detachments, as well as 15 

Christians who were members of these same detachments”; “among the other deaths, 45 could 

not be identified; 179 men and 23 women were identified.” “Many deaths among the vandals; 

no one counted them, nor cared to know their number; in any event, it is said that there were 
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not less than a hundred.”131 As for the Soviet work already quoted, it did not hesitate to put 

forward the following figures: “more than 500 dead and 900 wounded among the Jews.”132

One should also mention, by way of illustration, the hot reactions of the foreign press. In the 

Berliner Tageblatt, even before the 21st of October, one could read: “Thousands and thousands 

of Jews are massacred in the south of Russia; more than a thousand Jewish girls and children 

were raped and strangled.”133

On the other hand, it is without exaggeration that Kuzmininski summarises the events: “By its 

magnitude and its violence, this pogrom surpassed all those who preceded it.”—He considers 

that the main person in charge is the governor of the city, Neudhart. The latter made an 

“unworthy concession” by yielding to Professor Chtchepkin’s demands, by withdrawing the 

police from the city and handing it over to a student militia that did not yet exist. On the 18th, 

“he did not take any measure… to disperse the revolutionary crowd that had gathered in the 

streets”, he tolerated that power would go to “the ramifications of Jews and revolutionaries” 

(did he not understand that reprisals in the form of a pogrom would follow?). His negligence 

could have been explained if he had handed power over to the army, but that did not happen 

“during the entire period of the troubles.” This did not, however, prevent him from 

broadcasting during the events fairly ambiguous statements and later, during the investigation, 

to lie to try to justify himself. Having established “the evidence of criminal acts committed in 

the exercise of his functions,” Senator Kouzminski had Neudhart brought to justice.

With respect to the military command, the senator had no power to do so. But he indicates that 

it was criminal on behalf of Kaulbars to yield on 18 October to the demands of the Municipal 

Duma and to withdraw the army from the streets of the city. On the 21st, Kaulbars also uses 

equivocal arguments in addressing the police officers gathered at the governor’s house: “Let us 

call things by name. It must be acknowledged that in our heart we all approve of this pogrom. 

But, in the exercise of our functions, we must not let the persecution we may feel for the Jews 

transpire. It is our duty to maintain order and to prevent pogroms and murders.”

The senator concluded his report by stating that “the troubles and disorders of October were 

provoked by causes of undeniably revolutionary character and found their culmination in an 

anti-Jewish pogrom solely because it was precisely the representatives of that nationality which 

had taken a preponderant part in the revolutionary movement.” But could we not add that it is 

also due to the long-standing laxity of the authorities over the excesses of which the 
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revolutionaries were guilty?

But as “the conviction that the events of October were the sole cause of Neudhart’s actions…”, 

“his provocations”, immediately after the end of the disorders “several commissions were 

formed in Odessa, including the University, the Municipal Duma and the Council of the Bar 

Association”; they were actively engaged in collecting documents proving that “the pogrom was 

the result of a provocation.” But after examining the evidence, the senator “discovered… no 

evidence” and the investigation “did not reveal any facts demonstrating the participation of 

even a single police officer to the organisation of the patriotic manifestation.”

The senator’s report also highlights other aspects of the year 1905 and the general era.

On 21 October, “as rumours spread throughout the city that bombs were being made and 

weapons were being stored in large quantities within the university compound,” the military 

district commander proposed to have the buildings inspected by a Committee composed of 

officers and professors. The rector told him that “such an intrusion would violate the autonomy 

of the university”. Since the day it was proclaimed in August, the university was run by a 

commission composed of “twelve professors of extremist orientation”. (Shchepkin, for 

example, declared at a meeting on October 7th: “When the hour strikes and you knock on our 

door, we will join you on your Potemkin!”), But this commission itself was made under the 

control of the student “soviet coalition” who dictated its orders to the rector. After the 

rejection of Kaulbars’ request, the “inspection” was carried out by a commission composed of 

professors and three municipal councillors, and, of course, “nothing suspicious” was 

discovered.—“Facts of the same nature were also be observed in the Municipal Duma. There, it 

was the municipal employees who manifested claims to exercise influence and authority”; their 

committee presented to the Duma, composed of elected representatives, demands “of an 

essentially political character”; on the 17th, the day of the Manifesto, they concocted a 

resolution: “At last the Autocracy has fallen into the precipice!”—as the senator writes, “it is 

not excluded that at the outset of the troubles there might have been inclinations to take the 

whole of power.”

(After that, it was the revolutionary wave of December, the comminatory tone of the Soviet of 

Workers’ Deputies—“we demand” the general strike—the interruption of electric lighting in 

Odessa, the paralysis of commerce, transport, the activity of the port, bombs were flying again, 

“the destruction in sets of the new patriotic-oriented newspaper Rousskaïa retch*, “the 
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collection [under threat] of money to finance the revolution”, the cohorts of disaffected high 

school students and the population frightened “under the yoke of the revolutionary 

movement.”)

*

This spirit of 1905 (the spirit of the whole “liberation movement”), which had manifested itself 

so violently in Odessa, also broke out in these “constitutional days”** in many other cities of 

Russia; both in and outside the Pale of Settlement, the pogroms “broke out everywhere… on 

the very day when was received the news of the Proclamation” from the Manifesto.

Within the Pale of Settlement, pogroms were held in Kremenchug, Chemigov, Vinnitsa, 

Kishinev, Balta, Ekaterinoslav, Elizabethgrad, Oman, and many other towns and villages; the 

property of the Jews was most often destroyed but not looted. “Where the police and the army 

took energetic measures, the pogroms remained very limited and lasted only a short time. Thus 

at Kamenets-Podolsk, thanks to the effective and rapid action of the police and the army, all 

attempts to provoke a pogrom were stifled in the bud.” “In Chersonese and Nikolayev, the 

pogrom was stopped from the beginning.”134 (And, in a south-western town, the pogrom did 

not take place for the good reason that adult Jews administered a punishment to the young 

people who had organised an anti-government demonstration after the proclamation of the 

Imperial Manifesto of 17 October.”135)

Where, in the Pale of Settlement, there was no single pogrom, it was in the northwest region 

where the Jews were most numerous, and it might have seemed incomprehensible if the 

pogroms had been organised by the authorities and “generally proceeded according to the 

same scenario.”136

“Twenty-four pogroms took place outside the Pale of Settlement, but they were directed 

against all the progressive elements of society,”137 and not exclusively against the Jews—this 

circumstance puts in evidence what pushed people to organise pogroms: the shock effect 

provoked by the Manifesto and a spontaneous impulse to defend the throne against those who 

wanted to put down the tsar. Pogroms of this type broke out in Rostov-on-the-Don, Tula, Kursk, 

Kaluga, Voronezh, Riazan, Yaroslav, Viazma, Simferopol, “the Tatars participated actively in the 

pogroms at Kazan and Feodossia.”138 In Tver, the building of the Council of the Zemstvo was 

sacked; at Tomsk the crowd set fire to the theatre where a meeting of the Left took place; two 
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hundred persons perished in the disaster! In Saratov, there were disturbances, but no casualties 

(the local governor was none other than Stolypin139).

On the nature of all these pogroms and the number of their victims, the opinions diverge 

strongly according to the authors. The estimates that are made today are sometimes very 

fanciful. For example, in a 1987 publication: “in the course of the pogroms we count a thousand 

killed and tens of thousands of wounded and maimed”—and, as echoed by the press at the 

time: “Thousands of women were raped, very often under the eyes of their mothers and 

children.”140

Conversely, G. Sliosberg, a contemporary of the events and with all the information, wrote: 

“Fortunately, these hundreds of pogroms did not bring about significant violence on the person 

of the Jews, and in the overwhelming majority of cases the pogroms were not accompanied by 

murders.”141 As for the women and the elderly, the rebuttal comes from the Bolshevik fighter 

Dimanstein, who declared with pride: “Jews who were killed or wounded were for the most 

part some of the best elements of self-defence, they were young and combative and preferred 

to die rather than surrender.”142

As for the origins of the pogroms, the Jewish community and then the Russian public opinion in 

1881 were under the tenacious hold of a hypnosis: undoubtedly and undeniably, the pogroms 

were manipulated by the government! Petersburg guided by the Police Department! After the 

events of 1905, the whole press also presented things as such. And Sliosberg himself, in the 

midst of this hypnosis, abounds in this sense: “For three days, the wave of pogroms has swept 

over the Pale of Settlement [we have just seen that this area was not touched in full and that, 

conversely, other regions of Russia were—A. S.], and according to a perfectly identical scenario, 

were planned in advance.”143

And this strange absence, in so many, many authors, if only one would attempt to explain things 

differently! (Many years later, I. Frumkin acknowledged at least: the pogroms of 1905 were 

“not only anti-Jewish, but also counter-revolutionary.”144 And no one even asks the question: 

and if the root causes were the same and should be sought in political events, the state of mind 

of the population? Are not the same concerns expressed in this way? Let us recall that the 

crowd had here and there demonstrated against the strikers before the proclamation of the 

Manifesto. Let us also recall that a general strike of the railways took place in October and that 

the communications had been interrupted throughout the country—and, in spite of this, so 

204



many pogroms broke out at the same time? It should also be noted that the authorities ordered 

investigations in a whole series of towns and that sanctions were imposed on police officers 

convicted of breaches of duty. Let us recall that during the same period the peasants organised 

pogroms against the landowners all over the place, and that they all proceeded in the same 

way. Without doubt, we are not going to say that these pogroms were also contrived by the 

Police Department and that they did not reflect the same uneasiness among all the peasants.

It seems that one proof—only one—of the existence of a scheme exists, but it does not point in 

the direction of power either. The Minister of the Interior R. N. Dournovo discovered in 1906 

that an official in charge of special missions, M. S. Komissarov, had used the premises of the 

Police Department to secretly print leaflets calling for the fight against Jews and 

revolutionaries.145 It should be emphasised, however, that this was not an initiative of the 

Department, but a conspiracy by an adventurer, a former gendarmerie officer, who was 

subsequently entrusted with “special missions” by the Bolsheviks, to the Cheka, to the GPU, and 

was sent to the Balkans to infiltrate what remained of the Wrangel army*.

The falsified versions of events have nonetheless solidly embedded themselves in consciences, 

especially in the distant regions of the West, where Russia has always been perceived through a 

thick fog, while anti-Russian propaganda was heard distinctly. Lenin had every interest in 

inventing the fable according to which tsarism “endeavoured to direct against the Jews the 

hatred which the workers and peasants, overwhelmed by misery, devoted to the nobles and 

capitalists”; and his henchman, Lourie-Larine, tried to explain this by class struggle: only the rich 

Jews would have been targeted—whereas the facts prove the contrary: it was precisely they 

who enjoyed the protection of the police.146 But, even today, it is everywhere the same 

version of the facts—let us take the example of the Encyclopædia Judaica: “From the beginning, 

these pogroms were inspired by government circles. The local authorities received instruction 

to give freedom of action to the thugs and to protect them against Jewish detachments of self-

defence.”147 Let us take again the Jewish Encyclopædia published in Israel in the Russian 

language: “By organising the pogroms, the Russian authorities sought to…”; “the government 

wanted to physically eliminate as many Jews as possible”148 [emphasis in italics added 

everywhere by me—A. S.]. All these events, therefore, would not have been the effect of the 

criminal laxity of the local authorities, but the fruit of a machination carefully guarded by the 

central government?

However, Leo Tolstoy himself, who at the time was particularly upset with the government and 

did not miss an opportunity to speak ill of it, said at the time: “I do not believe that the police 
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push the people [to the pogroms]. This has been said for Kishinev as well as for Baku… It is the 

brutal manifestation of the popular will… The people see the violence of the revolutionary 

youth and resist it.”149

At the tribune of the Duma, Chulguine proposed an explanation similar to that of Tolstoy: “The 

posse justice is very widespread in Russia as in other countries… What happens in America is 

rich in lessons regarding this…: posse justice is called lynching… But what has recently happened 

in Russia is even more terrible—it is the form of posse justice called pogrom! When the power 

went on strike, when the most inadmissible attacks on the national sentiment and the most 

sacred values for the people remained completely unpunished, then, under the influence of an 

unreasoned anger, it began to do justice to itself. It goes without saying that in such 

circumstances the people are incapable of differentiating between the guilty and the innocent 

and, in any case, what has happened to us—it has rejected all the fault on the Jews. Of these, 

few guilty have suffered, for they have been clever enough to escape abroad; it is the innocent 

who have massively paid for them.”150 (Cadet leader F. Rodichev, for his part, had the 

following formula: “Anti-Semitism is the patriotism of disoriented people”—let us say: where 

there are Jews.)

The tsar had been too weak to defend his power by the law, and the government proved its 

pusillanimity; then the petty bourgeois, the petty traders and even the workers, those of the 

railways, the factories, the very people who had organised the general strike, revolted, stood up 

in a spontaneous way to defend their most sacred values, wounded by the contortions of those 

who denigrated them. Uncontrollable, abandoned, desperate, this mass gave free rein to its 

rage in the barbaric violence of the pogroms.

And in the case of a contemporary Jewish writer who is also lacking in sagacity when he persists 

in asserting that “undoubtedly, tsarist power played a major role in the organisation of anti-

Jewish pogroms”, we find in a nearby paragraph: “We are absolutely convinced that the Police 

Department was not sufficiently organised to implement simultaneous pogroms in six hundred 

and sixty different places that same week.” The responsibility for these pogroms “is not solely 

and not so much for the administration, but rather for the Russian and Ukrainian population in 

the Pale of Settlement.”151

On the latter point, I agree as well. But subject to a reservation, and it is of size: the Jewish 

youth of this time also carries a heavy share of responsibility in what happened. Here 
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manifested itself a tragic characteristic of the Russian-Ukrainian character (without attempting 

to distinguish which of the Russians or Ukrainians participated in the pogroms): under the 

influence of anger, we yield blindly to the need to “blow off some steam” without distinguishing 

between good and bad; after which, we are not able to take the time—patiently, methodically, 

for years, if necessary—to repair the damage. The spiritual weakness of our two peoples is 

revealed in this sudden outburst of vindictive brutality after a long somnolence.

We find the same impotence on the side of the patriots, who hesitate between indifference and 

semi-approval, unable to make their voice heard clearly and firmly, to guide opinion, to rely on 

cultural organisations. (Let us note in passing that at the famous meeting at Witte’s, there were 

also representatives of the press of the right, but they did not say a word, they even acquiesced 

sometimes to Propper’s impertinences.)

Another secular sin of the Russian Empire tragically had its effects felt during this period: the 

Orthodox Church had long since been crushed by the State, deprived of all influence over 

society, and had no ascendancy over the popular masses (an authority which it had disposed of 

in ancient Russia and during the time of the Troubles, and which would soon be lacking very 

much during the civil war!). The highest hierarchs were able to exhort the good Christian 

people, for months and years, and yet they could not even prevent the crowd from sporting 

crucifixes and icons at the head of the pogroms.

It was also said that the pogroms of October 1905 had been organised by The Union of the 

Russian People. This is not true: it did not appear until November 1905, in instinctive reaction to 

the humiliation felt by the people. Its programme at the time had indeed global anti-Jewish 

orientations: “The destructive, anti-governmental action of the Jewish masses, solidarity in their 

hatred for everything Russian and indifferent to the means to be used.”152

In December, its militants called on the Semienovski regiment to crush the armed insurrection 

in Moscow. Yet the Union of the Russian People, which was ultimately made legendary by 

rumours and fears, was in reality only a shabby little party lacking in means whose only raison 

d’être was to lend its support to the autocratic monarch, which, early as the spring of 1906, had 

become a constitutional monarch. As for the government, it felt embarrassed to have support 

for such a party. So that the latter, strong of its two or three thousand local soviets composed 

of illiterates and incompetents, found itself in opposition to the government of the 

constitutional monarchy, and especially to Stolypin.—From the tribune of the Duma, 
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Purishkevich* interrogated in these terms the deputies, “since the appearance of the 

monarchist organisations, have you seen many pogroms in the Pale of Settlement?… Not one, 

because the monarchists organisations struggled and struggled against Jewish predominance by 

economic measures, cultural measures, and not by punches.”153—These measures were they 

so cultural, one might ask, but no pogrom is actually known to have been caused by the Union 

of the Russian People, and those which preceded were indeed the result of a spontaneous 

popular explosion.

A few years later, the Union of the Russian People—which, from the start, was merely a 

masquerade—disappeared in the mist of general indifference. (One can judge of the vagueness 

that surrounded this party by the astonishing characteristic that is given in the Jewish 

Encyclopædia: the anti-Semitism of the Union of the Russian People “is very characteristic of 

nobility and great capital”!154)

There is another mark of infamy, all the more indelible as its outlines are vague: “the Black 

Hundreds.”

Where does that name come from? Difficult to say: according to some, this is how the Poles 

would have designated out of spite the Russian monks who resisted victoriously the assault of 

the Trinity Lavra of Saint Sergius in 1608‒1609. Through obscure historical channels, it reached 

the twentieth century and was then used as a very convenient label to stigmatise the popular 

patriotic movement that had spontaneously formed. It was precisely its character, both 

imprecise and insulting, that made it a success. (Thus, for example, the four KDs who became 

emboldened to the point of entering into negotiations with Stolypin were denounced as “KD-

Black-Hundreds”. In 1909, the Milestones Collection was accused of “propagating in a masked 

form the ideology of the Black Hundreds.”) And the “expression” became commonplace for a 

century, although the Slavic populations, totally dismayed and discouraged, were never counted 

by hundreds but by millions.

In 1908‒1912, the Jewish Encyclopædia published in Russia, in its honour, did not interfere in 

giving a definition of the “Black Hundreds”: the Jewish intellectual elite of Russia had in its ranks 

sufficient minds that were balanced, penetrating, and sensible. But during the same period 

before the First World War, the Brockhaus-Efron Encyclopædia proposed a definition in one of 

its supplements: “The ‘Black Hundreds’ has been for a few years the common name given to the 

dregs of society focused on pogroms against Jews and intellectuals.” Further, the article 
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broadens the statement: “This phenomenon is not specifically Russian; it appeared on the stage 

of history… in different countries and at different times.”155 And it is true that, in the press 

after the February revolution, I found the expression “the Swedish Black Hundreds!”…

A wise contemporary Jewish author rightly points out that “the phenomenon which has been 

designated by the term ‘Black Hundreds’ has not been sufficiently studied.”156

But this kind of scruple is totally foreign to the famous Encyclopædia Britannica whose authority 

extends to the entire planet: “The Black Hundreds or Union of the Russian People or 

organisation of reactionary and anti-Semitic groups in Russia, constituted during the revolution 

of 1905. Unofficially encouraged by authorities, the Black Hundreds recruited their troops for 

the most part from the landowners, the rich peasants, the bureaucrats, the police, and the 

clergy; they supported the Orthodox Church, autocracy and Russian nationalism. Particularly 

active between 1906 and 1911…”157

One remains stunned before so much science! And this is what is being read to all cultivated 

humanity: “recruited their troops for the most part from the landowners, the rich peasants, the 

bureaucrats, the police, and the clergy!” It was thus those people who smashed the windows of 

the Jewish shops with their sticks! And they were “particularly active” after 1905… when the 

calm had returned!

True, in 1905‒1907 there were actions against landowners, there were even more pogroms 

against the Jews. It was always the same ignorant and brutal crowd that ransacked and looted 

houses and property, massacring people (including children), and even cattle; but these 

massacres never led to condemnation on the part of the progressive intelligentsia, while the 

deputy in the Duma Herzenstein, in a speech in which he took with passion and reason the 

defence of small peasant farms, alerting parliamentarians of the danger of an extension of the 

fires of rural estates, exclaimed: “The illuminations of the month of May last year are not 

enough for you, when in the region of Saratov one hundred and fifty properties were destroyed 

practically in a single day?”158 These illuminations were never forgiven. It was, of course, a 

blunder on his part, from which it should not be inferred that he was glad of such a situation. 

Would he have used this word, however, about the pogroms against the Jews of the preceding 

autumn?
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It was not until the Great, the real revolution, that the violence against the noble landlords was 

heard, they “were no less barbaric and unacceptable than the pogroms against the Jews… There 

is, however, in the left-wing circles a tendency to consider… as positive the destruction of the 

old political and social system.”159

Yes, there was another frightening similarity between these two forms of pogroms: the 

sanguinary crowd had the feeling of being in its right.

*

The last pogroms against the Jews took place in 1906 in Sedlets, in Poland—which is beyond our 

scope—and in Bialystok during the summer. (Soon after, the police stifled a pogrom in 

preparation in Odessa after the dissolution of the first Duma.)

In Bialystok was constituted the most powerful of the anarchist groups in Russia. Here, 

“important bands of anarchists had made their appearance; they perpetrated terrorist acts 

against owners, police officers, Cossacks, military personnel.”160 The memories left by some of 

them make it possible to represent the atmosphere of the city very clearly in 1905‒1906: 

repeated attacks by the anarchists who had settled in the Street de Souraje, where the police 

did not dare go any more. “It was very common for policemen on duty to be assassinated in 

broad daylight; This is why we saw fewer and fewer of them…” Here is the anarchist Nissel 

Farber: “he threw a bomb at the police station,” wounding two peacekeepers, a secretary, 

killing “two bourgeois who were there by chance,” and, lack of luck, perished himself in the 

explosion. Here is Guelinker (a.k.a. Aron Eline): he also launched a bomb, which seriously 

wounded the deputy of the chief of police, a commissioner, two inspectors and three agents. 

Here is another anarchist whose bomb “wounds an officer and three soldiers,” hurts him as 

well, in fact, “and, unfortunately, kills a militant of the Bund.” Here again it is a commissioner 

and a peacekeeper who are killed, there are two gendarmes, and again the same “Guelinker 

kills a concierge.” (Apart from the attacks, the “expropriation of consumer products” was also 

practised—food had to be eaten.) “The authorities lived in fear of an ‘uprising’ of the anarchists 

in the Street de Souraje,” the police had taken the habit of “expecting such an uprising for 

today, tomorrow or the day after tomorrow.” “The majority… of the anarchists… were leaning 

towards a resolute armed action in order to maintain, as much as possible, an atmosphere of 

class war.”
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To this end, terror was also extended to the Jewish “bourgeois”. The same Farber attacked the 

head of a workshop, a certain Kagan, “at the exit of the synagogue… he wounded him seriously 

with a knife in the neck”; another little patron, Lifchitz, suffered the same fate; also “the 

wealthy Weinreich was attacked in the synagogue,” but the revolver was of poor quality and 

jammed three times.” There was a demand for a series of “significant ‘gratuitous’ actions 

against the bourgeois: “the bourgeois must feel himself in danger of death at every moment of 

his existence.” There was even the idea of “disposing all along [the main street of Bialystok] 

infernal machines to blow up the entire upper class” at once. But “how to transmit the 

anarchist ‘message’?” Two currents emerged in Bialystok: the “gratuitous” terrorists and the 

“communards” who considered terrorism to be a “dull” and mediocre method, but tended 

towards the armed insurrection “in the name of communism without State”: “To invest in the 

city, to arm the masses, to resist several attacks by the army and then to drive them out of the 

city,” and, “at the same time, to invest in plants, factories and shops.” It was in these terms 

that, “during meetings of fifteen to twenty thousand people, our speakers called for an armed 

uprising.” Alas, “the working masses of Bialystok having withdrawn from the revolutionary 

vanguard that they themselves had suckled from,” it was imperative to “overcome… the 

passivity of the masses.” The anarchists of Bialystok thus prepared an insurrection in 1906. Its 

course and its consequences are known as the “pogrom of Bialystok”. 161

It all began with the assassination of the chief of police, which took place precisely in this 

“Street de Souraje where the Jewish anarchist organisation was concentrated”; then someone 

shot or threw a bomb on a religious procession. After that, a commission of inquiry was 

dispatched by the State Duma, but alas, alas, three times alas, it failed to determine “whether it 

was a shot or some sort of whistling: witnesses were unable to say.”162 This, the communist 

Dimanstein wrote very clearly, twenty years later, that “a firecracker was thrown at an 

Orthodox procession as a provocation.”163

Nor can one exclude the participation of the Bund who, during the “best” months of the 1905 

revolution, had burned with a desire to move to armed action, but in vain, and was withering 

away to the point of having to consider renewing allegiance to the Social democrats. But it is of 

course the anarchists of Bialystok themselves who manifested themselves with the most 

brilliance. Their leader, Judas Grossman-Rochinin, recounted after 1917 what this nest of 

anarchists was: above all, they were afraid of “yielding to a wait-and-see approach and to 

common sense”. Having failed in organising two or three strikes because of the lack of support 

from the population, they decided in June 1906 to “take charge of the city” and expropriate the 

tools of production. “We considered that there was no reason to withdraw from Bialystok 
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without having given a last class struggle, that it would have come down to capitulating in front 

of a complex problem of a superior type”; if “we do not move to the ultimate stage of the 

struggle, the masses will lose confidence [in us].” However, men and weapons were lacking to 

take the city, and Grossman ran to Warsaw to seek help from the armed fraction of the PPS (the 

Polish Socialists). And there he heard a newsagent shouting: “Bloody pogrom in Bialystok!… 

thousands of victims!”… Everything became clear: the reaction had preceded us!”164

And it is there, in the passage “to the ultimate stage of the struggle”, that is doubtlessly found 

the explanation for the “pogrom”. The revolutionary impetus of the Bialystok anarchists was 

expressed subsequently. At the trial, in the pleadings of the lawyer Gillerson who “called for the 

overthrow of the government and the political and social system existing in Russia”, and which, 

for precisely this reason, was himself prosecuted. As for the Duma commission, it considered 

that “the conditions of a pogrom had also been created by various elements of society who 

imagined that fighting the Jews was tantamount to fighting the liberation movement.”165

But after that “firecracker thrown by the provocation” which the Duma Committee had not 

been able to detect, what had been the course of events? According to the commission’s 

findings, “the systematic execution of innocent Jews, including women and children, was 

carried out under the pretext of repressing the revolutionaries.” There were “more than 

seventy dead and about eighty wounded” among the Jews. Conversely, “the indictment tended 

to explain the pogrom by the revolutionary activity of the Jews, which had provoked the anger 

of the rest of the population.” The Duma Committee rejected this version of the facts: “There 

was no racial, religious, or economic antagonism in Bialystok between Jews and Christians.”166

And here is what is written today: “This time the pogrom was purely military. The soldiers were 

transformed into rioters,” and chased the revolutionaries. At the same time, these soldiers 

were said to be afraid of the detachments of Jewish anarchists in the Street de Souraje, because 

“the war in Japan… had taught [Russian soldiers] to beware of gunshots”—such were the words 

pronounced in the Municipal Duma by a Jewish councillor.167 Against the Jewish detachments 

of self-defence are given the infantry and the cavalry, but, on the other side, there are bombs 

and firearms.

In this period of strong social unrest, the Duma committee concluded to a “strafing of the 

population”, but twenty years later, we can read in a Soviet book (in any case, the “old regime” 

will not come back, will not be able to justify itself, and so we can go ahead!): “They massacred 
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entire families with the use of nails, they pierced their eyes, cut tongues, smashed the skulls of 

children, etc.”168 And a luxury book edited abroad, sensationalist book, denunciatory, a richly 

illustrated folio, printed on coated paper, entitled The Last Autocrat (decreeing in advance that 

Nicholas II would indeed be the “last”), proposed the following version: the pogrom “had been 

the object of such a staging that it seemed possible to describe the program of the first day in 

the Berlin newspapers; thus, two hours before the beginning of the Bialystok pogrom, the 

Berliners could be informed of the event.”169 (But if something appeared in the Berlin press, 

was it not merely an echo of Grossman-Rochin’s shenanigans?)

Moreover, it would have been rather absurd on the part of the Russian government to provoke 

pogroms against the Jews even as the Russian ministers were lobbying among Western 

financiers in the hope of obtaining loans. Let us remember that Witte had great difficulty in 

obtaining from the Rothschilds, who were ill-disposed towards Russia because of the situation 

of the Jews and the pogroms, “as well as other important Jewish establishments,”170 with the 

exception of the Berliner banker Mendelssohn. As early as December 1905, the Russian 

ambassador to London, Benkendorf, warned his minister: “The Rothschilds are repeating 

everywhere… That Russia’s credit is now at its lowest level, but that it will be restored 

immediately if the Jewish question is settled.”171

At the beginning of 1906, Witte disseminated a government communiqué saying that “finding a 

radical solution to the Jewish problem is a matter of conscience for the Russian people, and this 

will be done by the Duma, but even before the Duma unites itself, the most stringent provisions 

will be repealed insofar as they are no longer justified in the present situation.”172 He begged 

the most eminent representatives of the Jewish community of Saint Petersburg to go as a 

delegation to the tsar, and he promised them the most kind welcome. This proposal was 

discussed at the Congress of the Union for the Integrality of Rights—and after the fiery speech 

of I. B. Bak (editor of the Retch newspaper) it was decided to reject it and to send a less 

important delegation to Witte, not to provide answers, but to make accusations: to tell him 

“clearly and unambiguously” that the wave of pogroms was organised “at the initiative and with 

the support of the government.”173

After two years of revolutionary earthquake, the leaders of the Jewish community in Russia 

who had taken the upper hand did not for a moment contemplate accepting a progressive 

settlement regarding the question of equal rights. They felt that they were carried by the wave 

of victory and had no need to go to the tsar in the position of beggars and loyal subjects. They 

were proud of the audacity displayed by the Jewish revolutionary youth. (One must position 
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oneself in the context of the time when the old imperial army was believed to be immovable, to 

perceive the significance of the episode during which, in front of the regiment of Rostov 

grenadiers standing at attention, his commander, Colonel Simanski, had been arrested by a 

volunteer Jew!) After all, perhaps these revolutionaries had not been guilty of “national 

treason,” as Doubnov had accused them, perhaps they were the ones who were in the truth?—

After 1905, only the fortunate and prudent Jews were left to doubt it.

What was the record of the year 1905 for the entire Jewish community in Russia? On the one 

hand, “the revolution of 1905 had overall positive results… it brought to the Jews political 

equality even when they did not even enjoy civil equality… Never as after the “Liberation 

Movement” did the Jewish question benefit from a more favourable climate in public 

opinion.”174 But, on the other hand, the strong participation of the Jews in the revolution 

contributed to the fact that they were henceforth all identified with it. At the tribune of the 

Duma in 1907 V. Choulgin proposed to vote a resolution to find that “… the western half of 

Russia, from Bessarabia to Warsaw, is full of hatred towards the Jews whom they consider the 

responsible for all their misfortunes…”175

This is indirectly confirmed by the increase in Jewish emigration from Russia. If, in 1904‒1905, 

there was still an increase in emigration among mature men, the whole age pyramid is 

concerned from 1906 onwards. The phenomenon is therefore not due to the pogroms of 

1881‒1882, but indeed those of 1905‒1906. From now on, for the United States alone, the 

number of immigrants rose to 125,000 people in 1905‒1906 and to 115,000 in 1906‒1907.176

But at the same time, writes B. I. Goldman, “in the short years of agitation, higher education 

institutions did not rigorously apply the numerus clausus to the Jews, a relatively large number 

of Jewish professional executives, and as they were more skilful than the Russians in placing 

themselves on the market, without always being distinguished by a great moral rigour in their 

activity, some began to speak of a “hold of the Jews” on the intellectual professions.177 And “in 

the ‘Project for Universities’ prepared in 1906 by the Ministry of Public Instruction, no mention 

was made to the numerus clausus.” In 1905 there were 2,247 (9.2%) Jewish students in Russia; 

in 1906, 3,702 (11.6%); In 1907, 4,266 (12%).178

In the program of reforms announced on August 25th, 1906 by the Government, the latter 

undertook to re-examine, among the limitations to which the Jews were subjected, those which 

could be immediately lifted “insofar as they merely provoke dissatisfaction and are obviously 
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obsolete.”

However, at the same time, the Russian government could no longer be affected by the 

revolution (which was prolonged for another two years by a wave of terrorism hardly contained 

by Stolypin) and by the very visible participation of the Jews in this revolution.

To these subjects of discontent was added the humiliating defeat against Japan, and the ruling 

circles of Saint Petersburg yielded to the temptation of a simplistic explanation: Russia is 

fundamentally sound, and the whole revolution, from beginning to end, is a dark plot hatched 

by the Jews, an episode of the Judeo-Masonic plot. Explain everything by one and the same 

cause: the Jews! Russia would long have been at the zenith of glory and universal power if there 

were no Jews!

And, clinging to this short but convenient explanation, the high spheres only brought the hour 

of their fall even closer.

The superstitious belief in the historical force of conspiracies (even if they exist, individual or 

collective) leaves completely aside the main cause of failures suffered by individuals as well as 

by states: human weaknesses.

It is our Russian weaknesses that have determined the course of our sad history—the absurdity 

of the religious schism caused by Nikon*, the senseless violence of Peter the Great and the 

incredible series of counter-shocks that ensued, wasting our strength for causes that are not 

ours, the inveterate sufficiency of the nobility and bureaucratic petrification throughout the 

nineteenth century. It is not by the effect of a plot hatched from the outside that we have 

abandoned our peasants to their misery. It was not a plot that led the great and cruel 

Petersburg to stifle the sweet Ukrainian culture. It was not because of a conspiracy that four 

ministries were unable to agree on the assignment of a particular case to one or the other of 

them, they spent years in exhausting squabbles mobilising all levels of the hierarchy. It is not 

the result of a plot if our emperors, one after the other, have proved incapable of 

understanding the evolution of the world and defining the true priorities. If we had preserved 

the purity and strength, which were formerly infused into us by Saint Sergius of Radonezh, we 

should not fear any plot in the world.
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No, it can not be said in any case that it was the Jews who “organised” the revolutions of 1905 

or 1917, just as one cannot say that it was this nation as a whole that fomented them. In the 

same way, it was not the Russians or the Ukrainians, taken together as nations, who organised 

the pogroms.

It would be easy for us all to take a retrospective look at this revolution and condemn our 

“renegades.” Some were “non-Jewish Jews,”179 others were “internationalists, not Russians.” 

But every nation must answer for its members in that it has helped to train them.

On the side of the Jewish revolutionary youth (but also of those who had formed it) as well as 

those of the Jews who “constituted an important revolutionary force,”180 it seems that the 

wise advice Jeremiah addressed to the Jews deported to Babylon was forgotten: “Seek peace 

for the city where I have deported you; pray to Yahweh in its favour, for its peace depends on 

yours.” (Jeremiah 29‒7.)

While the Jews of Russia, who rallied the revolution, only dreamed of bringing down this same 

city without thinking of the consequences.

*

In the long and chaotic human history, the role played by the Jewish people—few but 

energetic—is undeniable and considerable. This also applies to the history of Russia. But for all 

of us, this role remains a historical enigma.

For the Jews as well.

This strange mission brought them everything but happiness.
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Chapter 10

The Period of the Duma

The Manifesto of 17 October marked the beginning of a qualitatively new period in Russian 

history, which was later consolidated by a year of Stolypin’s government: the period of the 

Duma or of limited Autocracy, during which the previous principles of government—the 

absolute power of the tsar, the opacity of the ministries, the immutability of the hierarchy—

were rapidly and sensibly restricted. This period was very difficult for all the higher spheres, and 

only men with a solid character and an active temperament could enrol with dignity in the new 

era. But public opinion also found it difficult to get accustomed to the new electoral practices, 

to the publicity of the debates in the Duma (and even more to the responsibility of the latter); 

and, in its left wing, the enraged Leninists as well as the enraged of the Bund simply boycotted 

the elections to the first Duma: we have nothing to do with your parliaments, we will achieve 

our ends by bombs, blood, convulsions! And so “the attitude of the Bund towards the Jewish 

deputies of the Duma was violently hostile.”1

But the Jews of Russia, led by the Union for the integrality of rights, were not mistaken and, 

expressing their sympathy for the new institution, “participated very actively in the elections, 

voting most often for the representatives of the [Cadet] party who had placed the equality of 

rights for the Jews on its agenda.” Some revolutionaries who had regained their spirits shared 

the same dispositions. Thus Isaac Gurvitch, who had emigrated in 1889—an active supporter of 

the Marxist left, was the co-founder of the American Social-Democratic Party—, returned to 

Russia in 1905, where he was elected to the Duma Electoral College.2—There were no 

limitations on the Jews in the elections, and twelve of them sat in the first Duma; it was true 

that most of them came from the Pale of Settlement, while the Jewish leaders of the capital, 

who did not have the property qualifications, could not be elected: only Winaver, L. Bramson3, 

and the converted Jew M. Herzenstein (to whom Prince P. Dolgorukov had given his place).

As the number of Jews in the Duma was significant, the Zionist deputies proposed forming an 

“independent Jewish group” abiding by “the discipline of a real political party”, but the non-

Zionist deputies rejected this idea, contenting itself “to meet from time to time to discuss 

matters of direct concern to Jewish interests,”4 agreeing however, to comply already to “a 

genuine discipline in the sense of strictly abiding by the decisions of a college composed of 

members of the Duma and those of the Committee for the integrality of rights”5 (the “Political 
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Bureau”).

At the same time a solid alliance was formed between the Jews and the Cadet party. “It was not 

uncommon for the local chapters of the Union [for the integrality of rights] and the 

constitutional-democratic party to be composed of the same people.”6 (Some teased Winaver 

by calling him the “Mosaic Cadet”.) “In the Pale of Settlement, the overwhelming majority of 

the [Cadet] party members were Jews; in the interior provinces, they represented in number 

the second nationality… As Witte wrote, ‘almost all Jews who graduated from higher education 

joined the party of People’s Freedom [that is, The Cadets]… which promised them immediate 

access to equal rights.’ This party owes much of its influence on the Jews who provided it with 

both intellectual and material support.”7 The Jews “introduced coherence and rigour… into the 

Russian ‘Liberation Movement’ of 1905.”8

However, A. Tyrkova, an important figure in the Cadet party, notes in his memoirs that “the 

chief founders and leaders of the Cadet party were not Jews. There were not, among the latter, 

any personality sufficiently prominent to drive the Russian liberals behind it, as the Jew Disraeli 

had done for the English Conservatives in the middle of the nineteenth century… The people 

that mattered most within the Cadet party were Russians. This does not mean that I deny the 

influence of these Jews who have joined our masses. They could not fail to act upon us, if only 

by their inexhaustible energy. Their very presence, their activity, did not allow us to forget 

them, to forget their situation, to forget that they had to be helped.” And, further on: 

“Reflecting on all these networks of influence of the Jews [within the Cadet party], one cannot 

overlook the case of Miliukov. From the beginning, he became their favourite, surrounded by a 

circle of admirers, more precisely feminine admirers… who cradled him in muted melodies, 

cajoled him, covered him without restraint of praise so excessive that they were comical.”9

V. A. Obolensky, also a member of the party, describes a Cadet club during the time of the First 

Duma at the corner of Sergevskaya and Potmekinskaya streets. The elite of the secularised 

Jewish society and the elite of the Russian politicised intelligentsia were mingled: “There were 

always a lot of people, and the public, composed mostly of wealthy Jewish Petersburgers, was 

very elegant: the ladies wore silk robes, shiny brooches and rings, the gentlemen had the airs of 

well-nourished and self-satisfied bourgeois. Despite our democratic convictions, we were 

somewhat shocked by the atmosphere that prevailed in this ‘Cadet club’. One can imagine the 

embarrassment experienced by the peasants who came to attend the meetings of our 

parliamentary group. A ‘party of gentlemen’, that is what they said to each other when they 
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ceased to attend our meetings.”10

At the local level, cooperation between the Union for the integrality of rights and the Cadet 

Party was manifested not only in the presence of “as many Jewish candidates as possible”, but 

also in the fact that “the local factions of the Union [for the integrality of rights] was instructed 

to support [non-Jews] who promised to contribute to the emancipation of the Jews.”11 As 

explained in 1907 the cadet newspaper Retch, in reply to questions repeatedly asked by other 

newspapers: “Retch has, in its time, formulated very precisely the conditions of the agreement 

with the Jewish group… The latter has the right to challenge the electoral college and to oppose 

nominations to the Duma.”12

During the parliamentary debates, the Duma, following the logic of the Imperial Manifesto, 

raised the question of equal rights for Jews within the general framework of granting the same 

rights to all citizens. “The State Duma has promised to prepare a ‘law on the full equalisation of 

the rights of all citizens and the abrogation of any limitations or privileges associated with 

membership to a social class, nationality, religion or sex’.”13 After adopting the main guidelines 

of this law, the Duma lost itself in debates for another month, multiplying “thunderous 

declarations followed by no effect”14, to be ultimately dissolved. And the law on civil equality, 

especially for the Jews, remained pending.

Like most Cadets, the Jewish deputies of the First Duma signed Vyborg’s appeal, which meant 

that it was now impossible for them to stand for elections; Winaver’s career particularly 

suffered from it. (In the First Duma, he had made violent remarks, although he would later 

advise the Jews not to put themselves too much in the spotlight to prevent a recurrence of 

what had happened in the revolution of 1905.)

“The participation of the Jews in the elections of the second Duma was even more marked than 

during the first election campaign… The Jewish populations of the Pale of Settlement showed 

the strongest interest in this election. The political debate reached all levels of society.” 

Nevertheless, as the Jewish Encyclopædia published before the Revolution indicates, there was 

also an important anti-Jewish propaganda carried out by right-wing monarchist circles, 

particularly active in the western provinces; “the peasants were persuaded that all progressive 

parties were fighting for the equal rights of the Jews to the detriment of the interests of the 

ethnic population”15; that “behind the masquerade of the popular representation, the country 

was governed by a Judeo-Masonic union of spoliators of the people and traitors to the 
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fatherland”; that the peasant should be alarmed at the “unprecedented number of new 

masters unknown to the elders of the village, and whom he henceforth had to nourish with his 

labour”; that the Constitution “promised to replace the Tatar yoke by that, injurious, of the 

international Kahal.” And a list of the existing rights to be abrogated was drawn up: not only 

were Jews not to be elected to the Duma, but they all had to be relegated to the Pale of 

Settlement; prohibiting them from selling wheat, grain and timber, working in banks or 

commercial establishments; confiscating their properties; prohibiting them from changing their 

names; to serve as publisher or editor of news organisation; to reduce the Pale of Settlement 

itself by excluding the fertile regions, to not grant land to the Jews within the province of 

Yakutsk; in general, to regard them as foreigners, to substitute for them military service by a 

tax, etc. “The result of this anti-Semitic propaganda, spread both orally and in writing, was the 

collapse of progressive candidates in the second Duma throughout the Pale of Settlement.”16 

There were only four Jewish deputies in the second Duma (including three Cadets).17

But even before these elections, the government addressed the issue of equal rights for Jews. 

Six months after taking office as Prime Minister in December 1906, Stolypin had the 

government adopt a resolution (the so-called “Journal of the Council of Ministers”) on the 

continuation of the lifting of restrictions imposed on Jews, and this in essential areas, thus 

orienting itself towards integral equality. “They considered to eliminate: the prohibition of Jews 

from residing in rural areas within the Pale of Settlement; the prohibition of residing in rural 

areas throughout the Empire for persons enjoying the right of universal residence”; “the 

prohibition of including Jews in the directory of joint stock companies holding land.”18

But the Emperor replied in a letter dated 10 December: “Despite the most convincing 

arguments in favour of adopting these measures… an inner voice dictates with increasing 

insistence not to take this decision upon myself.”19

As if he did not understand—or rather forgot—that the resolution proposed in the Journal was 

the direct and inescapable consequence of the Manifesto he had signed himself a year earlier…

Even in the most closed bureaucratic world, there are always officials with eyes and hands. And 

if the rumour of a decision taken by the Council of Ministers had already spread to the public 

opinion? And here we are: we will know that the ministers want to emancipate the Jews while 

the sovereign, he, stood in its way…
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On the same day, 10 December, Stolypin hastened to write to the Emperor a letter full of 

anxiety, repeating all his arguments one by one, and especially: “The dismissal of the Journal is 

for the moment not known by anyone,” it is therefore still possible to conceal the equivocations 

of the monarch. “Your Majesty, we have no right to put you in this position and shelter 

ourselves behind you.” Stolypin would have liked the advantages accorded to the Jews to 

appear as a favour granted by the tsar. But since this was not the case, he now proposed to 

adopt another resolution: the Emperor made no objections on the merits, but did not want the 

law to be promulgated over the head of the Duma; it must be done by the Duma.

Secretary of State S. E. Kryjanovski said that the emperor then adopted a resolution which went 

along in this direction: that the representatives of the people take responsibility both for raising 

this issue as well as resolving it. But, no one knows why, this resolution received little publicity, 

and “on the side of the Duma, absolutely nothing happened.”20

Widely to the left, penetrated by progressive ideas and so vehement towards the government, 

the second Duma was free! Yet, in the second Duma, there was still less talk of the deprivation 

of rights suffered by the Jews than in the first.”21 The law on equal rights for Jews was not even 

discussed, so, what can be said about its adoption…

Why then did the second Duma not take advantage of the opportunities offered to it? Why did 

it not seize them? It had three entire months to do it. And why did the debates, the clashes, 

relate only to secondary, tangential issues? The equality of the Jews—still partial, but already 

well advanced—was abandoned. Why, indeed, why? As for the “Extra-Parliamentary 

Extraordinary Commission”, it did not even discuss the plan to repeal the restrictions imposed 

on Jews, but circumvented the problem by focusing on integral equality “as quickly as 

possible.”22

Difficult to explain this other than by a political calculation: the aim being to fight the Autocracy, 

the interest was to raise more and more the pressure on the Jewish question, and to certainly 

not resolve it: ammunition was thus kept in reserve. These brave knights of liberty reasoned in 

these terms: to avoid that the lifting of restrictions imposed on the Jews would diminish their 

ardour in battle. For these knights without fear and without reproach, the most important, was 
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indeed the fight against the power.

All this was beginning to be seen and understood. Berdyaev, for example, addressed the whole 

spectrum of Russian radicalism with the following reproaches: “You are very sensitive to the 

Jewish question, you are fighting for their rights. But do you feel the ‘Jew’, do you feel the soul 

of the Jewish people?… No, your fight in favour for the Jews does not want to know the 

Jews.”23

Then, in the third Duma, the Cadets no longer had the majority; they “did not take any more 

initiatives on the Jewish question, fearing that they would be defeated… This caused great 

discontent among the Jewish masses, and the Jewish press did not deprive itself of attacking 

the party of the People’s Freedom.”24 Although “the Jews had participated in the electoral 

campaign with the greatest ardour and the number of Jewish voters exceeded that of the 

Christians in all the cities of the Pale of Settlement,” they were beaten by the opposing party, 

and in the third Duma there were only two Jewish deputies: Nisselovitch and Friedman.25 (The 

latter succeeded to remain up to the fourth Duma.)—Beginning in 1915, the Council of State 

included among its members a Jew, G. E. Weinstein, of Odessa. (Just before the revolution, 

there was also Solomon Samoylovich Krym, a Karaim.26)

As for the Octobrists* whose party had become a majority in the third Duma, on the one hand 

they ceded, not without hesitation, to the pressure of public opinion which demanded equal 

rights for the Jews, which led to the criticism of Russian nationalist deputies: “We thought that 

the Octobrists remained attached to the defence of national interests”—and now, without 

warning, they had relegated to the background both the question of “the granting of equal 

rights to the Russians of Finland” (which meant that this equality did not exist in this “Russian 

colony”…) and that of the annexation by Russia of the Kholm region in Poland, with all Russians 

that inhabit it—but “they have prepared a bill to abolish the Pale of Settlement.”27 On the 

other hand, they were attributed statements “of manifestly anti-Semitic character”: thus the 

third Duma, on the initiative of Guchkov, issued in 1906 “the wish… that Jewish doctors not be 

admitted to work in the army health services”28; likewise, “it was proposed to replace the 

military service of the Jews by a tax.”29 (In the years preceding the war, the project of 

dispensing the Jews from military service was still largely and seriously debated; and I. V. 

Hessen published a book on this subject entitled The War and the Jews.)

In short, neither the second, third, nor fourth Dumas took it upon themselves to pass the law on 

222



the integral equality of rights for the Jews. And every time it was necessary to ratify the law on 

equality of rights for peasants (promulgated by Stolypin as of 5 October 1906), it was blocked 

by the same Dumas, under the pressure of the left, on the grounds that the peasants could not 

be granted equal rights before they were granted to the Jews (and the Poles)!

And thus the pressure exerted upon this execrated tsarist government was not relieved, but 

doubled, quintupled. And not only did this pressure exerted on the government not be relieved, 

not only were these laws not voted upon by the Duma, but it would last until the February 

Revolution.

While Stolypin, after his unfortunate attempt in December 1906, quietly took administrative 

measures to partially lift the restrictions imposed on the Jews.

An editorialist from Novoie Vremia, Menshikov, condemned this method: “Under Stolypin, the 

Pale of Settlement has become a fiction.”30 The Jews “are defeating the Russian power by 

gradually withdrawing all its capacity to intervene… The government behaves as if it were a 

Jew.”31

Such is the fate of the middle way.

The general outcry of the parties of the left against a policy of progressive measures, this 

tactical refusal for a smooth evolution towards equal rights, was strongly supported by the 

Russian press. Since the end of 1905, it was no longer subject to prior censorship. But it was not 

only a press that had become free, it was a press that considered itself a full-fledged actor in the 

political arena, a press, as we have seen, that could formulate demands, such as that of 

withdrawing the police from the streets of the city! Witte said it had lost its reason.

In the case of the Duma, the way in which Russia, even in its most remote provinces, was 

informed of what was going on there and what was said there, depended entirely on journalists. 

The shorthand accounts of the debates appeared late and with very low circulation, so there 

was no other source of information than the daily press, and it was based on what they read 

that the people formed an opinion. However, the newspapers systematically distorted the 
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debates in the Duma, largely opening their columns to the deputies of the left and showering 

them with praise, while to the deputies of the right they allowed only a bare minimum.

A. Tyrkova says that in the second Duma, “the accredited journalists formed their own press 

office,” which “depended on the distribution of places” among the correspondents. The 

members of this office “refused to give his card of accreditation” to the correspondent of the 

Journal the Kolokol (favourite newspaper of the priests of the countryside). Tyrkova intervened, 

noting that “these readers should not be deprived of the possibility of being informed about the 

debates in the Duma by a newspaper in which they had more confidence than those of the 

opposition”; but “my colleagues, among whom the Jews were the most numerous…, got carried 

away, began shouting, explaining that no one was reading the Kolokol, that that newspaper was 

of no use.”32

For the Russian nationalist circles, responsibility for this conduct of the press was simply and 

solely the responsibility of the Jews. They wanted to prove that almost all journalists accredited 

to the Duma were Jews. And they published “whistle-blowing” lists listing the names of these 

correspondents. More revealing is this comical episode of parliamentary life: one day, 

answering to the attacks of which he was the object, Purishkevich pointed, in the middle of his 

speech, the box of the press, located near the tribune and delimited by a circular barrier, and 

said: “But see this Pale of Settlement of the Jews!”—Everyone turned involuntarily to the 

representatives of the press, and it was a general burst of laughter that even the Left could not 

repress. This “Pale of Settlement of the Duma” became an adopted wording.

Among the prominent Jewish publishers, we have already spoken of S. M. Propper, owner of 

the Stock Exchange News and unfailing sympathiser of the “revolutionary democracy”. Sliosberg 

evokes more warmly the one who founded and funded to a large extent the cadet newspaper 

Retch, I. B. Bak: “A very obliging man, very cultured, with a radically liberal orientation.” It was 

his passionate intervention at the Congress of the Jewish mutual aid committees at the 

beginning of 1906 that prevented a conciliation with the tsar. “There was no Jewish 

organisation devoted to cultural action or beneficence, of which I. Bak was not a member”; he 

was particularly distinguished by his work in the Jewish Committee for Liberation.33 As for the 

Retch newspaper and its editor-in-chief I. V. Hessen, they were far from limiting themselves to 

Jewish questions alone, and their orientation was more generally liberal (Hessen subsequently 

proved it in emigration with the Roul and the Archives of the Russian Revolution). The very 

serious Russkie Vedomosti published Jewish authors of various tendencies, both V. Jabotinsky 

and the future inventor of war communism, Lourie-Larine. S. Melgounov noted that the 
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publication in this body of articles favorable to the Jews was explained “not only by the desire 

to defend the oppressed, but also by the composition of the newspaper’s managing team.”34 

“There were Jews even among the collaborators of the Novoie Vremia of Suvorin”; the Jewish 

Encyclopædia quotes the names of five of them.35

The newspaper Russkie Vedomosti was long dominated by the figure of G. B. Iollos, called there 

by Guerzenstein who had been working there since the 80s. Both were deputies to the First 

Duma. Their lives suffered cruelly from the atmosphere of violence engendered by political 

assassinations—these being the very essence of the revolution—a “rehearsal” of 1905-06. 

According to the Israeli Jewish Encyclopædia, the responsibility for their assassination would 

rest with the Union of the Russian People.* For the Russian Jewish Encyclopædia, if the latter 

bore responsibility for the assassination of Guerzenstein (1906), Iollos, him, was killed (1907) by 

“Black Hundreds Terrorists.”36

Jewish publishers and journalists did not restrict their activities to the capital or to highly 

intellectual publications, but they also intervened in the popular press, such as the Kopeika, a 

favourite reading of the concierges—a quarter of a million copies in circulation, it “played a 

major role in the fight against anti-Semitic denigration campaigns.” (It had been created and 

was led by M. B. Gorodetski.37) The very influential Kievskaya Mysl (to the left of the Cadets) 

had as editor-in-chief Iona Kugel (they were four brothers, all journalists), and D. Zaslavski, a 

wicked rascal, and, what seems to us very moving, Leo Trotsky! The biggest newspaper of 

Saratov was edited by Averbakh-senior (brother-in-law of Sverdlov). In Odessa appeared for 

some time the Novorossiysky Telegraf, with strong right-wing convictions, but measures of 

economic suffocation were taken against it—successfully.

The Russian press also had “migrant” stars. Thus L. I. Goldstein, an inspired journalist who wrote 

in the most diverse newspapers for thirty-five years, including the Syn Otetchestva, and it was 

also he who founded and directed the Rossia, a clearly patriotic newspaper. The latter was 

closed because of a particularly virulent chronicle directed against the Imperial family: “These 

Obmanovy gentlemen”. The press was to celebrate Goldstein’s jubilee in the spring of 

1917.38—As well as the discreet Garvei-Altus, who had a moment of glory for his chronicle 

“The Leap of the Passionate Panther”, in which he poured a torrent of calumnies on the 

Minister of the Interior, N. A. Maklakov. (But all this was nothing compared to the unheard-of 

insolence of the “humouristic leaflets” of the years 1905-1907 which covered in muck, in 

unimaginable terms, all the spheres of power and of the State. The chameleon Zinovi Grjebine: 

in 1905 he published a satirical leaflet, the Joupel; in 1914-1915 he directed the right-minded 
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Otetchestvo, and in 1920 he set up a Russian publishing house in Berlin in collaboration with the 

editions of the Soviet State.39)

But if the press reflected all sorts of currents of thought, from liberalism to socialism, and, as far 

as the Jewish thematic was concerned, from Zionism to Autonomism, it was a position deemed 

incompatible with journalistic respectability: which consisted in adopting a comprehensive 

attitude towards power. In the 70s, Dostoyevsky had already noted on several occasions that 

“the Russian press is out of control.” This was even to be seen on the occasion of the meeting of 

8 March 1881, with Alexander III, newly enthroned emperor, and often afterwards: the 

journalists acted as self-proclaimed representatives of society.

The following statement was attributed to Napoleon: “Three opposition papers are more 

dangerous than one hundred thousand enemy soldiers.” This sentence applies largely to the 

Russo-Japanese war. The Russian press was openly defeatist throughout the conflict and in each 

of its battles. Even worse, it did not conceal its sympathies for terrorism and revolution.

This press, totally out of control in 1905, was considered during the period of the Duma, if we 

are to believe Witte, as essentially “Jewish” or “semi-Jewish”40; or, to be more precise, as a 

press dominated by left-wing or radical Jews who occupied key positions. In November 1905, D. 

I. Pikhno, editor-in-chief for twenty-five years of the Russian newspaper The Kievian and a 

connoisseur of the press of his time, wrote: “The Jews… have bet heavily on the card of the 

revolution… Those, among the Russians, who think seriously, have understood that in such 

moments, the press represents a force and that this force is not in their hands, but in that of 

their adversaries; that they speak on their behalf throughout Russia and have forced people to 

read them because there is nothing else to read; and as one cannot launch a publication in one 

day, [the opinion] has been drowned beneath this mass of lies, incapable of finding itself 

there.”41

L. Tikhomirov did not see the national dimension of this phenomenon, but he made in 1910 the 

following remarks about the Russian press: “They play on the nerves… They cannot stand 

contradiction… They do not want courtesy, fair play… They have no ideal, they do not know 

what that is.” As for the public formed by this press, it “wants aggressiveness, brutality, it does 

not respect knowledge and lets itself be deceived by ignorance.”42
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At the other end of the political spectrum, here is the judgement that the Bolshevik M. Lemke 

passed on the Russian press: “In our day, ideas are not cheap and information is sensational, 

self-assured and authoritative ignorance fills the columns of the newspapers.”

More specifically, in the cultural sphere, Andrei Bely—who was anything but a right-wing man 

or “chauvinist”—wrote these bitter lines in 1909: “Our national culture is dominated by people 

who are foreign to it… See the names of those who write in Russian newspapers and magazines, 

literary critics, musical critics: they are practically nothing but Jews; there are among them 

people who have talent and sensibility, and some, few in number, understand our national 

culture perhaps better than the Russians themselves; but they are the exception. The mass of 

Jewish critics is totally foreign to Russian art, it expresses itself in a jargon resembling 

Esperanto, and carries on a reign of terror among those who try to deepen and enrich the 

Russian language.”43

At the same time, V. Jabotinsky, a perspicacious Zionist, complained of “progressive 

newspapers financed by Jewish funds and stuffed with Jewish collaborators,” and warned: 

“When the Jews rushed en masse into Russian politics, we predicted that nothing good would 

come of it, neither for Russian policy nor for the Jews.”44

The Russian press played a decisive role in the assault of the Cadets and the intelligentsia 

against the government before the revolution; the deputy in the Duma A. I. Chingariov 

expresses well the state of mind that reigned there: “This government only has to sink! To a 

power like this we cannot even throw the smallest bit of rope!” In this regard, it may be recalled 

that the First Duma observed a minute of silence in memory of the victims of the Bialystok 

pogrom (refusing to admit, as we have seen, that it was an armed confrontation between 

anarchists and the army); the second Duma also paid tribute to Iollos, murdered by a terrorist; 

but when Purishkevich offered to observe a minute of silence in memory of the officers and 

soldiers who had died in the course of their duty, he was removed from the sitting and the 

parliamentarians were so manic that they thought it unthinkable to pity those who ensured 

security in the country, that elementary security which they all needed.

A. Koulicher drew up a fair assessment of this period, but too late, in 1923, in emigration: 

“Before the revolution there were, among the Jews of Russia, individuals and groups of 
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individuals, the activity could be characterised… precisely by the lack of sense of responsibility 

in the face of the confusion that reigned in the minds of the Jews… [through] the propagation of 

a ‘revolutionary spirit’ as vague as it was superficial… All their political action consisted in being 

more to the left than the others. Confined to the role of irresponsible critics, never going to the 

end of things, they considered that their mission consisted of always saying: ‘It is not enough!’… 

These people were ‘democrats’… But there was also a particular category of democrats—

moreover, they referred to themselves as the ‘Jewish Democratic Group’—who attached this 

adjective to any substantive, inventing an unsustainable talmud of democracy… With the only 

end to demonstrate that the others were not yet sufficiently democrats… They maintained an 

atmosphere of irresponsibility around them, of contentless maximalism, of insatiable demand. 

All of which had fatal consequences when the revolution came.”45 The destructive influence of 

this press is undoubtedly one of the weaknesses, of great vulnerability, of Russian public life in 

the years 1914-1917.

But what became of the “reptilian press”, the one that laid down in front of the authorities, the 

press of the Russian nationalists? The Russkoye Znamya of Dubrovin—it was said that things fell 

from your hands so much he was rude and bad. (Let us note, in passing, that it was forbidden to 

circulate it in the army at the request of certain generals.) The Zemshchina was hardly better—I 

do not know, I have not read any of these papers. As for the Moskovskiye Vedomosti, out of 

breath, they no longer had readers after 1905.

But where were the strong minds and sharp pens of the conservatives, those who were 

concerned about the fate of the Russians? Why were there no good newspapers to 

counterbalance the devastating whirlwind?

It must be said that, in view of the agile thought and writing of the liberal and radical press, so 

accountable for its dynamism to its Jewish collaborators, the Russian nationalists could only 

align slow, rather soft, spirits who were not at all prepared to fight this kind of battle (but what 

is there to say about this state of affairs today!). There were only a few literary types 

exasperated by the left press, but totally devoid of talent. Moreover, right-wing publications 

were facing serious financial difficulties. While the newspapers financed by “Jewish money”—as 

Jabotinsky used to say—offered very good wages, hence the profusion of wordsmiths; and, 

above all, all these journals without exception were interesting. Finally, the left-wing press and 

the Duma demanded the closure of the “subsidised newspapers”, that is to say, supported in 

secret and rather weakly by the government.
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State Secretary S. E. Kryjanovski acknowledged that the government was providing financial 

support to more than 30 newspapers in various parts of Russia, but without success, both 

because the right lacked educated people, prepared for journalistic activity, and because the 

power itself did not know how to do it either. More gifted than others was I. I. Gourland, a Jew 

of the Ministry of the Interior, a unique case—who, under the pseudonym of “Vassiliev”, wrote 

pamphlets sent in sealed envelopes to prominent public figures.

Thus the government had only one organ which merely enumerated the news in a dry and 

bureaucratic tone, the Pravitelstvenny Vestnik. But to create something strong, brilliant, 

convincing, to openly go to the conquest of public opinion even in Russia—let us not even talk 

about Europe!—that, the imperial government either did not understand the necessity of it, or 

was incapable of doing so, the enterprise being beyond its means or intelligence.

The Novoie Vremia of Suvorin long maintained a pro-governmental orientation; it was a very 

lively, brilliant and energetic newspaper (but, it must be said, equally changing—sometimes 

favourable to the alliance with Germany, sometimes violently hostile to it), and, alas, not always 

knowing how to make the difference between national revival and attacks on the Jews. (Its 

founder, old Suvorin, sharing his property among his three sons before dying, gave them as a 

condition to never yielding any of their shares to Jews.) Witte ranked Novoie Vremia among the 

newspapers which, in 1905, “had an interest to be of the left…, then turned right to become 

now ultra-reactionaries. This very interesting and influential journal offers a striking example of 

this orientation.” Although very commercial, “it still counts among the best.”46 It provided a 

great deal of information and was widely disseminated—perhaps the most dynamic of the 

Russian newspapers and, certainly, the most intelligent of the organs of the right.

And the leaders of the right? And the deputies of the right in the Duma?

Most often they acted without taking into account the real relationship between their strengths 

and their weaknesses, showing themselves both brutal and ineffective, seeing no other means 

of “defending the integrity of the Russian State” than calling for more bans on Jews. In 1911, 

the deputy Balachov developed a programme that went against the current and the times: 

reinforcing the Pale of Settlement, removing Jews from publishing, justice, and the Russian 

school. Deputy Zamyslovski protested that within the universities, the Jews, the S.-R.s, the 
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Social Democrats enjoyed a “secret sympathy”—as if one could overcome by decree a “secret 

sympathy”—In 1913 the Congress of the Union of the nobility demanded (as had already been 

done in 1908 under the third Duma) that more Jews be taken into the army, but that they be 

symmetrically excluded from public functions, the territorial and municipal administration, and 

justice.

In the spring of 1911, Purishkevich, striving with others against an already weakened Stolypin, 

proposed to the Duma these extreme measures: “Formally forbid the Jews to take any official 

duty in any administration… especially in the periphery of the Empire… The Jews convicted of 

having tried to occupy these functions will have to answer before justice.”47

Thus the right reproached Stolypin for making concessions to the Jews.

When he had taken office in the spring of 1906, Stolypin had had to consider the Manifesto of 

17 October as a fait accompli, even if it had to be slightly amended. That the Emperor had 

hastily signed it without sufficient reflection—it no longer mattered, it had to be applied, the 

State had to be rebuilt in the midst of difficulties, in accordance with the Manifesto and in spite 

of the hesitations of the tsar himself. And this implied equal rights for the Jews.

Of course, the restrictions imposed on the Jews continued, not only in Russia. In Poland, which 

was considered—as well as Finland—to be oppressed, these limitations were even more brutal. 

Jabotinsky writes: “The yoke that weighs heavily on Jews in Finland is beyond measure even 

with what is known of Russia or Romania… The first Finnish man, if he surprises a Jew out of a 

city, has the right to arrest the criminal and take him to the police station. Most trades are 

forbidden to Jews. Jewish marriages are subject to compulsory and humiliating formalities… It is 

very difficult to obtain permission to build a synagogue… The Jews are deprived of all political 

rights.” Elsewhere in Austrian Galicia, “the Poles do not hide that they see in the Jews only a 

material used to strengthen their political power in this region… There have been cases where 

high school students were excluded from their establishment ‘for cause of Zionism’, one hinders 

in a thousand and one ways the functioning of Jewish schools, manifests hatred towards their 

jargon (Yiddish), and the Jewish Socialist Party itself is boycotted by the Polish Social-

Democrats.”48 Even in Austria, although a country of Central Europe, hatred towards the Jews 

was still alive, and many restrictions remained in force, such as the Karlsbad baths: sometimes 

they were simply closed to the Jews, sometimes they could only go there in the summer, and 
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the “winter Jews” could only access it under strict control.49

But the system of limitations in Russia itself fully justified the grievances expressed in the Jewish 

Encyclopædia as a whole: “The position of the Jews is highly uncertain, inasmuch as it depends 

on how the law is interpreted by those responsible for applying it, even at the lowest level of 

the hierarchy, or even simply their goodwill… This blur… is due to… the extreme difficulty of 

achieving uniform interpretation and application of the laws limiting the rights of the Jews… 

Their many provisions have been supplemented and modified by numerous decrees signed by 

the emperor on the proposal of various ministries… and which, moreover, were not always 

reported in the General Code of Laws”; “Even if he has an express authorisation issued by the 

competent authority, the Jew is not certain that his rights are intangible”; “A refusal emanating 

from a junior official, an anonymous letter sent by a competitor, or an approach made in the 

open by a more powerful rival seeking the expropriation of a Jew, suffice to condemn him to 

vagrancy.”50

Stolypin understood very well the absurdity of such a state of affairs, and the irresistible 

movement that then pushed for a status of equality for the Jews, a status that already existed 

to a large extent in Russia.

The number of Jews established outside the Pale of Settlement increased steadily from year to 

year. After 1903, the Jews had access to an additional 101 places of residence, and the number 

of these was still significantly increased under Stolypin, which implemented a measure which 

the tsar had not taken in 1906 and which the Duma had rejected in 1907. The former Jewish 

Encyclopædia indicates that the number of these additional places of residence amounted to 

291 in 1910-191251; As for the new Encyclopædia, it puts the number to 299 for the year 

1911.52

The old Encyclopædia reminds us that from the summer of 1905 onwards, in the wake of 

revolutionary events, “the governing bodies [of educational establishments] did not take into 

account the numerus clausus for three years.”53 From August 1909 onwards, the latter was 

reduced from what it was before in the higher and secondary schools (now 5% in the capitals, 

10% outside the Pale of Settlement, 15% within it54), but subject to compliance. However, 

since the proportion of Jewish students was 11% at the University of Saint Petersburg and 24% 

at that of Odessa55, this measure was felt to be a new restriction. A restrictive measure was 

adopted in 1911: the numerus clausus was extended to the outside world56 (for boys only, and 
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in girls’ institutions the real percentage was 13.5% in 1911). At the same time, artistic, 

commercial, technical and vocational schools accepted Jews without restrictions. “After 

secondary and higher education, the Jews rushed into vocational education” which they had 

neglected until then. Although in 1883 “Jews in all municipal and regional vocational schools” 

accounted for only 2% of the workforce, 12% of boys and 17% of girls in 1898.57 In addition, 

“Jewish youth filled private higher education institutions”; thus, in 1912, the Kiev Institute of 

Commerce had 1,875 Jewish students, and the Psycho-Neurological Institute, “thousands”. 

Beginning in 1914, any private educational institution could provide courses in the language of 

its choice.58

It is true that compulsory education for all was part of the logic of the time.

Stolypin’s main task was to carry out the agrarian reform, thus creating a solid class of peasant-

owners. His companion in arms, Minister of Agriculture A. V. Krivoshein, who was also in favour 

of abolishing the Pale of Settlement, insisted at the same time that be limited “the right of 

anonymous companies with shares” to proceed with the purchase of land, to the extent that it 

was likely to result in the formation of a “significant Jewish land capital”; indeed, “the 

penetration into the rural world of Jewish speculative capital risked jeopardising the success of 

the agrarian reform” (at the same time he expressed the fear that this would lead to the 

emergence of anti-Semitism unknown until then in the countryside of Greater Russia59). 

Neither Stolypin nor Krivoshein could allow that the peasants remain in misery due to the fact 

of not owning land. In 1906, Jewish agricultural settlements were also deprived of the right to 

acquire land belonging to the State, which was now reserved for peasants.60

The economist M. Bernadski cited the following figures for the pre-war period: 2.4% of Jews 

worked in agriculture, 4.7% were liberal professionals, 11.5% were domestic servants, 31% 

worked in commerce (Jews accounted for 35% of merchants in Russia), 36% in industry; 18% of 

the Jews were settled in the Pale of Settlement.61 In comparing the latter figure to the 2.4% 

mentioned above, the number of Jews residing in rural areas and occupied in agriculture had 

not increased significantly, while according to Bernadski, “it was in the interest of the Russians 

that Jewish forces and resources were investing themselves in all areas of production”, any 

limitation imposed on them “represented a colossal waste of the productive forces of the 

country.” He pointed out that in 1912, for example, the Society of producers and manufacturers 

of an industrial district in Moscow had approached the President of the Council of Ministers so 

that the Jews would not be prevented from playing their role of intermediary link with Russian 
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industrial production centres.62

B. A. Kamenka, chairman of the Board of Directors of Azov Bank and the Don, turned to the 

financing of the mining and metallurgical industry and sponsored eleven important enterprises 

in the Donets and Urals region.63—There was no restriction on the participation of Jews in 

joint-stock companies in the industry, but “the limitations imposed on joint-stock companies 

wishing to acquire property triggered an outcry in all financial and industrial circles.” And the 

measures taken by Krivoshein were to be abrogated.64

V. Choulguine made the following comparison: “The ‘Russian power’ seemed very ingenuous in 

the face of the perfectly targeted offensive of the Jews. The Russian power reminded one of the 

flood of a long and peaceful river: an endless expanse plunged into a soft sleepiness; there is 

water, oh my God there is, but it is only sleeping water. Now this same river, a few versts 

farther away, enclosed by strong dikes, is transformed into an impetuous torrent, whose 

bubbling waters precipitate itself madly into turbines.”65

It is the same rhetoric that is heard on the side of liberal economic thought: “Russia, so poor… 

in highly skilled workforce…, seems to want to further increase its ignorance and its intellectual 

lagging in relation to the West.” Denying the Jews access to the levers of production “amounts 

to a deliberate refusal to use… their productive forces.”66

Stolypin saw very well that this was wasteful. But the different sectors of the Russian economy 

were developing too unevenly. And he regarded the restrictions imposed on Jews as a kind of 

customs tax that could only be temporary, until the Russians consolidated their forces in public 

life as well as in the sphere of the economy, these protective measures secreted an unhealthy 

greenhouse climate for them. Finally (but after how many years?), the government began to 

implement the measures for the development of the peasant world, from which were to result 

a true and genuine equality of rights between social classes and nationalities; a development 

which would have made the Russians’ fear of the Jews disappear and which would have put a 

definitive end to all the restrictions of which the latter were still victims.

Stolypin was considering using Jewish capital to stimulate Russia’s economy by welcoming their 

many joint-stock companies, enterprises, concessions and natural resource businesses. At the 
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same time, he understood that private banks, dynamic and powerful, often preferred to agree 

among themselves rather than compete, but he intended to counterbalance this phenomenon 

by “nationalising credit”, that is, the strengthening of the role of the State Bank and the 

creation of a fund to help entrepreneurial peasants who could not obtain credit elsewhere.

But Stolypin was making another political calculation: he thought that obtaining equal rights 

would take some of the Jews away from the revolutionary movement. (Among other 

arguments, he also put forward: at the local level, bribery was widely used to circumvent the 

law, which had the effect of spreading corruption within the State apparatus.)

Among the Jews, those who did not give in to fanaticism realised that, despite the continued 

restrictions, in spite of the increasingly virulent (but impotent) attacks on right-wing circles, 

those years offered more and more favourable conditions to the Jews and were necessarily 

leading to equal rights.

Just a few years later, thrown into emigration by the “great revolution”, two renowned Jewish 

figures meditated on pre-revolutionary Russia:

Self-taught out of poverty at the cost of the greatest efforts, he had passed his bachelor’s 

degree as an external candidate at the age of thirty and obtained his university degree at thirty-

five; he had actively participated in the Liberation Movement and had always regarded Zionism 

as an illusory dream—his name was Iosif Menassievich Bikerman. From the height of his fifty-

five years of age he wrote: “Despite the regulations of May [1882] and other provisions of the 

same type, despite the Pale of Settlement and numerus clausus, despite Kishinev and Bialystok, 

I was a free man and I felt as such, a man who had before him a wide range of possibilities to 

work in all kinds of fields, who could enrich himself both materially and spiritually, who could 

fight to improve his situation and conserve his strength to continue the fight. The restrictions… 

were always diminishing under the pressure of the times and under ours, and during the war a 

wide breach was opened in the last bastion of our inequality. It was necessary to wait another 

five or fifteen years before obtaining complete equality before the law; we could wait.”67

Belonging to the same generation as Bikerman, he shared very different convictions and his life 

was also very different: a convinced Zionist, a doctor (he taught for a time at the Faculty of 
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Medicine in Geneva), an essayist and a politician, Daniil Samoylovich Pasmanik, an immigrant as 

well, wrote at the same time as Bikerman the following lines: “Under the tsarist regime, the 

Jews lived infinitely better and, whatever may be said of them, their conditions of life before 

the war—both materially as well as others—were excellent. We were then deprived of political 

rights, but we could develop intense activity in the sphere of our national and cultural values, 

while the chronic misery that had been our lot disappeared progressively.”68—“The chronic 

economic slump of the Jewish masses diminished day by day, leaving room for material ease, 

despite the senseless deportations of several tens of thousands of Jews out of the Front areas. 

The statistics of the mutual credit societies… are the best proof of the economic progress 

enjoyed by the Jews of Russia during the decade preceding the coup. And so it was in the field 

of culture. Despite the police regime—it was absolute freedom in comparison with the present 

Bolshevik regime—Jewish cultural institutions of all kinds prospered. Everything was bursting 

with activity: organisations were booming, creation was also very alive and vast prospects were 

now open.”69

In a little more than a century, under the Russian crown, the Jewish community had grown from 

820,000 (including the Kingdom of Poland) to more than five million representatives, even 

though more than one and a half million chose to emigrate,70—an increase of a factor of eight 

between 1800 and 1914. Over the last 90 years, the number of Jews had multiplied by 3.5 

(going from 1.5 million to 5,250,000), whereas during the same period the total population of 

the Empire (including the new territories) had multiplied by only 2.5.

However, the Jews were still subject to restrictions, which fuelled anti-Russian propaganda in 

the United States. Stolypin thought he could overcome it by explaining it, inviting members of 

Congress and American journalists to come and see, in Russia itself. But in the autumn of 1911, 

the situation became so severe that it led to the denunciation of a trade agreement with the 

United States dating back eighty years. Stolypin did not yet know what the effect of a 

passionate speech of the future peacemaker, Wilson, might be, nor what the unanimity of the 

American Congress could mean. He did not live enough to know.

Stolypin, who imprinted its direction, gave its light and name to the decade before the First 

World War,—all the while he was the object of furious attacks on the part of both the Cadets 

and the extreme right, when deputies of all ranks dragged him in the mud because of the law 

on the Zemstvo reform in the western provinces—was assassinated in September 1911.
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The first head of the Russian government to have honestly raised and attempted to resolve, in 

spite of the Emperor’s resistance, the question of equality for the Jews, fell—irony of History!—

under the blows of a Jew.

Such is the fate of the middle way…

Seven times attempts had been made to kill Stolypin, and it was revolutionary groups more or 

less numerous that had fermented the attacks—in vain. Here, it was an isolated individual who 

pulled it off.

At a very young age, Bogrov did not have sufficient intellectual maturity to understand the 

political importance of Stolypin’s role. But from his childhood he had witnessed the daily and 

humiliating consequences of the inequality of the Jews, and his family, his milieu, his own 

experience cultivated his hatred for imperial power. In the Jewish circles of Kiev, which seemed 

ideologically mobile, no one was grateful to Stolypin for his attempts to lift the restrictions 

imposed on the Jews, and even if this feeling had touched some of the better off, it was 

counterbalanced by the memory of the energetic way in which he had repressed the revolution 

of 1905-1906, as well as by the discontent with his efforts to “nationalise credit” in order to 

openly compete with private capital. The Jewish circles in Kiev (but also in Petersburg where the 

future murderer had also stayed) were under the magnetic influence of a field of absolute 

radicalism, which led young Bogrov not only to feel entitled, but to consider it his duty to kill 

Stolypin.

This field was so powerful that it allowed the following combination: Bogrov-senior rose in 

society, he is a capitalist who prospers in the existing system; Bogrov-junior works at destroying 

this system and his father, after the attack, publicly declares that he is proud of him.

In fact, Bogrov was not so isolated: he was discreetly applauded in the circles which once 

manifested their unwavering fidelity to the regime.

This gunshot that put an end to the hope that Russia ever recovered its health could have been 

equally fired at the tsar himself. But Bogrov had decided that it was impossible, for (as he 
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declared himself) “it might have led to persecution against the Jews,” to have “damaging 

consequences on their legal position.” While the Prime Minister would simply not have such 

effects, he thought. But he was deceived heavily when he imagined that his act would serve to 

improve the lot of the Jews of Russia.

And Menshikov himself, who had first reproached Stolypin with the concessions he had made to 

the Jews, now lamented his disappearance: our great man, our best political leader for a 

century and a half—assassinated! And the assassin is a Jew! A Jew who did not hesitate to shoot 

the Prime Minister of Russia!? “The gunshot of Kiev… must be considered as a warning signal… 

the situation is very serious… we must not cry revenge, but finally decide to resist!”71

And what happened then in “Kiev the reactionary” where the Jews were so numerous? In the 

first hours after the attack, they were massively seized with panic and began to leave the city. 

Moreover, “the Jews were struck with terror not only in Kiev, but in the most remote corners of 

the Pale of Settlement and of the rest of Russia.”72 The Club of Russian Nationalists expressed 

its intention to circulate a petition to drive out all the Jews of Kiev (which remained at the stage 

of intentions). There was not the start of a beginning of pogrom. The President of the youth 

organisation “The Two-Headed Eagle”, Galkin, called for destroying the offices of the local 

security and for busting some Jew: he was immediately neutralised. The new Prime Minister, 

Kokovtsov, urgently recalled all Cossack regiments (they were manœuvring away from the city) 

and sent a very firm telegram to all the governors: to prevent pogroms by any means, including 

force. The troops were concentrated in greater numbers than during the revolution. (Sliosberg: 

if pogroms had broken out in 1911, “Kiev would have been the scene of a carnage comparable 

to the horrors of the time of Bogdan Khmelnitsky.”73)

No, nowhere in Russia there was the slightest pogrom. (Despite this, there has been much 

written, and insistently, that the tsarist power had never dreamed of anything but one thing: to 

organise an anti-Jewish pogrom.)

Of course, the prevention of public disorder is one of the primary duties of the State, and when 

this mission is fulfilled, it does not have to expect recognition. But that under such extreme 

circumstances—the assassination of the head of government—, that it was possible to avoid 

pogroms, the threat of which caused panic among the Jews, it nevertheless merited a small 

mention, if only in passing. Well, no, we did not hear anything like that and no one spoke about 
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it.

Difficult to believe, but the Kiev Jewish community did not publicly express condemnation nor 

regret regarding this assassination. On the contrary. After the execution of Bogrov, many Jewish 

students were ostensibly in mourning.

However, all this, the Russians noted it. Thus, in December 1912, Rozanov wrote: “After 

[Stolypin’s assassination] something broke in my relationship [to the Jews]: would a Russian 

ever have dared to kill Rothschild or any other of ‘their great men’?”74

If we look at it from a historical point of view, two important arguments prevent the act 

committed by Bogrov from being considered on behalf of the “powers of internationalism”. The 

first and most important: it was not the case. Not only the book written by his brother75, but 

different neutral sources suggest that Bogrov really believed that he could work this way to 

improve the lot of the Jews. And the second: to return to certain uncomfortable episodes in 

history, to examine them attentively to deplore them, is to assume one’s responsibilities; but to 

deny them and wash one’s hands, that’s just low.

Yet this is what happened almost immediately. In October 1911, the Duma was arrested by the 

Octobrists on the murky circumstances of the assassination of Stolypin. This provoked an 

immediate protest from the deputy Nisselovitch: why, when formulating their interpellation, 

did the Octobrists not conceal the fact that the murderer of Stolypin was Jewish? It was there, 

he declared, anti-Semitism!

I shall have to endure this incomparable argument myself. Seventy years later, I was the object 

of a heavy accusation on the part of the Jewish community in the United States: why, in my 

turn, did I not conceal, why did I say that the assassin of Stolypin was a Jew*? It does not matter 

if I have endeavoured to make a description as complete as possible. It does not matter what 

the fact of being Jew represented in the motivations of his act. No, non-dissimulation betrayed 

my anti-Semitism!!

At the time, Guchkov replied with dignity: “I think that there is much more anti-Semitism in 
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Bogrov’s very act. I would suggest to the Deputy Nisselovitch that he should address his 

passionate words not to us but to his fellow co-religionists. Let him use all the force of his 

eloquence to convince them to keep away from two profane professions: that of spy in the 

service of the secret police and that of terrorist. He would thus render a much greater service to 

the members of his community!”76

But what can one ask of the Jewish memory when Russian history itself has allowed this murder 

to be effaced from its memory as an event without great significance, as a smear as marginal as 

it is negligible. It was only in the 80s that I started to pull it out of oblivion—for seventy years, to 

mention it was considered inappropriate.

As the years go by, more events and meanings come to our eyes.

More than once I have meditated on the whims of History: on the unpredictability of the 

consequences it raises on our path—I speak of the consequences of our actions. The Germany 

of William II opened the way for Lenin to destroy Russia, and twenty-eight years later it found 

itself divided for half a century.—Poland contributed to the strengthening of the Bolsheviks in 

the year 1919, which was so difficult for them, and it harvested 1939, 1944, 1956, 1980.—With 

what eagerness Finland helped Russian revolutionaries, she who could not bear, who did not 

suffer from the particular freedoms at her disposal—but within Russia—and, in return, she 

suffered forty years of political humiliation (“Finlandisation”).—In 1914, England wanted to put 

down the power of Germany, its competitor on the world stage, and it lost its position of great 

power, and it was the whole of Europe that had been destroyed. In Petrograd, the Cossacks 

remained neutral both in February and in October; a year later, they underwent their genocide 

(and many of the victims were these same Cossacks).—In the first days of July 1917, the S.-R. of 

the left approached the Bolsheviks, then formed a semblance of a “coalition”, a broad platform; 

a year later they were crushed as no autocracy could have had the means to do so.

These distant consequences, none of us are capable of foreseeing them, ever. The only way to 

guard against such errors is to always be guided by the compass of divine morality. Or, as the 

people say: “Do not dig a pit for others, you will fall into it yourself.”

Similarly, if the assassination of Stolypin had cruel consequences for Russia, the Jews neither 
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derived any benefit from it.

Everyone can see things in his own way, but I see here the giant footsteps of History, and I am 

struck by the unpredictable character of its results.

Bogrov killed Stolypin, thus thinking of protecting the Jews from oppression. Stolypin would in 

any case have been removed from office by the Emperor, but he would surely have been 

recalled again in 1914-16 because of the dizzying deficiency in men able to govern; and under 

his government we would not have had such a lamentable end neither in the war nor in the 

revolution. (Assuming that with him in power we would have engaged in this war.)

First footstep of History: Stolypin is killed, Russia works its last nerves in war and lies under the 

heel of the Bolsheviks.

Second footstep: however fierce they are, the Bolsheviks reveal themselves as being more lame 

than the imperial government, abandoning half of Russia to the Germans a quarter of a century 

later, including Kiev.

Third footstep: the Nazis invest in Kiev without any difficulty and annihilate its Jewish 

community.

Again the city of Kiev, once again a month of September, but thirty years after Bogrov’s revolver 

shot.

And still in Kiev, still in 1911, six months before the assassination of Stolypin, had started what 

would become the Beilis affair*. There is good reason to believe that under Stolypin, justice 

would not have been degraded as such. One clue: one knows that once, examining the archives 

of the Department of Security, Stolypin came across a note entitled “The Secret of the Jews” 

(which anticipated the “Protocols”**), in which was discussed the “International Jewish plot”. 

Here is the judgement he made: “There may be logic, but also bias… The government cannot 

use under any circumstance this kind of method.”77 As a result, “the official ideology of the 
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tsarist government never relied on the ‘Protocols’.”78

Thousands and thousands of pages have been written about the Beilis trial. Anyone who would 

like to study closely all the meanders of the investigation, of the public opinion, of the trial 

itself, would have to devote at least several years to it. This would go beyond the limits of this 

work. Twenty years after the event, under the Soviet regime, the daily reports of the police on 

the progress of the trial were published79; they can be commended to the attention of 

amateurs. It goes without saying that the verbatim record of the entire proceedings was also 

published. Not to mention the articles published in the press.

Andrei Yushchinsky, a 12-year-old boy, pupil of a religious institution in Kiev, is the victim of a 

savage and unusual murder: there are forty-seven punctures on his body, which indicate a 

certain knowledge of anatomy—they were made to the temple, to the veins and arteries of the 

neck, to the liver, to the kidneys, to the lungs, to the heart, with the clear intention of emptying 

him of his blood as long as he was still alive, and in addition—according to the traces left by the 

blood flow—in a standing position (tied and gagged, of course). It can only be the work of a very 

clever criminal who certainly did not act alone. The body was discovered only a week later in a 

cave on the territory of the factory of Zaitsev. But the murder was not committed there.

The first accusations do not refer to ritual motives, but the latter soon appears: the connection 

is made with the beginning of Jewish Passover and the construction of a new synagogue on the 

grounds of Zaitsev (a Jew). Four months after the murder, this version of the accusation leads to 

the arrest of Menahem Mendel Beilis, 37, employed at the Zaitsev factory. He is arrested 

without any real charges against him. How did all this happen?

The investigation into the murder was carried out by the criminal police of Kiev, a worthy 

colleague, obviously, of the Security section of Kiev, which had gotten tangled up in the Bogrov 

affair* and thus caused the loss of Stolypin. The work was entrusted to two nobodies in all 

respects similar to Kouliabko, Bogrov’s “curator”, Michtchouk, and Krassovsky, assisted by 

dangerous incompetents (they cleaned the snow in front of the cave to facilitate the passage of 

the corpulent commissioner of police, thus destroying any potential indications of the presence 

of the murderers). But worse still, rivalry settled between the investigators—it was to whom 

the merit of the discovery of the guilty person would be attributed, by whom the best version 

would be proposed—and they did not hesitate to get in each other’s way, to sow confusion in 

the investigation, to put pressure on the witnesses, to stop the competitor’s indicators; 
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Krassovksy went so far as to put makeup on the suspect before introducing him to a witness! 

This parody of inquiry was conducted as if it were a trivial story, without the importance of the 

event even crossing their minds. When the trial finally opened, two and a half years later, 

Michtchouk had run off to Finland to escape the charge of falsification of material evidence, a 

significant collaborator of Krassovsky had also disappeared, and as for the latter, dismissed of 

his duties, he had switched sides and was now working for Beilis’s lawyers.

For nearly two years, we went from one false version to another; for a long time the accusation 

was directed to the family of the victim, until the latter was completely put out of the question. 

It became clearer and clearer that the prosecution was moving towards a formal accusation 

against Beilis and towards his trial.

He was therefore accused of murder—even though the charges against him were doubtful—

because he was a Jew. But how was it possible in the twentieth century to inflate a trial to the 

point of making it a threat to an entire people? Beyond the person of Beilis, the trial turned in 

fact into an accusation against the Jewish people as a whole—and, since then, the atmosphere 

around the investigation and then the trial became superheated, the affair took on an 

international dimension, gained the whole of Europe, and then America. (Until then, trials for 

ritual murders had taken place rather in the Catholic milieu: Grodno (1816), Velij (1825), Vilnius, 

the Blondes case (1900), the Koutais affair (1878) took place in Georgia, Doubossar (1903) in 

Moldavia, while in Russia strictly speaking, there was only the Saratov affair in 1856. Sliosberg, 

however, does not fail to point out that the Saratov affair also had also a Catholic origin, while 

in Beilis’s case it was observed that the band of thieves who had been suspected at one time 

was composed of Poles, that the ritual crime expert appointed at the trial was a Catholic, and 

that the attorney Tchaplinski was also Polish.80)

The findings of the investigation were so questionable that they were only retained by the Kiev 

indictment chambre by three votes to two. While the monarchist right had sparked an 

extensive press campaign, Purishkevich expressed himself in the Duma in April 1911: “We do 

not accuse the Jews as a whole, we cry for the truth” about this strange and mysterious crime. 

“Is there a Jewish sect that advocates ritual murders…? If there are such fanatics, let them be 

stigmatised”; as for us, “we are fighting against many sects in Russia,” our own81, but at the 

same time he declared that, according to him, the affair would be stifled in the Duma by fear of 

the press. Indeed, at the opening of the trial, the right-wing nationalist Chulguine declared 

himself opposed to it being held and to the “miserable baggage” of the judicial authorities in 

the columns of the patriotic Kievian (for which he was accused by the extreme Right to be sold 
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to the Jews). But, in view of the exceptionally monstrous character of the crime, no one dared 

to go back to the accusation in order to resume the investigation from scratch.

On the other side, the liberal-radicals also launched a public campaign relayed by the press, and 

not only the Russian press, but that of the whole world. The tension had reached a point of no 

return. Sustained by the partiality of the accusation, it only escalated, and the witnesses 

themselves were soon attacked. According to V. Rozanov, every sense of measure had been 

lost, especially in the Jewish press: “The iron fist of the Jew… falls on venerable professors, on 

members of the Duma, on writers…”82

However, the ultimate attempts to get the investigation back on track had failed. The stable 

near the Zaitsev factory, which was initially neglected by Krassovsky and then assumed to have 

been the scene of the crime, burned down two days before the date fixed for its examination by 

hasty investigators. A brazen journalist, Brazul-Brouchkovsky, conducted his own investigation 

assisted by the same Krassovsky, now released from his official duties. (It must be remembered 

that Bonch-Bruevich* published a pamphlet accusing Brazoul of venality.83) They put forward a 

version of the facts according to which the murder was allegedly committed by Vera Cheberyak, 

whose children frequented Andrei Yushchinsky, herself flirting with the criminal underworld. 

During their long months of inquiry, the two Cheberyak sons died under obscure circumstances; 

Vera accused Krassovsky of poisoning them, who in turn accused her of killing her own children. 

Ultimately, their version was that Yushchinsky had been killed by Cheberyak in person with the 

intention of simulating a ritual murder. She said that the lawyer Margoline had offered her 

40,000 rubles to endorse the crime, which he denied at the trial even though he was subject at 

the same moment to administrative penalties for indelicacy.

Trying to disentangle the innumerable details of this judicial imbroglio would only make the 

understanding even more difficult. (It should also be mentioned that the “metis” of the 

revolution and the secret police were also involved. In this connection, mention should be 

made of the equivocal role and strange behaviour during the trial of Lieutenant-Colonel 

Gendarmerie Pavel Ivanov—the very one who, in defiance of all laws, helped Bogrov, already 

condemned to death, to write a new version of the reasons which would have prompted him to 

kill Stolypin, a version in which the full weight of responsibility fell on the organs of Security to 

which Ivanov did not belong.) The trial was about to open in a stormy atmosphere. It lasted a 

month: September-October 1913. It was incredibly heavy: 213 witnesses summoned to the bar 

(185) presented themselves, still slowed down by the procedural artifices raised by the parties 

involved; the prosecutor Vipper was not up to the standard of the group of brilliant lawyers—
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Gruzenberg, Karabtchevski, Maklakov, Zaroudny—who did not fail to demand that the blunders 

he uttered be recorded in the minutes, for example: the course of this trial is hampered by 

“Jewish gold”; “they [the Jews in general] seem to laugh at us, see, we have committed a crime, 

but no one will dare to hold us accountable.”84 (Not surprisingly, during the trial, Vipper 

received threatening letters—on some were drawn a slipknot—and not just him, but the civil 

parties, the expert of the prosecution, probably also the defence lawyers; the dean of the jury 

also feared for his life.) There was a lot of turmoil around the trial, selling passes for access to 

hearings, all of Kiev’s educated people were boiling. The man in the street, him, remained 

indifferent.

A detailed medical examination was carried out. Several professors spread their differences as 

to whether or not Yushchinsky had remained alive until the last wound, and how acute were 

the sufferings he had endured. But it was the theological-scientific expertise that was at the 

centre of the trial: it focused on the very principle of the possibility of ritual murders 

perpetrated by Jews, and it was on this that the whole world focused its attention.85 The 

defence appealed to recognised authorities in the field of Hebraism, such as Rabbi Maze, a 

specialist in the Talmud. The expert appointed by the Orthodox Church, Professor I. Troitsky of 

the Theological Academy of Petersburg, concluded his intervention by rejecting the accusation 

of an act of cold blood attributable to the Jews; he pointed out that the Orthodox Church had 

never made such accusations, that these were peculiar to the Catholic world. (Bikerman later 

recalled that in Imperial Russia the police officers themselves cut short “almost every year” 

rumours about the Christian blood shed during the Jewish Passover, “otherwise we would have 

had a ‘case of ritual murder’ not once every few decades, but every year.”86 The main expert 

cited by the prosecution was the Catholic priest Pranaitis. To extend the public debate, the 

prosecutors demanded that previous ritual murder cases be examined, but the defence 

succeeded in rejecting the motion. These discussions on whether the murder was ritual or not 

ritual only further increased the emotion that the trial had created through the whole world.

But it was necessary that a judgment should be pronounced—on this accused, and not 

another—and this mission went to a dull jury composed of peasants painfully supplemented by 

two civil servants and two petty bourgeois; all were exhausted by a month of trials, they fell 

asleep during the reading of the materials of the case, requested that the trial be shortened, 

four of them solicited permission to return home before its conclusion and some needed 

medical assistance.

Nevertheless, these jurors judged on the evidence: the accusations against Beilis were 
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unfounded, not proved. And Beilis was acquitted.

And that was the end of it. No new search for the culprits was undertaken, and this strange and 

tragic murder remained unexplained.

Instead—and this was in the tradition of Russian weakness—it was imagined (not without 

ostentation) to erect a chapel on the very spot where the corpse of young Yushchinsky had 

been discovered, but this project provoked many protests, because it was judged reactionary. 

And Rasputin dissuaded the tsar from following up on it.87

This trial, heavy and ill-conducted, with a white-hot public opinion for a whole year, in Russia as 

in the rest of the world, was rightly considered a battle of Tsou-Shima.* It was reported in the 

European press that the Russian government had attacked the Jewish people, but that it was 

not the latter that had lost the war, it was the Russian State itself.

As for the Jews, with all their passion, they were never to forgive this affront of the Russian 

monarchy. The fact that the law had finally triumphed did nothing to change their feelings.

It would be instructive, however, to compare the Beilis trial with another that took place at the 

same time (1913-15) in Atlanta, USA; a trial which then made great noise: the Jew Leo Frank, 

also accused of the murder of a child (a girl raped and murdered), and again with very uncertain 

charges. He was condemned to be hung, and during the proceedings of cassation an armed 

crowd snatched him from his prison and hanged him.88 On the individual level, the comparison 

is in favour of Russia. But the Leo Frank affair had but little echo in public opinion, and did not 

become an object of reproach.

*

There is an epilogue in the Beilis case.

“Threatened with revenge by extreme right-wing groups, Beilis left Russia and went to Palestine 
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with his family. In 1920 he moved to the United States. He died of natural causes, at the age of 

sixty, in the vicinity of New York.89

Justice Minister Shcheglovitov (according to some sources, he had “given instructions for the 

case to be elucidated as a ritual murder”90) was shot by the Bolsheviks.

In 1919 the trial of Vera Cheberyak took place. It did not proceed according to the abhorred 

procedures of tsarism—no question of popular jury!—and lasted only about forty minutes in 

the premises of the Cheka of Kiev. A member of the latter, who was arrested in the same year 

by the Whites, noted in his testimony that “Vera Cheberyak was interrogated exclusively by 

Jewish Chekists, beginning with Sorine” [the head of the Blumstein Cheka]. Commander 

Faierman “subjected her to humiliating treatment, ripped off her clothes and struck her with 

the barrel of his revolver… She said: ‘You can do whatever you want with me, but what I said, I 

will not come back on it… What I said at the Beilis trial, nobody pushed me to say it, nobody 

bribed me…’” She was shot on the spot.91

In 1919, Vipper, now a Soviet official, was discovered in Kaluga and tried by the Moscow 

Revolutionary Tribunal. The Bolshevik prosecutor Krylenko pronounced the following words: 

“Whereas he presents a real danger to the Republic… that there be one Vipper less among us!” 

(This macabre joke suggested that R. Vipper, a professor of medieval history, was still alive.) 

However, the Tribunal merely sent Vipper “to a concentration camp… until the communist 

regime be definitively consolidated.”92 After that, we lose his track.

*

Beilis was acquitted by peasants, those Ukrainian peasants accused of having participated in the 

pogroms against the Jews at the turn of the century, and who were soon to know the 

collectivisation and organised famine of 1932-33—a famine that journalists have ignored and 

that has not been included in the liabilities of this regime.

Here is yet another of these footsteps of History…
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Chapter 11

Jews and Russians before the First World War: The Growing Awareness

In Russia—for another ten years it escaped its ruin—the best minds among the Russians and the 

Jews had had time to look back and evaluate from different points of view the essence of our 

common life, to seriously consider the question of culture and national destiny.

The Jewish people made its way through an ever-changing present by dragging behind it the tail 

of a comet of three thousand years of diaspora, without ever losing consciousness of being “a 

nation without language nor territory, but with its own laws” (Salomon Lourie), preserving its 

difference and its specificity by the force of its religious and national tension—in the name of a 

superior, meta-historical Providence. Have the Jews of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries 

sought to identify with the peoples who surrounded them, to blend into them? It was certainly 

the Jews of Russia who, longer than their other co-religionists, had remained in the core of 

isolation, concentrated on their religious life and conscience. But, from the end of the 

nineteenth century, it was precisely this Jewish community in Russia that began to grow 

stronger, to flourish, and now “the whole history of the Jewish community in the modern age 

was placed under the sign of Russian Jewry”, which also manifested “a sharp sense of the 

movement of History.”1

For their part, the Russian thinkers were perplexed by the particularism of the Jews. And for 

them, in the nineteenth century, the question was how to overcome it. Vladimir Solovyov, who 

expressed deep sympathy for the Jews, proposed to do so by the love of the Russians towards 

the Jews.

Before him, Dostoyevsky had noticed the disproportionate fury provoked by his remarks, 

certainly offensive but very scarce, about the Jewish people: “This fury is a striking testimony to 

the way the Jews themselves regard the Russians… and that, in the motives of our differences 

with the Jews, it is perhaps not only the Russian people who bears all the responsibility, but that 

these motives, obviously, have accumulated on both sides, and it cannot be said on which side 

there is the most.”2
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From this same end of the nineteenth century, Teitel reports the following observation: “The 

Jews are in their majority materialists. Strong in them is the aspiration to acquire material 

goods. But what contempt for these material goods whenever it comes to the inner ‘I’, to 

national dignity! Why, in fact, the mass of Jewish youth—who has completely turned away from 

religious practice, which often does not even speak its mother tongue—why did this mass, if 

only for the sake of form, not convert to Orthodoxy, which would have opened to it wide the 

doors of all the universities and would have given it access to all the goods of the earth?” Even 

the thirst for knowledge was not enough, while “science, superior knowledge was held by them 

in higher esteem than fortune.” What held them back was the concern not to abandon their co-

religionists in need. (He also adds that going to Europe to study was not a good solution either: 

“Jewish students felt very uncomfortable in the West… The German Jew considered them 

undesirable, insecure people, noisy, disorderly,”; and this attitude was not only that of the 

German Jews, “the French and Swiss Jews were no exception.”3

As for D. Pasmanik, he also mentioned this category of Jews converted under duress, who felt 

only more resentment towards the power and could only oppose it. (From 1905, conversion 

was facilitated: it was no longer necessary to go to orthodoxy, it was enough to become a 

Christian, and Protestantism was more acceptable to many Jews. In 1905 was also repealed the 

prohibition to return to Judaism.4)

Another writer bitterly concluded, in 1924, that in the last decades preceding the revolution it 

was not only “the Russian government… which definitely ranked the Jewish people among the 

enemies of the country”, but “even worse, it was a lot of Jewish politicians who ranked 

themselves among these enemies, radicalising their position and ceasing to differentiate 

between the ‘government’ and the fatherland, that is, Russia… The indifference of the Jewish 

masses and their leaders to the destiny of Great Russia was a fatal political error.”5

Of course, like any social process, this—and, moreover, in a context as diverse and mobile as 

the Jewish milieu—did not take place linearly, it was split; in the hearts of many educated Jews, 

it provoked rifts. On the one hand, “belonging to the Jewish people confers a specific position in 

the whole of the Russian milieu.”6 But to observe immediately a “remarkable ambivalence: the 

traditional sentimental attachment of many Jews to the surrounding Russian world, their 

rootedness in this world, and at the same time an intellectual rejection, a refusal across the 

board. Affection for an abhorred world.”7
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This approach so painfully ambivalent could not fail to lead to equally painfully ambivalent 

results. And when I. V. Hessen, in an intervention in the second Duma in March 1907, after 

having denied that the revolution was still in its phase of rising violence, thus denying right-wing 

parties the right to arise as defenders of the culture against anarchy, exclaimed: “We who are 

teachers, doctors, lawyers, statisticians, literary men, would we be the enemies of culture? 

Who will believe you, gentlemen?”—They shouted from the benches of the right: “You are the 

enemies of Russian culture, not of Jewish culture!”8 Enemies, of course not, why go so far, 

but—as the Russian party pointed out—are you really, unreservedly, our friends? The 

rapprochement was made difficult precisely by this: how could these brilliant advocates, 

professors and doctors not have in their heart of hearts primarily Jewish sympathies? Could 

they feel, entirely and unreservedly, Russian by spirit? Hence the problem was even more 

complicated. Were they able to take to heart the interests of the Russian State in their full 

scope and depth?

During this same singular period, we see on the one hand that the Jewish middle classes make a 

very clear choice to give secular education to their children in the Russian language, and on the 

other there is the development of publications in Yiddish—and comes into use the term 

“Yiddishism”: that the Jews remain Jewish, that they do not assimilate.

There was still a path to assimilation, doubtlessly marginal, but not negligible: that of mixed 

marriages. And also a current of superficial assimilation consisting in adapting artificial 

pseudonyms to the Russian way. (And who did this most often?! The great sugar producers of 

Kiev “Dobry”*, “Babushkin”**, prosecuted during the war for agreement with the enemy. The 

editor “Iasny”*** that even the newspaper of constitutional-democrat orientation Retch called 

an “avid speculator”, an “unscrupulous shark.”9 Or the future Bolshevik D. Goldenbach, who 

regarded “all of Russia as a country without worth” but disguised himself as “Riazanov” to 

bother the readers with his Marxist theoretician ratiocinations until his arrest in 1937.)

And it was precisely during these decades, and especially in Russia, that Zionism developed. The 

Zionists were ironical about those who wanted to assimilate, who imagined that the fate of the 

Jews of Russia was indissolubly linked to the destiny of Russia itself.

And then, we must turn first to Vl. Jabotinsky, a brilliant and original essayist, who was brought, 
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in the years preceding the revolution, to express not only his rejection of Russia but also his 

despair. Jabotinsky considered that Russia was nothing more than a halt for the Jews on their 

historical journey and that it was necessary to hit the road—to Palestine.

Passion ignited his words: it is not with the Russian people that we are in contact, we learn to 

know it through its culture, “mainly through its writers…, through the highest, the purest 

manifestations of the Russian spirit,”—and this appreciation, we transpose it to the whole of 

the Russian world. “Many of us, born of the Jewish intelligentsia, love the Russian culture with a 

maddening and degrading love… with the degrading love of swine keepers for a queen.” As for 

the Jewish world, we discover it through the baseness and ugliness of everyday life.10

He is merciless towards those who seek to assimilate. “Many of the servile habits that 

developed in our psychology as our intelligentsia became russified,” “have ruined the hope or 

the desire to keep Jewishness intact, and lead to its disappearance.” The average Jewish 

intellectual forgets himself: it is better not to pronounce the word “Jew”, “the times are no 

longer about that”; we are afraid to write: “we the Jews”, but we write: “we the Russians” and 

even: “we the Russkoffs”. “The Jew can occupy a prominent place in Russian society, but he will 

always remain a second class Russian,” and this, all the more so because he retains a specific 

‘inclination of the soul’.”—We are witnessing an epidemic of baptisms for interest, sometimes 

for stakes far more petty than obtaining a diploma. “The thirty pennies for equal rights…” When 

abjuring our faith, strip yourself also of our nationality.11

The situation of the Jews in Russia—and not at any time, but precisely after the years 

1905‒1906—seemed to him desperately gloomy: “The objective reality, that is, the fact of living 

abroad, has turned itself against our people today, and we are weak and helpless.”—“Already in 

the past we knew we were surrounded by enemies”; “this prison” (Russia), “a pack of dogs”; 

“the body lying, covered with the wounds of the Jewish people of Russia, tracked, surrounded 

by enemies and defenceless”; “six million human beings swarming in a deep pit…, a slow 

torture, a pogrom that does not end”; and even, according to him, “newspapers financed by 

Jewish funds” do not defend the Jews “in these times of unprecedented persecution.” At the 

end of 1911, he wrote: “For several years now the Jews of Russia have been crammed on the 

bench of the accused”, despite the fact we are not revolutionaries, that “we have not sold 

Russia to the Japanese” and that we are not Azefs* or Bogrovs**”; and in connection with 

Bogrov: “This unfortunate young man—he was what he was—, at the hour of such an admirable 

death[!], was booed by a dozen brutes from the cesspool of the Kievian Black Hundreds, come 
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to ensure that the execution had indeed taken place.”12

And, returning again and again to the Jewish community itself: “Today we are culturally 

deprived, as at the bottom of a slum, of an obscure impasse.”—“What we suffer above all is 

contempt for ourselves; what we need above all is to respect ourselves… The study of 

Jewishness must become for us the central discipline… Jewish culture is now the only plank of 

salvation for us.”13

All of this, we can, yes, we can understand it, share it. (And we, Russians, can do it, especially 

today, at the end of the twentieth century.)

It does not condemn those who, in the past, have campaigned for assimilation: in the course of 

History “there are times when assimilation is undeniably desirable, when it represents a 

necessary stage of progress.” This was the case after the sixties of the nineteenth century, when 

the Jewish intelligentsia was still in its embryonic state, beginning to adapt to the surrounding 

environment, to a culture that had reached maturity. At that time, assimilation did not mean 

“denying the Jewish people, but on the contrary, taking the first step on the road to 

autonomous national activity, taking a first step towards renewal and rebirth of the nation.” It 

was necessary to “assimilate what was foreign to us in order to be able to develop with new 

energy what was our own.” But half a century later, many radical transformations took place 

both inside and outside the Jewish world. The desire to appropriate universal knowledge has 

become widespread as never before. And it is then, now, that must be inculcated to the 

younger generations the Jewish principles. It is now that there is a threat of an irremediable 

dilution in the foreign environment: “There is no day that passes in which our sons do not leave 

us” and “do not become strangers to us”; “enlightened by the Enlightenment, our children 

serve all the peoples of the Earth, except ours; no one is there to work for the Jewish cause.” 

“The world around us is too magnificent, too spacious and too rich”—we cannot admit that it 

diverts Jewish youth from “the ugliness of the daily existence of the Jews… The deepening of 

national values of Jewishness must become the main axis… of Jewish education.”—“Only the 

bond of solidarity allows a nation to hold” (we ourselves would need it!—A. S.), while denial 

slows down the struggle for the right of the Jews: one imagines that there is a way out, and “we 

leave… lately… in compact masses, with lightness and cynicism.”14

Then, letting himself be carried away: “The royal spirit [of Israel] in all its power, its tragic 

history in all its grandiose magnificence…” “Who are we to justify ourselves before them? Who 
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are they to demand accountability?”15

The latter formula, we can also respect it fully. But under the condition of reciprocity. Especially 

since it is not up to any nation or religion to judge another.

The calls to return to Jewish roots did not remain unheeded in those years. In Saint Petersburg, 

before the revolution, “we could note in the circles of the Russo-Jewish intelligentsia a very 

great interest in Jewish history.”16 In 1908, the Jewish Historical-Ethnographic Commission 

expanded into a Jewish Historical-Ethnographic Society,17 headed by M. Winaver. It worked 

actively and efficiently to collect the archives on the history and ethnography of the Jews of 

Russia and Poland—nothing comparable was established by Jewish historical science in the 

West. The magazine The Jewish Past, led by S. Dubnov, then was created.18 At the same time 

began the publication of the Jewish Encyclopædia in sixteen volumes (which we use extensively 

in this study), and the History of the Jewish People in fifteen volumes. It is true that in the last 

volume of the Jewish Encyclopædia, its editors complain that “the elite of the Jewish 

intelligentsia has shown its indifference to the cultural issues raised by this Encyclopædia,” 

devoting itself exclusively to the struggle for the equality—all formal—of rights for the Jews.19

Meanwhile, on the contrary, in other minds and other Jewish hearts there was a growing 

conviction that the future of the Jews of Russia was indissolubly linked to that of Russia. 

Although “scattered over an immense territory and among a foreign world…, the Russian Jewish 

community had and was conscious of being a unique whole. Because unique was the 

environment that surrounded us…, unique its culture… This unique culture, we absorbed it 

throughout the whole country.”20

“The Jews of Russia have always been able to align their own interests to those of all the 

Russian people. And this did not come from any nobility of character or a sense of gratitude, but 

from a perception of historical realities.” Open controversy with Jabotinsky: “Russia is not, for 

the millions of Jews who populate it, a step among others on the historical path of the 

wandering Jew… The contribution of Russian Jews to the international Jewish community has 

been and will be the most significant. There is no salvation for us without Russia, as there is no 

salvation for Russia without us.”21
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This interdependence is affirmed even more categorically by the deputy of the second and third 

Dumas, O. I. Pergament: “No improvement of the internal situation of Russia ‘is possible 

without the simultaneous enfranchisement of the Jews from the yoke of inequality’.”22

And there, one cannot ignore the exceptional personality of the jurist G. B. Sliosberg: among the 

Jews he was one of those who, for decades, had the closest relations with the Russian State, 

sometimes as Deputy to the Principal Secretary of the Senate, sometimes as a consultant to the 

Ministry of the Interior, but to whom many Jews reproached his habit of asking the authorities 

for rights for the Jews, when the time had come demand them. He writes in his memoirs: “From 

childhood, I have become accustomed to consider myself above all as a Jew. But from the 

beginning of my conscious life I also felt like a son of Russia… Being a good Jew does not mean 

that one is not a good Russian citizen.”23—“In our work, we were not obliged to overcome the 

obstacles encountered at every step by the Jews of Poland because of the Polish authorities… In 

the Russian political and administrative system, we Jews did not represent a foreign element, 

insofar as, in Russia, cohabited many nationalities. The cultural interests of Russia did not 

conflict in any way with the cultural interests of the Jewish community. These two cultures 

were somewhat complementary.”24 He even added this somewhat humorous remark: the 

legislation on Jews was so confusing and contradictory that in the 90s, “it was necessary to 

create a specific jurisprudence for the Jews using purely Talmudic methods.”25

And again, in a higher register: “The easing of the national yoke which has been felt in recent 

years, shortly before Russia entered a tragic period in its history, bore in the hearts of all 

Russian Jews the hope that the Russian Jewish consciousness would gradually take a creative 

path, that of reconciling the Jewish and Russian aspects in the synthesis of a higher unity.”26

And can we forget that, among the seven authors of the incomparable Milestones*, three were 

Jews: M. O. Gershenzon, A. S. Izgoev-Lande, and S. L. Frank?

But there was reciprocity: in the decades preceding the revolution, the Jews benefited from the 

massive and unanimous support of progressive circles. Perhaps the amplitude of this support is 

due to a context of bullying and pogroms, but it has never been so complete in any other 

country (and perhaps never in all the past centuries). Our intelligentsia was so generous, so 

freedom-loving, that it ostracised anti-Semitism from society and humanity; moreover, the one 

who did not give his frank and massive support to the struggle for equal rights of the Jews, who 

did not make it a priority, was considered a “despicable anti-Semite”. With its ever-awakening 
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moral consciousness and extreme sensitivity, the Russian intelligentsia sought to understand 

and assimilate the Jewish view of priorities affecting the whole of political life: is deemed 

progressive all that is a reaction against the persecution of the Jews, all the rest is reactionary. 

Not only did Russian society firmly defend the Jews against the government, but it forbade itself 

and forbade anyone to show any trace of a shadow of criticism of the conduct of each Jew in 

particular: and if this bore anti-Semitism within me? (The generation formed at that time 

retained these principles for decades.)

V. A. Maklakov evokes in his memoirs a significant episode that occurred during the congress of 

the Zemstvos in 1905, when the wave of pogroms against the Jews and intellectuals had just 

swept through and began to rise in strength the pogroms directed against landowners. “E. V. de 

Roberti proposed not to extend the amnesty [demanded by the congress] to the crimes related 

to violence against children and women.” He was immediately suspected of wanting to 

introduce a “class” amendment, that is to say, to concern himself with the families of the noble 

victims of pogroms. “E. de Roberti hastened… to reassure everybody: ‘I had absolutely no plan 

in regard to the property of the noblemen… Five or twenty properties burned down, this has no 

importance. I have in view the mass of immovable property and houses belonging to Jews, 

which were burned and pillaged by the Black Hundreds’.”27

During the terror of 1905‒1907, Gerzenstein (who had been ironic about the property fires of 

the noblemen) and Iollos were considered as martyrs, but no one among the thousands of 

other innocent victims, were considered so. In The Last Autocrat, a satirical publication that the 

Russian liberals published abroad, they succeeded in placing the following legend under the 

portrait of the general whom the terrorist Hirsch Lekkert had attempted in vain to assassinate: 

“Because of him”[I emphasise—A. S.], the tsar “had executed… the Jew Lekkert.”28

It was not just the parties of the opposition, it was the whole mass of middle-class civil servants 

who were trembling at the idea of sounding like “non-progressives”. It was necessary to enjoy a 

good personal fortune, or possess remarkable freedom of mind, to resist with courage the 

pressure of general opinion. As for the world of the bar, of art, of science, ostracism 

immediately struck anyone who moved away from this magnetic field.

Only Leo Tolstoy, who enjoyed a unique position in society, could afford to say that, for him, the 

Jewish question was in the 81st place.
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The Jewish Encyclopædia complained that the pogroms of October 1905 “provoked in the 

progressive intelligentsia a protestation that was not specific [i.e., exclusively Jewish-centred], 

but general, oriented towards all manifestations of the ‘counter-revolution’ in all its forms.”29

Moreover, Russian society would have ceased to be itself if it had not brought everything to a 

single burning question: tsarism, still tsarism, always tsarism!

But the consequence was this: “After the days of October [the pogroms of 1905], concrete aid 

to the Jewish victims was brought only by the Jews of Russia and other countries.”30 And 

Berdyaev added: “Are you capable of feeling the soul of the Jewish people?… No, you are 

fighting… in favour of an abstract humanity.”31

This is confirmed by Sliosberg: “In politically evolved circles,” the Jewish question “was not 

political in the broad sense of the term. Society was attentive to manifestations of the reaction 

in all its forms.”32

In order to correct this misjudgement of Russian society, a collection of articles entitled Shchit 

[The Shield] was published in 1915: it took on globally and exclusively the defence of the Jews, 

but without the participation of the latter as writers, these were either Russian or Ukrainian, 

and a beautiful skewer of celebrities of the time was assembled there—nearly forty names.33 

The whole collection was based on a single theme: “Jews in Russia”; it is univocal in its 

conclusions and its formulations denote in some places a certain spirit of sacrifice.

A few samples—L. Andreev: “The prospect of an approaching solution to the Jewish problem 

brings about a feeling of ‘joy close to fervour’, the feeling of being freed from a pain that has 

accompanied me all my life,” which was like “a hump on the back”; “I breathed poisonous 

air…”—M. Gorky: “The great European thinkers consider that the psychic structure of the Jew is 

culturally higher, more beautiful than that of the Russian.” (He then rejoiced at the 

development in Russia of the sect of the Sabbatists and that of the “New Israel”.)—P. 

Maliantovitch: “The arbitrariness to which the Jews are subjected is a reproach which, like a 

stain, covers the name of the Russian people… The best among the Russians feel it as a shame 

that pursues you all your life. We are barbarians among the civilised peoples of humanity… we 
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are deprived of the precious right to be proud of our people… The struggle for the equal rights 

of the Jews represents for the Russian man… a national cause of prime importance… The 

arbitrariness subjected to the Jews condemns the Russians to failure in their attempts to attain 

their own happiness.” If we do not worry about the liberation of the Jews, “we will never be 

able to solve our own problems.”—K. Arseniev: “If we remove everything that hinders the Jews, 

we will see ‘an increase in the intellectual forces of Russia’.”—A. Kalmykova: “On the one hand, 

our ‘close spiritual relationship with the Jewish world in the domain of the highest spiritual 

values’; on the other, ‘the Jews may be the object of contempt, of hatred’.”—L. Andreev: “It is 

we, the Russians, who are the Jews of Europe; our border, it is precisely the Pale of 

Settlement.”—D. Merezhkovsky: “What do the Jews expect of us? Our moral indignation? But 

this indignation is so strong and so simple… that we only have to scream with the Jews. This is 

what we do.”—By the effect of I am not sure which misunderstanding, Berdyaev is not one of 

the authors of the Shield. But he said of himself that he had broken with his milieu from his 

earliest youth and that he preferred to frequent the Jews.

All the authors of the Shield define anti-Semitism as an ignoble feeling, as “a disease of 

consciousness, obstinate and contagious” (D. Ovsianikov-Kulikovsky, Academician). But at the 

same time, several authors note that “the methods and processes… of anti-Semites [Russians] 

are of foreign origin” (P. Milyukov). “The latest cry of anti-Semitic ideology is a product of the 

German industry of the spirit… The ‘Aryan’ theory… has been taken up by our nationalist press… 

Menshikov* [copies] the ideas of Gobineau” (F. Kokochkin). The doctrine of the superiority of 

the Aryans in relation to the Semites is “of German manufacture” (see Ivanov).

But for us, with our hump on our backs, what does it change? Invited by the “Progressive Circle” 

at the end of 1916, Gorky “devoted the two hours of his lecture to rolling the Russian people in 

the mud and raising the Jews to the skies,” as noted by the Progressive deputy Mansyrev, one 

of the founders of the “Circle”.34

A contemporary Jewish writer analyses this phenomenon objectively and lucidly: “We assisted 

to a profound transformation of the minds of the cultivated Russians who, unfortunately, took 

to heart the Jewish problem much more greatly than might have been expected… Compassion 

for the Jews was transformed into an imperative almost as categorical as the formula ‘God, the 

Tsar, the Fatherland’”; as for the Jews, “they took advantage of this profession of faith 

according to their degree of cynicism.”35 At the same time, Rozanov spoke of “the avid desire 

of the Jews to seize everything.”36
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In the 20s, V. Choulguine summed it up as follows: “At that time [a quarter of a century before 

the revolution], the Jews had taken control of the political life of the country… The brain of the 

nation (if we except the government and the circles close to it) found itself in the hands of the 

Jews and was accustomed to think according to their directives.” “Despite all the ‘restrictions’ 

on their rights, the Jews had taken possession of the soul of the Russian people.”37

But was it the Jews who had seized the Russian soul or did the Russians simply not know what 

to do with it?

Still in the Shield, Merezhkovsky tried to explain that philo-Semitism had arisen in reaction to 

anti-Semitism, that the blind valourisation of a foreign nationality was asserted, that the 

absolutisation of the “no” led to that of the “yes”.38 And Professor Baudouin de Courtenay 

acknowledged that “many, even among the ‘political friends’ of the Jews, experience repulsion 

and acknowledge it in private. Here, of course, there is nothing to do. Sympathy and antipathy… 

are not commanded.” We must nevertheless rely “not on affects, but on reason.”39

The confusion that reigned in the minds of those days was brought to light with greater 

significance and reach by P. B. Struve, who devoted his entire life to breaking down the 

obstacles erected on the path that would lead him from Marxism to the rule of law, and, along 

the way, also obstacles of other kinds. The occasion was a polemic—fallen into a deep oblivion, 

but of great historical importance—which broke out in the liberal Slovo newspaper in March 

1909 and immediately won the entirety of the Russian press.

Everything had begun with the “Chirikov affair”, an episode whose importance was inflated to 

the extreme: an explosion of rage in a small literary circle accusing Chirikov—author of a play 

entitled The Jews, and well disposed towards them—to be anti-Semitic. (And this because at a 

dinner of writers he had let himself go on to say that most of the literary critics of Saint 

Petersburg were Jews, but were they able to understand the reality of Russian life?) This affair 

shook many things in Russian society. (The journalist Lioubosh wrote about it: “It is the two 

kopeck candle that set fire to Moscow.”)

Considering that he had not sufficiently expressed himself on the Chrikov affair in a first article, 
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Jabotinsky published a text entitled “Asemitism” in the Slovo newspaper on 9 March 1909. He 

stated in it his fears and his indignation at the fact that the majority of the progressive press 

wanted to silence this matter. That even a great liberal newspaper (he was referring to the 

Russian News) had not published a word for twenty-five years on “the atrocious persecutions 

suffered by the Jewish people… Since then the law of silence has been regarded as the latest 

trend by progressive philo-Semites.” It was precisely here that evil resided: in passing over the 

Jewish question. (We can only agree with this!) When Chirikov and Arabajine “assure us that 

there is nothing anti-Semitic in their remarks, they are both perfectly right.” Because of this 

tradition of silence, “one can be accused of anti-Semitism for having only pronounced the word 

‘Jew’ or made the most innocent remark about some particularity of the Jews… The problem is 

that the Jews have become a veritable taboo that forbids the most trivial criticism, and that it is 

them that are the big losers in the affair.” (Here again, we can only agree!) “There is a feeling 

that the word ‘Jew’ itself has become an indecent term.” “There is here an echo of a general 

state of mind that makes its way among the middle strata of the progressive Russian 

intelligentsia… We can not yet provide tangible proofs of it, we can only have a presentiment 

about this state of mind”—, but it is precisely this that torments him: no proofs, just an 

intuition—and the Jews will not see the storm coming, they will be caught unprepared. For the 

moment, “we see only a small cloud forming in the sky and we can hear a distant, but already 

menacing roll.” It is not anti-Semitism, it is only “Asemitism”, but that also is not admissible, 

neutrality cannot be justified: after the pogrom of Kishinev and while the reactionary press 

peddles “the inflamed tow of hatred”, the silence of the progressive newspapers about “one of 

the most tragic questions of Russian life” is unacceptable.40

In the editorial of the same issue of Slovo, were formulated the following reservations about 

Jabotinsky’s article: “The accusations made by the author against the progressive press 

correspond, in our opinion, to the reality of things. We understand the sentiments that have 

inspired the author with his bitter remarks, but to impute to the Russian intelligentsia the 

intention, so to speak deliberately, of sweeping the Jewish question under the rug, is unfair. The 

Russian reality has so many unresolved problems that we cannot devote much space to each 

one of them… Yet, if many of these problems are resolved, this will have very important effects, 

including for the Jews who are citizens of our common homeland.”41

And if the editorialist of the Slovo had then asked Jabotinsky why he did not defend one or the 

other of those fools who uttered “the most innocent remark about some particularity of the 

Jews”? Was Jewish opinion interested only in them, did they take their part? Or was it enough 

to observe how the Russian intelligentsia got rid of these “anti-Semites”? No, the Jews were no 

less responsible than the others for this “taboo”.
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Another article in the same paper helped launch the discussion: “The agreement, not the 

fusion”, of V. Golubev. Indeed, the Chirikov affair “is far from being an isolated case”, “at the 

present time… the national question… is also of concern to our intelligentsia”. In the recent 

past, especially in the year of the revolution*, our intelligentsia has “sinned very much” by 

cosmopolitanism. But “the struggles that have been fought within our community and between 

the nationalities that populate the Russian State have not disappeared without leaving traces.” 

Like the other nationalities, in those years, “the Russians had to look at their own national 

question…; when nationalities deprived of sovereignty began to self-determine, the Russians 

felt the need to do so as well.” Even the history of Russia, “we Russian intellectuals, we know it 

perhaps less well than European history.” “Universal ideals… have always been more important 

to us than the edification of our own country.” But, even according to Vladimir Solovyov, who is 

however very far removed from nationalism, “before being a bearer of universal ideals, it is 

essential to raise oneself to a certain national level. And the feeling of raising oneself seems to 

have begun to make its way into our intelligentsia.” Until now, “we have been silent on our own 

peculiarities.” Remembering them in our memory does not constitute a manifestation of anti-

Semitism and oppression of other nationalities: between nationalities there must be “harmony 

and not fusion”.42

The editorial team of the newspaper may have taken all these precautions because it was 

preparing to publish the following day, 10 March, an article by P. B. Struve, “The intelligentsia 

and the national face”, which had coincidentally arrived at the same time than that of 

Jabotinsky and also dealing with the Chirikov case.

Struve wrote: “This incident,” which will “soon be forgotten”, “has shown that something has 

moved in the minds, has awakened and will no longer be calmed. And we will have to rely on 

that.” “The Russian intelligentsia hides its national face, it is an attitude that imposes nothing, 

which is sterile.”—“Nationality is something much more obvious [than race, colour of skin] and, 

at the same time, something subtle. It is the attraction and repulsion of the mind and, to 

become aware of them, it is not necessary to resort to anthropometry or to genealogy. They 

live and palpitate in the depths of the soul.” One can and must fight to make these 

attractions/repulsions not be brought into law, “but ‘political’ equity does not require from us 

‘national’ indifference.” These attractions and repulsions belong to us, they are our goods”, 

“the organic feeling of our national belonging… And I do not see the slightest reason… to 

renounce this property in the name of anyone or anything.”
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Yes, insists Struve, it is essential to draw a border between the legal, the political domains and 

the realm where these sentiments live. “Especially with regard to the Jewish question, it is both 

very easy and very difficult.”—“The Jewish question is formally a question of law”, and, for this 

reason, it is easy and natural to help solve it: to grant the Jews equal rights—yes, of course! But 

at the same time it is “very difficult because the force of rejection towards the Jews in different 

strata of Russian society is considerable, and it requires great moral force and a very rational 

mind to, despite this repulsion, resolve definitively this question of right.” However, “even 

though there is a great force of rejection towards the Jews among large segments of the 

Russian population, of all the ‘foreigners’ the Jews are those who are closest to us, those who 

are the most closely linked to us. It is a historico-cultural paradox, but it is so. The Russian 

intelligentsia has always regarded the Jews as Russians, and it is neither fortuitous nor the 

effect of a ‘misunderstanding’. The deliberate initiative of rejecting Russian culture and 

asserting Jewish ‘national’ singularity does not belong to the Russian intelligentsia, but to this 

movement known as Zionism… I do not feel any sympathy for Zionism, but I understand that 

the problem of ‘Jewish’ nationality does indeed exist,” and even poses itself more and more. (It 

is significant that he places “national” and “Jewish” in quotation marks: he still cannot believe 

that the Jews think of themselves as others.) “There does not exist in Russia other ‘foreigners’ 

who play a role as important in Russian culture… And here is another difficulty: they play this 

role while remaining Jews.” One cannot, for example, deny the role of the Germans in Russian 

culture and science; but by immersing themselves in Russian culture, the Germans completely 

blend into it. “With the Jews, that’s another matter!”

And he concludes: “We must not deceive [our national feeling] or hide our faces… I have a right, 

like any Russian, to these feelings… The better it is understood… the less there will be 

misunderstandings in the future.”43

Yes… Oh, if we had woken up, as much as we are, a few decades earlier! (The Jews, they, had 

awakened long before the Russians.)

But the very next day, it was a whirlwind: as if all the newspapers had waited for that! From the 

liberal Hacha Gazeta (“Is this the right moment to talk about this?”) and the right-wing 

newspaper Novoie Vremia to the organ of the Democratic constitutional party Retch where 

Milyukov could not help exclaiming: Jabotinsky “has succeeded in breaking the wall of silence, 

and all the frightening and threatening things that the progressive press and the intelligentsia 
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had sought to hide from the Jews now appear in their true dimension.” But, later on, 

argumentative and cold as usual, Milyukov goes on to the verdict. It begins with an important 

warning: Where does it lead? Who benefits from it? The “national face” which, moreover, “we 

must not hide”, is a step towards the worst of fanaticism! (Thus, the “national face” must be 

hidden.) Thus “the slippery slope of æsthetic nationalism will precipitate the intelligentsia 

towards its degeneration, towards a true tribal chauvinism” engendered “in the putrid 

atmosphere of the reaction reigning over today’s society.”44

But P. B. Struve, with an almost juvenile agility in spite of his forty years, retaliates as soon as 12 

March in the columns of the Slovo to the “professorial speech” of Milyukov. And, above all, to 

this sleight of hand: “Where does it lead?” (“Who benefits from it?” “Who will draw the 

chestnuts from the fire?”—this is how people will be silenced—whatever they say—for a 

hundred years or more. There is a falsifying process that denotes a total inability to understand 

that a speech can be honest and have weight in itself.)—“Our point of view is not refuted on the 

merits”, but confronted on the polemic mode to “a projection”: “Where does it lead?”45 (A few 

days later, he wrote again in the Slovo: “It is an old process to discredit both an idea that one 

does not share and the one who formulates it, insinuating perfidiously that the people of 

Novoie Vremia or Russkoye Znamya will find it quite to their liking. This procedure is, in our 

opinion, utterly unworthy of a progressive press.”46) Then, as to the substance: “National 

questions are, nowadays, associated with powerful, sometimes violent feelings. To the extent 

that they express in everyone the consciousness of their national identity, these feelings are 

fully legitimate and… to stifle them is… a great villainy.” That is it: if they are repressed, they will 

reappear in a denatured form. As for this “‘Asemitism’ which would be the worst thing, it is in 

fact a much more favourable ground for a legal solution of the Jewish question than the endless 

struggle between ‘anti-Semitism’ and ‘philo-Semitism’. There is no non-Russian nationality that 

needs… all Russians to love it without reservation. Even less that they pretend to love it. In 

truth, ‘Asemitism’, combined with a clear and lucid conception of certain moral and political 

principles and certain political constraints, is much more necessary and useful to our Jewish 

compatriots than a sentimental and soft ‘philo-Semitism’”, especially if this one is simulated.—

And “it is good that the Jews see the ‘national face’” of Russian constitutionalism and 

democratic society. And “it is of no use to them to speak under the delusion that this face 

belongs only to anti-Semitic fanaticism.” This is not “the head of the Medusa, but the honest 

and human face of the Russian nation, without which the Russian State would not stand 

up.”47—And again these lines of Slovo‘s editorial team: “Harmony… implies recognition and 

respect for all the specificities of each [nationality].”48

Heated debates continued in the newspapers. “Within a few days a whole literature was 
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formed on the subject.” We assisted “In the Progressive Press… to something unthinkable even 

a short time ago: there is a debate on the question of Great-Russian nationalism!”49 But the 

discussion only reached this level in the Slovo; the other papers concentrated on the question 

of “attractions and repulsions”.50 The intelligentsia turned its anger towards its hero of the day 

before.

Jabotinsky also gave voice, and even twice… “The bear came out of his lair,” he lashed out, 

addressed to P. Struve, a man who was however so calm and well-balanced. Jabotinsky, on the 

other hand, felt offended; he described his article, as well as that of Milyukov, as “a famous 

batch”: “their languorous declamation is impregnated with hypocrisy, insincerity, cowardice and 

opportunism, which is why it is so incorrigibly worthless”; and to ironise in quoting Milyukov: 

thus “the holy and pure Russian intelligentsia of old” “felt feelings of ‘repulsion’ at the 

encounter of the Jews?… Bizarre, no?” He criticised “the ‘holy and pure’ climate of this 

marvellous country”, and the zoological species of Yursus judaeophagus intellectualis.” (The 

conciliatory Winaver also took for his rank: “the Jewish footman of the Russian palace”). 

Jabotinsky fulminated at the idea that the Jews should wait “until was resolved the central 

political problem” (i.e. the tsar’s deposition): “We thank you for having such a flattering opinion 

on our disposition to behave like a dog with his master”, “on the celerity of faithful Israel”. He 

even concluded by stating that “never before the exploitation of a people by another had ever 

been revealed with such ingenuous cynicism.”51

It must be admitted that this excessive virulence hardly contributed to the victory of his cause. 

Moreover, the near future was going to show that it was precisely the deposition of the tsar 

which would open the Jews to even more possibilities than they sought to obtain, and cut the 

grass under the foot of Zionism in Russia; so much and so well that Jabotinsky was also deceived 

on the merits.

Much later and with the retreat of time, another witness of that era, then a member of the 

Bund, recalled that “in the years 1907‒1914, some liberal intellectuals were affected by the 

epidemic, if not of open anti-Semitism, at least ‘Asemitism’ that struck Russia then; on the other 

hand, having gotten over the extremist tendencies that had arisen during the first Russian 

revolution, they were tempted to hold the Jews accountable, whose participation in the 

revolution had been blatant.” In the years leading up to the war, “the rise of Russian 

nationalism was present… in certain circles where, at first sight, the Jewish problem was, only a 

short time before, perceived as a Russian problem.”52
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In 1912, Jabotinsky himself, this time in a more balanced tone, reported this judicious 

observation of a prominent Jewish journalist: as soon as the Jews are interested in some 

cultural activity, immediately the latter becomes foreign to the Russian public, who is no longer 

attracted to it. A kind of invisible rejection. It is true, that a national demarcation cannot be 

avoided; it will be necessary to organise life in Russia “without external additions which, in so 

large a quantity, perhaps cannot be tolerated [by the Russians].”53

To consider all that has been presented above, the most accurate conclusion is to say that 

within the Russian intelligentsia were developing simultaneously (as history offers many 

examples) two processes that, with regard to the Jewish problem, were distinguished by a 

question of temperament, not by a degree of sympathy. But the one represented by Struve was 

too weak, uncertain, and was stifled. Whilst the one who had trumpeted his philo-Semitism in 

the collection The Shield enjoyed a wide publicity and prevailed among public opinion. There is 

only to regret that Jabotinsky did not recognise Struve’s point of view at its fair value.

As for the 1909 debate in the Slovo columns, it was not limited to the Jewish question, but 

turned into a discussion of Russian national consciousness, which, after the eighty years of 

silence that followed, remains today still vivacious and instructive,—P. Struve wrote: “Just as we 

must not Russify those who do not want it, so we must not dissolve ourselves in Russian 

multinationalism.”54—V. Golubev protested against the “monopolisation of patriotism and 

nationalism by reactionary groups”: “We have lost sight of the fact that the victories won by the 

Japanese have had a disastrous effect on the popular conscience and national sentiment. Our 

defeat not only humiliated our bureaucrats,” as public opinion hoped, “but, indirectly, the 

nation as well.” (Oh no, not “indirectly”: quite directly!) “Russian nationality… has vanished.”55 

Nor is it a joke that the flourishing of the word “Russian” itself, which has been transformed 

into “authentically Russian”. The progressive intelligentsia has let these two notions go, 

abandoning them to the people of the right. “Patriotism, we could only conceive it in quotation 

marks.” But “we must compete with reactionary patriotism with a popular patriotism… We 

have frozen in our refusal of the patriotism of the Black Hundreds, and if we have opposed 

something of it, it is not another conception of patriotism, but of universal ideals.”56 And yet, 

all our cosmopolitanism has not allowed us, until today, to fraternise with the Polish society…57

A. Pogodin was able to say that after V. Solovyov’s violent indictment of Danilevsky’s book, 

Russia and Europe, after Gradovsky’s articles, were “the first manifestations of this 
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consciousness which, like the instinct of self-preservation, awakens among the peoples when 

danger threatens them.” (Coincidentally—at the very moment when this polemic took place, 

Russia had to endure its national humiliation: it was forced to recognise with pitiable 

resignation the annexation by Austria of Bosnia and Herzegovina, which was equivalent to a 

“diplomatic Tsou-Shina”.) “Fatality leads us to raise this question, which was formerly entirely 

foreign to the Russian intelligentsia, but which life itself imposes on us with a brutality that 

forbids all evasion.”58

In conclusion, the Slovo wrote: “A fortuitous incident triggered quite a journalistic storm.” This 

means that “Russian society needs national awareness”. In the past, “it had turned away not 

only from a false anti-national policy… but also from genuine nationalism without which a policy 

cannot really be built.” A people capable of creation “cannot but have its own face.”59 

“Minine* was certainly a nationalist.” A constructive nationalist, possessing the sense of the 

State, is peculiar to living nations, and that is what we need now.60 “Just as three hundred 

years ago, history tells us to reply,” to say, “in the dark hours of trial… if we have the right, like 

any people worthy of the name, to exist by ourselves.”61

And yet—even if, apparently, the year 1909 was rather peaceful—one felt that the Storm was in 

the air!

However, certain things were not lost sight of (M. Slavinski): “Attempts to Russify or, more 

exactly, to impose the Russian-Russian model on Russia… have had a disastrous effect on living 

national peculiarities, not only of all the non-sovereign peoples of the Empire, but also and 

above all of the people of Great-Russia… The cultural forces of the people of Great Russia 

proved insufficient for this.” “For the nationality of Great Russia, only the development of the 

interior, a normal circulation of blood, is good.”62 (Alas! even today, the lesson has not been 

assimilated). “Necessary is the struggle against physiological nationalism, [when] a stronger 

people tries to impose on others who are less so a way of life that is foreign to them.”63 But an 

empire as this could not have been constituted solely by physical force, there was also a “moral 

force”. And if we possess this force, then the equality of rights of other peoples (Jews as well as 

Poles) does not threaten us in any way.64

In the nineteenth century already, and a fortiori at the beginning of the twentieth century, the 

Russian intelligentsia felt that it was at a high level of global consciousness, universality, 

cosmopolitanism or internationality (at the time, little difference was made between all these 
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notions). In many fields, it had almost entirely denied what was Russian, national. (From the top 

of the tribune of the Duma, one practised at the pun: “patriot-Iscariot.”)

As for the Jewish intelligentsia, it did not deny its national identity. Even the most extreme of 

Jewish socialists struggled to reconcile their ideology with national sentiment. At the same time, 

there was no voice among the Jews—from Dubnov to Jabotinsky, passing by Winaver—to say 

that the Russian intelligentsia, who supported their persecuted brothers with all their souls, 

might not give up his own national feeling. Equity would have required it. But no one perceived 

this disparity: under the notion of equality of rights, the Jews understood something more.

Thus, the Russian intelligentsia, solitary, took the road to the future.

The Jews did not obtain equal rights under the tsars, but—and probably partly for this very 

reason—they obtained the hand and the fidelity of the Russian intelligentsia. The power of their 

development, their energy, their talent penetrated the consciousness of Russian society. The 

idea we had of our perspectives, of our interests, the impetus we gave to the search for 

solutions to our problems, all this, we incorporated it to the idea that they were getting of it 

themselves. We have adopted their vision of our history and how to get out of it.

Understanding this is much more important than calculating the percentage of Jews who tried 

to destabilise Russia (all of whom we did), who made the revolution or participated in Bolshevik 

power.

Chapter 12

During the War (1914‒1916)

The First World War was undoubtedly the greatest of the follies of the twentieth century. With 

no real motives or purposes, three major European powers—Germany, Russia, Austria-
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Hungary—clashed in a deadly battle which resulted in the first two not recovering for the 

duration of the century, and the third disintegrating. As for the two allies of Russia, seemingly 

victors, they held out for another quarter of a century, and then lost their power of domination 

forever. Henceforth, the whole of Europe ceased to fulfil its proud mission of guiding humanity, 

becoming an object of jealousy and incapable of keeping in its weakened hands its colonial 

possessions.

None of the three emperors, and even less Nicholas II and his entourage, had realised in what 

war they were plunging, they could imagine neither its scale nor its violence. Apart from 

Stolypin and after him, Durnovo, the authorities had not understood the warning addressed to 

Russia between 1904 and 1906.

Let us consider this same war with the eyes of the Jews. In these three neighbouring empires 

lived three-quarters of the Jews of the planet (and 90% of the Jews of Europe1) who were on 

top of that living in the area of future military operations, of the province of Kovno (then 

Livonia) up to Austrian Galicia (then Romania). And the war placed them before an 

interrogation as pressing as it was painful: could all, living on the front steps of these three 

empires, preserve their imperial patriotism under these conditions? For if, for the armies that 

were advancing, behind the front was the enemy, for the Jews established in these regions, 

behind the front lived neighbours and co-religionists. They could not want this war: could their 

mindset shift brutally towards patriotism? As for the ordinary Jews, those of the Pale of 

Settlement, they had even less reason to support the Russian army. We have seen that a 

century before, the Jews of western Russia had helped the Russians against Napoleon. But, in 

1914, it was quite different: in the name of what would they help the Russian army? On behalf 

of the Pale of Settlement? On the contrary, did the war not give rise to the hope of a liberation? 

With the arrival of the Austrians and the Germans, a new Pale of Settlement was not going to 

be established, the numerus clausus would not be maintained in the educational 

establishments!

It is precisely in the western part of the Pale of Settlement that the Bund retained influence, 

and Lenin tells us that its members “are in their majority Germanophiles and rejoice at the 

defeat of Russia.”2 We also learn that during the war, the Jewish autonomist movement 

Vorwarts adopted an openly pro-German position. Nowadays, a Jewish writer notes finely that, 

“if one reflects on the meaning of the formula ‘God, the Tsar, the Fatherland…’, it is impossible 

to imagine a Jew, a loyal subject of the Empire, who could have taken this formula seriously,” in 
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other words, in the first degree.3

But, in the capitals, things were different. Despite their positions of 1904‒1905, the influential 

Jewish circles, like the Russian liberals, offered their support to the autocratic regime when the 

conflict broke out; they proposed a pact. “The patriotic fervour which swept Russia did not 

leave the Jews aside.”4 “It was the time when, seeing the Russian patriotism of the Jews, 

Purishkevich* embraced the rabbis.”5 As for the press (not Novoie Vremia, but the liberal press, 

“half-Jewish” according to Witte, the same one who expressed and oriented the jolts of public 

opinion and who, in 1905, literally demanded the capitulation of power), it was, from the first 

days of the war, moved by patriotic enthusiasm. “Over the head of little Serbia, the sword is 

raised against Great Russia, the guarantor of the inalienable right of millions of people to work 

and to life!” At an extraordinary meeting of the Duma, “the representatives of the different 

nationalities and different parties were all, on this historic day, inhabited by the same thought, 

a single emotion made all the voices tremble… That no one lay a hand on Saint Russia!… We are 

ready for all sacrifices to defend the honour and dignity of Russia, one and indivisible… ‘God, 

the Tsar, the people’—and victory is assured… We, Jews, defend our country because we are 

deeply attached to it.”

Even if, behind this, there was a well-founded calculation, the expectation of a gesture of 

recognition in return—the attainment of equal rights, even if it was only once the war was 

over—, the government had to, by accepting this unexpected ally, decide to assume—or 

promise to assume—its share of obligations.

And, in fact, did the achievement of equal rights necessarily have to come through the 

revolution? Moreover, the crushing of the insurrection by Stolypin “had led to a decline in 

interest in politics in Russian as well as Jewish circles,”6—which, at the very least, meant that 

there was a move away from the revolution. As Chulguine* declared: “Combating the Jews and 

the Germans simultaneously was above the forces of power in Russia, it was necessary to 

conclude a pact with somebody.”7 This new alliance with the Jews had to be formalised: it was 

necessary to produce at least a document containing promises, as had been done for the Poles. 

But only Stolypin would have had the intelligence and the courage to do so. Without him, there 

was no one to understand the situation and take the appropriate decisions. (And, from the 

spring of 1915, even more serious mistakes were made.)

The liberal circles, including the elite of the Jewish community, also had in view another 
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consideration that they took for a certainty. From the year 1907 (again, without urgent 

necessity), Nicholas II had allowed himself to be dragged into a military alliance with England 

(thus putting around his neck the rope of the subsequent confrontation with Germany). And, 

now, all the progressive circles in Russia were making the following analysis: the alliance with 

the democratic powers and the common victory with them would inevitably lead to a global 

democratisation of Russia at the end of the war and, consequently, the definitive establishment 

of equal rights for the Jews. There was, therefore, a sense for the Jews of Russia, and not only 

for those who lived in Petersburg and Moscow, to aspire to the victory of Russia in this war.

But these considerations were counterbalanced by the precipitated, massive expulsion of the 

Jews from the area of the front, ordered by the General Staff at the time of the great retreat of 

1915. That the latter had the power to do so was the result of ill-considered decisions taken at 

the beginning of the war. In July 1914, in the heat of the action, in the agitation which reigned in 

the face of the imminence of conflict, the Emperor had signed without reflection, as a 

document of secondary importance, the provisional Regulation of the field service which gave 

the General Staff unlimited power over all the neighbouring regions of the front, with a very 

wide territorial extension, and this, without any consultation with the Council of Ministers. At 

the time, no one had attached any importance to this document, because all were convinced 

that the Supreme Command would always be assured by the Emperor and that there could be 

no conflict with the Cabinet. But, as early as July 1914, the Emperor was persuaded not to 

assume the Supreme Command of the armies. As a wise man, the latter proposed the post to 

his favourite, the fine speaker Sukhomlinov, then Minister of Defence, who naturally declined 

this honour. It was the great prince Nicholas Nicolaevich who was appointed, and the latter did 

not consider it possible to begin by upsetting the composition of the General Staff, at the head 

of which was General Yanushkevich. But, at the same time, the provisional regulations were not 

altered, so that the administration of a third of Russia was in the hands of Yanushkevich, an 

insignificant man who was not even a military officer by profession.

From the very beginning of the war, orders were given locally for the expulsion of the Jews from 

the army areas.8 In August 1914, the newspapers read: “The rights of the Jews… Telegraphic 

instruction to all the governors of provinces and cities to stop the acts of mass or individual 

expulsion of Jews.” But, from the beginning of 1915, as testified the doctor D. Pasmanik, a 

medic on the front during the war, “suddenly, throughout the area of the front and in all circles 

close to power, spread the rumour that the Jews were doing espionage.”9

During the summer of 1915, Yanukhovich—precisely him—tried to mask the retreat of the 

268



Russian armies, which at that time seemed appalling, by ordering the mass deportation of the 

Jews from the front area, arbitrary deportation, without any examination of individual cases. It 

was so easy: to blame all the defeats on the Jews!

These accusations may not have come about without the help of the German General Staff, 

which issued a proclamation calling on the Jews of Russia to rise up against their government. 

But opinion, supported by many sources, prevails that in this case it was Polish influence that 

was at work. As Sliosberg wrote, just before the war, there had been a brutal explosion of anti-

Semitism, “a campaign against Jewish domination in industry and commerce… When war broke 

out, it was at its zenith… and the Poles endeavoured by all means to tarnish the image of the 

Jewish populations in the eyes of the Supreme Command by spreading all sorts of nonsense and 

legends about Jewish espionage.”10—Immediately after the promises made by Nikolai 

Nikolaevich in the Appeal to the Poles of 14 August, the latter founded in Warsaw the “Central 

Committee of the Bourgeoisie”, which did not include a single Jew, whereas in Poland the Jews 

represented 14% of the population. In September, there was a pogrom against the Jews in 

Souvalki.11—Then, during the retreat of 1915, “the agitation which reigned in the midst of the 

army facilitated the spread of the calumnies made up by the Poles.”12 Pasmanik asserts that he 

is “in a position to prove that the first rumours about the treason of the Jews were propagated 

by the Poles”, a part of which “was actively assisting the Germans. Seeking to avert suspicion, 

they hastened to spread the rumour that the Jews were engaged in espionage.”13 In 

connection with this expulsion of the Jews, several sources emphasised the fact that 

Yanukhevich himself was a “Pole converted to Orthodoxy”.14

He may have undergone this influence, but we consider these explanations insufficient and in 

no way justifying the attitude of the Russian General Staff.

Of course, the Jews in the front area could not break their ties with the neighbouring villages, 

interrupt the “Jewish post”, and turn into the enemies of their co-religionists. Moreover, in the 

eyes of the Jews in the Pale of Settlement, the Germans appeared as a European nation of high 

culture, much different from the Russians and the Poles (the black shadow of Auschwitz had not 

yet covered the earth or crossed the Jewish conscience…). At that time, the Times 

correspondent, Steven Graham, reported that as soon as the smoke of a German ship appeared 

on the horizon, the Jewish population of Libava “forgot the Russian language” and began to 

speak German. If they had to leave, the Jews preferred to go to the German side.—The hostility 

displayed by the Russian army, and then their deportation, could only provoke their bitterness 
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and cause some of them to collaborate openly with the Germans.

In addition to the accusations against the Jews living in these areas, the Jews were accused of 

cowardice and desertion. Father Georges Chavelsky, chaplain of the Russian Army, was 

attached to the Staff, but often went to the front and was well informed of all that was going on 

there; he wrote in his memoirs: “From the first days of the war, it was repeated with insistence 

that the Jewish soldiers were cowards and deserters, and local Jews spies and traitors. There 

were many examples of Jews who had gone to the enemy or fled; or Jewish civilians who had 

given information to the enemy, or, in the course of their offensives, had delivered to them 

Russian soldiers and officers who had lingered on the spot, etc., etc. The more time passed, the 

more our situation deteriorated, the more the hatred and the exasperation against the Jews 

increased. rumours were spreading from the front to the rear… they created a climate that was 

becoming dangerous for all Jews in Russia.”15—Second Lieutenant M. Lemke, a Socialist who 

was then in Staff, recorded, in the newspaper he was secretly keeping, reports from the 

southwest Front, in December 1915; he noted in particular: “There is a disturbing increase in 

the number of Jewish and Polish defectors, not only in the advanced positions but also in the 

rear of the front.”16—In November 1915, one even heard during a meeting of the Progressive 

Bloc bureau the following remarks, noted by Milyukov: “Which people gave proof of its absence 

of patriotism?—The Jews.”17

In Germany and Austria-Hungary, the Jews could occupy high-level positions in the 

administration without having to abjure their religion, and this was also true in the army. While 

in Russia, a Jew could not become an officer if he did not convert to orthodoxy, and Jews with 

higher levels of education were most often completing their military service as simple soldiers. 

One can understand that they did not rush in to serve in such an army. (In spite of this, Jews 

were decorated with the cross of Saint-George.) Captain G. S. Doumbadze recalled a Jew, a law 

student, who received this decoration four times, but refused to enter the School of Officers in 

order not to have to convert, which would have caused his father to die of grief. Later he was 

executed by the Bolsheviks.18)

For all that, it would be unreliable and implausible to conclude that all these accusations were 

mere fabrications. Chavelsky writes: “The question is too vast and complex… but I cannot help 

saying that at that time there was no lack of motives for accusing the Jews… In times of peace, 

it was tolerated that they be assigned to civilian tasks; during the war… the Jews filled the 

combat units… During the offensives, they were often in the rear; when the army retreated, 

they were at the front. More than once they spread panic in their units… It cannot be denied 
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that the cases of espionage, of going over to the enemy were not rare… We couldn’t avoid 

finding suspicious that the Jews were also perfectly informed of what was happening on the 

front. The ‘Jewish telephone’ sometimes worked better and faster than all the countryside’s 

telephones… It was not uncommon for the news of the front to be known in the small hamlet of 

Baranovichi, situated near the General Staff, even before they reach the Supreme Commander 

and his Chief of Staff.”19 (Lemke points out the Jewish origins of Chavelsky himself.20)

A rabbi from Moscow went to the Staff to try to persuade Chavelsky that “the Jews are like the 

others: there are some courageous, there are some cowards; there are those who are loyal to 

their country, there are also the bastards, the traitors,” and he cited examples taken from other 

wars. “Although it was very painful for me, I had to tell him everything I knew about the 

conduct of Jews during this war,” “but we were not able to reach an agreement.”21

Here is yet the testimony of a contemporary. Abraham Zisman, an engineer, then assigned to 

the Evacuation Commission, recalled half a century later: “To my great shame, I must say that 

[the Jews who were near the front] behaved very despicably, giving the German army all the 

help they could.”22

There were also charges of a strictly economic nature against the Jews who supplied the 

Russian army. Lemke thus copied the order to the General Staff signed by the Emperor on the 

very day of his taking office as Supreme Commander (this order had therefore been prepared 

by Yanushkevich): Jewish suppliers abused the orders for bandages, horses, bread given to them 

by the army; they receive from the military authorities documents certifying “that they have 

been entrusted with the task of making purchases for the needs of the army… but without any 

indication of quantity or place.” Then “the Jews have certified copies of these documents made 

and distributed to their accomplices”, thus acquiring the possibility of making purchases all over 

the Empire. “Thanks to the solidarity between them and their considerable financial resources, 

they control vast areas where are bought mainly horses and bread,” which artificially raises 

prices and makes more difficult the work of the officials responsible of supplies.23

But all these facts cannot justify the conduct of Yanushkevich and the General Staff. Without 

making an effort to separate the good wheat from the chaff, the Russian High Command 

launched an operation, as massive as it was inept, for the expulsion of the Jews.
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Particularly striking was the attitude towards the Jews of Galicia who lived in Austro-Hungarian 

territory. “From the beginning of the First World War, tens of thousands of Jews fled from 

Galicia to Hungary, Bohemia, and Vienna. Those who remained suffered greatly during the 

period of the Russian occupation of this region.”24 “Bullying, beatings, and even pogroms, 

frequently organised by the Cossack units, became the daily lot of the Jews of Galicia.”25 This is 

what Father Chavelsky writes: “In Galicia, hatred towards the Jews was still fuelled by the 

vexations inflicted under the Austrian domination of the Russian populations [in fact, Ukrainian 

and Ruthenian] by the powerful Jews”26 (in other words, these same populations were now 

participating in Cossack arbitrariness).

“In the province of Kovno all the Jews were deported without exception: the sick, the wounded 

soldiers, the families of the soldiers who were at the front.”27 “Hostages were required under 

the pretext of preventing acts of espionage,” and facts of this kind “became commonplace.”28

This deportation of the Jews appears in a stronger light than in 1915—contrary to what would 

happen in 1941—there was no mass evacuation of urban populations. The army was 

withdrawing, the civilian population remained there, nobody was driven out—but the Jews and 

they alone were driven out, all without exception and in the shortest possible time: not to 

mention the moral wound that this represented for each one, this brought about the ruin, the 

loss of one’s house, one’s property. Was it not, in another form, always the same pogrom of 

great magnitude, but this time provoked by the authorities and not by the populace? How can 

we not understand the Jewish misfortune?

To this we must add that Yanushkevich, like the high-ranking officers who were under his 

command, acted without any logical reflection, in disorder, precipitation, incoherence, which 

could only add to the confusion. There exists no chronicle nor account of all these military 

decisions. Only echoes scattered in the press of the time, and also in “The Archives of the 

Russian Revolution” by I. V. Hessen, a series of documents29 collected at random, without 

follow-up; and then, as with Lemke, copies of documents made by individuals. This scattered 

data nevertheless allow us to form an opinion on what happened.

Some of the provisions foresee expelling Jews from the area of military operations “in the 

direction of the enemy” (which would mean: in the direction of the Austrians, across the front 
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line?), to send back to Galicia the Jews originating from there; other directives foresee 

deporting them to the rear of the front, sometimes at a short distance, sometimes on the left 

bank of the Dnieper, sometimes even “beyond the Volga”. Sometimes it is “cleansing the Jews 

of a zone of five versts from the front”, sometimes we speak of a zone of fifty versts. The 

evacuation timeframes are sometimes five days, with authorisation to take away one’s 

property, sometimes twenty-four hours, probably without this authorisation; as for the 

resisters, they will be taken under escort. Or even: no evacuation, but in the event of a retreat, 

take hostages among the significant Jews, especially the rabbis, in case Jews denounce either 

Russians or Poles who are well disposed in regard to Russia; in the event of execution of these 

by the Germans, carry out the execution of the hostages (but how can we know, verify that 

there were executions in German-occupied territory? It was truly an incredible system!). Other 

instruction: we do not take hostages, we just designate them among the Jewish population 

inhabiting our territories—they will bear responsibility for espionage in favour of the enemy 

committed by other Jews. Or even: avoid at all costs that the Jews be aware of the location of 

the trenches dug in the rear of the front (so that they cannot communicate it to the Austrians 

through their co-religionists,—it was known that Romanian Jews could easily cross the border); 

or even, on the contrary: oblige precisely civilian Jews to dig the trenches. Or even (order given 

by the commander of the military region of Kazan, General Sandetski, known for his despotic 

behaviour): assemble all the Jewish soldiers in marching battalions and send them to the front. 

Or, conversely: discontent provoked by the presence of Jews in the combat units; their military 

ineptitude.

There is a feeling that in their campaign against the Jews, Yanushkevich and the General Staff 

were losing their minds: what exactly did they want? During these particularly difficult weeks of 

fighting, when the Russian troops retreated, exhausted and short of ammunition, a flyer 

containing a “list of questions” was sent to the heads of units and instructed them to assemble 

information on “the moral, military, physical qualities of Jewish soldiers”, as well as their 

relations with local Jewish populations. And the possibility was considered of completely 

excluding Jews from the army after the war.

We also do not know the exact number of displaced persons. In The Book of the Jewish Russian 

World, we read that in April 1915, 40,000 Jews were expulsed from the province of Courland, 

and in May 120,000 of them were expelled from Kovno.30 In another place, the same book 

gives an overall figure for the whole period, amounting to 250,00031 including Jewish refugees, 

which means that the deportees would hardly have accounted for more than half of this digit. 

After the revolution, the newspaper Novoie Vremia published information according to which 

the evacuation of all the inhabitants of Galicia dispersed on the territory of Russia 25,000 

273



persons, including nearly a thousand Jews.32 (These are numbers that, for the moment, are too 

weak to be probable.)

On 10‒11 May 1915, the order was issued to put an end to the deportations, and these ceased. 

Jabotinsky drew the conclusion of the expulsion of the Jews from the zone of the front in 1915 

by speaking of a “catastrophe probably unprecedented since the reign of Ferdinand and 

Isabella” in Spain in the fifteenth century.33 But is there not also something of a move of 

History in the fact that this massive deportation—itself, and the indignant reactions it 

provoked—would make a concrete contribution to the much desired suppression of the Pale of 

Settlement?

Leonid Andreyev had rightly observed: “This famous ‘barbarity’ of which we are accused of… 

rests entirely and exclusively on our Jewish question and its bloody outbursts.”34

These deportations of Jews were resonant on a planetary scale. From Petersburg, during the 

war, Jews defending human rights transmitted information about the situation of their co-

religionists to Europe; “Among them, Alexander Isayevich Braudo distinguished himself by his 

tireless activity.”35 A. G. Shlyapnikov relates that Gorky had sent him documents on the 

persecution of Jews in Russia; he brought them to the United States. All this information spread 

widely and rapidly in Europe and America, raising a powerful wave of indignation.

And if the best among the representatives of the Jewish community and the Jewish 

intelligentsia feared that “the victory of Germany… would only reinforce anti-Semitism… and, 

for that reason alone, there could be no question of sympathies towards the Germans or hopes 

for their victory,”36 a Russian military intelligence officer in Denmark reported in December 

1915 that the success of anti-Russian propaganda “is also facilitated by Jews who openly 

declare that they do not wish the victory of Russia and its consequence: the autonomy 

promised to Poland, for they know that the latter would take energetic measures with a view to 

the expulsion of Jews from within its borders”37; In other words, it was Polish anti-Semitism 

that was to be feared, not German anti-Semitism: the fate which awaited the Jews in a Poland 

which had become independent would perhaps be even worse than that which they underwent 

in Russia.
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The British and French Governments were somewhat embarrassed to openly condemn the 

attitude of their ally. But at that time, the United States was increasingly engaged in the 

international arena. And in the still neutral America of 1915, “sympathies were divided…; some 

of the Jews who came from Germany were sympathetic to the latter, even though they did not 

manifest it in an active manner.”38 Their dispositions were maintained by the Jews from Russia 

and Galicia, who, as the Socialist Ziv testified, wished for (it could no longer be otherwise) the 

defeat of Russia, and even more so by the “professional revolutionists” Russian-Jews who had 

settled in the United States.39 To this was added the anti-Russian tendencies in the American 

public: very recently, in 1911, the dramatic break-up of an eighty-year-old US-Russian economic 

agreement took place. The Americans regarded the official Russia as a country that was 

“corrupt, reactionary, and ignorant”.40

This quickly translated into tangible effects. As early as August 1915, we read in the reports that 

Milyukov was holding meetings of the Progressive Bloc: “The Americans pose as a condition [of 

aid to Russia] the possibility for American Jews to have free access to Russian territory,”41—

always the same source of conflict as in 1911 with T. Roosevelt.—And when a Russian 

parliamentary delegation went to London and Paris in early 1916 to apply for financial aid, it 

was faced to a categorical refusal. The episode is told in detail by Shingaryov*, in the report he 

presented on 20 June 1916 to the Military and Maritime Commission of the Duma after the 

return of the delegation. In England, Lord Rothschild replied to this request: “You are affecting 

our credit in the United States.” In France, Baron Rothschild declared: “In America, the Jews are 

very numerous and active, they exert a great influence, in such a manner that the American 

public is very hostile to you.” (Then “Rothschild expressed himself even more brutally”, and 

Shingaryov demanded that his words not be included in the record.) This financial pressure from 

the Americans, the rapporteur concludes, is a continuation of a policy that has led them to 

break our trade agreement in 1911 (but, of course, to that was added the massive deportations 

of Jews undertaken in the meantime). Jakob Schiff, who had spoken so harshly of Russia in 

1905, now declared to a French parliamentarian sent to America: “We will give credit to 

England and France when we have the assurance that Russia will do something for the Jews; the 

money you borrow from us goes to Russia, and we do not want that.”42—Milyukov evoked the 

protests at the Duma tribune of “millions and millions of American Jews… who have met a very 

wide echo in American opinion. I have in my hands many American newspapers that prove it… 

Meetings ending with scenes of hysteria, crying jags at the evocation of the situation of the 

Jews in Russia. I have a copy of the provision made by President Wilson, establishing a ‘Jewish 

Day’ throughout the United States to collect aid for the victims.” And “when we ask for money 

to American bankers, they reply: Pardon, how is that? We agree to lend money to England and 

France, but on condition that Russia does not see the colour of it… The famous banker Jakob 

Schiff, who rules the financial world in New York, categorically refuses any idea of a loan to 
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Russia…”43

The Encyclopædia Judaica, written in English, confirms that Schiff, “using his influence to 

prevent other financial institutions lending to Russia…, pursued this policy throughout the First 

World War”44 and put pressure on other banks to do the same.

For all these upheavals provoked by the deportations, both in Russia and abroad, it was the 

Council of Ministers who had to pay for the broken pots even though the Staff did not consult it 

and gave no attention to its protests. I have already quoted a few snippets of the passionate 

debates that were agitating the Cabinet on this subject.45 Here are a few others. Krivoshein** 

was in favour of temporarily granting the Jews the right to settle in all the cities of Russia: “This 

favour granted to the Jews will be useful not only from a political point of view, but also from an 

economic point of view… Up to now, our policy in this field made one think of this sleeping 

miser on his gold, which does not benefit from it and does not allow others to do so.” But 

Roukhlov replied: this proposal “constitutes a fundamental and irreversible modification of 

legislation which has been introduced throughout History with the aim of protecting the Russian 

heritage from the control of the Jews, and the Russian people of the deleterious influence of 

the neighbouring of the Jews… You specify that this favour will be granted only for the duration 

of the war…, but we must not be in denial”: after the war, “not one government will be found” 

to “send the Jews back to the Pale of Settlement… The Russians are dying in the trenches and 

meanwhile the Jews will settle in the heart of Russia, benefit from the misfortunes endured by 

the people, of general ruin. What will be the reaction of the army and the Russian people?”—

And again, during the following meeting: “The Russian population endures unimaginable 

hardships and suffering, both on the front and in the interior of the country, while Jewish 

bankers buy from their co-religionists the right to use Russia’s misfortune to exploit tomorrow 

this exsanguinated people.”46

But the ministers acknowledged that there was no other way out. This measure was to be 

“applied with exceptional speed”—“in order to meet the financial needs of the war.”47 All of 

them, with the exception of Roukhlov, signed their name at the bottom of the bulletin 

authorising the Jews to settle freely (with the possibility of acquiring real estate) throughout the 

Empire, with the exception of the capitals, agricultural areas, provinces inhabited by the 

Cossacks and the Yalta region.48 In the autumn of 1915 was also repealed the system of the 

annual passport, which had hitherto been compulsory for the Jews who were now entitled to a 

permanent passport. (These measures were followed by a partial lifting of the numerus clausus 

in educational establishments and the authorisation to occupy the functions of litigator within 
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the limits of the representation quotas.49) The opposition that these decisions met in the public 

opinion was broken under the pressure of the war.

Thus, after a century and a quarter of existence, the Pale of Settlement of the Jews disappeared 

forever. And to add insult to injury, as Sliosberg notes, “this measure, so important in its 

content…, amounting to the abolition of the Pale of Settlement, this measure for which had 

fought in vain for decades the Russian Jews and the liberal circles of Russia, went unnoticed!”50 

Unnoticed because of the magnitude assumed by the war. Streams of refugees and immigrants 

were then overwhelming Russia.

The Refugee Committee, set up by the government, also provided displaced Jews with funds to 

help settlements.51 Until the February revolution, “the Conference on Refugees continued its 

work and allocated considerable sums to the various national committees,” including the Jewish 

Committee.52 It goes without saying that were added to this the funds contributed by many 

Jewish organisations that had embarked on this task with energy and efficiency. Among them 

was the Union of Jewish Craftsmen (UJC), created in 1880, well-established and already 

extending its action beyond the Pale of Settlement. The UJC had developed a cooperation with 

the World Relief Committee and the “Joint” (“Committee for the distribution of funds for aid to 

war-affected Jews”). All of them provided massive aid to the Jewish populations of Russia; “The 

‘Joint’ had rescued hundreds of thousands of Jews in Russia and Austria-Hungary.”53 In Poland, 

the UJC helped Jewish candidates for emigration or settled as farmers—because “during the 

war, Jews who lived in small villages had been driven, not without coercion by the German 

occupier, to the work of the land.”54 There was also the Jewish Prophylactic Society (JPS), 

founded in 1912; it had given itself for mission not only to direct medical aid to the Jews, but 

also the creation of sanatoriums, dispensaries, the development of sanitary hygiene in general, 

the prevention of diseases, “the struggle against the physical deterioration of Jewish 

populations” (Nowhere in Russia there existed yet organisations of this kind). Now, in 1915, 

these detachments were organising for Jewish emigrants, all along their route and at their place 

of destination, supply centres, flying medical teams, countryside hospitals, shelters and 

pædiatric consultations.55—Also in 1915, appeared the Jewish Association for the Assistance of 

War Victims (JAAWV); benefiting of support from the Committee for Refugees and the so 

generously endowed by the State “Zemgor” (association of the “Union of Zemstvos” and the 

“Union of Cities”), as well as credit from America, the JAAWV set up a vast network of 

missionaries to help the Jews during their journey and their new place of residence, with rolling 

kitchens, canteens, clothing distribution points, (employment agencies, vocational training 

centres), childcare establishments, schools. What an admirable organisation!—let us remember 

that approximately 250,000 refugees and displaced persons were taken care of; according to 
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official figures, the number of these was already reaching 215,000 in August 1916.56—and 

there was also the “Political Bureau” near the Jewish Deputies of the fourth Duma, which 

resulted from an agreement between the Jewish Popular Group, the Jewish People’s Party, the 

Jewish Democratic Group and the Zionists; during the war, it deployed “considerable 

activity”.57

In spite of all the difficulties, “the war gave a strong impulse to the spirit of initiative of the 

Jews, whipped their will to take charge.”58 During these years “the considerable forces hidden 

hitherto in the depths of the Jewish consciousness matured and revealed to the open… 

immense reserves of initiative in the most varied fields of political and social action.”59—In 

addition to the resources allocated by the mutual aid committees, the JAAWV benefited from 

the millions paid to it by the government. At no time did the Special Conference on Refugees 

“reject our suggestion” on the amount of aid: 25 million in a year and a half, which is infinitely 

more than what the Jews had collected (the government paid here the wrongs of the General 

Staff); as for the sums coming from the West, the Committee could retain them60 for future 

use.

It is thus that with all these movements of the Jewish population—refugees, displaced persons, 

but also a good number of volunteers—the war significantly altered the distribution of Jews in 

Russia; important settlements were established in towns far from the front, mainly Nizhny 

Novgorod, Voronezh, Penza, Samara, Saratov, but also in the capitals. Although the abolition of 

the Pale of Settlement did not concern Saint Petersburg and Moscow, these two cities were 

now practically open. Often, they would go there to join relatives or protectors who had settled 

there long ago. In the course of memoirs left by contemporaries, one discovers for example a 

dentist of Petersburg named Flakke: ten-room apartment, footman, servant, cook—well-off 

Jews were not uncommon, and, in the middle of the war, while there was a shortage of housing 

in Petrograd, they opened up opportunities for Jews from elsewhere. Many of them changed 

their place of residence during those years: families, groups of families that left no trace in 

history, except sometimes in family chronicles of a private nature, such as those of the parents 

of David Azbel: “Aunt Ida… left the coldness and somnolence of Chernigov at the beginning of 

the First World War to come and settle in Moscow.”61 The new arrivals were often of a very 

modest condition, but some of them came to influential positions, such as Poznanski, a clerk in 

the Petrograd Military Censorship Commission, who had the upper hand “over all secret 

affairs”.62

Meanwhile, the General Staff mechanically poured out its torrents of directives, sometimes 
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respected, sometimes neglected: to exclude Jews under the banner of all activities outside 

armed service: secretary, baker, nurse, telephonist, telegrapher. Thus, “in order to prevent the 

anti-government propaganda supposed to be carried out by Jewish doctors and nurses, they 

should be assigned not to hospitals or country infirmaries, but ‘to places not conducive to 

propaganda activities such as, for example, the advanced positions, the transport of the 

wounded on the battlefield’.”63 In another directive: expel the Jews out of the Union of 

Zemstvos, the Union of Cities and the Red Cross, where they concentrate in great numbers to 

escape armed service (as did also, we note in passage, tens of thousands of Russians), use their 

advantageous position for propaganda purposes (as did any liberal, radical, or socialist who 

respected themselves) and, above all, spread rumours about “the incompetence of the high 

command” (which corresponded to a large extent to reality64). Other bulletins warned against 

the danger of keeping the Jews in positions that brought them into contact with sensitive 

information: in the services of the Union of Zemstvos of the western front in April 1916, “all the 

important branches of the administration (including those under the defence secrecy) are in the 

hands of Jews”, and the names of those responsible for the registration and classification of 

confidential documents are cited, as well as that of the Director of the Department of Public 

Information, who, “by his functions, has free access to various services of the army at the rear 

of the front or in the regions”.65

However, there is no evidence that the ranting of the General Staff on the necessity of chasing 

the Jews from the Zemgor had any tangible results. Always well informed, Lemke observes that 

“the directives of the military authorities on the exclusion of the Jews” from the Zemgor “were 

not welcomed”. A bulletin was published stating that “all persons of Jewish confession who are 

dismissed by order of the authorities shall be reimbursed for two months with salary and travel 

allowances and with the possibility of being recruited prioritarily in the establishments of the 

Zemgor at the rear of the front.”66 (The Zemgor was the darling of the influential Russian press. 

It is thus that it unanimously declined to reveal its sources of financing: in 25 months of war, on 

1 September 1916, 464 million rubles granted by the government—equipment and supplies 

were delivered directly from state warehouses—compared with only nine million collected by 

Zemstvos, towns, collects.67 If the press refused to publish these figures, it is because it would 

have emptied of its meaning the opposition between the philanthropic and charitable action of 

the Zemgor and that of a stupid, insignificant, and lame government.)

Economic circumstances and geographical conditions meant that among the army’s suppliers, 

there were many Jews. A letter of complaint expressing the anger of the “Orthodox-Russian 

circles of Kiev…, driven by their duty as patriots”, points to Salomon Frankfurt, who occupied a 

particularly high position, that of “delegate of the Ministry of Agriculture to the supply of the 
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army in bacon” (it must be said that complaints about the disorganisation caused by these 

requisitions were heard all the way to the Duma). Also in Kiev, an obscure “agronomist of a 

Zemstvo of the region”, Zelman Kopel, was immortalised by History because of having ordered 

an excessive requisition just before Christmas 1916, he deprived of sugar a whole district during 

the holidays (In this case, a complaint was also lodged against the local administration of the 

Zemstvos68).

In November 1916, the deputy N. Markov, stigmatising in the Duma “the marauders of the rear 

and trappers” of State property and National Defence, designated, as usual, the Jews in 

particular: in Kiev, once again, it was Cheftel, a member of the Municipal Council, who blocked 

the warehouses and let rot more than 2,500 tons of flour, fish, and other products that the 

town kept in reserve, while at the same time, “the friends of these gentlemen sold their own 

fish at grossly inflated prices”; it was V. I. Demchenko, elected from Kiev to the Duma, who hid 

“masses of Jews, rich Jews” (and he enumerates them) “to make them escape military service”; 

it was also, in Saratov, “the engineer Levy” who supplied “through the intermediary of the 

commissioner Frenkel” goods to the Military-Industrial Committee at inflated prices.69 But it 

should be noted that the military-industrial committees set up by Guchkov* were behaving in 

exactly the same way with the Treasury. So…

In a report of the Petrograd Security Department dated October 1916, we can read: “In 

Petrograd, trade is exclusively in the hands of Jews who know perfectly the tastes, aspirations, 

and opinions of the man in the street”; but this report also refers to the widespread opinion on 

the right according to which, among the people, “the freedom enjoyed by Jews since the 

beginning of the war” arouses more and more discontent; “it is true, there still exists officially 

some Russian firms, but they are in fact controlled by Jews: it is impossible to buy or to order 

anything without the intervention of a Jew.”70 (Bolshevik publications, such as Kaiourov’s 

book71 at that time in Petrograd, did not fail to disguise reality by alleging that in May 1915, 

during the sacking of German firms and shops in Moscow, the crowd also attacked the Jewish 

establishments—which is false, and it was even the opposite that happened: during the anti-

German riot, the Jews, because of the resemblance of their surnames, protected themselves by 

hanging on the front of their shop the placard: “This shop is Jewish”—and they were not 

touched, and Jewish trade was not to suffer in all the years of war.)

However, at the top of the monarchy—in Rasputin’s morbid entourage—, a small group of 

rather shady individuals played an important role. They not only outraged the right-wing 

circles—it is how, in May 1916, the French ambassador to Petrograd, Maurice Paleologue, 
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noted in his diary: “A bunch of Jewish financiers and dirty speculators, Rubinstein, Manus, etc., 

have concluded an agreement with him [Rasputin] and compensate him handsomely for 

services rendered. On their instructions, he sends notes to ministers, to banks or to various 

influential personalities.”72

Indeed, if in the past it was Baron Ginzburg who intervened openly in favour of the Jews, this 

action was henceforth conducted secretly by the upstarts who had clustered around Rasputin. 

There was the banker D. L. Rubinstein (he was the director of a commercial bank in Petrograd, 

but confidently made his way to the entourage of the throne: he managed the fortunes of 

Grand Duke Andrei Vladimirovich, made the acquaintance of Rasputin through A. Vyrubova*, 

then was decorated with the order of Saint Vladimir, he was given the title of State Counsellor, 

and therefore of the “Your Excellency”.) But also the industrialist I. P. Manus (director of the 

Petrograd wagon factory, member of the Putilov factory board, the board of two banks and the 

Russian Transport Company, also a State Councillor).

Rubinstein attached to Rasputin a permanent “secretary”, Aron Simanovich, a rich jeweller, 

diamond dealer, illiterate but very skilful and enterprising (but what did Rasputin need of a 

“secretary”, he who possessed nothing?…)

This Simanovich (“the best among the Jew”, would have scribbled the “starets” on his portrait) 

published in immigration a little book boasting about the role he had played at that time. We 

find in it all sorts of gossip without interest, of fabrications (he speaks of the “hundreds of 

thousands of Jews executed and massacred by order of the Grand Duke Nikolai Nikolaevich”73); 

But, through this scum and those surges of boastfulness, one can glimpse real facts, quite 

concrete.

For example, the “dentists affair”—for most Jews—which had broken out in 1913: “a veritable 

dentist’s diploma factory had been elaborated” which flooded Moscow,74—their detention 

gave the right to permanent residence and dispensed of military service. There were about 300 

of them (according to Simanovich: 200). The false dentists were condemned to one year in 

prison, but, on the intervention of Rasputin, they were pardoned.

“During the war… the Jews sought protection from Rasputin against the police or the military 
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authorities,” and Simanovitch proudly confides that “many Jewish young men implored his help 

to escape the army,” which, in time of war, gave them the possibility of entering the University; 

“There was often no legal way”—but Simanovich claims that it was always possible to find a 

solution. Rasputin “had become the friend and benefactor of the Jews, and unreservedly 

supported my efforts to improve their condition.”75

By mentioning the circle of these new favourites, one cannot fail to mention the unparalleled 

adventurer Manassevich-Manoulov. He was, in turn, an official of the Ministry of the Interior 

and an agent of the Russian secret police in Paris, which did not prevent him from selling abroad 

secret documents from the Police Department; he had conducted secret negotiations with 

Gapon; when Stürmer* was appointed Prime Minister, he was entrusted with “exceptional 

‘secret missions’.”76

Rubinstein barged into public life by buying out the newspaper Novoie Vremia (see chapter 8), 

hitherto hostile to the Jews. (Irony of history: in 1876, Suvorin had bought this paper with the 

money of the banker of Warsaw Kroneberg, and at the beginning, well oriented towards the 

Jews, he opened its columns to them. But, at the beginning of the war between Russia and 

Turkey, Novoie Vremia suddenly changed course, “went to the side of the reaction,” and, “as far 

as the Jewish question was concerned, no longer put a stop to hatred and bad faith.”77) In 

1915, Prime Minister Goremykin** and the Minister of the Interior Khvostov, Junior*** in vain 

prevented Rubinstein’s buyback of the newspaper,78 he achieved his aims a little later,—but 

we were already too close to the revolution, all that did not serve much. (Another newspaper 

on the right, the Grajdanin was also partially bought by Manus).

S. Melgounov nicknamed the “quintet” the small group which treated his affairs in the 

“antechamber”79 of the tsar—through Rasputin. Given the power of the latter, it was no small 

matter: dubious characters were in the immediate vicinity of the throne and could exert a 

dangerous influence on the affairs of the whole of Russia. Britain’s ambassador, Buchanan, 

believed that Rubinstein was linked to the German intelligence services.80 This possibility 

cannot be ruled out.

The rapid penetration of German espionage into Russia, and its links with the speculators of the 

rear, forced General Alekseyev* to solicit from the emperor, during the summer of 1916, the 

authorisation to carry out investigations beyond the area of competence of the General Staff,—

and thus was constituted the “Commission of Inquiry of General Batiushin”. Its first target was 
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the banker Rubinstein, suspected of “speculative operations with German capital”, financial 

manipulation for the benefit of the enemy, depreciation of the ruble, overpayment of foreign 

agents for orders placed by the General Stewardship, and speculative operations on wheat in 

the region of the Volga. On the decision of the Minister of Justice, Rubinstein was arrested on 

10 July 1916 and charged with high treason.81

It was from the empress in person that Rubinstein received the strongest support. Two months 

after his arrest, she asked the Emperor “to send him discreetly to Siberia, not to keep him here, 

so as not to annoy the Jews”—“speak of Rubinstein” with Protopopov**. Two weeks later, 

Rasputin sent a telegram to the emperor saying that Protopopov “implores that no one come to 

disturb him”, including counter-espionage…; “he spoke to me of the detainee with gentleness, 

as a true Christian.”—Another three weeks later, the Empress: “About Rubinstein, he is dying. 

Send immediately a telegram [to the northwest Front]… for him to be transferred from Pskov 

under the authority of the Minister of the Interior”—that is, of that good and gentle Christian of 

Protopopov! And, the following day: “I hope you sent the telegram for Rubinstein, he’s dying.” 

And the next day: “Have you arranged for Rubinstein to be handed over to the Minister of the 

Interior? If he stays in Pskov, he will die,—please, my sweet friend!”82

On 6 December, Rubinstein was released—ten days before the assassination of Rasputin, who 

had just enough time to render him a last service. Immediately afterwards, the Minister 

Makarov***, whom the Empress detested, was dismissed. (Shortly thereafter, he will be 

executed by the Bolsheviks.)—It is true that with the liberation of Rubinstein, the investigation 

of his case was not finished; he was arrested again, but during the redeeming revolution of 

February, along with other prisoners who languished in the tsarist gaols, he was freed of the 

Petrograd prison by the crowd and left ungrateful Russia, as had the time to do so Manassevich, 

Manus, and Simanovich. (This Rubinstein, we will still have the opportunity to meet him again.)

For us who live in the 90s of the twentieth century,* this orgy of plundering of State property 

appears as an experimental model on a very small scale… But what we find in one case or 

another, it is a government both pretentious and lame that leaves Russia abandoned to its 

destiny.

*

Educated by the Rubinstein case, the General Staff had the accounts of several banks checked. 
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At the same time, an investigation was opened against the sugar producers of Kiev—Hepner, 

Tsekhanovski, Babushkin, and Dobry. They had obtained permission to export sugar to Persia; 

they had made massive shipments, but very little merchandise had been reported by the 

customs and had reached the Persian market; the rest of the sugar had “disappeared”, but, 

according to some information, it had passed through Turkey—allied to Germany—and had 

been sold on the spot. At the same time, the price of sugar had suddenly risen in the regions of 

the South-West, where Russia’s sugar industry was concentrated. The sugar deal was conducted 

in an atmosphere of rigour and intransigence, but the Batiushin commission did not carry out its 

investigation and forwarded the file to an investigative judge of Kiev, who began by expanding 

the accused, and then they found support alongside the throne.

As for the Batiushin Commission itself, its composition left much to be desired. Its 

ineffectiveness in investigating the Rubinstein case was highlighted by Senator Zavadski.83 In 

his memoirs, General Lukomski, a member of the Staff, recounts that one of the chief jurists of 

the commission, Colonel Rezanov, an indisputably competent man, was also found to be quite 

fond of menus, good restaurants, boozy dinners; another, Orlov, proved to be a renegade who 

worked in the secret police after 1917, then went to the Whites and, in emigration, would be 

marked by his provocative conduct. There were probably other shady figures on the committee 

who did not refuse bribes and had capitalised on the release of the detainees. Through a series 

of indiscriminate acts, the commission drew the attention of the Military Justice of Petrograd 

and senior officials of the Ministry of Justice.

However, there was not only the Staff to deal with the problem of speculators, in relation to the 

activities “of the Jews in general”. On 9 January 1916, Acting Director of the Police Department, 

Kafafov, signed a classified defence directive, which was addressed to all provincial and city 

governors and all gendarmerie commands. But the “intelligence service” of public opinion soon 

discovered the secret, and a month later, on 10 February, when all business ceased, Chkheidze* 

read out this document from the tribune of the Duma. And what could be read there was not 

only that “the Jews make revolutionary propaganda”, but that “in addition to their criminal 

activity of propaganda… they have set themselves two important objectives: to artificially raise 

the price of essential commodities and withdraw from circulation common currency”—they 

thus seek “to make the population lose confidence in the Russian currency”, to spread the 

rumour that “the Russian government is bankrupt, that there is not enough metal to make 

coins.” The purpose of all this, according to the bulletin, was “to obtain the abolition of the Pale 

of Settlement, because the Jews think that the present period is the most favourable to achieve 

their ends by maintaining the trouble in the country.” The Department did not accompany 

these considerations with any concrete measure: it was simply “for information”.84
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Here is the reaction of Milyukov: “The method of Rostopchin** is used with the Jews—they are 

presented to an overexcited crowd, saying: they are the guilty, they are yours, do what you 

want with them.”85

During the same days, the police encircled the Moscow Stock Exchange, carried out identity 

checks among the operators and discovered seventy Jews in an illegal situation; a roundup of 

the same type took place in Odessa. And this also penetrated the Duma Chamber, causing a real 

cataclysm—what the Council of Ministers feared so much a year ago was happening: “In the 

current period, we can not tolerate within the Duma a debate on the Jewish question, a debate 

which could take on a dangerous form and serve as a pretext for the aggravation of conflicts 

between nationalities.”86 But the debate really took place and lasted several months.

The most lively and passionate reaction to the bulletin of the Department was that of 

Shingaryov***—he had no equal to communicate to his listeners all the indignation which 

aroused in his heart: “there is not an ignominy, not a turpitude which the State has not been 

guilty towards the Jew, it which is a Christian state… spreading calumny over a whole people 

without any foundation… Russian society will be able to cure its evils only when you will 

withdraw that thorn, this evil that gangrenes the life of the country—the persecution of 

nationalities… Yes, we hurt for our government, we are ashamed of our State! The Russian army 

found itself without ammunition in Galicia—“and the Jews would be responsible for it?” “As for 

the rise in prices, there are many complex reasons for this… Why, in this case, does the bulletin 

mention only the Jews, why does it not speak of the Russians and even others?” Indeed, prices 

had soared all over Russia. And the same goes for the disappearance of coins. “And it is in a 

bulletin of the Department of Police that one can read all this!”87

Nothing to object.

Easy to write a bulletin in the back of an office, but very unpleasant to respond to a raging 

Parliament. Yet this was what its author, Kafafov, had to resolve. He defended himself: the 

bulletin did not contain any directive, it was not addressed to the population, but to local 

authorities, for information and not for action; it aroused passions only after being sold by 

“timorous” civil servants and made public from the rostrum. How strange, continued Kafafov: 

we are not talking here of other confidential bulletins which have also, probably, been leaked; 
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thus, as early as May 1915, he had himself initialled one of this order: “There is a rise in hatred 

towards Jews in certain categories of the population of the Empire”, and the Department 

“demands that the most energetic measures be taken in order to prevent any demonstration 

going in this direction”, any act of violence of the population directed against the Jews, “to take 

the most vigorous measures to stifle in the bud the propaganda that begins to develop in 

certain places, to prevent it from leading to outbreaks of pogroms.” And even, a month earlier, 

at the beginning of February, this directive sent to Poltava: reinforce surveillance so as to “be 

able to prevent in time any attempt to pogrom against the Jews.”88

And to complain: how is it that that bulletins such as these do not interest public opinion, that, 

those, they are allowed to pass in the utmost silence?

In his heated speech, Shingaryov immediately warned the Duma against the danger of 

“engaging in debates on the boundless ocean of the Jewish question.” But that was what 

happened because of the publicity reserved for this bulletin. Moreover, Shingaryov himself 

pushed clumsily in this direction, abandoning the ground for the defence of the Jews to declare 

that the real traitors were the Russians: Sukhomlinov*, Myasoedov, and General Grigoriev, who 

had shamefully capitulated at Kovno.89

This provoked a reaction. Markov** objected that he had no right to speak of Sukhomlinov, the 

latter being for the moment only accused. (The Progressive Bloc was successful in the 

Sukhomlinov affair, but at the end of the Provisional Government, it itself had to admit that 

time had been wasted, that there had been no treason there.) Myasoedov had already been 

convicted and executed (but some facts may suggest that it was also a fabricated affair); 

Markov limited himself to adding that “he had been hanged in the company of six Jewish spies” 

(what I did not know: Myasoedov had been judged alone) and that, here is one to six, that was 

the report.90

Among certain proposals contained in the programme that the Progressive Bloc had succeeded 

in putting together in August 1915, “the autonomy of Poland” seemed somewhat fantastical 

insofar as it was entirely in the hands of the Germans; “the equality of rights for peasants” did 

not have to be demanded of the government, because Stolypin had made it happen and it was 

precisely the Duma which did not endorse it, positing precisely as a condition the simultaneous 

equality of the Jews; so much so that “the gradual introduction of a process of reducing the 

limitations of rights imposed on Jews”—even though the evasiveness of this formulation was 
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obvious—nevertheless became the main proposal of the programme of the Bloc. The latter 

included Jewish deputies91 and the Yiddish press reported: “The Jewish community wishes the 

Progressive Bloc a good wind!”

And now, after two years of an exhausting war, heavy losses on the front and a feverish 

agitation in the rear, the extreme right waved its admonitions: “You have understood that you 

must explain yourself before the people over your silence about the military superiority of the 

Germans, your silence about the fight against the soaring prices, and your excessive zeal to 

want to grant equal rights to the Jews!” That is what you are demanding “of the government, at 

the present moment, in the midst of war,—and if it does not meet these demands you blow it 

off and recognise only one government, the one that will give equality to the Jews!” But “we 

are surely not going to give equality now, just now that everyone is white-hot against the Jews; 

in doing so, you only raise public opinion against these unfortunates.”92

Deputy Friedman refutes the claim that the people are at the height of exasperation: “In the 

tragic context of the oppression of the Jews, however, there is a glimmer of hope, and I do not 

want to ignore it: it is the attitude of the Russian populations of the interior provinces towards 

the Jewish refugees who arrive there.” These Jewish refugees “receive help and hospitality”. It 

is “the pledge of our future, our fusion with the Russian people.” But he insists that the 

responsibility for all the misfortunes of the Jews rests with the government, and he lays his 

accusations at the highest level: “There was never a pogrom when the government did not 

want it.” Through the members of the Duma, “I am addressing the 170 million inhabitants of 

Russia…: they want to use your hands to lift the knife on the Jewish people of Russia!”93

To this was replied: do the deputies of the Duma only know what is thought of in the country? 

“The country does not write in Jewish newspapers, the country suffers, works… it is bogged 

down in the trenches, it is there, the country, and not in the Jewish newspapers where work 

John Does obeying mysterious guidelines.” It was even said, “That the press is controlled by the 

government is an evil, but there is an even greater evil: that the press is controlled by the 

enemies of the Russian State!”94

As Shingaryov had sensed, the liberal majority of the Duma was, now, no longer interested in 

prolonging the debate on the Jewish question. But the process was on and nothing could stop it. 

And it was a never-ending series of speeches that came in the middle of the other cases to be 
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dealt with for four months until the end of the fall session.

The right accused the Progressive Bloc: no, the Duma was not going to tackle the problem of 

rising prices! “You are not going to fight with the banks, the unions, against strikes in the 

industry, because that would be tantamount to fighting against the Jews.” Meanwhile, the 

Reformist Municipality of Petrograd “gave the town supply to two Israelites, Levenson and 

Lesman: the first the meat supply, the second the food shops—although he had illegally sold 

flour to Finland. Other examples of suppliers artificially inflating prices are given.95 (None of the 

deputies took it upon himself to defend these speculators.)

After that, it is impossible that the question not come up for discussion, so current during these 

years of war, of the numerus clausus! As we have seen, it had been re-established after the 

revolution of 1905, but was gradually mitigated by the common practice of day school in high 

schools and the authorisation given to Jews who had completed their medical studies abroad to 

pass the State diploma in Russia; other measures were taken in this direction—but not the 

abrogation pure and simple—in 1915, when the Pale of Settlement was abolished. P. N. 

Ignatiev, Minister of Public Instruction in 1915‒1916, also reduced the numerus clausus in 

higher education institutions.

And in the spring of 1916, the walls of the Duma echoed the debate on this issue at length. The 

statistics of the Ministry of Education are examined, and Professor Levachev, deputy of Odessa, 

states that the provisions of the Council of Ministers (authorising the derogatory admission of 

children of Jews called up for military service) have been arbitrarily extended by the Ministry of 

Education to the children of Zemgor employees, evacuation agencies, hospitals, as well as 

persons declaring themselves [deceitfully] dependent on a parent called up for military service. 

Thus, of the 586 students admitted in 1915 in the first year of medicine at the University of 

Odessa, “391 are Jews”, that is to say two thirds, and that “only one third remain for the other 

nationalities.” At the University of Rostov-on-Don: 81% of Jewish students at the Faculty of Law, 

56% at the Faculty of Medicine, and 54% at the Faculty of Sciences.96

Gurevich replies to Levachev: this is proof that the numerus clausus is useless! “What is the use 

of the numerus clausus, when even this year, when the Jews benefited from a higher than 

normal arrangement, there was enough room to welcome all Christians who wanted to enter 

the university?” What do you want—empty classrooms? Little Germany has a large number of 
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Jewish teachers, yet it does not die of it!97

Markov’s objection: “Universities are empty [because Russian students are at war, and they 

send [to the universities] masses of Jews.” “Escaping military service,” the Jews “have 

overwhelmed the University of Petrograd and, thanks to that, will swell the ranks of the Russian 

intelligentsia… This phenomenon… is detrimental to the Russian people, even destructive,” 

because every people “is subject to the power of its intelligentsia.” “The Russians must protect 

their elites, their intelligentsia, their officials, their government; the latter must be Russian.”98

Six months later, in the autumn of 1916, Friedman harped on about this by asking the Duma the 

following question: “Thus it would be better for our universities to remain empty… it would be 

better for Russia to find itself without an intellectual elite rather than admit Jews in too great 

numbers?”99

On the one hand, Gurevitch was obviously right: why should the classrooms have been left 

empty? Let each one do what he has to do. But, in asking the question in these terms, did he 

not comfort the suspicions and bitterness of the right: therefore, we do not work together? One 

group to make war, the other to study?

(My father, for example—he interrupted his studies at Moscow University and joined the army 

as a volunteer. It seemed at the time that there was no alternative: to not go to the front would 

have been dishonourable. Who, among these young Russian volunteers, and even among the 

professors who remained in the universities, understood that the future of the country was not 

only played on the battlefields? No one understood it neither in Russia, nor in Europe.)

In the spring of 1916, the debate on the Jewish question was suspended on the grounds that it 

provoked undesirable agitation in public opinion. But the problem of nationalities was put back 

on the agenda by an amendment to the law on township Zemstvos. The creation of this new 

administrative structure was discussed during the winter of 1916‒17 during the last months of 

the existence of the Duma. And then one fine day, when the main speakers had gone for 

refreshments or had returned to their penates, and that there was little left for the sitting than 

half of the well-behaved deputies, a peasant of Viatka, named Tarassov, managed to sneak into 

the tribune. Timidly, he spoke, striving to make the members of the house understand the 

289



problem of the amendment: it provides that “everyone is admitted, and the Jews, that is, and 

the Germans, all those who will come to our township. And to those, what will be their rights? 

These people who are going to be registered [in our township]… but they are going to take 

places, and the peasants, no one takes care of them… If it is a Jew who runs the township 

administration and his wife who is secretary, then the peasants, them, what are their rights?… 

What is going to happen, where will the peasants be?… And when our valiant warriors return, 

what will they be entitled to? To stay in the back; but during the war, it was on the front line 

that they were, the peasants… Do not make amendments that contradict the practical reality of 

the peasant life, do not give the right to the Jews and the Germans to participate in the 

elections of the township zemstvos, for they are peoples who will bring nothing useful; on the 

contrary, they will greatly harm and there will be disorders across the country. We peasants, we 

are not going to submit to these nationalities.”100

But in the meantime, the campaign for equal rights for Jews was in full swing. It now enjoyed 

the support of organisations that had not previously been concerned with the issue, such as the 

Gvozdev Central Workers’ Group*, which represented the interests of the Russian proletariat. 

In the spring of 1916, the Workers’ Group claimed to be informed that “the reaction [implied: 

the government and administration of the Ministry of the Interior] is openly preparing a 

pogrom against the Jews throughout Russia”. And Kozma Gvozdev repeated this nonsense at 

the Congress of Military-Industrial Committees.—In March 1916, in a letter to Rodzianko**, the 

Workers’ Group protested against the suspension of the debate on the Jewish question in the 

Duma; And the same Group accused the Duma itself of complacency towards the anti-Semites: 

“The attitude of the majority at the meeting of 10 March is de facto to give its direct support 

and to reinforce the policy of anti-Jewish pogroms led by the power… By its support of the 

militant anti-Semitism of the ruling circles, the majority in the Duma is a serious blow to the 

work of national defence.”101 (They had not agreed, they had not realised that in the Duma it 

was precisely the left who needed to end the debate.)—The workers also benefited from the 

support of “Jewish groups” who, according to a report by the Security Department in October 

1916, “have overwhelmed the capital and, without belonging to any party, are pursuing a policy 

violently hostile to the power.”102

And the power in all this? Without direct evidence, it can be assumed that within the ministerial 

teams that succeeded each other in 1916, the decision to proclaim equal rights for the Jews was 

seriously considered. This had been mentioned more than once by Protopopov, who had 

already succeeded, it seems, in turning Nicholas II in this direction. (Protopopov also had an 

interest in going quickly to cut short the campaign that the left had set in motion against 

him.)—And General Globachev, who was the last to direct the Department of Security before 
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the revolution, writes in his memoirs, in the words of Dobrovolsky, who was also the last 

Minister of Justice of the monarchy: “The bill on equal rights for the Jews was already ready [in 

the months that preceded the revolution] and, in all likelihood, the law would have been 

promulgated for the 1917 Easter celebrations.”103

But in 1917, the Easter celebrations were to take place under a completely different system. 

The ardent aspirations of our radicals and liberals would then have come true.

“Everything for victory!”—Yes, but “not with that power!” Public opinion, both among the 

Russians and among the Jews, as well as the press, all were entirely directed towards Victory, 

were the first to claim it,—only, not with this government! Not with this tsar! All were still 

persuaded of the correctness of the simple and brilliant reasoning they had held at the 

beginning of the war: before it ends (because afterwards it would be more difficult) and by 

winning a victory over victory on the Germans, to throw down the tsar and change the political 

regime.

And that is when the equal rights for the Jews would come.

*

We have examined in many ways the circumstances in which took place one hundred and 

twenty years of common life between Russians and Jews within the same State. Among the 

difficulties, some have found a solution over time, others emerged and increased in the course 

of the years prior to the spring of 1917. But the evolving nature of the processes in motion 

visibly taking over and promised a constructive future.

And it was at that moment that a blast disintegrated the political and social system of Russia—

and thus the fruits of evolution, but also the military resistance to the enemy, paid for with so 

much blood, and finally the prospects for a future of fulfilment: it was the revolution of 

February.

291



Chapter 15

Alongside the Bolsheviks

This theme—the Jews alongside the Bolsheviks—is not new, far from it. How many pages 

already written on the subject! The one who wants to demonstrate that the revolution was 

“anything but Russian”, “foreign by nature”, invokes Jewish surnames and pseudonyms, thus 

claiming to exonerate the Russians from all responsibility in the revolution of seventeen. As for 

the Jewish authors, those who denied the Jews’ share in the revolution as well as those who 

have always recognised it, all agree that these Jews were not Jews by spirit, they were 

renegades.

We also agree on that. We must judge people for their spirit. Yes, they were renegades.

But the Russian leaders of the Bolshevik Party were also not Russians by the spirit; they were 

very anti-Russian, and certainly anti-Orthodox. With them, the great Russian culture, reduced to 

a doctrine and to political calculations, was distorted.

The question should be asked in another way, namely: how many scattered renegades should 

be brought together to form a homogeneous political current? What proportion of nationals? 

As far as the Russian renegades are concerned, the answer is known: alongside the Bolsheviks 

there were enormous numbers, an unforgivable number. But for the Jewish renegades, what 

was, by the enrolment and by the energy deployed, their share in the establishment of 

Bolshevik power?

Another question concerns the attitude of the nation towards its own renegades. However, the 

latter was contrasted, ranging from abomination to admiration, from mistrust to adherence. It 

has manifested itself in the very reactions of the popular masses, whether Russian, Jewish, or 

Lithuanian, in life itself much more than in the briefings of historians.

And finally: can nations deny their renegades? Is there any sense in this denial? Should a nation 
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remember or not remember them? Can it forget the monster they have begotten? To this 

question the answer is no doubt: it is necessary to remember. Every people must remember its 

own renegades, remember them as their own—to that, there is no escape.

And then, deep down, is there an example of renegade more striking than Lenin himself? 

However, Lenin was Russian, there is no point in denying it. Yes, he loathed, he detested 

everything that had to do with ancient Russia, all Russian history and a fortiori Orthodoxy. From 

Russian literature he had retained only Chernyshevsky and Saltykov-Shchedrin; Turgenev, with 

his liberal spirit, amused him, and Tolstoy the accuser, too. He never showed the least feeling of 

affection for anything, not even for the river, the Volga, on whose banks his childhood took 

place (and did he not instigate a lawsuit against his peasants for damage to his lands?). 

Moreover: it was he who pitilessly delivered the whole region to the appalling famine of 1921. 

Yes, all this is true. But it was we, the Russians, who created the climate in which Lenin grew up 

and filled him with hatred. It is in us that the Orthodox faith has lost its vigour, this faith in 

which he could have grown instead of declaring it a merciless war. How can one not see in him 

a renegade? And yet, he is Russian, and we Russians, we answer for him. His ethnic origins are 

sometimes invoked. Lenin was a mestizo issued from different races: his paternal grandfather, 

Nikolai Vasilyevich, was of Kalmyk and Chuvash blood, his grandmother, Anna Aleksievna 

Smirnova, was a Kalmyk, his other grandfather, Israel (Alexander of his name of baptism) 

Davidovitch Blank, was a Jew, his other grandmother, Anna Iohannovna (Ivanovna) Groschopf, 

was the daughter of a German and a Swede, Anna Beata Estedt. But that does not change the 

case. For nothing of this makes it possible to exclude him from the Russian people: we must 

recognise in him a Russian phenomenon on the one hand, for all the ethnic groups which gave 

him birth have been implicated in the history of the Russian Empire, and, on the other hand, a 

Russian phenomenon, the fruit of the country we have built, we Russians, and its social 

climate—even if he appears to us, because of his spirit always indifferent to Russia, or even 

completely anti-Russian, as a phenomenon completely foreign to us. We cannot, in spite of 

everything, disown him.

What about the Jewish renegades? As we have seen, during the year 1917, there was no 

particular attraction for the Bolsheviks that manifested among the Jews. But their activism has 

played its part in the revolutionary upheavals. At the last Congress of the Russian Social-

Democratic Labour Party (RSDLP) (London, 1907), which was, it is true, common with the 

Mensheviks, of 302‒305 delegates, 160 were Jews, more than half—it was promising. Then, 

after the April 1917 Conference, just after the announcement of the explosive April Theses of 

Lenin, among the nine members of the new Central Committee were G. Zinoviev, L. Kamenev, 

Ia. Sverdlov. At the VIth summer Congress of the RKP (b) (the Russian Communist Party of the 
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Bolsheviks, the new name of the RSDLP), eleven members were elected to the Central 

Committee, including Zinoviev, Sverdlov, Trotsky, Uritsky.1 Then, at the “historic meeting” in 

Karpovka Street, in the apartment of Himmer and Flaksermann, on 10 October 1917, when the 

decision to launch the Bolshevik coup was taken, among the twelve participants were Trotsky, 

Zinoviev, Kamenev, Sverdlov, Uritsky, Sokolnikov. It was there that was elected the first 

“Politburo” which was to have such a brilliant future, and among its seven members, always the 

same: Trotsky, Zinoviev, Kamenev, Sokolnikov. Which is already a lot. D. S. Pasmanik clearly 

states: “There is no doubt that the Jewish renegades outnumbered the normal percentage…; 

they occupied too great a place among the Bolshevik commissioners.”2

Of course, all this was happening in the governing spheres of Bolshevism and in no way 

foreshadowed a mass movement of Jews. Moreover, the Jewish members of the Politburo did 

not act as a constituted group. Thus Kamenev and Zinoviev were against a hasty coup. The only 

master of the work, the genius of October’s coup de force, was in fact Trotsky: he did not 

exaggerate his role in his Lessons of October. This cowardly Lenin, who, he, had been hiding 

out, made no substantial contribution to the putsch.

Basically, because of his internationalism and following his dispute with the Bund in 1903, Lenin 

adhered to the opinion that there was not and never would be such a thing as a “Jewish 

nationality”; that this was a reactionary action which disunited the revolutionary forces. (In 

agreement with him, Stalin held the Jews for a “paper nation”, and considered their assimilation 

inevitable.) Lenin therefore saw anti-Semitism as a manœuvre of capitalism, an easy weapon in 

the hands of counter-revolution, something that was not natural. He understood very well, 

however, what mobilising force the Jewish question represented in the ideological struggle in 

general. And to exploit, for the good of the revolution, the feeling of bitterness particularly 

prevalent among the Jews, Lenin was always ready to do so.

From the first days of the revolution, however, this appeal proved to be oh so necessary! Lenin 

clung to it. He, who had not foreseen everything on the plane of the state, had not yet 

perceived how much the cultivated layer of the Jewish nation, and even more so its semi-

cultivated layer, which, as a result of the war, was found scattered throughout the whole of 

Russia, was going to save the day throughout decisive months and years. To begin with, it was 

going to take the place of the Russian officials massively determined to boycott the Bolshevik 

power. This population was composed of border residents who had been driven out of their 

villages and who had not returned there after the end of the war. (For example, Jews expelled 

from Lithuania during the war had not all returned after the revolution: only the small rural 
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people had returned, while the “urban contingent” of the Jews of Lithuania and “the young had 

stayed to live in the big cities of Russia.”3)

And it was precisely “after the abolition of the Pale of Settlement in 1917 that the great exodus 

of Jews from its boundaries into the interior of the country ensued.”4 This exodus is no longer 

that of refugees or expellees, but indeed of new settlers. Information from a Soviet source for 

the year 1920 testifies: “In the city of Samara, in recent years, tens of thousands of Jewish 

refugees and expellees have established themselves”; in Irkutsk, “the Jewish population has 

increased, reaching fifteen thousand people; important Jewish settlements were formed in 

Central Russia as well as on the banks of the Volga and the Urals.” However, “the majority 

continue to live on subsidies from social welfare and other philanthropic organisations.” And 

here are the Izvestia calling for “the Party organisations, the Jewish sections and the 

departments of the National Commissariat to organise a vast campaign for the non-return to 

the ‘tombs of the ancestors’ and for the participation in the work of production in Soviet 

Russia.”5

But put yourself in the place of the Bolsheviks: they were only a small handful that had seized 

power, a power that was so fragile: in whom, great gods, could one have confidence? Who 

could be called to the rescue? Simon (Shimon) Dimantstein, a Bolshevik from the very beginning 

and who, since January 1918, was at the head of a European Committee specially created 

within the Commissariat of Nationalities, gives us the thought of Lenin on this subject: “the fact 

that a large part of the middle Jewish intelligentsia settled in Russian cities has rendered a 

proud service to the revolution. They defeated the vast sabotage enterprise we faced after the 

October Revolution, which was a great danger to us. They were numerous—not all, of course, 

far from it—to sabotage this sabotage, and it was they who, at that fateful hour, saved the 

revolution.” Lenin considered it “inappropriate to emphasise this episode in the press…”, but he 

remarked that “if we succeeded in seizing and restructuring the State apparatus, it was 

exclusively thanks to this pool of new civil servants—lucid, educated, and reasonably 

competent.”6

The Bolsheviks thus appealed to the Jews from the very first hours of their takeover, offering to 

some executive positions, to others tasks of execution within the Soviet State apparatus. And 

many, many, answered the call, and immediately entered. The new power was in desperate 

need of executors who were faithful in every way—and there were many of them among the 

young secularised Jews, who thus mingled with their colleagues, Slavs and others. These were 

not necessarily “renegades”: there were among them some without political party affiliations, 
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persons outside the revolution, who had hitherto remained indifferent to politics. For some, 

this approach was not ideological; it could be dictated only by personal interest. It was a mass 

phenomenon. And from that time the Jews no longer sought to settle in the forbidden 

countryside, they endeavoured to reach the capitals: “Thousands of Jews joined the Bolsheviks 

in crowds, seeing them as the most fierce defenders of the revolution and the most reliable 

internationalists… The Jews abounded in the lower levels of the Party apparatus.”7

“The Jew, who obviously could not have come from the nobility, the clergy, or the civil service, 

found himself among the ranks of the personalities of the future of the new clan.”8 In order to 

promote the Jews’ commitment to Bolshevism, “at the end of 1917, while the Bolsheviks were 

still sketching out their institutions, a Jewish department within the Commissariat of 

Nationalities began to function.”9 This department was, since 1918, transformed into a 

separate European Commissariat. And in March 1919, at the VIIIth Congress of the RKP (b), the 

Communist European Union of Soviet Russia was to be proclaimed as an integral but 

autonomous part of the RKP (b). (The intention was to integrate this Union into the Comintern 

and thereby permanently undermine the Bund). A special European section within the Russian 

Telegraph Agency was also created (ROSTA).

D. Schub justifies these initiatives by saying that “large contingents of the Jewish youth joined 

the Communist Party” following the pogroms in the territories occupied by the Whites10 (i.e. 

from 1919 onwards). But this explanation does not hold the road. For the massive entry of the 

Jews into the Soviet apparatus occurred towards the end of the year 1917 and during 1918. 

There is no doubt that the events of 1919 (see infra, chapter 16) strengthened the link between 

the Jewish elites and the Bolsheviks, but they in no way provoked it. Another author, a 

communist, explains “the particularly important role of the Jewish revolutionary in our labour 

movement” by the fact that we can observe with the Jewish workers, “highly developed, the 

traits of character required of any leading role,” traits which are still in draft form among the 

Russian workers: an exceptional energy, a sense of solidarity, a systematic mind.11

Few authors deny the role of organisers that was that of the Jews in Bolshevism. D. S. Pasmanik 

points out: “The appearance of Bolshevism is linked to the peculiarities of Russian history… But 

its excellent organisation, Bolshevism, is due in part to the action of the Jewish 

commissioners.”12 The active role of the Jews in Bolshevism did not escape the notice of 

observers, notably in America: “The Russian revolution rapidly moved from the destructive 

phase to the constructive phase, and this is clearly attributable to the edifying genius inherent 

to Jewish dissatisfaction.”13 In the midst of the euphoria of October, how many were not, the 
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Jews themselves admit it, with their heads held high, their action within Bolshevism!

Let us remember: just as, before the revolution, the revolutionaries and liberal radicals had 

been quick to exploit for political purposes—and not for charity—the restrictions imposed on 

Jews, likewise, in the months and years that followed October, the Bolsheviks, with the utmost 

complaisance, used the Jews within the State apparatus and the Party, too, not because of 

sympathy, but because they found their interest in the competence, intelligence and the 

particularism of the Jews towards the Russian population. On the spot they used Latvians, 

Hungarians, Chinese: these were not going to be sentimental…

The Jewish population in its mass showed a suspicious, even hostile attitude towards the 

Bolsheviks. But when, as a result of the revolution, it had acquired complete freedom which 

fostered a real expansion of Jewish activity in the political, social and cultural spheres—a well-

organised activity to boot—it did nothing to prevent the Bolshevik Jews from occupying the key 

positions, and these made an exceedingly cruel use of this new power fallen into their hands.

From the 40s of the twentieth century onwards, after Communist rule broke with international 

Judaism, Jews and communists became embarrassed and afraid, and they preferred to stay 

quiet and conceal the strong participation of Jews in the communist revolution, however the 

inclinations to remember and name the phenomenon were described by the Jews themselves 

as purely anti-Semitic intentions.

In the 1970s and 1980s, under the pressure of new revelations, the vision of the revolutionary 

years was adjusted. A considerable number of voices were heard publicly. Thus the poet Nahum 

Korzhavin wrote: “If we make the participation of the Jews in the revolution a taboo subject, we 

can no longer talk about the revolution at all. There was a time when the pride of this 

participation was even prized… The Jews took part in the revolution, and in abnormally high 

proportions.”14 M. Agursky wrote on his part: “The participation of the Jews in the revolution 

and the civil war has not been limited to a very active engagement in the State apparatus; it has 

been infinitely wider.”15 Similarly, the Israeli Socialist S. Tsyroulnikov asserts: “At the beginning 

of the revolution, the Jews… served as the foundation of the new regime.”16

But there are also many Jewish writers who, up to this day, either deny the Jews’ contribution 
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to Bolshevism, or even reject the idea rashly, or—this is the most frequent—consider it only 

reluctantly.

However the fact is proven: Jewish renegades have long been leaders in the Bolshevik Party, 

heading the Red Army (Trotsky), the VTsIK (Sverdlov), the two capitals (Zinoviev and Kamenev), 

the Comintern (Zinoviev), the Profintern (Dridzo-Lozovski) and the Komsomol (Oscar Ryvkin, 

and later Lazar Shatskin, who also headed the International Communist Youth).

“It is true that in the first Sovnarkom there was only one Jew, but that one was Trotsky, the 

number two, behind Lenin, whose authority surpassed that of all the others.”17 And from 

November 1917 to the summer of 1918, the real organ of government was not the Sovnarkom, 

but what was called the “Little Sovnarkom”: Lenin, Trotsky, Stalin, Kareline, Prochian. After 

October, the VTsIK Presidium was of equal importance to that of the Sovnarkom, and among its 

six members were Sverdlov, Kamenev, Volodarski, Svetlov-Nakhamkis.

M. Agursky rightly points out: for a country where it was not customary to see Jews in power, 

what a contrast! “A Jew in the presidency of the country… a Jew in the Ministry of War… There 

was there something to which the ethnic population of Russia could hardly accustom itself 

to.”18 Yes, what a contrast! Especially when one knows of what president, of what minister it 

was!

*

The first major action of the Bolsheviks was, by signing the peace separated from Brest-Litovsk, 

to cede to Germany an enormous portion of the Russian territory, in order to assert their power 

over the remaining part. The head of the signatory delegation was Ioffe; the head of foreign 

policy, Trotsky. His secretary and attorney, I. Zalkin, had occupied the cabinet of comrade 

Neratov at the ministry and purged the old apparatus to create a new organisation, the 

Commissariat for Foreign Affairs.

During the auditions held in 1919 in the American Senate and quoted above, the doctor A. 

Simons, who from 1907 to 1918 had been the dean of the Methodist Episcopal Church of 

Petrograd, made an interesting remark: “While they did not mince their words to criticise the 

Allies, Lenin, Trotsky, and their followers never expressed—at least I have never heard—the 
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slightest blame on Germany.” And at the same time, when I spoke with official representatives 

of the Soviet government, I discovered that they had a desire to preserve friendly relations with 

America as far as possible. This desire was interpreted by the allied chancelleries as an attempt 

to detach America from its partners. Moreover, if the Soviet regime collapsed, they expected 

our country [the United States] to serve as a refuge for the Bolshevik demons who could thus 

save their skin.”19

The calculation is plausible. Is it not even… certain? It may be supposed that Trotsky himself, 

strengthened by his recent experience in America, comforted his companions with this hope.

But where the calculation of the Bolshevik leaders was more ambitious and well-founded, it was 

when it dealt with the use of the great American financiers.

Trotsky himself was an incontestable internationalist, and one can believe him when he 

declares emphatically that he rejects for himself all belonging to Jewishness. But judging by the 

choices he made in his appointments, we see that the renegade Jews were closer to him than 

the renegade Russians. (His two closest assistants were Glazman and Sermuks, the head of his 

personal guard, Dreitser.20) Thus, when it became necessary to find an authoritative and 

ruthless substitute to occupy this post at the War Commissariat—judge the lack!—, Trotsky 

named without flinching Ephraim Sklyansky, a doctor who had nothing of a soldier or a 

commissar. And this Sklyansky, as vice-president of the Revolutionary Council of War, would 

add his signature above the one of the Supreme Commander, the General S. S. Kamenev!

Trotsky did not think for a moment of the impression that the appointment of a doctor or the 

extraordinary promotion of a Sklyansky would make on the non-commissioned members: he 

could not care less. And yet, it was he who once declared: “Russia has not reached the maturity 

necessary to tolerate a Jew at its head”; this famous sentence shows that the question 

concerned him all the same when it was formulated about him…

There was also this well-known scene: the inaugural session of the Constituent Assembly is 

opened on 5 January 1918 by the Dean of Deputies, S. P. Chevtsov, but Sverdlov, with utter 

imprudence, snatches the bell from him, chases him from the tribune, and resumes the 

meeting. This Constituent Assembly, so long awaited, so ardently desired, that sacred sun that 
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was about to pour happiness onto Russia—it only takes a few hours for Sverdlov and the sailor 

Jelezniakov to wring its neck!

The pan-Russian Commission for the election of the Constituent Assembly had previously been 

dissolved, and its organisation had been entrusted to a private person, the young Brodsky. As 

for the Assembly—so ardently desired—its management was handed to Uritsky, who was 

assisted by Drabkin, who was to set up a new chancellery. It was thus, by this kind of operation, 

that the new type of—Jewish—government was sketched. Other preliminary actions: eminent 

members of the Constituent Assembly, personalities known to the whole of Russia, such as the 

Countess Panina, an immense benefactress, were arrested by an obscure personage, a certain 

Gordon. (According to the newspaper Den [The Day], Gordon was the author of some wicked 

patriotic articles that appeared in Petrogradski Kourier [The Courier of Petrograd], then went on 

to trade in cabbage and chemical fertilisers—before finally becoming Bolshevik.21)

Another thing not to be forgotten: the new masters of the country did not neglect their 

personal interest. In other words: they plundered honest people. “Stolen money is usually 

converted into diamonds… In Moscow, Sklyansky is said to be ‘the first diamond buyer’”; he was 

caught in Lithuania, during the baggage verification of Zinoviev’s wife, Zlata Bernstein-Lilina—

“jewelery was found, worth several tens of millions of rubles.”22 (And to say that we believed 

in the legend that the first revolutionary leaders were disinterested idealists!) In the Cheka, a 

trustworthy witness tells us, himself having passed in its clutches in 1920, the chiefs of the 

prisons were usually Poles or Latvians, while “the section in charge of the fight against 

traffickers, the least dangerous and the most lucrative, was in the hands of Jews.”23

Other than the positions at the front of the stage, there existed in the structure of Lenin’s 

power, as in any other conspiracy, silent and invisible figures destined to never write their 

names in any chronicle: from Ganetski, that adventurer Lenin liked, up to all the disturbing 

figures gravitating in the orbit of Parvus. (This Evgeniya Sumenson, for example, who surfaced 

for a short time during the summer of 1917, who was even arrested for financial manipulation 

with Germany and who remained in liaison with the Bolshevik leaders, although she never 

appeared on the lists of leaders of the apparatus) After the “days of July”, Russkaya Volio 

published raw documents on the clandestine activity of Parvus and his closest collaborator, 

Zurabov, who “occupies today, in the social democratic circles of Petrograd, a well-placed 

position”; “were also found in Petrograd Misters Binstock, Levin, Perazich and a few others.”24
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Or also: Samuel Zaks, the brother-in-law of Zinoviev (his sister’s husband), the boss of the 

subsidiary of the Parvus pharmacy in Petrograd and the son of a wealthy maker of the city, who 

had given the Bolsheviks, in 1917, a whole printing house. Or, belonging to the Parvus team 

itself, Samuel Pikker (Alexander Martynov25, whom had formerly polemicised Lenin on 

theoretical questions—but now the time had come to serve the Party and Martynov had gone 

into hiding).

Let us mention some other striking figures. The most illustrious (for massacres in Crimea) 

Rosalia Zalkind-Zemlyachka, a real fury of terror: she was in 1917‒1920, long before 

Kaganovich, secretary of the Committee of the Bolsheviks of Moscow along with V. Zagorsky, I. 

Zelensky, I. Piatnitsky.26 When one knows that the Jews constituted more than a third of the 

population of Odessa, it is not surprising to learn that “in the revolutionary institutions of 

Odessa there were a great number of Jews”. The President of the Revolutionary War Council, 

and later of the Sovnarkom of Odessa, was V. Yudovsky; the chairman of the Provincial Party 

Committee, the Gamarnik.27 The latter would soon rise in Kiev to be the chairman of the 

provincial committees—Revolutionary Committee, Party Executive Committee, then Chairman 

of the Regional Committees, and finally Secretary of the Central Committee of Belarus, member 

of the Military Region Revolutionary War Council of Belarus.28 And what about the rising star, 

Lazar Kaganovich, the president of the Provincial Committee Party of Nizhny Novgorod in 1918? 

In August‒September, the reports of mass terror operations in the province all begin with the 

words: “In the presence of Kaganovich”, “Kaganovitch being present”29—and with what 

vigilance!… There is a photo, which was inadvertently published and which bears this caption: 

“Photograph of the Presidium of one of the meetings of the Leningrad Committee, that is to say 

of the Petrograd Soviet after the October Revolution. The absolute majority at the presidium 

table is constituted of Jews.”30

Reviewing all the names of those who have held important positions, and often even key 

positions, is beyond the reach of anyone. We will cite for illustrative purposes a few names, 

trying to attach them with a few details.—Here is Arkady Rosengoltz among the actors of the 

October coup in Moscow; he was afterwards a member of the Revolutionary War Councils of 

several army corps, then of the Republic; he was Trotsky’s “closest assistant”; he then occupied 

a number of important posts: the Commissariat of Finance, the Workers’ and Peasants’ 

Inspectorate (an organ of inquisition), and finally the Commissariat for Foreign Trade for seven 

years.—Semyon Nakhimson, who, on the eve of October, was commissioner of the notorious 

Latvian skirmishers, was the fierce commissioner of the military region of Yaroslav (he was 

killed during an insurrection in the city).—Samuel Zwilling, who, after his victory over the 

Orenburg ataman, Dutov, took the head of the Orenburg District Executive Committee (he was 
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killed shortly thereafter).—Zorakh Grindberg, Commissioner for Instruction and Fine Arts of the 

Northern Commune, who took a stand against the teaching of Hebrew, the “right arm” of 

Lunacharsky.—Here is Yevgeniya Kogan, wife of Kuybyshev: she was already in 1917 secretary 

of the Party Committee of the region of Samara; in 1918‒19 she became a member of the Volga 

Military Revolutionary Tribunal; in 1920 she met at the Tashkent City Committee, then in 1921 

in Moscow, where she became Secretary of the City Committee and then Secretary of the 

National Committee in the 1930s.—And here is the secretary of Kuybyshev, Semyon Zhukovsky: 

he goes from political sections to political sections of the armies; he is sometimes found in the 

Propaganda Department of the Central Committee of Turkestan, sometimes the political leader 

of the Baltic Fleet (for the Bolsheviks, everything is at hand…), and, finally, at the Central 

Committee.— Or there are the Bielienki brothers: Abram, at the head of the personal guard of 

Lenin during the last five years of his life; Grigori, who moved from the Krasnaya Presnia District 

Committee to the position of head of the agitprop at the Comintern; finally, he is found at the 

Higher Council of the National Economy, the Workers’ and Peasants’ Inspectorate (RKI), at the 

Commissariat of Finances.—Dimanstein, after passing through the European Commission and 

the European Section, is at the Central Committee of Lithuania–Belarus, at the Commissariat of 

Instruction of Turkestan, then Head of the Political Propaganda of Ukraine.—Or Samuel Filler, 

an apothecary apprentice from the province of Kherson, who hoisted himself up to the 

presidium of the Cheka of Moscow and then of the RKI.—Anatoly (Isaac) Koltun (“deserted and 

emigrated immediately after”, then returned in 1917): he is found both as a senior officer in the 

Central Control Commission of the VKP (b) and in charge of the Party of Kazakhstan, then in 

Yaroslavl, in Ivanovo, then back to the Control Commission, and then to the Moscow Court—

and suddenly he is in Scientific Research!31 The role of the Jews is particularly visible in the 

RSFSR organs responsible for what constitutes the crucial problem of those years, the years of 

war communism: supplies. Let’s just look at the key positions.—Moisei Frumkin: from 1918 to 

1922, member of the college of the Commissariat of Supply of the RSFSR, and from 1921—in 

full famine—Deputy Commissioner: he is also Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Food 

Fund (Glavprodukt) and has as his assistant I. Rafailov.—Iakov Brandenbourgski–Goldzinski, 

returning from Paris in 1917 and immediately becoming a member of the Petrograd Supply 

Committee and from 1918 onwards a member of the Commissariat; during the civil war, with 

extraordinary powers in the VTsIK for requisition operations in several provinces.—Isaak 

Zelensky: in 1918‒20 in the supply section of the Moscow Soviet, then member of the college 

of the RSFSR Supply Commissariat; Later in the Secretariat of the Central Committee and 

Secretary for Central Asia.—Semyon Voskov (arrived from America in 1917, actor of the 

October coup in Petrograd): in 1918, commissioner of supply for the immense region of the 

North.—Miron Vladimirov–Cheinfinkel: since October 1917 as head of the supply service for the 

city of Petrograd, then member of the college of the Supply Commission of the RSFSR; in 1921: 

commissioner for the Supply for Ukraine, then for Agriculture. —Grigori Zusmanovich, 

commissioner in 1918 at the Supply of the Army in Ukraine.—Moisei Kalmanovitch: late 1917, 

commissioner of the Supply of the Western Front; In 1919‒1920, commissioner of the supply of 
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the Byelorussian SSR, then of the Lithuania–Belarus SSR, and chairman of a special commission 

for the supply of the Western Front (at the summit of his career: president of the 

Administration Council of the Central Bank of the USSR).32

Recently published documents inform us of the way in which the great peasant revolt of 1921 in 

Western Siberia broke out, the insurrection of Ichim. After the fierce requisitions of 1920, when 

the region had, on 1 January 1921, fulfilled the required requisition plan by 102%, the Supply 

Commissioner of the Tyumen Province, Indenbaum, instituted an additional week to “finalise” 

it, the 1st to 7th January, i.e. the week before Christmas*. The commissioner of requisitions at 

Ichim received, as did the others, the official direction: “Requisitions must be carried out 

without taking into account the consequences, confiscating, if necessary, all the grain in the 

villages (emphasised by me—A. S.) and leaving the producer only a ration of famine.” In a 

telegram signed by his hand, Indenbaum demanded “the most merciless repression and 

systematic confiscation of the wheat that might still be there.” In order to form the brigades of 

requisition, were recruited, not with the consent of Ingenbaum, thugs, and sub-proletarians 

who had no scruples in bludgeoning the peasants. The Latvian Matvei Lauris, a member of the 

Provincial Commissariat of Supply, used his power for his personal enrichment and pleasure: 

having taken up his quarters in a village, he had thirty-one women brought in for himself and his 

squad. At the Xth Congress of the RKP (b), the delegation of Tyumen reported that “the 

peasants who refused to give their wheat were placed in pits, watered, and died frozen.”33

The existence of some individuals was only learned a few years later thanks to obituaries 

published in the Izvestia. Thus: “comrade Isaac Samoylovich Kizelstein died of tuberculosis”; he 

had been an agent of the Cheka College, then a member of the Revolutionary War Council of 

the 5th and 14th Armies, “always devoted to the Party and to the working class”.34 And oh how 

many of these “obscure workers” of all nationalities were found among the stranglers of Russia!

Bolshevik Jews often had, in addition to their surname as underground revolutionaries, 

pseudonyms, or modified surnames. Example: in an obituary of 1928, the death of a Bolshevik 

of the first hour, Lev Mikhailovich Mikhailov, who was known to the Party as Politikus, in other 

words by a nickname; his real name, Elinson, he carried it to the grave.35 What prompted an 

Aron Rupelevich to take the Ukrainian surname of Taratut? Was Aronovitch Tarchis ashamed of 

his name or did he want to gain more weight by taking the name of Piatnitsky? And what about 

the Gontcharovs, Vassilenko, and others…? Were they considered in their own families as 

traitors or simply as cowards?
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Observations made on the spot have remained. I. F. Najivin records the impressions he received 

at the very beginning of Soviet power: in the Kremlin, in the administration of the Sovnarkom, 

“reigns disorder and chaos. We see only Latvians and even more Latvians, Jews and even more 

Jews. I have never been an anti-Semite, but there were so many it could not escape your 

attention, and each one was younger than the last.”36

Korolenko himself, as liberal and extremely tolerant as he was, he who was deeply sympathetic 

to the Jews who had been victims of the pogroms, noted in his Notebooks in the spring of 1919: 

“Among the Bolsheviks there are a great number of Jews, men and women. Their lack of tact, 

their assurance are striking and irritating,” “Bolshevism has already exhausted itself in Ukraine, 

the ‘Commune’ encounters only hatred on its way. One sees constantly emerge among the 

Bolsheviks—and especially the Cheka—Jewish physiognomies, and this exacerbates the 

traditional feelings, still very virulent, of Judæophobia.”37

From the early years of Soviet rule, the Jews were not only superior in number in the upper 

echelons of the Party, but also, more remarkably and more sensitively for the population, to 

local administrations, provinces and townships, to inferior spheres, where the anonymous mass 

of the Streitbrecher had come to the rescue of the new and still fragile power which had 

consolidated it, saved it. The author of the Book of the Jews of Russia writes: “One cannot fail 

to evoke the action of the many Jewish Bolsheviks who worked in the localities as subordinate 

agents of the dictatorship and who caused innumerable ills to the population of the country”—

and he adds: “including the Jewish population.”38

The omnipresence of the Jews alongside the Bolsheviks had, during these terrible days and 

months, the most atrocious consequences. Among them is the assassination of the Imperial 

family, of which, today, everybody speaks, and where the Russians now exaggerate the share of 

the Jews, who find in this heart-wrenching thought an evil enjoyment. As it should, the most 

dynamic Jews (and they are many) were at the height of events and often at the command 

posts. Thus, for the assassination of the Tsar’s family: the guards (the assassins) were Latvians, 

Russians, and Magyars, but two characters played a decisive role: Philip Goloshchekin and 

Yakov Yurovsky (who had received baptism).

The final decision belonged to Lenin. If he dared to decide in favour of the assassination (when 
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his power was still fragile), it was because he had foreseen both the total indifference of the 

Allies (the King of England, cousin of the tsar, had he not already, in the spring of 1918, refused 

asylum to Nicholas II?) And the fatal weakness of the conservative strata of the Russian people.

Goloshchekin, who had been exiled to Tobolsk in 1912 for four years, and who in 1917 was in 

the Urals, was in perfect agreement with Sverdlov: their telephone conversations between 

Yekaterinburg and Moscow revealed that 1918 they were on first-name basis. As early as 1912 

(following the example of Sverdlov), Goloshchekin was a member of the Central Committee of 

the Bolshevik Party. After the coup of October, he became secretary of the Provincial 

Committee of Perm and Yekaterinburg, and later of the Ural Region Committee, in other words 

he had become the absolute master of the region.39

The project of assassination of the imperial family was ripening in the brains of Lenin and his 

acolytes—while, on their side, the two patrons of the Urals, Goloshchekin and Bieloborodov 

(president of the Ural Soviet), simmered their own machinations. It is now known that at the 

beginning of July 1918 Goloshchekin went to Moscow in order to convince Lenin that letting the 

tsar and his family “flee” was a bad solution, that they had to be openly executed, and then 

announce the matter publicly. Convincing Lenin that the tsar and his family should be 

suppressed was not necessary, he himself did not doubt it for a moment. What he feared was 

the reaction of the Russian people and the West. There were, however, already indications that 

the thing would pass without making waves. (The decision would also depend, of course, on 

Trotsky, Kamenev, Zinoviev, Bukharin—but they were for the time absent from Moscow, and 

their mentality, with the possible exception, possibly, of that of Kamenev, allowed to suppose 

none of them would have anything to say about it. Trotsky, as we know, approved of this 

without feeling any emotion. In his diary of 1935, he says that on his arrival in Moscow he had a 

conversation with Sverdlov. “I asked incidentally: ‘By the way, where is the tsar?’—‘It’s done, he 

replied. Executed.’—‘and the family?’—‘the family as well, with him.’—‘all of them?’ I asked 

with a touch of astonishment. ‘All of them! replied Sverdlov… so what?’ He was waiting for a 

reaction from me. I did not answer anything. ‘And who decided it?’ I asked.—‘All of us, here’—I 

did not ask any more questions, I forgot about it… Basically, this decision was more than 

reasonable, it was necessary—not merely in order to frighten, to scare the enemy, to make him 

lose all hope, but in order to electrify our own ranks, to make us understand that there was no 

turning back, that we had before us only an undivided victory or certain death.”40

M. Heifets sought out who was able to attend this last council chaired by Lenin; without a 

doubt: Sverdlov, Dzerzhinsky; probably: Petrovsky and Vladimirski (of the Cheka), Stutchka (of 
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the Commissariat for Justice); Perhaps: V. Schmidt. Such was the tribunal that condemned the 

tsar. As for Goloshchekin, he had returned to Yekaterinburg on 12 July, awaiting the last signal 

sent from Moscow. It was Sverdlov who transmitted Lenin’s last instruction. And Yakov 

Yurovsky, a watchmaker, the son of a criminal who had been deported to Siberia—where was 

born the offspring—had been placed in July 1918 at the head of the Ipatiev house. This 

Yurovsky was manœuvring the operation and reflecting on the concrete means of carrying it out 

(with the help of Magyars and Russians, including Pavel Medvedev, Piotr Ermakov), as well as 

the best way of making the bodies disappear.41 (Let us point out here the assistance provided 

by P. L. Voïkov, the regional supply commissioner, who supplied barrels of gasoline and 

sulphuric acid to destroy the corpses.) How the deadly salvos succeeded each other in the 

basement of the Ipatiev house, which of these shots were mortal, who were the shooters, 

nobody later could specify, not even the executants. Afterwards, “Yurovsky boasted of being 

the best: ‘It was the bullet from my colt that killed Nicholas’.” But this honour also fell to 

Ermakov and his “comrade Mauser”.42

Goloshchekin did not seek glory, and it is this idiot of Bieloborodov who beat him. In the 1920s, 

everyone knew it was him, the tsar’s number one killer. In 1936, during a tour in Rostov-on-

Don, during a Party Conference, he still boasted of it from the rostrum—just a year before being 

himself executed. In 1941 it was Goloshchekin’s turn to be executed. As for Yurovsky, after the 

assassination of the tsar, he joined Moscow, “worked” there for a year alongside Dzerzhinsky 

(thus shedding blood) and died of natural death.43

In fact, the question of the ethnic origin of the actors has constantly cast a shadow over the 

revolution as a whole and on each of its events. All the participations and complicities, since the 

assassination of Stolypin, necessarily collided with the feelings of the Russians. Yes, but what 

about the assassination of the tsar’s brother, Grand Duke Mikhail Alexandrovich? Who were his 

assassins? Andrei Markov, Gavril Myasnikov, Nikolai Zhukov, Ivan Kolpaschikov—clearly, all of 

them Russians.

Here, everyone must—oh how much!—ask themselves the question: have I enlightened my 

people with a little ray of good, or have I obscured it with all the darkness of evil?

So that is that when it comes to the executioners of the revolution. And what about the 

victims? Hostages and prisoners by entire batches— shot, drowned on crowded barges: the 

officers—Russians; the nobles—mostly Russians; the priests— Russians; members of the 
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Zemstvos—Russians; and the peasants fleeing enlistment in the Red Army, taken up in the 

forests—all Russians. And this Russian intelligentsia of high moral, anti-anti-Semitic—for it also, 

it was bad deaths and bloody basements. If names and lists of all those who had been shot and 

drowned in the first years of Soviet power could be found today, from September 1918 

onwards, if statistics were available, it would be surprising to find that the revolution in no way 

manifested its international character, but indeed its anti-Slavic character (in accordance, 

moreover, with the dreams of Marx and Engels).

And it is this that has imprinted this deep and cruel mark on the face of the revolution, which 

defines it best: who has it exterminated, carrying away its dead forever, without return, far 

from this sordid revolution and this unfortunate country, the body of this poor, misguided 

people?

*

During all those months, Lenin was very much occupied with the climate of tension that had 

arisen around the Jewish question. As early as April 1918, the Council of the People’s 

Commissars of Moscow and the Moscow region published in the Izvestia44 (thus for a wider 

audience than the region of Moscow alone) a circular addressed to the Soviets “on the question 

of the anti-Semitic propaganda of the pogroms”, which evoked “events having occurred in the 

region of Moscow that recalled anti-Jewish pogroms” (no city was named); it stressed the need 

to organise “special sessions among the Soviets on the Jewish question and the fight against 

anti-Semitism”, as well as “meetings and conferences”, in short, a whole propaganda campaign. 

But who, by the way, was the number one culprit, who had to have his bones broken? But the 

Orthodox priests, of course! The first point prescribed: “Pay the utmost attention to the anti-

Semitic propaganda carried out by the clergy; take the most radical measures to stop the 

counter-revolution and the propaganda of the priests” (we do not ask ourselves at this moment 

what measures these were… but, in reality, who knows them better than we do?). Then point 

number two recommended “to recognise the necessity to not create a separate Jewish fighting 

organisation” (at the time a Jewish guard was being considered). The point number four 

entrusted the Office of Jewish Affairs and the War Commissariat with the task of taking 

“preventive measures to combat anti-Jewish pogroms”.

At the height of the same year 1918, Lenin recorded on gramophone a “special discourse on 

anti-Semitism and the Jews”. He there denounced “the cursed tsarist autocracy which had 

always launched uneducated workers and peasants against the Jews. The tsarist police, assisted 
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by landowners and capitalists, perpetrated anti-Jewish pogroms. Hostility towards the Jews is 

perennial only where the capitalist cabal has definitely obscured the minds of the workers and 

the peasants… There are among the Jews workmen, men of labour, they are the majority. They 

are our brothers, oppressed as we are by capitalism, they are our comrades who struggle with 

us for socialism… Shame on the cursed tsarism!… Shame on those who sow hostility towards 

the Jews!”—“Recordings of this speech were carried all the way to the front, transported 

through towns and villages aboard special propaganda trains which criss-crossed the country. 

Gramophones spread this discourse in clubs, meetings, assemblies. Soldiers, workers and 

peasants listened to their leader’s harangue and began to understand what this was all 

about.”45 But this speech, at the time, was not published (… by intentional omission?); it only 

was so in 1926 (in the book of Agursky senior).

On 27 July 1918 (just after the execution of the imperial family), the Sovnarkom promulgated a 

special law on anti-Semitism: “The Soviet of the People’s Commissars declares that any anti-

Semitic movement is a danger to the cause of the Revolution of the workers and peasants.” In 

conclusion (from Lenin’s own hand, Lunacharsky tells us): “The Sovnarkom directed all Soviet 

deputations to take radical measures to eradicate anti-Semitism. The inciters of pogroms, those 

who propagate them, will be declared outlaws.” Signed: VI. Ulyanov (Lenin).46

If the meaning of the word “outlaw” may have escaped some at the time, in the months of the 

Red Terror it would appear clearly, ten years later, in a sentence of a communist militant—

Larine—who was himself, for a while, the commissar of the people and even the promoter of 

“war communism”: “to ‘outlaw’ the active anti-Semites was to shoot them.”47

And then there is Lenin’s famous reply to Dimanstein in 1919. Dimanstein “wished to obtain 

from Lenin that be retained the distribution of Gorky’s tract containing such praises to the 

address of the Jews that it could create ‘the impression that the revolution was based only on 

the Jews and especially on the individuals from the middle class’.” Lenin replied—as we have 

already said—that, immediately after October, it was the Jews who had saved the revolution by 

defeating the resistance of the civil servants, and consequently “Gorky’s opinion was perfectly 

correct.”48 The Jewish Encyclopædia does not doubt it either: “Lenin refused to sweep under 

the carpet the extremely pro-Semite proclamation of M. Gorky, and it was disseminated in 

great circulation during the civil war, in spite of the fact that it risked becoming an asset in the 

hands of the anti-Semites who were enemies of the revolution.”49
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And it became so, of course, for the Whites who saw two images merge, that of Judaism and 

that of Bolshevism.

The surprising (short-sighted!) indifference of the Bolshevik leaders to the popular sentiment 

and the growing irritation of the population is blatant when we see how much Jews were 

involved in repression directed against the Orthodox clergy: it was in summer 1918 that was 

initiated the assault on the Orthodox churches in central Russia and especially in the Moscow 

region (which included several provinces), an assault which only ceased thanks to the wave of 

rebellions in the parishes.

In January 1918, the workers who were building the fortress of Kronstadt rebelled and 

protested: the executive committee of the Party, composed “exclusively of non-natives”, had 

designated for guard duty, instead of militia… Orthodox priests, while “not a Jewish rabbi, not a 

Moslem mullah, not a Catholic pastor, not a Protestant pastor, was put to use.”50 (Let us note 

in passing that even on this small, fortified island of the “prison of the peoples” there were 

places of worship for all the confessions…)

A text entitled “Charge on the Jews!” appeared even all the way to the Pravda, a call from the 

workers of Arkangelsk “to Russian workers and peasants conscious of their fate”, in which they 

read: “are profaned, defiled, plundered”—“exclusively Orthodox churches, never synagogues… 

Death by hunger and disease carries hundreds of thousands of innocent lives among the 

Russians,” while “the Jews do not die of hunger or disease.”51 (There was also, during the 

summer 1918, “a criminal case of anti-Semitism in the church of Basil the Blissful, in 

Moscow…”).

What madness on the part of the Jewish militants to have mingled with the ferocious repression 

exerted by the Bolsheviks against Orthodoxy, even more fierce than against the other 

confessions, with this persecution of priests, with this outburst in the press of sarcasms aimed 

at the Christ! The Russian pens also zealously attacked Demian Bedny (Efim Pridvorov), for 

example, and he was not the only one. Yes, the Jews should have stayed out of it.

On 9 August 1919, Patriarch Tikhon wrote to the president of the VTsIK Kalinin (with a copy to 

the Sovnarkom president, Ulyanov–Lenin) to demand the dismissal of the investigating 
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magistrate Chpitsberg, in charge of the “affairs” of the Church: “a man who publicly outrages 

the religious beliefs of people, who openly mocks ritual gestures, who, in the preface to the 

book The Religious Plague (1919), gave Jesus Christ abominable names and thus profoundly 

upset my religious feeling.”52 The text was transmitted to the Small Sovnarkom, from which 

came the reply on 3 September: “classify the complaint of citizen Belavine (Patriarch Tikhon) 

without follow-up.”53 But Kalinin changed his mind and addressed a secret letter to the Justice 

Commissioner, Krasikov, saying that he believed that “for practical and political considerations… 

replace Chpitsberg with someone else”, given that “the audience in the court is probably in its 

majority Orthodox” and that it is therefore necessary “to deprive the religious circles… of their 

main reason for ethnic revenge.”54

And what about the profanation of relics? How could the masses understand such an obvious 

outrage, so provocative? “‘Could the Russians, the Orthodox have done such things?’ they 

asked each other across Russia. ‘All that, it is the Jews who have plotted it. It makes no 

difference, to those who crucified Christ’.”55—And who is responsible for this state of mind, if 

not the Bolshevik power, by offering to the people spectacles of such savagery?

S. Bulgakov, who followed closely what happened to Orthodoxy under the Bolsheviks, wrote in 

1941: “In the USSR, the persecution of Christians “surpassed in violence and amplitude all 

previous persecutions known throughout History. Of course, we should not blame everything 

on the Jews, but we should not downplay their influence.”56—“Were manifested in 

Bolshevism, above all, the force of will and the energy of Judaism.”—“The part played by the 

Jews in Bolshevism is, alas, disproportionately great. And it is above all the sin of Judaism 

against Ben–Israel… And it is not the ‘sacred Israel’, but the strong will of Judaism that, in 

power, manifested itself in Bolshevism and the crushing of the Russian people.”—“Although it 

derived from the ideological and practical programme of Bolshevism, without distinction of 

nationality, the persecution of Christians found its most zealous actors among Jewish 

‘commissioners’ of militant atheism,” and to have put a Goubelman– Iaroslavski at the head of 

the Union of the Godless was to commit “in the face of all the Russian Orthodox people an act… 

of religious effrontery.”57

Another very ostensible effrontery: this way of rechristening cities and places. Custom, in fact, 

less Jewish than typically Soviet. But can we affirm that for the inhabitants of Gatchina, the new 

name of their city—Trotsk—did not have a foreign resonance? Likewise for Pavlosk, now 

Slutsk… Uritsky gives its name to the square of the Palace, Vorovski to the Saint-Isaac Plaza, 

Volodarski to the Prospect of the Founders, Nakhimson to the Saint Vladimir Prospect, Rochal 
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to the barge of the Admiralty, and the second-class painter Isaak Brodsky gives his name to the 

so beautiful Saint Michael street…

They could no longer stand each other, their heads were turning. Through the immensity of 

Russia, it flashes by: Elisabethgrad becomes Zinovievsk… and let’s go boldly! The city where the 

tsar was assassinated takes the name of the assassin: Sverdlovsk.

It is obvious that was present in the Russian national consciousness, as early as 1920, the idea 

of a national revenge on the part of Bolshevik Jews, since it even appeared in the papers of the 

Soviet government (it served as an argument to Kalinin).

Of course, Pasmanik’s refutation was right: “For the wicked and narrow-minded, everything 

could not be explained more simply—the Jewish Kahal* has decided to seize Russia; or: it is the 

revengeful Judaism that settles its accounts with Russia for the humiliations undergone in the 

past.”58 Of course, we cannot explain the victory and the maintenance of the Bolsheviks.—But: 

if the pogrom of 1905 burns in the memory of your family, and if, in 1915, were driven out of 

the western territories, with the strikes of a whip, your brothers by blood, you can very well, 

three or four years later, want to avenge yourself in your turn with a whip or a revolver bullet. 

We are not going to ask whether Communist Jews consciously wanted to take revenge on 

Russia by destroying, by breaking the Russian heritage, but totally denying this spirit of 

vengeance would be denying any relationship between the inequality in rights under the tsar 

and the participation of Jews in Bolshevism, a relationship that is constantly evoked.

And this is how I. M. Biekerman, confronted with “the fact of the disproportionate participation 

of the Jews in the work of barbaric destruction”, to those who recognise the right of the Jews to 

avenge past persecutions, refutes this right: “the destructive zeal of our co-religionists is 

blamed on the State, who, by its vexations and persecutions, would have pushed the Jews into 

the revolution”; well no, he says, for “it is to the manner in which an individual reacts to the evil 

suffered that he is distinguished from another, and the same is true of a community of men.”59

Later, in 1939, taking in the destiny of Judaism under the black cloud of the coming new era, the 

same Biekerman wrote: “The great difference between the Jews and the world around them 

was that they could only be the anvil, and never the hammer.”60
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I do not intend to dig here, in this limited work, the great historical destinies, but I am 

expressing a categorical reservation on this point: perhaps this was so since the beginning of 

time, but, as of 1918, in Russia, and for another fifteen years, the Jews who joined the 

revolution also served as hammer—at least a large part of them.

Here, in our review, comes the voice of Boris Pasternak. In his Doctor Zhivago, he writes, it is 

true, after the Second World War, thus after the Cataclysm which came down, crushing and 

sinister, over the Jews of Europe and which overturned our entire vision of the world—but, in 

the novel itself, is discussed the years of the revolution—, he speaks of “this modest, sacrificial 

way of remaining aloof, which only engenders misfortune,” of “their [i.e. the Jews’] fragility and 

their inability to strike back.”

Yet, did we not both have before us the same country—at different ages, certainly, but where 

we lived the same 20s and 30s? The contemporary of those years remains mute with 

astonishment: Pasternak would thus not have seen (I believe) what was happening?—His 

parents, his painter father, his pianist mother, belonged to a highly cultivated Jewish milieu, 

living in perfect harmony with the Russian intelligentsia; he himself grew up in a tradition 

already quite rich, a tradition that led the Rubinstein brothers, the moving Levitan, the subtle 

Guerchenson, the philosophers Frank and Chestov, to give themselves to Russia and Russian 

culture… It is probable that this unambiguous choice, that perfect equilibrium between life and 

service, which was theirs, appeared to Pasternak as the norm, while the monstrous gaps, 

frightening relative to this norm, did not reach the retina of his eye.

On the other hand, these differences penetrated the field of view of thousands of others. Thus, 

witness of these years, Biekerman writes: “The too visible participation of the Jews in the 

Bolshevik saturnalia attracts the eyes of the Russians and those of the whole world.”61

No, the Jews were not the great driving force of the October coup. The latter, moreover, 

brought them nothing, since the February revolution had already granted them full and 

complete freedom. But, after the coup de force took place, it was then that the younger laic 

generation quickly changed horses and launched themselves with no less assurance into the 

infernal gallop of Bolshevism.

312



Obviously, it was not the melamedes* that produced this. But the reasonable part of the Jewish 

people let itself be overwhelmed by hotheads. And thus an almost entire generation became 

renegade. And the race was launched.

G. Landau looked for the motives that led the younger generation to join the camp of the new 

victors. He writes: “Here was the rancour with regard to the old world, and the exclusion of 

political life and Russian life in general, as well as a certain rationalism peculiar to the Jewish 

people,” and “willpower which, in mediocre beings, can take the form of insolence and ruthless 

ambition.”62

Some people seek an apology by way of explanations: “The material conditions of life after the 

October coup created a climate such that the Jews were forced to join the Bolsheviks.”63 This 

explanation is widespread: “42% of the Jewish population of Russia were engaged in 

commercial activity”; they lost it; they found themselves in a dead-end situation—where to go? 

“In order not to die of hunger, they were forced to take service with the government, without 

paying too much attention to the kind of work they were asked to do.” It was necessary to 

enter the Soviet apparatus where “the number of Jewish officials, from the beginning of the 

October Revolution, was very high.”64

They had no way out? Did the tens of thousands of Russian officials who refused to serve 

Bolshevism have somewhere to go?—To starve? But how were living the others? Especially 

since they were receiving food aid from organisations such as the Joint, the ORT*, financed by 

wealthy Jews from the West. Enlisting in the Cheka was never the only way out. There was at 

least another: not to do it, to resist.

The result, Pasmanik concludes, is that “Bolshevism became, for the hungry Jews of cities, a 

trade equal to the previous trades—tailor, broker, or apothecary.”65

But if this is so, it may be said, seventy years later, in good conscience: for those “who did not 

want to immigrate to the United States and become American, who did not want to immigrate 

to Palestine to remain Jews, for those, the only issue was communism”?66 Again—the only way 
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out!?

It is precisely this that is called renouncing one’s historical responsibility!

Other arguments have more substance and weight: “A people that has suffered such 

persecution”—and this, throughout its history—“could not, in its great majority, not become 

bearers of the revolutionary doctrine and internationalism of socialism,” for it “gave its Jewish 

followers the hope of never again being pariahs” on this very earth, and not “in the chimerical 

Palestine of the great ancestors.” Further on: “During the civil war already, and immediately 

afterwards, they were stronger in competition with the newcomers from the ethnic population, 

and they filled many of the voids that the revolution had created in society… In doing so, they 

had for the most part broken with their national and spiritual tradition,” after which “all those 

who wanted to assimilate, especially the first generation and at the time of their massive 

apparition, took root in the relatively superficial layers of a culture that was new to them.”67

One wonders, however, how it is possible that “the centuries-old traditions of this ancient 

culture have proved powerless to counteract the infatuation with the barbaric slogans of the 

Bolshevik revolutionaries.”68 When “socialism, the companion of the revolution, melted onto 

Russia, not only were these Jews, numerous and dynamic, brought to life on the crest of the 

devastating wave, but the rest of the Jewish people found itself deprived of any idea of 

resistance and was invited to look at what was happening with a perplexed sympathy, 

wondering, impotent, what was going to result from it.”69 How is it that “in every circle of 

Jewish society the revolution was welcomed with enthusiasm, an inexplicable enthusiasm when 

one knows of what disillusionments composed the history of this people”? How could “the 

Jewish people, rationalist and lucid, allow itself to indulge in the intoxication of revolutionary 

phraseology”70?

D. S. Pasmanik evokes in 1924 “those Jews who proclaimed loudly and clearly the genetic link 

between Bolshevism and Judaism, who openly boasted about the sentiments of sympathy 

which the mass of the Jewish people nourished towards the power of the commissioners.”71 At 

the same time, Pasmanik himself pointed out “the points which may at first be the foundation 

of a rapprochement between Bolshevism and Judaism… These are: the concern for happiness 

on earth and that of social justice… Judaism was the first to put forward these two great 

principles.”72
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We read in an issue of the London newspaper Jewish Chronicle of 1919 (when the revolution 

had not yet cooled down) an interesting debate on the issue. The permanent correspondent of 

this paper, a certain Mentor, writes that it is not fitting for the Jews to pretend that they have 

no connection with the Bolsheviks. Thus, in America, the Rabbi and Doctor Judah Magnes 

supported the Bolsheviks, which means that he did not regard Bolshevism as incompatible with 

Judaism.73 He writes again the following week: Bolshevism is in itself a great evil, but, 

paradoxically, it also represents the hope of humanity. Was the French Revolution not bloody, it 

as well, and yet it was justified by History. The Jew is idealistic by nature and it is not surprising, 

it is even logical that he believed the promises of Bolshevism. “There is much room for 

reflection in the very fact of Bolshevism, in the adherence of many Jews to Bolshevism, in the 

fact that the ideals of Bolshevism in many respects join those of Judaism—a great number of 

which have been taken up by the founder of Christianity. The Jews who think must examine all 

this carefully. One must be foolish to see in Bolshevism only its off-putting aspects…”74

All the same, is not Judaism above all the recognition of the one God? But, this in itself is 

enough to make it incompatible with Bolshevism, the denier of God!

Still on the search for the motives for such a broad participation of the Jews in the Bolshevik 

adventure, I. Biekerman writes: “We might, before of the facts, despair of the future of our 

people—if we did not know that, of all the contagions, the worst is that of words. Why was the 

Jewish consciousness so receptive to this infection, the question would be too long to develop 

here.” The causes reside “not only in the circumstances of yesterday,” but also “in the ideas 

inherited from ancient times, which predispose Jews to be contaminated by ideology, even if it 

is null and subversive.”75

S. Bulgakov also writes: “The face that Judaism shows in Russian Bolshevism is by no means the 

true face of Israel… It reflects, even within Israel, a state of terrible spiritual crisis, which can 

lead to bestiality.”76

As for the argument that the Jews of Russia have thrown themselves into the arms of the 

Bolsheviks because of the vexations they have suffered in the past, it must be confronted with 

the two other communist shows of strength that occurred at the same time as that of Lenin, in 

Bavaria and in Hungary. We read in I. Levin: “The number of Jews serving the Bolshevik regime 
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is, in these two countries, very high. In Bavaria, we find among the commissaries the Jews E. 

Levine, M. Levin, Axelrod, the anarchist ideologist Landauer, Ernst Toller.” “The proportion of 

Jews who took the lead of the Bolshevik movement in Hungary is of 95%…. However, the 

situation of the Jews in terms of civic rights was excellent in Hungary, where there had not been 

any limitation for a long time already; in the cultural and economic sphere, the Jews occupied 

such a position that the anti-Semites could even speak of a hold of the Jews.”77 We may add 

here the remark of an eminent Jewish publisher of America; he writes that the Jews of Germany 

“have prospered and gained a high position in society.”78 Let us not forget in this connection 

that the ferment of rebellion that was at the origin of the coups de force—of which we shall 

speak again in chapter 16—had been introduced by the Bolsheviks through the intermediary of 

“repatriated prisoners” stuffed with propaganda.

What brought all these rebels together—and, later, beyond the seas—, was a flurry of unbridled 

revolutionary internationalism, an impulse towards revolution, a revolution that was global and 

“permanent”. The rapid success of the Jews in the Bolshevik administration could not be 

ignored in Europe and the United States. Even worse: they were admired there! At the time of 

the passage from February to October, Jewish public opinion in America did not mute its 

sympathies for the Russian revolution.

*

Meanwhile, the Bolsheviks were conducting their financial operations diligently abroad, mainly 

via Stockholm. Since Lenin’s return to Russia, secret supplies had come to them, of German 

provenance, through the Nia Banken of Olof Aschberg. This did not exclude the financial 

support of certain Russian bankers, those who, fleeing the revolution, had sought refuge abroad 

but had transformed there into volunteer support of the Bolsheviks. An American researcher, 

Anthony Sutton, has found (with half a century of delay) archival documents; he tells us that, if 

we are to believe a report sent in 1918 to the State Department by the U.S. Ambassador in 

Stockholm, “among these ‘Bolshevik bankers’ is the infamous Dmitri Rubinstein that the 

revolution of February had gotten out of prison, who had reached Stockholm and made himself 

the financial agent of the Bolsheviks”; “we also find Abram Jivotovski, a relative of Trostky and 

Lev Kamenev.” Among the syndicates were “Denisov of the ex-Bank of Siberia, Kamenka of the 

Bank Azov-Don, and Davidov of the Bank for Foreign Trade. Other ‘Bolshevik bankers’: Grigori 

Lessine, Shtifter, Iakov Berline, and their agent Isidore Kohn.”79

These had left Russia. Others, in the opposite direction, left America to return. They were the 
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revenants, all of them “revolutionaries” (some from long ago, others of recent date) who 

dreamed of finally building and consolidating the New World of Universal Happiness. We talked 

about it in Chapter 14. They were flocking across the oceans from the port of New York to the 

East or from the port of San Francisco in direction of the West, some former subjects of the 

Russian Empire, others purely and simply American citizens, enthusiasts who even did not know 

the Russian language.

In 1919, A. V. Tyrkova–Williams wrote in a book published then in England: “There are few 

Russians among the Bolshevik leaders, few men imbued with Russian culture and concerned 

with the interests of the Russian people… In addition to foreign citizens, Bolshevism recruited 

immigrants who had spent many years outside the borders. Some had never been to Russia 

before. There were many Jews among them. They spoke Russian badly. The nation of which 

they had become masters was foreign to them and, moreover, they behaved like invaders in a 

conquered country.” And if, in tsarist Russia, “Jews were excluded from all official posts, if 

schools and State service were closed to them, on the other hand, in the Soviet Republic all 

committees and commissariats were filled with Jews. Often, they exchanged their Jewish name 

for a Russian name… but this masquerade did not deceive anyone.”80

That same year, 1919, at the Senate Hearings of the Overmen Commission, an Illinois university 

professor, P. B. Dennis, who arrived in Russia in 1917, declared that in his opinion—“an opinion 

that matched that of other Americans, Englishmen, Frenchmen…—, these people deployed in 

Russia an extreme cruelty and ferocity in their repression against the bourgeoisie” (the word is 

used here without any pejorative nuance in its primary sense: the inhabitants of the boroughs). 

Or: “Among those who carried out ‘murderous propaganda’ in the trenches and in the rear, 

there were those who, one or two years before [i.e. in 1917‒1918], still lived New York.”81

In February 1920, Winston Churchill spoke in the pages of the Sunday Herald. In an article 

entitled “Zionism Against Bolshevism: Struggle for the Soul of the Jewish People”, he wrote: 

“Today we see this company of outstanding personalities, emerging from clandestinity, from 

the basements of the great cities of Europe and America, who grabbed by the hair and seized by 

the throat the Russian people, and established itself as the undisputed mistress of the immense 

Russian Empire.”82

There are many known names among these people who have returned from beyond the ocean. 

Here is M. M. Gruzenberg: he had previously lived in England (where he had met Sun Yat–sen), 
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then lived for a long time in the United States, in Chicago where he had “organised a school for 

the immigrants”, and we find him in 1919 general consul of the RSFSR in Mexico (a country on 

which the revolutionaries founded great hopes: Trotsky would turn up there…), then, in the 

same year, he sat in the central organs of the Comintern. He took service in Scandinavia, 

Sweden; he was arrested in Scotland. He resurfaced in China in 1923 under the name of 

Borodin* with a whole squad of spies: he was the “principal political adviser to the Executive 

Committee of the Kuomintang”, a role which enabled him to promote the career of Mao Tse–

tung and of Zhou Enlai. However, having suspected Borodin–Gruzenberg of engaging in 

subversive work, Chiang Kai–shek expelled him from China in 1927. Returning to the USSR, he 

passed unharmed the year 1937; during the war with Germany, we find him editor-in-chief of 

the Soviet Information Office alongside Dridzo–Lozovsky. He will be executed in 1951.83 (About 

the Bolshevik Jews executed in the 1930s, see infra, chapter 19.)

Among them also, Samuel Agursky, who became one of the leaders of Belarus; arrested in 1938, 

he served a sentence of deportation. (He is the father of the late M. Agursky, who prematurely 

disappeared, and who did not follow the same path as his progenitor, far from it!**84—Let us 

also mention Solomon Slepak, an influential member of the Comintern, he returned to Russia 

by Vladivostok where he took part in assassinations; he then went to China to try to attract Sun 

Yat–sen in an alliance with communism; his son Vladimir would have to tear himself, not 

without a clash, from the trap into which his father had fallen in his quest for the radiant future 

of communism.85 Stories like this, and some even more paradoxical, there are hundreds of 

them.

Demolishers of the “bourgeois” Jewish culture also turned up. Among them, the collaborators 

of S. Dimanstein in the European Commissariat: the S.–R. Dobkovski, Agursky (already 

mentioned), and also “Kantor, Shapiro, Kaplan, former emigrant anarchists who had returned 

from London and New York”. The objective of the Commissariat was to create a “Centre for the 

Jewish Communist Movement”. In August 1918, the new Communist newspaper in Yiddish 

Emes (the Truth) announced: “The proletarian revolution began in the street of the Jews”; a 

campaign was immediately launched against the Heders and the “Talmud-Torah”… In June 

1919, countersigned by S. Agursky and Stalin, the dissolution of the Central Bureau of the 

Jewish Communities was proclaimed,86 which represented the conservative fraction of 

Judaism, the one that had not sided with the Bolsheviks.

*
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It is nonetheless true that the socialist Jews were not attracted primarily to the Bolsheviks. Now 

however: where were the other parties, what had become of them? What allowed the 

Bolshevik Party to occupy an exclusive position was the disintegration of the old Jewish political 

parties. The Bund, the Zionist Socialists and the Zionists of the Poalei had split up and their 

leaders had joined the victors’ camp by denying the ideals of democratic socialism—such as M. 

Raies, M. Froumkina-Ester, A. Weinstein, M. Litvanov.87

Is it possible? Even the Bund, this extremely belligerent organisation to which even Lenin’s 

positions were not suitable, which showed itself so intransigent on the principle of the cultural 

and national autonomy of the Jews? Well yes, even the Bund! “After the establishment of 

Soviet power, the leadership of the Bund in Russia split into two groups (1920): the right, which 

in its majority, emigrated, and the left which liquidated the Bund (1921) and adhered in large 

part to the Bolshevik Party.”88 Among the former members of the Bund, we can cite the 

irremovable David Zaslavski, the one who for decades would put his pen at the service of Stalin 

(he would be responsible for stigmatising Mandelstam and Pasternak). Also: the Leplevski 

brothers, Israel and Grigori (one, from the outset, would become an agent of the Cheka and 

stay there for the rest of his life, the other would occupy a high position in the NKVD in 1920, 

then would be Deputy Commissar of the People, President of the Small Sovnarkom of the 

RSFSR, then Deputy Attorney General of the USSR (1934‒39); he would be a victim of 

repression in 1939. Solomon Kotliar, immediately promoted First Secretary of Orthbourg, of 

Vologda, of Tver, of the regional Committee of Orel. Or also Abram Heifets: he returned to 

Russia after February 1917, joined the Presidium of the Bund’s Main Committee in Ukraine, was 

a member of the Central Committee of the Bund; in October 1917, he was already for the 

Bolsheviks and, in 1919, he figured in the leading group of the Comintern.89

To the leftists of the Bund joined the left of the Zionist Socialists and the SERP*; those entered 

the Communist Party as early as 1919. The left wing of the Poalei–Tsion did the same in 1921.90 

In 1926, according to an internal census, there were up to 2,500 former members of the Bund 

in the Party. It goes without saying that many, later on, fell under the blade: “Under Stalin, the 

majority of them were victims of ferocious persecutions.”91

Biekerman exclaims: “The Bund, which had assumed the role of representative of the Jewish 

working masses, joined the Bolsheviks in its most important and active part.”92

In his memoirs, David Azbel tries to explain the reasons for this accession by reflecting on the 
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example of his uncle, Aron Isaakievich Weinstein, an influential member of the Bund that we 

mentioned above: “He had understood before all others that his Party, as well as the other 

socialist parties, were condemned… He had understood also another thing: to survive and 

continue to defend the interests of the Jews would be possible only by joining the 

Bolsheviks.”93

For how many of them the reasons 1) survive, 2) continue to defend the interests of the Jews, 

were decisive? Tentatively, both objectives were achieved.

It will note also that after October the other socialist parties, the S.–R. and the Mensheviks, 

who, as we know, had a large number of Jews in their ranks and at their heads, did not stand up 

against Bolshevism either. Scarcely aware of the fact that the Bolsheviks had dismissed this 

Constituent Assembly which they had called for, they withdrew, hesitated, divided themselves 

in their turn, sometimes proclaiming their neutrality in the civil war, other times their intention 

to temporise. As for the S.–R., they downright opened to the Bolsheviks a portion of the Eastern 

front and tried to demoralise the rear of the Whites.

But we also find Jews among the leaders of the resistance to the Bolsheviks in 1918: out of the 

twenty-six signatures of the “Open Letter of Prisoners on the Affair of the Workers’ Congress” 

written at Taganka Prison, no less of a quarter are Jewish.94 The Bolsheviks were pitiless 

towards the Mensheviks of this kind. In the summer of 1918, R. Abramovich, an important 

Menshevik leader, avoided execution only by means of a letter addressed to Lenin from an 

Austrian prison by Friedrich Adler, the one who had shot down the Austrian Prime Minister in 

1916 and who had been reprieved. Others, too, were stoic: Grigori Binshtok, Semyon 

Weinstein; arrested several times, they were eventually expelled from the country.95

In February 1921, in Petrograd, the Mensheviks certainly supported the deceived and hungry 

workers, they pushed them to protest and strike—but without any real conviction. And they 

lacked audacity to take the lead of the Kronstadt insurrection. However, this did not in any way 

protect them from repression.

We also know a lot of Mensheviks who joined the Bolsheviks, who exchanged one party label 

for another. They were: Boris Maguidov (he became head of the political section in the 10th 
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Army, then Donbass, secretary of the provincial committees of Poltava, Samara, instructor on 

the Central Committee): Abram Deborine, a true defector (he rapidly climbed the echelons of a 

career of “red professor”, stuffing our heads with Dialectical Materialism and Historical 

Materialism…); Alexander Goikhbarg (member of the Soviet Revolutionary Committee, public 

prosecutor at the trial of the ministers of Kolchak, member of the college of the Commissariat 

for Justice, then president of the Little Sovnarkom). Some of them held out for some time until 

their arrest, such as I. Liakhovetski–Maïski96; the others, in great numbers, were reduced very 

early to silence, from the trial of the imaginary “Unified Menshevik Bureau” of 1931 (where we 

find Guimmer–Sukhanov who was the designer of the tactics of the Executive Committee in 

March 1917.) A huge raid was organised throughout the Union to apprehend them.

There were defectors in the S.–R.: Lakov Lifchitz, for example, vice-president of the Chernigov 

Cheka in 1919, then Kharkov, then president of the Kiev Cheka and, at the height of a rapid 

career, vice-president of the Ukrainian GPU. There was anarchist communists, the most famous 

being Lazar Kogan (Special Section of the Armies, Assistant to the Chief of the Army of the 

Vecheka in 1930—senior official of the Gulag and, in 1931, chief of the White Sea shipyard of 

the NKVD). There are extremely sinuous biographies: Ilya Kit–Viitenko, a lieutenant in the 

Austrian army, taken prisoner by the Russians, and from the moment the Bolsheviks are in 

power, takes his ranks at the Cheka–Guepeou and then in the army and, in the 1930s, was one 

of the reformers of the Red Army. And then in the hole for twenty years!97

And what about the Zionists? Let us remember: in 1906 they had posited and proclaimed that 

they could not stay away from the Russians’ fight against the yoke of the Autocracy, and they 

had actively engaged in the said battle. This did not prevent them, in May 1918 (when the yoke 

still weighed so heavily), to declare that, in matters of Russian domestic policy, they would 

henceforth be neutral, “very obviously in the hope of avoiding the risk” that the Bolsheviks 

“would accuse them of being counter-revolutionaries.”98 And at first—it worked. Throughout 

the year 1918 and during the first six months of 1919, the Bolsheviks left them alone: in the 

summer of 1918 they were able to hold the All-Russian Congress of Jewish Communities in 

Moscow, and hundreds of these Communities had their “Palestinian Week”; their newspapers 

appeared freely and a youth club, the “Heraluts”99, was created.—But in the spring of 1919 

local authorities undertook to ban the Zionist press here and there, and in the autumn of 1919 a 

few prominent figures were accused of “espionage for the benefit of England”. In the spring of 

1920, the Zionists organised a Pan-Russian Conference in Moscow. Result: all the participants 

(90 people) were interned in the Butyrka prison; some were condemned, but the penalty was 

not applied, following the intervention of a delegation of Jewish syndicates from America. “The 

Vecheka presidium declared that the Zionist organisation was counter-revolutionary, and its 
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activity was now forbidden in Soviet Russia… From this moment began the era of clandestinity 

for the Zionists.”100

M. Heifets, who is a thoughtful man, reminds us very well of this: did the October coup not 

coincide exactly with the Balfour declaration which laid the foundations of an independent 

Jewish state? Well, what happened?: “A part of the new Jewish generation followed the path of 

Herzl and Jabotinsky, while the other [let us precise: the biggest] yielded to temptation and 

swelled the ranks of the Lenin–Trotsky–Stalin band.” (Exactly what Churchill feared.) “Herzl’s 

way then appeared distant, unreal, while that of Trotsky and Bagritsky enabled the Jews to gain 

immediate stature and immediately become a nation in Russia, equal in right and even 

privileged.”101

Also defector, of course, and not least, Lev Mekhlis, of the Poalei–Tsion. His career is well 

known: in Stalin’s secretariat, in the editorial board of the Pravda, at the head of the Red Army’s 

political sector, in the State Defence Commissariat and Commissioner of State Control. It was he 

who made our landing in Crimea in 1942 fail. At the height of his career: in the Orgburo of the 

Central Committee. His ashes are sealed in the wall of the Kremlin.102

Of course, there was an important part of the Jews of Russia who did not adhere to Bolshevism: 

neither the rabbis, the lecturers, nor the great doctors, nor a whole mass of good people, fell 

into the arms of the Bolsheviks. Tyrkova writes in the same passage in her book, a few lines 

later: “This predominance of the Jews among the Soviet leaders put to despair those of the 

Russian Jews who, despite the cruel iniquities suffered under the tsarist regime, regarded Russia 

as the Motherland and led the common life of all Russian intelligentsia, refusing, in communion 

with her, any collaboration with the Bolsheviks.”103—But at the time they had no opportunity 

of making themselves heard publicly, and these pages are naturally filled not with their names, 

but with those of the conquerors, those who have bridled the course of events.

Two illustrious terrorist acts perpetrated by Jewish arms against the Bolsheviks in 1918 occupy 

a special place: the assassination of Uritsky by Leonid Kannegisser, and the attack on Lenin by 

Fanny Kaplan. Here too, though the other way around, was expressed the vocation of the 

Jewish people to be always among the first. Perhaps the blows fired at Lenin were rather the 

result of S.–R. intentions*. But, as for Kannegisser (born of hereditary nobility by his 

grandfather, he entered the School of Officer Cadets in 1917; by the way, he was in friendly 

relations with Sergei Yesenin), I admit full well Mark Aldanov’s explanation: in the face of the 
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Russian people and History, he was moved by the desire to oppose the names of Uritsky and 

Zinoviev with another Jewish name. This is the feeling he expresses in a note transmitted to his 

sister on the eve of the attack, in which he says he wants to avenge the peace of Brest-Litovsk, 

that he is ashamed to see the Jews contribute to install the Bolsheviks in power, and also 

avenge the execution of his companion of the School of artillery at the Cheka of Petrograd.

It should be noted, however, that recent studies have revealed that these two attacks were 

perpetrated under suspicious circumstances.104 There is strong presumption that Fanny Kaplan 

did not shoot Lenin at all, but was apprehended “to close the case”: a convenient culprit, by 

chance. There is also a hypothesis that the Bolshevik authorities themselves would have created 

the necessary conditions for Kannegisser to fire his shot. This I strongly doubt: for what 

provocation would the Bolsheviks have sacrificed their beloved child, president of the Cheka? 

One thing, however, is troubling: how is it that later, in full Red Terror, when was attained by 

force of arms, through the entire country, thousands of innocent hostages, totally unconnected 

with the affair, the whole Kannegisser family was freed from prison and allowed to emigrate… 

We do not recognise here the Bolshevik claw! Or would it be the intervention of a very long arm 

to the highest ranking Soviet instances?—A recent publication tells us that the relatives and 

friends of L. Kannegisser had even drawn up an armed attack plan against the Cheka of 

Petrograd to free their prisoner, and that all, as soon as they were arrested, were released and 

remained in Petrograd without being disturbed. Such clemency on the part of the Bolshevik 

authorities may be explained by their concern to avoid ill feelings with the influential Jewish 

circles in Petrograd. The Kannegisser family had kept its Judaic faith and Leonid’s mother, 

Rosalia Edouardovna, declared during an interrogation that her son had fired on Uritsky 

because he “had turned away from Judaism.”105

But here is a Jewish name that has not yet obtained the deserved celebrity: Alexander 

Abramovich Vilenkin, hero of the clandestine struggle against the Bolsheviks. He was a 

volunteer in the hussars at the age of seventeen, in 1914, he was decorated four times with the 

Cross of Saint George, promoted to officer, then, on the eve of the revolution, he became 

captain of cavalry; in 1918, he joined the clandestine organisation Union for the Defence of the 

Homeland and of Liberty; he was apprehended by the Cheka at the time when, as the 

organisation had been discovered, he was delaying the destruction of compromising 

documents. Focused, intelligent, energetic, uncompromising towards the Bolsheviks, he infused 

in others the spirit of resistance. Executed by the Bolsheviks—it goes without saying. (The 

information about him came to us from his comrade-in-arms in the underground in 1918, and 

also from his cellmate in 1919, Vasily Fyodorovich Klementiev, captain in the Russian army.106)
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These fighters against Bolshevism, whatever their motivations, we venerate their memory as 

Jews. We regret that they were so few, as were too few the White forces during the civil war.

*

A very prosaic and entirely new phenomenon reinforced the victory of the Bolsheviks. These 

occupied important positions, from which many advantages resulted, notably the enjoyment in 

both capitals of “vacant” apartments freed by their owners, “former aristocrats”, now on the 

run. In these apartments could live a whole tributary flock of the former Pale of Settlement. 

This was a real “exodus”! G. A. Landau writes: “The Jews have climbed the stairs of power and 

occupied a few ‘summits’… From there, it is normal that they brought (as they do everywhere, 

in any environment) their relatives, friends, companions from their youth… A perfectly natural 

process: the granting of functions to people who are known, trusted, protected, or simply 

begging for your favours. This process multiplied the number of Jews in the Soviet state 

apparatus.”107 We will not say how many Zinoviev’s wife, Lilina, thus brought parents and 

relatives, nor how Zinoviev distributed positions to his ‘own’. They are the focus, but the influx, 

not to have been noticed at the moment, was enormous and concerns tens of thousands of 

people. The people transmigrated en masse from Odessa to Moscow. (Is it known that Trotsky 

himself gratified his father, whom he moderately loved, of a Sovkhoz in the suburbs of 

Moscow?)

These migrations can be followed throughout biographies. So that of David (not to be confused 

with Mark) Azbel. In 1919, still a kid, he left Chemigov where he was born to come to Moscow 

where his two aunts already lived. He first lived in the house of one of them, Ida, “a wealthy 

merchant of the First Guild”, whose husband had returned from America, and then with the 

other, Liolia, who was housed in the First House of the Soviets (The National) with all the best of 

the Soviet Union. Their neighbour Ulrich, who would later become famous, said jokingly: “Why 

don’t we open a synagogue in the National where only Jews live?” A whole Soviet elite then left 

Saint Petersburg to settle in the Second House of the Soviets (the Metropolis), in the Third (the 

Seminary, Bojedomski Street), in the Fourth (Mokhovaya / Vozdvijenka street) and in the Fifth 

(Cheremetievski street). These tenants received from a special distribution centre abundant 

parcels: “Caviar, cheese, butter, smoked sturgeon were never lacking on their table” (we are in 

1920). “Everything was special, designed especially for the new elite: kindergartens, schools, 

clubs, libraries.” (In 1921‒22, the year of the murderous famine on the Volga and the help of 

TARA*, in their “model school, the canteen was fed by the ARA foundation and served 

American breakfasts: rice pudding, hot chocolate, white bread, and fried eggs.”) And “no one 
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remembered that, the day before, it was vociferated in the classrooms that the bourgeois 

should be hung high on the lantern.” “The children of the neighbouring houses hated those of 

the ‘Soviet Houses’ and, at the first opportunity, went after them.”

The NEP came. The tenants of the National then moved into cosy apartments or pavilions that 

had previously belonged to aristocrats or bourgeois. In 1921: “spend the summer in Moscow, 

where you suffocate?”, no, you are invited to an old mansion, now confiscated, in the outskirts 

of Moscow. There, “everything is in the state, as in the days of the former owners”… except 

that high fences are erected around these houses, that guards are posted at the entrance… 

Wives of the commissioners began to frequent the best spas of the West. We see the 

development, owed to the scarcity of food, of misery and the concealment of foodstuffs, a 

second-hand trade and a whole traffic of goods. “Having bought for peanuts an entire lot of 

commodities from emigrating merchants, Aunt Ida and Uncle Micha sold them under the table” 

and thus became “probably the richest people in all of Moscow.”—However, in 1926 they were 

sentenced to five years’ imprisonment for “economic counter-revolution”, to which were 

added, at the end of the NEP, ten years of camp.108

Let us also quote: “When the Bolsheviks became ‘the government’, all sorts of individuals from 

the Jewish sub-proletariat joined them, wishing to get their share.”109—And as free trade and 

private enterprise were forbidden, many Jewish families saw their daily lives greatly modified: 

“The middle-aged people were mostly deprived, while the younger ones, rid of all spiritual 

‘ballast’, by having social careers, were able to maintain their elders… Hence the excessive 

number of Jews in the Soviet state apparatus.” Note: the author does not justify this process by 

calling it a “unique issue”, but he notes with grief the aspect that counts: “This destructive 

process did not meet the resistance it would have required in the Jewish milieu,” on the 

contrary, it found there “voluntary executants and a climate of sympathy.”110

It is thus that many Jews entered the Soviet ruling class.

But could this process, however occult as it was, go unnoticed by the disadvantaged Russian 

social strata?

And how could the man in the street react? Either by jeers: “Rosa of the Sovnarkhoz”, “the 
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husband of Khaïka of the Cheka”. Or by funny stories, from those that flooded Russia as early as 

1918: “Vyssotski tea, Brodsky sugar, Trotsky Russia.” And, in Ukraine, it gave: “Hop! Harvest 

Workers / All Jews are bosses!”

And they began to whisper a new slogan: “The Soviets without the Jews!”

The co-authors of the book of Russia and the Jews became alarmed in 1924: it is clear that “not 

all Jews are Bolsheviks and all Bolsheviks are not Jews, but there is no need today to prove the 

zealous participation of the Jews in the martyrdom imposed on an exsanguinate Russia by the 

Bolsheviks. What we must, on the contrary, is try to elucidate in a calm manner how this work 

of destruction was refracted in the consciousness of the Russian people. The Russians had never 

seen any Jews in command before.”111

They now saw them today at every step. Invested with a ferocious and unlimited power.

“To answer the question of Judaism’s responsibility in the emergence of Bolshevik Jews, we 

must first consider the psychology of non-Jews, that of all these Russians who suffer directly 

from the atrocities committed… The Jewish actors of public life who wish to prevent any new 

bloody tragedy, to save the Jews of Russia from new pogroms, must take account of this 

fact.”112 We must “understand the psychology of the Russians who suddenly found themselves 

under the authority of an evil, arrogant, rude, self-confident and impudent brood.”113

It is not for the purpose of settling accounts that we must remember History. Nor to reassume 

mutual accusations. But to understand how, for example, it was possible for important layers of 

a perfectly correct Jewish society to have tolerated an enormous participation of Jews in the 

rise (1918) of a State that was not only insensitive to the Russian people, foreign to Russian 

history, but which, moreover, inflicted on the population all the outbursts of terror.

The presence of Jews alongside the Bolsheviks raises questions not because it would induce a 

foreign origin to this power. When we speak of the abundance of Jewish names in revolutionary 

Russia, we paint a picture of nothing new: how many Germanic and Baltic names have figured, 

for a century and a half to two centuries, in The tsarist administration? The real question is: in 
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what direction did this power work?

D. S. Pasmanik, however, gives us this reflection: “Let all the Russians who are capable of 

reflecting ask themselves whether Bolshevism, even with Lenin at its head, would have 

triumphed if there had been in Soviet Russia a satisfied and educated peasantry owning land? 

Could all the ‘Sages of Zion’ gathered together, even with a Trotsky at their head, be able to 

bring about the great chaos in Russia?”114 He is right: they could never have done so.

But the first to ask the question should be the Jews more than the Russians. This episode of 

History should call out to them today. The question of the mass participation of the Jews in the 

Bolshevik administration and the atrocities committed by the Jews should be elucidated in a 

spirit of far-sighted analysis of History. It is not admissible to evade the question by saying: it 

was the scum, the renegades of Judaism, we do not have to answer for them.

D. S. Chturmann is right to remind me of my own remarks about the communist leaders of any 

nation: “they have all turned away from their people and poured into the inhuman.”115 I 

believe it. But Pasmanik, was right to write in the 20s: “We cannot confine ourselves to saying 

that the Jewish people do not answer for the acts committed by one or the other of its 

members. We answer for Trotsky as long as we have not dissociated ourselves from him.”116 

Now, to dissociate oneself does not mean to turn away, on the contrary, it means rejecting 

actions, to the end, and learning from them.

I have studied Trotsky’s biography extensively, and I agree that he did not have any specifically 

Jewish attachments, but was rather a fanatical internationalist. Does this mean that a 

compatriot like him is easier to incriminate than the others? But as soon as his star rose, in the 

autumn of 1917, Trotsky became, for far too many people, a subject of pride, and for the radical 

left of the Jews of America, a true idol.

What can I say of America? But of everywhere else as well! There was a young man in the camp 

where I was interned in the 50s, Vladimir Gershuni, a fervent socialist, an internationalist, who 

had kept a full conscience of his Jewishness; I saw him again in the 60s after our release, and he 

gave me his notes. I read there that Trotsky was the Prometheus of October for the sole reason 

that he was Jewish: “He was a Prometheus not because he was born such, but because he was a 
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child of the Prometheus-people, this people, who, if it was not attached to the rock of obtuse 

wickedness by the chains of a patent and latent hostility, would have done much more than he 

did for the good of humanity.”

“All historians who deny the participation of Jews in the revolution tend not to recognise in 

these Jews their national character. Those, on the contrary, and especially Israeli historians, 

who see Jewish hegemony as a victory of the Judaic spirit, those ones exalt their belonging to 

Jewishness.”117

It was as early as the 20s, when the civil war ended, that arguments were made to exonerate 

the Jews. I. O. Levin reviews them in the collection Russia and the Jews (the Bolshevik Jews 

were not so numerous as that… there is no reason why a whole people should respond to the 

acts of a few…, The Jews were persecuted in tsarist Russia…, during the civil war the Jews had to 

flee the pogroms by seeking refuge with the Bolsheviks, etc.), and he rejected them by arguing 

that it was not a matter of criminal responsibility, which is always individual, but a moral 

responsibility.118

Pasmanik thought it impossible to be relieved of a moral responsibility, but he consoled himself 

by saying: “Why should the mass of the Jewish people answer for the turpitudes of certain 

commissioners? It is profoundly unjust. However, to admit that there is a collective 

responsibility for the Jews is to recognise the existence of a Jewish nation of its own. From the 

moment when the Jews cease to be a nation, from the day when they are Russians, Germans, 

Englishmen of Judaic confession, it is then that they will shake off the shackles of collective 

responsibility.”119

Now, the twentieth century has rightly taught us to recognise the Hebrew nation as such, with 

its anchorage in Israel. And the collective responsibility of a people (of the Russian people too, 

of course) is inseparable from its capacity to build a morally worthy life.

Yes, they are abounding, the arguments that explain why the Jews stood by the Bolsheviks (and 

we will discuss others, very solid, when we talk about the civil war). Nevertheless, if the Jews of 

Russia remember this period only to justify themselves, it will mean that the level of their 

national consciousness has fallen, that this consciousness will have lost itself.
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The Germans could also challenge their responsibility for the Nazi period by saying: they were 

not real Germans, they were the dregs of society, they did not ask for our opinion… But this 

people answers for its past even in its ignominious periods. How to respond? By endeavouring 

to conscientise it, to understand it: how did such a thing happen? Where lies our fault? Is there 

a danger that this will happen again?

It is in this spirit that the Jewish people must respond to their revolutionary assassins as well as 

the columns of well-disposed individuals who put themselves at their service. It is not a 

question here of answering before other peoples, but before oneself, before one’s conscience 

and before God. As we Russians must answer, both for the pogroms, and our incendiary 

peasants, insensible to all pity, and for our red soldiers who have fallen into madness, and our 

sailors transformed into wild beasts. (I have spoken of them with enough depth, I believe, in 

The Red Wheel, and I will add an example here: the Red Guard A. R. Bassov, in charge of 

escorting Shingaryov*—this man passionate of justice, a popular intercessor—, began by 

collecting money from the sister of the prisoner—as a tip and to finance his transfer from the 

Peter and Paul fortress to the Mariinski hospital—and a few hours later, in the same night, he 

leads to the hospital some sailors who coldly shoot down Shingaryov and Kokochkine.**120 In 

this individual—so many homegrown traits!!)

Answer, yes, as one answers for a member of one’s family.

For if we are absolved of all responsibility for the actions of our compatriots, it is the very 

notion of nation which then loses all true meaning.
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